LESSONS ON T-CELLS AND IMMUNE-TARGETING THERAPEUTICS IN COELIAC DISEASE

EDITED BY: Melinda Y. Hardy, Daniel Agardh and Robert Paul Anderson PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-522-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-522-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

LESSONS ON T-CELLS AND IMMUNE-TARGETING THERAPEUTICS IN COELIAC DISEASE

Topic Editors:

Melinda Y. Hardy, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia Daniel Agardh, Lund University, Sweden Robert Paul Anderson, The Wesley-St Andrew's Research Institute, Australia

Dr Anderson the owner of Novoviah Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd, and Novoviah Consulting Pty Ltd and a Honorary Research Fellow at Wesley Medical Research in Brisbane. The other Topic Editors declare no competing interests with regards to the Research Topic.

Citation: Hardy, M. Y., Agardh, D., Anderson, R. P., eds. (2021). Lessons on T-Cells and Immune-Targeting Therapeutics in Coeliac Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-522-0

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Lessons on T-Cells and Immune-Targeting Therapeutics in Coeliac Disease

Melinda Y. Hardy, Daniel Agardh and Robert P. Anderson

07 Celiac Disease Causes Epithelial Disruption and Regulatory T Cell Recruitment in the Oral Mucosa

Javier Sanchez-Solares, Luis Sanchez, Carmela Pablo-Torres, Celso Diaz-Fernandez, Poul Sørensen, Domingo Barber and Cristina Gomez-Casado

19 Frequency of Gluten-Reactive T Cells in Active Celiac Lesions Estimated by Direct Cell Cloning

Shuo-Wang Qiao, Shiva Dahal-Koirala, Linn M. Eggesbø, Knut E. A. Lundin and Ludvig M. Sollid

- 27 *Missing Insight Into T and B Cell Responses in Dermatitis Herpetiformis* Esko Kemppainen, Teea Salmi and Katri Lindfors
- 34 The Evolving Landscape of Biomarkers in Celiac Disease: Leading the Way to Clinical Development

Glennda Smithson, Jenifer Siegelman, Toshihiko Oki, Joseph R. Maxwell and Daniel A. Leffler

- 41 Comprehensive Analysis of CDR3 Sequences in Gluten-Specific T-Cell Receptors Reveals a Dominant R-Motif and Several New Minor Motifs Shiva Dahal-Koirala, Louise Fremgaard Risnes, Ralf Stefan Neumann, Asbjørn Christophersen, Knut E. A. Lundin, Geir Kjetil Sandve, Shuo-Wang Qiao and Ludvig M. Sollid
- 54 Can Celiac Disease Be Prevented? Renata Auricchio and Riccardo Troncone
- 60 A Sensitive Whole Blood Assay Detects Antigen-Stimulated Cytokine Release From CD4+ T Cells and Facilitates Immunomonitoring in a Phase 2 Clinical Trial of Nexvax2 in Coeliac Disease Melinda Y. Hardy, Gautam Goel, Amy K. Russell, Swee Lin G. Chen Yi Mei,

Gregor J. E. Brown, Suyue Wang, Evan Szymczak, Ruan Zhang, Kaela E. Goldstein, Kristin M. Neff, Leslie J. Williams, Kenneth E. Truitt, John L. Dzuris, Jason A. Tye-Din and Robert P. Anderson

- 75 Interplay Between Gluten, HLA, Innate and Adaptive Immunity Orchestrates the Development of Coeliac Disease Jordan Voisine and Valérie Abadie
- 88 Apolipoprotein A4 Defines the Villus-Crypt Border in Duodenal Specimens for Celiac Disease Morphometry

Juha Taavela, Keijo Viiri, Anna Välimäki, Jani Sarin, Kristiina Salonoja, Markku Mäki and Jorma Isola





Editorial: Lessons on T-Cells and Immune-Targeting Therapeutics in Coeliac Disease

Melinda Y. Hardy^{1,2}, Daniel Agardh³ and Robert P. Anderson^{4*}

¹ Immunology Division, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ² Department of Medical Biology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³ Unit of Diabetes and Celiac Disease, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden, ⁴ Wesley Medical Research - The Wesley Hospital, Auchenflower, QLD, Australia

Keywords: autoimmunity, coeliac disease, dermatitis herpetiformis, prevention, T cells, transglutaminase, treatment

Editorial on the Research Topic

Lessons on T-Cells and Immune-Targeting Therapeutics in Coeliac Disease

Moving forward from sole reliance on gluten-free diet to treat coeliac disease (CeD) requires consensus on the mechanism of gluten toxicity relevant to CeD. A more precise understanding of the role of gluten-reactive CD4+ T cells underpins innovative efforts to design targeted approaches to diagnose, treat, or prevent CeD. The field will also benefit from confirmatory studies that may provide useful road-maps for monitoring disease modulation during clinical trials. This Research Topic describes the current knowledge and highlights possible targets for new CeD treatment strategies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Nils Yngve Lycke, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

> *Correspondence: Robert P. Anderson banderson99133@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 August 2021 Accepted: 18 August 2021 Published: 03 September 2021

Citation:

Hardy MY, Agardh D and Anderson RP (2021) Editorial: Lessons on T-Cells and Immune-Targeting Therapeutics in Coeliac Disease. Front. Immunol. 12:756087. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.756087 **INSIGHTS INTO CeD IMMUNE PATHOGENESIS**

Memory CD4+ T cells orchestrating and maintaining an adaptive immune response directed against a conserved set of selectively deamidated gluten peptides is broadly accepted as the primary cause for CeD. Dietary gluten provides the antigenic substrate for the immune response in CeD, but only after selective deamidation by host transglutaminases do CD4+ T cells efficiently recognise gluten. CD4+ T cells specific for gluten also support B cells and plasma cells specific for deamidated gluten peptides. While some highlight autoimmune aspects of CeD, these are limited to a humoral response to transglutaminase 2 associated with enteropathy, and also transglutaminase 3 and 6 in patients with skin and neurological complications, respectively. Humoral autoimmunity without an accompanying autoreactive CD4+ T-cell response has generally been explained by extracellular transglutaminases in host tissues serving as the carrier in classical "hapten-carrier" complexes, and immunogenic gluten peptides being the "hapten". By virtue of their catalytic activity mediating transamidation, transglutaminases crosslink gluten peptides onto themselves. This allows transglutaminase-specific B cells to take up transglutaminase-gluten complexes, present antigenic gluten peptides, and receive help from gluten-specific CD4+ T cells. In clinical practice, exclusion of dietary gluten slowly reduces intestinal injury and is paralleled by falling levels and eventually disappearance of transglutaminase autoantibodies. CeD is driven by an environmental rather than self-antigen. Gluten and transglutaminase-gluten complexes being extracellular antigens is also the likely explanation for the preponderance of the CD4 subtype of T cells responding to gluten,

4

and very few if any gluten-specific T cells of the CD8 subtype. Whether direct effects of gluten on innate immunity, nonimmune cells, or structures such as tight junctions actually contribute to pathology in patients consuming gluten is an open question awaiting convincing, reproducible studies in patients to confirm *in vitro* findings. To date, therapeutics targeting innate immunity such as IL-15 and leaky tight junctions are yet to show clear benefit in CeD patients. In summary, the T cell-mediated adaptive immunity model serves well to explain the natural history, genetics, and reductionist immunological observations associated with CeD, and predicts that a variety of immune strategies may be effective for diagnosis, monitoring, treatment, and prevention of disease.

Voisine and Abadie provide a thorough review on the interplay between innate and adaptive immune compartments, gluten, tissue transglutaminase 2, and HLA in the development of CeD. They highlight that no separate element is sufficient to induce intestinal damage typical of CeD. They discuss use of their transgenic mouse model and highlight the importance of cytokines in these processes. This paper nicely ties together many elements of CeD pathogenesis and the topics published in this e-book.

The difficulty in isolating gluten-specific CD4+ T cells from small amounts of intestinal tissue means that the true proportion of CeDspecific pathogenic T cells in the gut is unclear. Qiao et al. report generating T cells clones by limiting dilution from duodenal tissue from six CeD patients with active disease (one refractory) and 3 controls. From 1652 T cell clones they observed gluten-reactivity in 24 (1.5%). A large proportion of T cell clones responded to whole protein but not to peptides containing previously described T cell epitopes (1), suggesting that undescribed epitopes still exist within gluten. However, due to pre-screening with wheat gluten in this study, the proportion of T cells reactive to peptides derived from barley, rye, or oats, or to additional sub-dominant gluten peptides recognised by circulating CD4+ T cells will need further investigation (2, 3).

CeD can present with a number of extra-intestinal manifestations, including skin and oral manifestations. Kemppainen et al. highlight the key differences in pathogenesis between CeD and the cutaneous form of CeD, dermatitis herpetiformis. They also discuss the gaps that remain in our understanding of immune cell subset involvement in the characteristic skin lesions. Sanchez-Solares et al. describe an increase in FoxP3+ cells within the oral mucosa of active and treated CeD patients. They suggest a role in tissue repair due to a correlation with altered epithelial integrity in CeD patients and increases in peripheral amphiregulin mRNA expression. These findings open the possibility for oral mucosal targeting during tolerogenic immunotherapy. Further studies are required to understand the immune milieu and functional capacity of cells within this tissue site in CeD.

BIOMARKERS TO PREDICT DEVELOPMENT, DIAGNOSE, AND MONITOR CeD

The advancement of new therapies for CeD is dependent on sensitive methods to detect changes in gluten-specific immune

responses, as well as clinical responses. Smithson et al. describe potential biomarkers for CeD and refractory CeD in their review, and the utility of such biomarkers in measuring therapeutic intervention in CeD trials. They describe a number of different immune markers that should be considered.

Further to this, Hardy et al. describe the utility of a simple and highly sensitive whole blood cytokine release assay to monitor changes to the gluten-induced CD4+ T-cell response in CeD patients, which was then utilised for monitoring responses during the RESET CeD Phase 2 clinical trial testing a glutenpeptide immunotherapy (Nexvax2). The assay was effective on samples from patients without the need of a gluten challenge. They describe the optimal conditions for blood collection and highlight the promise of the assay in detecting attenuated gluten-peptide induced IL-2 and IFN- γ release following Nexvax2 treatment. An assay that does not require gluten challenge provides a useful tool for future CeD trials and following validation, could be used as a less invasive T cell-based CeD diagnostic.

Taavela et al. describe another useful aid in clinical trial monitoring and possibly in CeD diagnosis. They utilised APOA4 staining (a lipid-binding glycoprotein) on histological sections in CeD patients and controls, and showed a clear distinction of the villus-crypt border. Use of this marker increased the reliability and reproducibility of morphometrical villus height:crypt depth readings, in particular for hard to interpret samples where intestinal damage was present.

Rare gluten-specific T cells can be detected and enriched for using MHC class II tetramers (4), and may be useful to predict for CeD (5). Using tetramer-based cell sorting Dahal-Koirala et al. isolated CD4+ T cells specific for immunodominant gluten epitopes and performed a comprehensive analysis of the T cell receptor (TCR) sequences expressed in CeD patients. This is the largest TCR database of gluten-specific CD4+ T cells studied so far consisting of TCRs expressed by 3122 clonotypes from 63 CeD patients. They showed a large proportion expressed TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2 chains and the dominant CDR3 R-motif. Importantly, a consistent proportion of public TCRs were observed within different individuals. This points to the possibility of utilising TCR sequencing to support CeD diagnosis. Further validation studies are warranted.

Lastly, Auricchio et al. discuss biomarkers predictive for CeD development (e.g. microRNA's and lipidomic modifications), and the possibility of disease prevention in at-risk individuals. They review prevention trials conducted to date and studies that target risk factors, such as childhood infections, changes in the microbiota, effects of vaccinations, gluten infant feeding and use of probiotics. They argue that successful prevention may require a combination in approaches.

CONCLUSIONS

Together these articles highlight how understanding the contributions of CD4+ T cells in CeD pathogenesis is enabling clinical programs seeking to improve CeD clinical management or even prevent CeD altogether. Additional tools to detect disease processes are discussed, which will greatly benefit the field. As the adaptive immune paradigm strengthens, there could still be longheld beliefs about gluten toxicity in patients that are substantially revised. There are also a number of important unanswered questions, such as the exact triggers of CeD, the separation of the symptomatic response, gluten immunity, and the damaged intestine, the drivers of extra-intestinal manifestations, and if it is possible to prevent CeD in genetically at-risk populations. The next decade of research is set to provide new insights into CeD pathogenic processes, less invasive diagnostic tests, and better treatment options for CeD and refractory CeD patients with greater focus on targeting immune processes, and in particular

REFERENCES

- Sollid LM, Tye-Din JA, Qiao SW, Anderson RP, Gianfrani C, Koning F. Update 2020: Nomenclature and Listing of Celiac Disease-Relevant Gluten Epitopes Recognized by CD4(+) T Cells. *Immunogenetics* (2020) 72:85–8. doi: 10.1007/ s00251-019-01141-w
- Hardy MY, Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Schmitz F, Dudek NL, Hanchapola I, et al. Ingestion of Oats and Barley in Patients With Celiac Disease Mobilizes Cross-Reactive T Cells Activated by Avenin Peptides and Immuno-Dominant Hordein Peptides. J Autoimmun (2015) 56:56–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.10.003
- Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Dromey JA, Beissbarth T, van Heel DA, Tatham A, et al. Comprehensive, Quantitative Mapping of T Cell Epitopes in Gluten in Celiac Disease. *Sci Transl Med* (2010) 2:41ra51. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001012
- Christophersen A, Raki M, Bergseng E, Lundin KE, Jahnsen J, Sollid LM, et al. Tetramer-Visualized Gluten-Specific CD4+ T Cells in Blood as a Potential Diagnostic Marker for Coeliac Disease Without Oral Gluten Challenge. United European Gastroenterol J (2014) 2:268–78. doi: 10.1177/2050640614540154
- Sarna VK, Lundin KEA, Morkrid L, Qiao SW, Sollid LM, Christophersen A. HLA-DQ-Gluten Tetramer Blood Test Accurately Identifies Patients With and Without Celiac Disease in Absence of Gluten Consumption. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 154:886–96.e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.11.006

halting the gluten-specific CD4+ T-cell response. Moreover, longitudinal follow-up of several ongoing primary and secondary prevention trials conducted in at-risk birth cohorts will be completed. Such insights will benefit researchers in the entire field of T cell-mediated disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of Interest: RA has served as consultant for Takeda, GSK, Anokion, Allero Therapeutics, Treg Therapeutics, EVOQ Therapeutics, and Bristol-Myers Squibb. He is also founder and shareholder of Novoviah Pharmaceuticals and is the inventor of patents relating to the diagnosis and treatment of coeliac disease.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hardy, Agardh and Anderson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Celiac Disease Causes Epithelial Disruption and Regulatory T Cell Recruitment in the Oral Mucosa

Javier Sanchez-Solares¹, Luis Sanchez², Carmela Pablo-Torres¹, Celso Diaz-Fernandez³, Poul Sørensen^{4,5}, Domingo Barber^{1,6†} and Cristina Gomez-Casado^{1,6*†}

¹ Institute of Applied Molecular Medicine, Hospitals Madrid (HM) Group, San Pablo-CEU University, Madrid, Spain, ² Service of Gastroenterology, University Hospital San Agustin (HUSA), Aviles, Spain, ³ Department of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, University Hospital San Agustin (HUSA), Aviels, Spain, ⁴ Allero Therapeutics BV, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Biomedicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁶ ARADyAL-RD16/0006/0015, Thematic Network and Cooperative Research Centers, ISCIII, Madrid, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Melinda Y. Hardy, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Reviewed by:

Joanne E. Konkel, The University of Manchester, United Kingdom Fernando G. Chirdo, National University of La Plata, Argentina

*Correspondence:

Cristina Gomez-Casado cgomezcasado1@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 October 2020 Accepted: 13 January 2021 Published: 25 February 2021

Citation:

Sanchez-Solares J, Sanchez L, Pablo-Torres C, Diaz-Fernandez C, Sørensen P, Barber D and Gomez-Casado C (2021) Celiac Disease Causes Epithelial Disruption and Regulatory T Cell Recruitment in the Oral Mucosa. Front. Immunol. 12:623805. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.623805 Celiac disease (CD) is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by an immunetriggered enteropathy upon gluten intake. The only current treatment available is lifelong Gluten Free Diet (GFD). Several extraintestinal manifestations have been described in CD, some affecting the oral mucosa. Thus, we hypothesized that oral mucosa could potentially be a target for novel biomarkers and an administration route for CD treatment. Six de novo diagnosed and seven CD patients under GFD for at least 1 year were recruited. Non-celiac subjects (n = 8) were recruited as control group. Two biopsies of the cheek lining were taken from each subject for mRNA analysis and immunohistochemical characterization. We observed a significant decrease in the expression of epithelial junction proteins in all CD patients, indicating that oral mucosa barrier integrity is compromised. FoxP3+ population was greatly increased in CD patients, suggesting that Tregs are recruited to the damaged mucosa, even after avoidance of gluten. Amphiregulin mRNA levels from Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs) and epithelial damage in the oral mucosa correlated with Treg infiltration in all the experimental groups, suggesting that recruited Tregs might display a "repair" phenotype. Based on these results, we propose that oral mucosa is altered in CD and, as such, might have diagnostic potential. Furthermore, due to its tolerogenic nature, it could be an important target for oral immunotherapy.

Keywords: celiac disease, oral mucosa, remodeling, regulatory T cells, immunotherapy, tolerance induction, immune mediated disorders, autoimmune disease

INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease (CD) is characterized by an immune-mediated chronic enteropathy of the small intestine, triggered by the ingestion of gluten in genetically predisposed individuals. The prevalence of CD is 1-3% worldwide. Although this prevalence varies from country to country, i.e. 1% in Western countries, due to environmental, autoimmune, and genetic factors. CD is regarded as one of the most common genetic disorders, as virtually all the patients are HLA-DQ2+ and/or HLA-DQ8+ (1-4).

7

It is characterized by the atrophy of the villi of the small intestinal mucosa, which entails a syndrome of nutrient malabsorption (1). CD diagnosis is currently based on several features that include, besides the HLA haplotypes, serological markers (IgA anti-endomysial and/or IgA anti-tissue transglutaminase -tTG2-) and gluten-induced intestinal morphological changes. These changes have led to the Marsh classification score based on a) lymphocyte infiltrates at the intraepithelial compartment; b) crypt hyperplasia; and c) villous atrophy (5). Therefore, CD diagnosis requires a biopsy from the small intestine, a sampling technique that is invasive and entails possible complications for the patients.

The typical form of the disease is a malabsorption syndrome with chronic diarrhea, abdominal pain, distention, and weight loss (6). However, due to the deficiencies of the nutrients absorbed in the small intestine such as iron, folic acid, or vitamin B12, atypical forms include extra-intestinal manifestations as iron-deficiency anemia, dermatitis herpetiformis, osteoporosis, and osteopenia. Lesions in the oral and gingival mucosa, tongue, palate, tooth, and enamel are also frequently associated to CD. In fact, recurrent aphthous stomatitis and atrophic glossitis are present in more than 20% of CD patients (6–8).

Currently, the only available treatment for CD is the adherence to a lifelong GFD. After gluten removal, an improvement in clinical symptoms and intestinal histological findings is observed. However, some patients find this diet cumbersome, as it is more expensive and socially restrictive than ordinary diets (9, 10). In this regard, several adverse effects and negative psychosocial implications have been reported (11). As a result, an increasing number of trials have recently begun to explore alternative therapeutic strategies, such as enzymes designed to digest gluten, the use of inhibitors of paracellular permeability to decrease the migration of gluten peptides into the lamina propria, binding of gluten by polymers, the use of tissue transglutaminase (tTG2) inhibitors, or the modulation of cytokine production. Interestingly, gluten tolerization by antigen specific immunotherapy is also being recently pursued (12). The latter approach is based on allergy immunotherapy (AIT), which is a well described toleranceinducing and disease modifying treatment for allergic diseases that acts through several mechanisms, including the generation of B and T regulatory responses (13, 14). Among AIT strategies, sublingual immunotherapy (SLIT) is both a safe and effective treatment for allergic rhinitis and asthma (15-17). Recent accumulating evidence suggests that a possible "mouth-gut axis" may exist in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal diseases (18), and as such, oral mucosa may be a key target organ for the development of CD-specific immunotherapy.

The oral mucosa lines the inside of the mouth and consists of primarily non-keratinized stratified squamous epithelia, and an underlying connective tissue, the lamina propria, which is highly vascularized (19). Epithelial integrity is maintained by junction protein complexes, such as adherens junctions (AJs) and tight junctions (TJs) (20). Besides being a physical barrier, the oral mucosa contains immune cells that maintain mucosal homeostasis. In fact, the mucosal epithelium plays a key role in the immune regulatory system of the oral mucosa, whose function is primarily tolerogenic (19, 21, 22). When the epithelium is disrupted, epithelium-derived cytokines, such as thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-25, and IL-33, are released. Another cytokine recently associated with epithelial tissue damage is periostin, which provides signals for tissue development and remodeling (23–25). Factors such as platelet-activating factor (PAF) can contribute to barrier remodeling by activating epithelial cells to release IL-33 (26). IL-33, in turn, signals for epithelial remodeling associated inflammation and the recruitment of Tregs (27). The recruited Tregs contribute to mucosal homeostasis by promoting wound healing and repair processes. Recruited "repair" Tregs express and/or produce repair factors such as amphiregulin and keratinocyte growth factor (28).

Although the immune processes taking place in the oral mucosa are still poorly understood, CD pathogenesis in the gut is very well characterized. IL-15, a cytokine structurally related to IL-2 that it is widely distributed, has been found to be upregulated in enterocytes in active CD. It drives epithelial damage by stimulating the production of Th1 cytokines, such as IFNy, and the cytotoxicity of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) (29-31). IL-15 contribution to oral manifestations in CD has not been addressed yet. Consistent with a gliadin-driven Th1 response, IELs in CD are enriched in cytolytic proteins, such as perforin, and produce large amounts of IFNy; therefore, participating in the severe mucosal damage (32-34). Gluten-specific CD4+ T-cell lines and clones derived from CD patients were shown to produce interferon (IFN), in response to activated dendritic cells isolated from the mucosa of active CD (31, 35). There are a few studies describing oral intraepithelial dendritic cells (36, 37). These cells express langerin and are highly abundant in the oral mucosa (38). However, their role in CD has not been explored. Regarding the T-lymphocytic inflammatory infiltrate in the oral mucosa, it was found to be significantly increased in patients with active CD (6), in contrast to other studies that found no differences with healthy control (39, 40).

Previous studies by our group with allergic patients to grass pollen, olive pollen, or house dust mite (HDM) have demonstrated that they undergo oral epithelial remodeling characterized by reduced expression of claudin-1, occludin, and E-cadherin proteins (25, 41). In fact, severe grass pollen allergic patients also presented an increased number of CD11c+ and CD4+ infiltrates and increased gene expression of IL-33 (25). Moreover, these patients were characterized by unique transcriptomic and metabolomic fingerprints (42).

In view of these evidence, we formulated the hypothesis that oral mucosa remodeling could also be present in CD patients and would not only help us understand the extraintestinal manifestations associated to CD, but also provide a rationale for oral IT strategies in CD.

In this study, we have found that the oral epithelial barrier of CD patients is compromised, even when they adhere to a GFD. Moreover, increased Treg numbers in the oral mucosa are observed in CD patients. Our data suggest that the characterization of the oral mucosal barrier may be a potential

tool for advancing novel oral diagnostic markers and disease modifying and tolerization treatments for CD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Subjects

Twenty-one subjects were recruited: six CD patients de novo diagnosed, seven CD patients under GFD treatment for at least 1 year, and eight non-celiac subjects as a control group. De novo CD patients were included after confirmation of duodenal biopsy histological classification Marsh III (villi atrophy), positive Anti-Transglutaminase Antibodies (ATA), and DQ2+ allele of the Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA). GFD treated group included patients with positive clinical response to diet and ATA loss. Medical history from all subjects was revised by the gastroenterologist in charge of patient enrolment. All subjects with a recent history of nasopharyngeal disease or severe respiratory allergic disease were excluded from the study. During sample collection, all patients were further investigated to ensure that no significant oral lesions were present. Complying with EU regulation 2016/679 from the European Parliament and the Council and Spanish Royal Decree-Law 5/ 2018, all subjects provided written informed consent and protocol approval was obtained from the Research and Ethics Committees of San Agustin Hospital of Aviles. Clinical features and detailed information of the studied population are shown in Table 1.

Duodenal Samples

Duodenal sampling was carried out under local anesthesia, obtaining a total of six biopsies from the second portion of the duodenum and the duodenal bulb. Endoscopy was carried out using a Fujifilm gastroscope series 200 or 500 with a biopsy channel of 2.8 mm. Biopsy specimens were fixed in 4% PFA, and later processed to paraffin blocks, sectioned at 4 μ m and stained with H&E following manufacturer's protocols. Duodenal damage was categorized according to Marsh classification (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Duodenal biopsies were performed at the moment of diagnosis, duodenal histopathological information for GFD treated patients was obtained from archived data.

Serum Antitransglutaminase 2 Determinations

Serum antitransglutaminase 2 antibodies (IgA class) were measured using Triturus automated ELISA analyzer (Grifols). Total IgA was measured by immunoturbidimetry using a Cobas[©] 8000 modular analyzer (Hoffman-La Roche).

Oral Mucosa Samples

Two biopsies were taken from the buccal mucosa of each study subject using a 3 mm surgery biopsy punch under local anesthesia. One biopsy was embedded in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and processed to paraffin for immunohistochemical (IHC) studies; and the other was conserved in RNALaterTM (ThemoFisher) for qPCR studies.

Blood Sampling

Twenty milliliters of heparinized blood were collected from each study subject. Ficoll-Paque (GE HealthcareTM) density gradient centrifugation was performed to obtain both plasma and Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs). Plasma samples were frozen at -80° C for cytokine quantification by ELISA. PBMCs were further lysed in RLT buffer (Qiagen) and stored at -20° C for later RNA extraction.

Oral Mucosa Immunohistochemical Analyses

Paraffin blocks were cut into 1 μm thick sections and fixed onto a poly-L-lysine treated glass slide and then used for histological

 TABLE 1 | Detailed information on study celiac disease patients.

	Age	Sex	Serology		Time since GFD	Genotype	Clinical manifestations	Other diseases	Marsh classification	Response to GFD
			Total IgA (mg/dl)	lgA Anti-tTG2 (kU/L)		DQ2	mannestations	uiscuses	Classification	
De novo	42	F	143	158	-	+	ID	V	3b	
	64	F	80	12	-	+	ID, DY	_	Зb	
	64	F	253	18.3	-	+	WL, N, D	HP	Зb	
	25	F	<5*	26.1	-	+	ABP, ID, HC	SA, RD	Зa	
	62	Μ	370	45.7	-	+	AN, GIB	HTN	Зb	
	49	F	149	657	-	+	DY, D/CON	-	Зa	
GFD	48	F	133	>125/5	6 y 9 m	+	DY, ID, AN	-	Зc	+
	67	F	133	152/<5	20 y	+	D, WL	HT, FM, DE	Зa	+
	26	F	152	>300/<5	1 y 1 m	+	ABP, WL	_	Зb	+
	38	F	277	41.2/<5	12 y 5 m	+	AN, D	_	Зb	+
	54	F	222	1.2	2у	+	ID, B12	VE, DE, AG	Зa	+
	54	F	284	>300/9.8	1y 6 m	+	VO, D/CON, ABP	_	Зb	+
	53	Μ	266	93/<5	1y 2 m	+	ABP	_	Зb	+

M/F, male/female; y/m, years/months; AG, autoimmune gastritis; ABP, abdominal pain; AN, anemia; B12, B12 deficiency; CON, constipation; DE, depression; D, diarrhea; DY, dyspepsia; FM, fibromyalgia; GIB, gastrointestinal bleeding; HC, hematochezia; HP, Helicobacter pylori; HT, hypothyroidism; HTN, hypertension; ID, iron deficiency; N, nausea; RD, rheumatic disease; SA, sulfonamide allergy; V, vitiligo; VE, vertigo; VO, vomit; WL, weight loss.

and immunohistochemical analyses. All sections were stained with H&E following manufacturer's protocol to achieve correct orientation of the biopsy. Immunohistochemical staining was performed using Bond Polymer refine Detection kit on a BOND-MAX Automated IHC/ISH Stainer (Leica Biosystems) following the manufacturer's protocol. The following antibodies were used: mouse monoclonal anti-human CD19 (NCL-L-CD19-163, Leica Biosystems), rat anti-human CD3 (MCA1477,Bio-Rad), mouse monoclonal anti-human CD4 (NCL-L-CD4-368, Leica Biosystems), mouse monoclonal anti-human CD8 (NCL-L-CD8-4B11, Leica Biosystems), mouse monoclonal anti-human Claudin-1 (ab56417, Abcam), mouse monoclonal anti-human E-Cadherin (36B5) (PA0387, Leica Biosystems), mouse monoclonal antihuman FoxP3 (ab22510, Abcam), mouse monoclonal antihuman γδ-TCR (sc-100289, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), mouse monoclonal anti-human Langerin (ab49730, Abcam), rabbit recombinant monoclonal [EPR20992] to Occludin (ab216327, Abcam), and rabbit polyclonal to Neutrophil Elastase (ab68672, Abcam). Positive and negative controls were included for each experiment.

Luna Staining

Sections were stained with a mixture of hematoxylin and Biebrich scarlet for 5 min. Subsequently, they were rinsed with 1% acid alcohol solution (hydrochloric acid), and water. Finally, samples were counterstained with 0.5% lithium carbonate solution and rinsed in running water for 2 min.

Oral Mucosa Image Analysis

Scanning of the samples was performed using pathology scanner Aperio Versa 8 (Leica Biosystems) at $40 \times$ magnification. A sufficient number of images covering the whole biopsy were captured at an appropriate magnification for quantification.

Epithelial cell junctions image analyses were performed using Image-Pro Plus v4.5.0.29 (Media Cybernetics). Briefly, an adequate threshold that best adjusted to the actual DAB staining was established for a selected area. After applying the same threshold to all the images taken from the same sample, the software calculated the stained area relative to the total selected area. The final value was calculated as the weighted average of all measurements obtained for each image in one sample. These analyses were done by at least two independent observers for each staining.

Inflammatory infiltrate analyses were performed by using the "counter tool" integrated in Aperio ImageScope v12.3.2.8013 (Leica Biosystems) covering either epithelium, connective tissue, or the whole sample, when appropriate. Both area and stained cells were determined by three independent observers.

RNA Isolation From Oral Biopsies and Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells for qPCR

Oral mucosa tissue was digested in TRIzolTM (ThermoFisher) manually using a scalpel and later homogenized using TissueLyser (Qiagen). After centrifugation, aqueous phase was purified using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) columns with DNase treatment, according to manufacturer's protocol, and later retrotranscribed into cDNA with the High Capacity RNA-tocDNA kit (Applied Biosystems). RNA from lysed PBMCs was also extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) columns. SYBR Green master mix (Takara) was used for quantitative RT-PCR in the equipment Real Time HT 7900 (Applied Biosystems).

Expression data were normalized to the average median of housekeeping genes β -actin and GAPDH and the results were analyzed using the 2 - $\Delta\Delta$ CT method (26). Oligonucleotides for selected genes were designed using Primer3 software, NIH PrimerBlast and Olygoanalizer tool (IDT).

Plasma Cytokine Quantification

ELISA kits for IL-33 (CSB-E13000h-96T), IL-25 (CSB-E11715h-96T), and TSLP (CSB-E03316h-96T) (Cusabio) were used to determined cytokine plasma levels following manufacturer's recommended protocols for every specific kit. To detect PAF in plasma, LabClinics ELISA kit (EH4331) was used. Optical density of the ELISAs was measured at 450 nm in a Varioskan plate reader. A five-parameter logistic fit curve was generated for each cytokine from the seven standards.

Statistics

GraphPad Prism v8.0.1 software was used for statistical analysis. Non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test or One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test were used when appropriate to compare data among experimental groups. For correlation analysis, Spearman correlation was applied. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant for all the analyses. Descriptive statistics along the text are expressed as "mean (s = standard deviation)." Inferential statistics are expressed as "(mean difference \pm SE of difference, p-value)" when a parametric test is used, and "(median, p-value)" when the test is non-parametric.

RESULTS

Clinical Features

Of the study subjects, 76.2% were female: 83.3% in the *de novo* group, 87.5% in the GFD group, and 62.5% in the control group. Average age was 44.69 years: 51 (s = 15.62 years) in the *de novo* group, 48.57 years (s = 13.16 years) in the GFD group, and 34.5 years (s = 10.81 years) in the control group. All included study subjects were Caucasian.

Among CD patients, average age of diagnosis was 46.6 years: 51 years (s = 15.62 years) for the *de novo* diagnosed and 42.21 years (s = 12.12 years) for the GFD group. The most frequent clinical manifestations at diagnosis were iron deficiency and diarrhea, found in 38.46% of the CD patients, being 23.08% diagnosed with anemia. Other frequent manifestations were abdominal pain (30.77%), weigh loss (23.08%), and dyspepsia (23.08%). Comorbidities were described in some patients and included other autoimmune diseases such as vitiligo or rheumatic disease. Of the patients in the GFD group, 25% showed signs of depression (**Table 1**).

According to the inclusion criteria, all newly diagnosed patients involved in the study tested positive for tissue transglutaminase 2 (tTG2) antibodies, genotype HLA-DQ2+ and reach at least III in Marsh scale for duodenal biopsy. All patients had normal IgA levels, except one that presented IgA deficiency, but clear anti-tTG2 antibodies. In the GFD group, average time under diet was 6.42 years (s = 6.76 years) and ranged between 1.17 and 12.42 years (**Table 1**).

Epithelial Integrity of the Oral Mucosa Is Compromised in Celiac Disease Patients

Protein expression levels of epithelial junctional proteins were studied by IHC staining in histological sections of the oral mucosa. Paraffin-embedded samples from all subjects included in the study were stained targeting occludin and claudin-1, members of the tight junctional complex, and E-cadherin, member of the adherens junctions. We found a significant decrease in E-cadherin expression in both groups of CD patients: *de novo* diagnosed ($-20.34 \pm 5.30\%$, p < 0.01) and GFD patients ($-20.58 \pm 5.08\%$, p < 0.01) compared with nonceliac controls (**Figures 1A, B**). Claudin-1 was also significantly decreased in both groups of CD patients when compared to

control subjects (*de novo* diagnosed $-12.97 \pm 2.99\%$, p < 0.01 and GFD $-11.81 \pm 2.99\%$) (**Figures 1C, D**). For occludin, a non-significant trend was observed (**Figures 1E, F**).

We also determined mRNA expression of the epithelial junctional protein occludin, and periplakin (PPL), a member of desmosomes. We found increased mRNA expression in GFD patients for both occludin (+0.62 \pm 0.20-fold change, p < 0.05) and PPL (+1.26 \pm 0.41-fold change, p < 0.05) when compared to *de novo* patients (**Figures 1G, H**).

Celiac Disease Patients Present Higher Treg Infiltrate in the Oral Epithelium

Oral mucosa biopsies were stained for common T lymphocyte and antigen-presenting cell (APC) markers, such CD3, CD4, CD8, FoxP3, Langerin, and CD11c (**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Figure 2**). We found no significant differences in the absolute counts of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, or CD8⁺ T cells among the experimental groups in either epithelium or the lamina propria (**Figures 2B, C**). However, when the preferential location of these cells was examined, significant differences were found among study groups. The percentage of CD3⁺ cells located in the epithelium



patients *de novo* diagnosed (*de novo*) (n = 6) and after Gluten Free Diet (GFD) (n = 7) for E-cadherin (**A**, **B**), claudin-1 (**C**, **D**), and occludin (**E**, **F**). Images were captured at 8× magnification. Quantification is the percentage-stained area (mm²) of the total epithelial area (**B**, **D**, **F**). Scatter plots show mean \pm SD *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. Fold change expression of occludin (**G**) and periplakin (PPL) (**H**) in the oral mucosa for *de novo* diagnosed (n = 6) and GFD (n = 7) CD patients. Fold change is referred to non-celiac (control) samples using 2 - $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Data were normalized using two housekeeping genes (GAPDH and β -actin). Bar plots show mean \pm SD *p < 0.05.



FIGURE 2 | Representative images of CD3, CD4, CD8 immunohistochemistry (A). Images were captured at 15× magnification. Absolute counts in epithelium (B), absolute counts in lamina propria (C), and frequency of cells present in the epithelium (%) (D) for CD3+ (left), CD4+ (center), and CD8+ (right) from non-celiac subjects (control) (n = 8) and celiac disease patients *de novo* diagnosed (*de novo*) (n = 6) and after Gluten Free Diet (GFD) (n = 7). Scatter plots show mean \pm SD *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

was significantly lower in GFD patients when compared to both control (-15.60 ± 5.86%, p < 0.05) and *de novo* subjects (-20.32 ± 6.30%, p < 0.05) (**Figure 2D**). CD4⁺ presence in the epithelium was also significantly lower in GFD patients but only when compared to control subjects (-28.91 ± 7.27%, p < 0.01) (**Figure 2D**). CD8⁺ cells showed no significant differences among experimental groups (**Figure 2D**). These lymphocytes lacked $\gamma\delta$ T cell receptor expression (**Supplementary Figures 2A, E**).

Fox p 3+ cell numbers in the epithelium were negligible in most cases (data not shown). FoxP3⁺ Treg counts in the whole mucosa were significantly higher in both *de novo* diagnosed (+11.54 cells/mm², p < 0.001) and GFD (+8.04 cells/mm², p < 0.05) CD patients as compared to the non-celiac (control) group (**Figures 3A, B**). When the population of Tregs among the total CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ cells was examined, similar results were observed. FoxP3⁺/CD4⁺ ratio was increased in *de novo* diagnosed (+11.00%, p < 0.01) and GFD (+9.00%, p < 0.05) groups. FoxP3⁺/CD3⁺ ratio followed the same pattern and was also increased in *de novo* (+27.11 ± 4.58%, p < 0.0001) and GFD (+16.01 ± 4.58%, p < 0.01) groups (**Figures 3C, D**).

We also stained for the APC markers langerin and CD11c to characterize whether there was a predominant APC population associated to CD. No significant differences were found in these two markers among the experimental groups (**Supplementary Figure 3**). Anti-CD19, anti-neutrophil elastase and Luna staining revealed absence of B cells, low presence of neutrophils, and absence of eosinophils, respectively, in buccal mucosa tissue (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

Recruitment of Tregs to the Damaged Oral Mucosa Is Associated to the Upregulation of Amphiregulin

Next, we wanted to determine whether the recruitment of Tregs to the oral mucosa presented characteristic features. First, we found a significant positive correlation between E-cadherin expression and langerin expression in the oral epithelium (r = 0.57, p < 0.01) for all the experimental groups (**Figure 4A**). In contrast, E-cadherin levels negatively correlated to FoxP3⁺ Treg numbers (r = -0.65, p < 0.01), i.e. the higher the damage in the epithelium (the lower the E-cadherin expression), the higher the



Treg infiltrate in the oral mucosa (**Figure 4B**). Moreover, Treg recruitment to the oral mucosa was found to be positively correlated with amphiregulin mRNA expression in PBMCs (r = 0.61, p < 0.05) (**Figure 4C**).

Markers Associated With Celiac Disease in the Intestinal Mucosa Are Not Increased in the Oral Mucosa

Next, we studied whether factors traditionally associated with intestinal IELs and inflammation in CD were also relevant in the oral mucosa of CD patients. For that, we determined IL15, IL15RA, IFN γ , and perforin mRNA levels in oral mucosa biopsies. Surprisingly, we found that all tended to decrease in

CD patients, being this decrease significant for IL-15 in *de novo* diagnosed (0.55 \pm 0.20 fold change, p < 0.05) and GFD (0.71 \pm 0.19 fold change, p < 0.01) patients, and IFN γ expression in GFD patients (1.51 \pm 0.55 fold change, p < 0.05) when compared to the control group (**Figure 5**).

IL33 Plasma Levels Are Increased in Celiac Disease Patients

Levels of the epithelial alarmins known to be released upon mucosal damage were determined in oral mucosa biopsies and in plasma samples of the study subjects. In oral mucosa biopsies, we did not find significant differences in mRNA expression for IL-33, TSLP, or periostin (*POSTN*) of CD patients (**Supplementary**



**p < 0.01.

Figure 4). Plasma levels of IL-33, IL-25, and TSLP were measured by ELISA. De *novo* diagnosed (26.78 ± 10.21 pg/ml, p < 0.05) and GFD (27.53 ± 9.30 pg/ml, p < 0.05) CD patients presented significantly higher plasma levels of IL-33 as compared with non-celiac subjects (**Figure 6A**). There were no significant differences between the two groups of CD patients. We could not find any differences among the experimental groups for IL-25 or TSLP, although a trend of higher TSLP plasma levels was observed for both groups of CD patients when compared to controls (p = 0.059) (**Figures 6B, C**). We also determined PAF levels, as it is known to induce IL-33 release. We could not find any differences between non-celiac and either of the CD groups (p = 0.09). Nevertheless, PAF plasma levels tended to be higher in *de novo* diagnosed CD patients when compared to GFD (p = 0.09) (**Figure 6D**).

DISCUSSION

Celiac disease is a chronic autoimmune enteropathy triggered by gluten intake. As such, immune responses in the intestinal mucosa have been profoundly investigated (1, 43). However, it is well known that CD may present in atypical forms including extra-intestinal manifestations, some affecting the oral mucosa (6, 7). In fact, the oral mucosa of CD patients was shown to react to gliadin challenge with increasing numbers of lymphocytes (44). However, studies examining oral histopathological findings in CD are conflicting (8). In the present study, we examined buccal mucosa biopsies from CD patients both *de novo*

diagnosed and under GFD, with the aim of determining its potential role as an immunomodulatory site for CD IT.

An intact functional oral mucosal barrier is crucial in the maintenance of homeostasis as it protects the mucosal immune system from the exposure to noxious environmental antigens (45). In our study, we have found that the expression of intercellular junctional proteins that are critical for epithelial integrity was altered in the buccal epithelium of CD patients even after avoidance of gluten for at least 1 year. In accordance, damage in the oral mucosa of GFD patients has been previously reported (6, 46). Unlike the previous studies that have focused on the characterization of the oral immune response, we have also examined the expression of intercellular junctional proteins to describe the remodeling of the oral mucosal barrier. This remodeling in the treated CD patients has been suggested not to result from poor dietary compliance, but rather as a late immune response reflecting chronic immune stimulation followed by regeneration of memory T cells (46). After gluten avoidance, mRNA levels of both occludin and PPL (a protein expressed in desmosomes and described to be a regulator of lung injury and repair) (47) are increased. These findings suggest that gluten depletion has a healing effect over the oral mucosa that is still not visible at the protein level. Therefore, an impaired epithelial barrier could account for the extraintestinal manifestations of CD observed in the oral cavity such as aphthous ulcers, even after the avoidance of gluten (48). In our study, all subjects were investigated by the gastroenterologist to ensure that no significant oral lesions were present in the buccal mucosa before enrolment. However, the overall health status of the oral cavity was not examined. Therefore, other alterations,



FIGURE 5 | mRNA expression of *de novo* diagnosed CD patients (*de novo*) (n = 6) and CD patients on GFD (GFD) (n = 7) for IL-15 (**A**), IL15Ra (**B**), IFNY (**C**), and perforin (**D**). Fold change is referred to non-celiac (control) samples using 2 - $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, data were normalized using two housekeeping genes (GAPDH and β -actin). Bar plots show mean \pm SD *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.





e.g. gingivitis or periodontitis, cannot be formally excluded, although none of the study subjects showed signs of oral disease at sampling.

Regarding the immune infiltrate in the oral mucosa of CD patients, there are not consensus studies (6, 8, 39, 40). In our study, we did not find significant differences in the global counts of langerin⁺, CD11c⁺, CD4⁺, CD8⁺, or CD3⁺ cell populations. The study by Bardellini et al. describes an increased CD3 infiltrate in the stromal papillae that is decreased after avoidance of gluten (6). Although we could not see changes in absolute cell counts, we found that avoidance of gluten reduces the relative abundance of lymphocytes in the epithelium. Moreover, we also confirm that the vast majority of the IELs in the oral mucosa lack $\gamma\delta$ -T cell receptor expression, in accordance with Lähteenoja et al. (46). These authors suggest that NK cells substantially contribute to lymphocyte recruitment; thus, NK cells may take part in the mucosa remodeling process. Although important in gut mucosa, we discard $\gamma\delta$ -T cells as a biomarker in the epithelium of buccal mucosa of CD patients. In contrast, Krishnan S et al. found the presence of $\gamma\delta$ + cells at the gingiva in a mouse model of periodontitis. Moreover, these cells were producing amphiregulin for safeguarding the homeostasis of the oral mucosal barrier (49).

Interestingly, the population of Tregs was greatly increased in the oral mucosa of CD patients. However, previous research in circulating Tregs of CD patients suggests that they have an impaired suppressive function (50, 51). IL15, an important hallmark of CD, has been shown to perform a relevant role in Treg effect suppression (29, 52, 53). In the present study, we could not find an increase in IL-15 expression in the oral mucosa of CD patients. What we found is that Fox p3+ cell abundance inversely correlated with E-cadherin expression (i.e. the lower the E-cadherin expression, the more the Treg numbers in the buccal mucosa). Thus, we hypothesize that the Fox p3+ cells we observed in CD patients are recruited to protect against further tissue damage and maintain barrier integrity, as previously reported (28, 41). In fact, we found a positive correlation between Fox p3+ cell numbers in the oral mucosa and peripheral amphiregulin expression, which is a repair factor. Peripheral amphiregulin expression has been previously found associated to repair/remodeling features in other disease settings such as infant viral bronchiolitis (54). In this line, amphiregulinproducing pathogenic memory Th2 cells were found to control airway fibrosis resulting from chronic inflammatory stimulation (55). Besides, amphiregulin is described to restore integrity of damaged intestinal mucosa in murine models of acute graftversus-host disease (aGVHD). In the study by Holtan S et al., high circulating amphiregulin levels reclassified patients into high risk subgroups helping further refine the aGVHD clinical risk score (56). Therefore, we propose that circulating amphiregulin could also be useful for the diagnosis of CD and helpful to establish an alternative classification score to the intestinal biopsy-based Marsh scoring system. Nevertheless, amphiregulin determination and Treg phenotypes in the oral mucosa deserve further study in the context of CD for solid conclusions.

We did not identify changes in langerin+ or CD11c+ cell counts in our study. However, langerin+ cells, described to have a tolerogenic role in the oral mucosa (57), correlated inversely with epithelial damage. This result supports the role of langerin+ cells as tolerance inductors.

Plasma cells have been recently identified as the most abundant gluten peptide MHC-expressing cells in the intestine of patients with active CD (58). Therefore, we investigated whether B cells were also more abundant in the oral mucosa of CD patients. Strikingly, our study revealed absence of B cells in the oral mucosa of CD patients. In addition and consistent with previous findings for allergic patients (25, 41), eosinophilic and neutrophilic infiltrates were negligible in the oral mucosa. According to Moutsopoulos et al., neutrophils are the gatekeepers of oral immunity. They can be found within the oral cavity, exhibiting varying levels of activation and functionality depending on the presence of oral inflammation. In patients with neutrophil defects, a dysregulated IL-17/Th17 response has been shown to drive immunopathology (19). Regarding eosinophils, there is limited evidence that they reside in the oral cavity, at least in the gingiva, in healthy individuals (19).

The immunomodulatory mechanisms taking place in the oral mucosa in CD support its potential role as a target for oral IT. The potential of the buccal mucosa as a drug delivery system has been previously reviewed (59) and trials have been made to develop an IT for CD (12, 60). Protein-based desensitization IT is widely used to treat allergic diseases (61). CD4+ Tregs are induced by peptide vaccination, which means that a sustainable induction of Tregs is responsible for the efficacy of this treatment (16, 62, 63). An important question we wanted to address was whether the inflammatory mechanisms taking place in the oral mucosa mirror those of the intestinal mucosa. In this regard, two studies have assessed the capacity of the oral mucosa of untreated CD patients to produce CD autoantibodies (64, 65). In our study, we assessed the expression of inflammatory factors such as IL-15, in the oral mucosa of CD patients. Surprisingly, IL-15 expression, along with that of IFN γ and perforin, was decreased. Therefore, the immunopathological mechanisms taking place in the oral mucosa of CD patients deserve further study.

In our study, the structural changes in the oral mucosa of CD patients take place with increased number of FoxP3 Tregs. Moreover, the inflammatory hallmark of CD in the gut (IL-15) seems to be absent in the oral mucosa. Furthermore, IL-33, TSLP, or POSTN mRNA levels are not elevated in buccal biopsies. Thus, we hypothesize that the oral mucosa remodeling observed may be a consequence of the systemic inflammation associated to CD. In fact, systemic immune deregulation is reflected in the function of the oral immune system (45). We, and others (66) have reported increased plasma levels of IL-33 in CD groups. Lopez-Casado et al. measured serum levels and determined intestinal expression of IL-33 and its receptor ST2 in patients with active CD, but not in patients following a GFD. They found that the higher levels of IL-33 and its receptor ST2 in the intestine and serum reflect an active inflammatory state. Thus, they suggest it may be a potential biomarker for CD. In this line,

Perez F et al. (67), found an increased expression of IL-33 in the duodenal mucosa of active CD patients. These findings highlight the potential contribution of IL-33 to exacerbate inflammation in CD pathology.

Based on our results, we conclude that oral mucosal integrity is compromised in CD patients, even after gluten avoidance. A remodeled epithelium may be key for the IT to gain access to both epithelial surfaces (apical and basolateral) and the local mucosa associated immune system, as previously suggested (25, 68, 69). Therefore, a disrupted epithelial barrier, together with the local recruitment of Tregs, make the oral mucosa a potential target for CD IT. These features could also help explain oral extraintestinal manifestations, and possibly assist CD diagnosis. Overall, our study highlights the relevance to characterize the specific immunopathological features of the oral mucosa in CD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research and Ethics Committees of San Agustin

REFERENCES

- Sollid LM. Coeliac disease: dissecting a complex inflammatory disorder. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2(9):647–55. doi: 10.1038/nri885
- Jabri B, Sollid LM. Mechanisms of Disease: immunopathogenesis of celiac disease. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol (2006) 3(9):516–25. doi: 10.1038/ncpgasthep0582
- Green PHR, Cellier C. Celiac Disease. N Engl J Med (2007) 357(17):1731–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra071600
- Gujral N. Celiac disease: Prevalence, diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment. World J Gastroenterol (2012) 18(42):6036. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i42.6036
- Marsh MN. Gluten, major histocompatibility complex, and the small intestine. A molecular and immunobiologic approach to the spectrum of gluten sensitivity ('celiac sprue'). *Gastroenterology* (1992) 102(1):330–54. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(92)91819-P
- Bardellini E, Amadori F, Ravelli A, Salemme M, Lonardi S, Villanacci V, et al. Histopathological findings in the oral mucosa of celiac patients. *Rev Española Enfermedades Dig* (2014) 106(2):86–91. doi: 10.4321/S1130-010820140 00200003
- Rodrigo L, Beteta-Gorriti V, Alvarez N, Gómez de Castro C, de Dios A, Palacios L, et al. Cutaneous and Mucosal Manifestations Associated with Celiac Disease. *Nutrients* (2018) 10(7):800. doi: 10.3390/nu10070800
- Bernardo D. Coeliac disease in the oral mucosa? *Rev Española Enfermedades* Dig (2014) 106(2):73–6. doi: 10.4321/S1130-01082014000200001
- Shah S, Akbari M, Vanga R, Kelly CP, Hansen J, Theethira T, et al. Patient Perception of Treatment Burden Is High in Celiac Disease Compared With Other Common Conditions. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2014) 109(9):1304–11. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2014.29
- Singh J, Whelan K. Limited availability and higher cost of gluten-free foods. J Hum Nutr Diet (2011) 24(5):479–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-277X.2011.01160.x

Hospital of Aviles. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS, CDF, and JSS recruited the study subjects and conducted the biopsy and blood sampling. JSS, CPT, and CGC performed and analyzed the laboratory experiments. JSS, PS, DB, and CGC discussed the results and wrote the manuscript. All the authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was financed by Allero Therapeutics BV, Rotterdam. JSS was supported by an FPI-CEU predoctoral fellowship. CGC was supported by a postdoctoral contract co-funded by the competitive Program "Attracting Talent," Community of Madrid, Spain.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.623805/full#supplementary-material

- Niland B, Cash BD. Health Benefits and Adverse Effects of a Gluten-Free Diet in Non-Celiac Disease Patients. *Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y)* (2018) 14(2):82–91.
- Di Sabatino A, Lenti MV, Corazza GR, Gianfrani C. Vaccine Immunotherapy for Celiac Disease. Front Med (2018) 5:187. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00187
- Palomares O, Akdis M, Martín-Fontecha M, Akdis CA. Mechanisms of immune regulation in allergic diseases: the role of regulatory T and B cells. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 278(1):219–36. doi: 10.1111/imr.12555
- Akdis M, Akdis CA. Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy: Multiple suppressor factors at work in immune tolerance to allergens. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2014) 133(3):621–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.12.1088
- Durham SR, Emminger W, Kapp A, de Monchy JGR, Rak S, Scadding GK, et al. SQ-standardized sublingual grass immunotherapy: Confirmation of disease modification 2 years after 3 years of treatment in a randomized trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2012) 129(3):717–725.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.12.973
- Varona R, Ramos T, Escribese MM, Jimeno L, Galán A, Würtzen PA, et al. Persistent regulatory T-cell response 2 years after 3 years of grass tablet SLIT: Links to reduced eosinophil counts, sIgE levels, and clinical benefit. *Allergy* (2019) 74(2):349–60. doi: 10.1111/all.13553
- Barber D, Rico P, Blanco C, Fernandez-Rivas M, Ibañez MD, Escribese MM. GRAZAX[®]: a sublingual immunotherapy vaccine for Hay fever treatment: from concept to commercialization. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2019) 15 (12):2887–95. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2019.1622976
- Kitamoto S, Nagao-Kitamoto H, Hein R, Schmidt TM, Kamada N. The Bacterial Connection between the Oral Cavity and the Gut Diseases. J Dent Res (2020) 99(9):1021–9. doi: 10.1177/0022034520924633
- Moutsopoulos NM, Konkel JE. Tissue-Specific Immunity at the Oral Mucosal Barrier. *Trends Immunol* (2018) 39(4):276–87. doi: 10.1016/j.it. 2017.08.005
- Shin K, Fogg VC, Margolis B. Tight Junctions and Cell Polarity. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2006) 22(1):207–35. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010305.104219

- Leoni G, Neumann P-A, Sumagin R, Denning TL, Nusrat A. Wound repair: role of immune–epithelial interactions. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8(5):959–68. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.63
- Novak N, Haberstok J, Bieber T, Allam J-P. The immune privilege of the oral mucosa. *Trends Mol Med* (2008) 14(5):191–8. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed. 2008.03.001
- Murota H, Lingli Y, Katayama I. Periostin in the pathogenesis of skin diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci (2017) 74:4321–8. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2647-1
- Khurshid Z, Mali M, Adanir N, Zafar MS, Khan RS, Latif M. Periostin: Immunomodulatory Effects on Oral Diseases. *Eur J Dent* (2020) 14(3):462–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1714037
- Rosace D, Gomez-Casado C, Fernandez P, Perez-Gordo M, Dominguez M del C, Vega A, et al. Profilin-mediated food-induced allergic reactions are associated with oral epithelial remodeling. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019) 143(2):681–90.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.03.013
- Gomez-Casado C, Villaseñor A, Rodriguez-Nogales A, Bueno J, Barber D, Escribese M. Understanding Platelets in Infectious and Allergic Lung Diseases. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(7):1730. doi: 10.3390/ijms20071730
- Morita H, Arae K, Unno H, Miyauchi K, Toyama S, Nambu A, et al. An Interleukin-33-Mast Cell-Interleukin-2 Axis Suppresses Papain-Induced Allergic Inflammation by Promoting Regulatory T Cell Numbers. *Immunity* (2015) 43(1):175–86. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.021
- Zhang C, Li L, Feng K, Fan D, Xue W, Lu J. 'Repair' Treg Cells in Tissue Injury. Cell Physiol Biochem (2017) 43(6):2155–69. doi: 10.1159/000484295
- Abadie V, Jabri B. IL-15: a central regulator of celiac disease immunopathology. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 260(1):221-34. doi: 10.1111/ imr.12191
- 30. Di Sabatino A, Ciccocioppo R, Cupelli F, Cinque B, Millimaggi D, Clarkson MM, et al. Epithelium derived interleukin 15 regulates intraepithelial lymphocyte Th1 cytokine production, cytotoxicity, and survival in coeliac disease. *Gut* (2006) 55(4):469–77. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.068684
- Meresse B, Ripoche J, Heyman M, Cerf-Bensussan N. Celiac disease: from oral tolerance to intestinal inflammation, autoimmunity and lymphomagenesis. *Mucosal Immunol* (2009) 2(1):8–23. doi: 10.1038/mi.2008.75
- Nilsen EM, Lundin KE, Krajci P, Scott H, Sollid LM, Brandtzaeg P. Gluten specific, HLA-DQ restricted T cells from coeliac mucosa produce cytokines with Th1 or Th0 profile dominated by interferon gamma. *Gut* (1995) 37 (6):766–76. doi: 10.1136/gut.37.6.766
- Guy-Grand D, DiSanto JP, Henchoz P, Malassis-Séris M, Vassalli P. Small bowel enteropathy: role of intraepithelial lymphocytes and of cytokines (IL-12, IFN-gamma, TNF) in the induction of epithelial cell death and renewal. *Eur J Immunol* (1998) 28(2):730–44. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199802) 28:02<730::AID-IMMU730>3.0.CO;2-U
- 34. Olaussen RW, Johansen FE, Lundin KEA, Jahnsen J, Brandtzaeg P, Farstad IN. Interferon-γ-Secreting T Cells Localize to the Epithelium in Coeliac Disease. Scand J Immunol (2002) 56(6):652–64. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.2002.01195.x
- Ráki M, Tollefsen S, Molberg Ø, Lundin KEA, Sollid LM, Jahnsen FL. A Unique Dendritic Cell Subset Accumulates in the Celiac Lesion and Efficiently Activates Gluten-Reactive T Cells. *Gastroenterology* (2006) 131(2):428–38. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.06.002
- Hovav A-H. Dendritic cells of the oral mucosa. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7 (1):27–37. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.42
- Cutler CW, Jotwani R. Dendritic Cells at the Oral Mucosal Interface. J Dent Res (2006) 85(8):678–89. doi: 10.1177/154405910608500801
- Incorvaia C, Frati F, Sensi L, Riario-Sforza G, Marcucci F. Allergic Inflammation and the Oral Mucosa. *Recent Pat Inflammation Allergy Drug Discovery* (2007) 1(1):35–8. doi: 10.2174/187221307779815129
- Compilato D, Campisi G, Pastore L, Carroccio A. The Production of the Oral Mucosa of Antiendomysial and Anti—Tissue-Transglutaminase Antibodies in Patients with Celiac Disease: A Review. *Sci World J* (2010) 10:2385–94. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2010.228
- Campisi G, Compilato D, Iacono G, Maresi E, Di Liberto C, Di Marco V, et al. Histomorphology of healthy oral mucosa in untreated celiac patients: unexpected association with spongiosis. *J Oral Pathol Med* (2008) 38(1):34– 41. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0714.2008.00677.x
- 41. Sanchez-Solares J, Delgado-Dolset MI, Mera-Berriatua L, Hormias-Martin G, Cumplido JA, Saiz V, et al. Respiratory allergies with no associated food

allergy disrupt oral mucosa integrity. *Allergy* (2019) 74(11):2261-5. doi: 10.1111/all.13860

- Obeso D, Mera-Berriatua L, Rodríguez-Coira J, Rosace D, Fernández P, Martín-Antoniano IA, et al. Multi-omics analysis points to altered platelet functions in severe food-associated respiratory allergy. *Allergy* (2018) 73 (11):2137–49. doi: 10.1111/all.13563
- Iversen R, Sollid LM. Autoimmunity provoked by foreign antigens. Sci (80) (2020) 368(6487):132–3. doi: 10.1126/science.aay3037
- Lahteenoja H, Maki M, Viander M, Toivanen A, Syrjanen S. Local challenge of oral mucosa with gliadin in patients with coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2000) 120(1):38–45. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01177.x
- Moutsopoulos N, Moutsopoulos H. The oral mucosa: A barrier site participating in tissue-specific and systemic immunity. Oral Dis (2018) 24 (1-2):22-5. doi: 10.1111/odi.12729
- 46. Lahteenoja H, Toivanen A, Viander M, Raiha I, Rantala I, Syrjanen S, et al. Increase in T-Cell Subsets of Oral Mucosa: a Late Immune Response in Patients with Treated Coeliac Disease? *Scand J Immunol* (2000) 52(6):602–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.2000.00794.x
- Besnard V, Dagher R, Madjer T, Joannes A, Jaillet M, Kolb M, et al. Identification of periplakin as a major regulator of lung injury and repair in mice. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3(5):e90163. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.90163
- Rashid M, Zarkadas M, Anca A, Limeback H. Oral manifestations of celiac disease: a clinical guide for dentists. J Can Dent Assoc (2011) 77:b39.
- Krishnan S, Prise IE, Wemyss K, Schenck LP, Bridgeman HM, McClure FA, et al. Amphiregulin-producing γδ T cells are vital for safeguarding oral barrier immune homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2018) 115(42):10738–43. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1802320115
- Cook L, Munier CML, Seddiki N, van Bockel D, Ontiveros N, Hardy MY, et al. Circulating gluten-specific FOXP3 + CD39 + regulatory T cells have impaired suppressive function in patients with celiac disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 140(6):1592–603.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.02.015
- Granzotto M, dal Bo S, Quaglia S, Tommasini A, Piscianz E, Valencic E, et al. Regulatory T-Cell Function Is Impaired in Celiac Disease. *Dig Dis Sci* (2009) 54(7):1513–9. doi: 10.1007/s10620-008-0501-x
- Jabri B, Sollid LM. T Cells in Celiac Disease. J Immunol (2017) 198(8):3005– 14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601693
- Zanzi D, Stefanile R, Santagata S, Iaffaldano L, Iaquinto G, Giardullo N, et al. IL-15 Interferes With Suppressive Activity of Intestinal Regulatory T Cells Expanded in Celiac Disease. Am J Gastroenterol (2011) 106(7):1308–17. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2011.80
- 54. Jones AC, Anderson D, Galbraith S, Fantino E, Cardenas DG, Read JF, et al. Personalized transcriptomics reveals heterogeneous immunophenotypes in children with viral bronchiolitis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2019) 199 (12):1537–49. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201804-0715OC
- 55. Hirahara K, Aoki A, Morimoto Y, Kiuchi M, Okano M, Nakayama T. The immunopathology of lung fibrosis: amphiregulin-producing pathogenic memory T helper-2 cells control the airway fibrotic responses by inducing eosinophils to secrete osteopontin. *Semin Immunopathol* (2019) 41:339–48. doi: 10.1007/s00281-019-00735-6
- Holtan SG, DeFor TE, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Khera N, Levine JE, Flowers MED, et al. Amphiregulin modifies the Minnesota acute graft-versus-host disease risk score: Results from BMT CTN 0302/0802. *Blood Adv* (2018) 2 (15):1882–8. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018017343
- Upadhyay R, Jaitley S, Shekhar R, Agrawal P, Upadhyay J. Langerhans cells and their role in oral mucosal diseases. N Am J Med Sci (2013) 5(9):505. doi: 10.4103/1947-2714.118923
- Høydahl LS, Richter L, Frick R, Snir O, Gunnarsen KS, Landsverk OJB, et al. Plasma Cells Are the Most Abundant Gluten Peptide MHC-expressing Cells in Inflamed Intestinal Tissues From Patients With Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 156(5):1428–39.e10. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2018.12.013
- Montenegro-Nicolini M, Morales JO. Overview and Future Potential of Buccal Mucoadhesive Films as Drug Delivery Systems for Biologics. AAPS Pharm Sci Tech (2017) 18:3–14. doi: 10.1208/s12249-016-0525-z
- Sollid LM, Khosla C. Novel therapies for coeliac disease. J Intern Med (2011) 269(6):604–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2011.02376.x
- Larché M, Wraith DC. Peptide-based therapeutic vaccines for allergic and autoimmune diseases. Nat Med (2005) 11(S4):S69–76. doi: 10.1038/nm1226

- Verhoef A, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larché M. T Cell Epitope Immunotherapy Induces a CD4+ T Cell Population with Regulatory Activity. Platts-Mills T, editor. *PloS Med* (2005) 2(3):e78. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020078
- Tanaka Y, Fukumoto S, Sugawara S. Mechanisms underlying the induction of regulatory T cells by sublingual immunotherapy. J Oral Biosci (2019) 61 (2):73–7. doi: 10.1016/j.job.2019.02.001
- 64. Carroccio A, Campisi G, Iacono G, Iacono OL, Maresi E, Di Prima L, et al. Oral mucosa of coeliac disease patients produces antiendomysial and antitransglutaminase antibodies: the diagnostic usefulness of an in vitro culture system. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2007) 25(12):1471-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03335.x
- 65. Vetrano S, Zampaletta U, Anania MC, Di Tola M, Sabbatella L, Passarelli F, et al. Detection of anti-endomysial and anti-tissue transglutaminase autoantibodies in media following culture of oral biopsies from patients with untreated coeliac disease. *Dig Liver Dis* (2007) 39(10):911–6. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2007.07.158
- López-Casado MA, Lorite P, Palomeque T, Torres MI. Potential role of the IL-33/ST2 axis in celiac disease. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2017) 14(3):285–92. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.85
- Perez F, Ruera CN, Miculan E, Carasi P, Dubois-Camacho K, Garbi L, et al. IL-33 Alarmin and Its Active Proinflammatory Fragments Are Released in Small Intestine in Celiac Disease. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:581445. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.581445

- Sanchez-Solares J, Delgado-Dolset MI, Mera-Berriatua L, Hormias-Martin G, Cumplido JA, Saiz V, et al. Respiratory allergies with no associated food allergy disrupt oral mucosa integrity. *Allergy: Eur J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019). doi: 10.1111/all.13860
- Rybakovsky E, Valenzano MC, Deis R, Diguilio KM, Thomas S, Mullin JM. Improvement of Human-Oral-Epithelial-Barrier Function and of Tight Junctions by Micronutrients. J Agric Food Chem (2017). doi: 10.1021/ acs.jafc.7b04203

Conflict of Interest: PS is a shareholder of Allero Therapeutics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Sanchez-Solares, Sanchez, Pablo-Torres, Diaz-Fernandez, Sørensen, Barber and Gomez-Casado. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Frequency of Gluten-Reactive T Cells in Active Celiac Lesions Estimated by Direct Cell Cloning

Shuo-Wang Qiao^{1,2*}, Shiva Dahal-Koirala^{1,2}, Linn M. Eggesbø¹, Knut E. A. Lundin^{1,3} and Ludvig M. Sollid^{1,2}

¹ K.G. Jebsen Coeliac Disease Research Centre, Department of Immunology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway, ² Department of Immunology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway, ³ Department of Gastroenterology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Chronic inflammation of the small intestine in celiac disease is driven by activation of CD4+ T cells that recognize gluten peptides presented by disease-associated HLA-DQ molecules. We have performed direct cell cloning of duodenal biopsies from five untreated and one refractory celiac disease patients, and three non-celiac disease control subjects in order to assess, in an unbiased fashion, the frequency of glutenreactive T cells in the disease-affected tissue as well as the antigen fine specificity of the responding T cells. From the biopsies of active disease lesions of five patients, 19 T-cell clones were found to be gluten-reactive out of total 1,379 clones tested. This gave an average of 1.4% (range 0.7% - 1.9%) of gluten-reactive T cells in lamina propria of active celiac lesions. Interestingly, also the patient with refractory celiac disease had glutenreactive T cell clones in the lamina propria (5/273; 1.8%). In comparison, we found no gluten-reactive T cells in any of the total 984 T-cell clones screened from biopsies from three disease control donors. Around two thirds of the gluten-reactive clones were reactive to a panel of peptides representing known gluten T-cell epitopes, of which two thirds were reactive to the immunodominant DQ2.5-glia- α 1/DQ2.5-glia- α 2 and DQ2.5glia- ω 1/DQ2.5-glia- ω 2 epitopes. This study shows that gluten-reactive T cells in the inflamed duodenal tissue are prevalent in the active disease lesion, and that many of these T cells are reactive to T-cell epitopes that are not yet characterized. Knowledge of the prevalence and epitope specificity of gluten-specific T cells is a prerequisite for therapeutic efforts that target disease-specific T cells in celiac disease.

Keywords: celiac disease, gluten, T cells, epitope, HLA, direct cloning

INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease is a chronic inflammatory disease of the small intestine elicited by T-cell mediated immune response to dietary gluten. Almost all patients express the HLA-DQ2.5, HLA-DQ2.2 or HLA-DQ8 allotypes with HLA-DQ2.5 being expressed by more than 90% of the patients. The disease-associated HLA-molecules present gluten to CD4+ T cells. Gluten is a complex family of

Abbreviations: TCC, T-cell clone; SI, stimulatory index; TG2, transglutaminase 2; CPM, counts per minute.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Melinda Y. Hardy, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Reviewed by:

Irene Marafini, Policlinico Tor Vergata, Italy Megan K.L. MacLeod, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Shuo-Wang Qiao

s.w.qiao@medisin.uio.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 December 2020 Accepted: 26 February 2021 Published: 16 March 2021

Citation:

Qiao S-W, Dahal-Koirala S, Eggesbø LM, Lundin KEA and Sollid LM (2021) Frequency of Gluten-Reactive T Cells in Active Celiac Lesions Estimated by Direct Cell Cloning. Front. Immunol. 12:646163. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.646163

19

proteins found in wheat. Currently, 27 distinct HLA-DQ2.5restricted T-cell epitopes have been characterized from gluten and related proteins such as hordein (barley), secalin (rye) and avenin (oat) (1). CD4+ T cells reactive to these epitopes can only be found in the intestinal tissue of celiac disease patients, and not in controls including non-celiac gluten-intolerant patients (2, 3). All HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten T-cell epitopes contain one or several glutamic residues within the 9-mer core HLA-binding region. Native gluten has few glutamic acid residues, but contains over 35% glutamine residues (4). Certain glutamine residues in the native gluten can be post-translationally modified into glutamic acid residues by the action of transglutaminase 2 (TG2), in a reaction known as deamidation (5). The negatively charged glutamic acid residues increase the binding affinity of gluten peptides to HLA-DQ2.5 (6).

Among the multitude of HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten T-cell epitopes, only a few are known to be recognized by nearly all celiac disease patients. These immunodominant epitopes are the epitopes DQ2.5-glia- α 1, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1, DQ2.5-glia- ω 2, and DQ2.5-hor-3 (7, 8). T cells that recognize the other HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes are found occasionally in a minority of celiac disease patients. Despite decades of efforts in characterizing T-cell epitopes from gluten (reviewed in 1), there are still undiscovered T-cell epitopes in gluten, a fact manifested by T-cell clones that recognize deamidated peptic digest of gluten, but not any of the known epitope sequences. The proportion of gluten-reactive T cells that recognize hitherto uncharacterized gluten epitopes is largely unknown since few systematic efforts have been made in the past few years.

The fact that an unknown fraction of T cells from celiac disease patients recognize yet unknown gluten epitopes, impacts the estimation of the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells in the celiac intestinal tissue. Most studies use ELISPOT with overlapping peptides from a few well-characterized gluten proteins (8, 9) or tetramers presenting a limited number of the known gluten epitopes (10, 11) in their estimation of this frequency. Only one single study has reported the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells by direct cloning of T cells from the lamina propria of duodenal biopsies (10). This study, however, included only three treated patients, and two untreated patients. The average frequency of gluten-reactive T cells in this study was 1.0% (range 0.5% - 1.8%, four patients) in celiac lesion with Marsh 3, a histological score that indicates the most severe tissue damage. Yet other approaches such as cloning from polyclonal T-cell line can give some indication of the specificity distribution, including the proportion of cells that recognize unknown gluten epitopes. However, due to in vitro expansion of the polyclonal lines, this approach does not give the precursor frequency of gluten-reactive T cells in the celiac lesion.

In the current study, we have cloned T cells directly from the lamina propria of total nine subjects, of whom five were untreated patients with Marsh 3 lesion, one refractory celiac patient with Marsh 3, and three control subjects that do not have celiac disease. From the six celiac disease patients with Marsh 3 in the duodenum, 24 T-cell clones were found to be glutenreactive of total 1,652 clones tested, giving an average frequency of 1.5% of gluten-reactive T cells. We also found that around one third of gluten-reactive T-cell clones from these patients only responded to deamidated gluten, but not to peptides containing any of the known HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Patients and Biopsies

Biopsies were taken as part of routine clinical follow-up or to investigate a suspected diagnosis of celiac disease. The regional committee for medical research ethics had approved the relevant protocols (REK 6544), and patients gave written consent before participating. One or two pieces of biopsies were taken from the descending duodenum for this study, and additional biopsies were taken from the duodenal bulb (bulbus duodeni) for diagnostic purposes. Patients received diagnosis based on the guidelines from European Society for the Study of Coeliac Disease (ESsCD) (12).

Duodenal biopsies were transported in sterile RPMI on ice. The epithelial layer was stripped off by two consecutive incubations with 5 ml PBS + 2% FCS + 2 mM EDTA, 10 min each in a rotating tube at 37°C. Single-cell suspension of the remaining lamina propria preparations was made by incubation with 10 ml PBS + 2% FCS + 1 mg/ml collagenase (Sigma) and 100 μ g/ml DNase (Sigma), for 45 min at 37°C.

Cloning and Expansion

T cells were cloned and expanded in culture medium (RPMI (Gibco) + 10% human serum + 10 mM 2-ME (M-6250, Sigma) + penicillin/streptomycin) supplemented with 20 U/ml IL-2 (R&D systems), 1 ng/ml IL-15 (R&D Systems) and 1 µg/ml phytohemagglutinin (PHA, Remel), in the presence of 0.8 - 1 mill/ml irradiated (30 Gy) mixed allogeneic peripheral blood mononuclear (PBMC) feeder cells from 2-3 donors. For the initial cloning, single-cell suspension of duodenal lamina propria was washed, counted and re-suspended in the expansion medium containing the abovementioned ingredients. Cells in 20 µl were distributed into each well of the Terasaki plates (Nunc). Lamina propria cells were seeded at three different concentrations: 30, 10 and 5 cells per well. Growth was assessed microscopically after 10 days. Probability for clonal growth was calculated from the percentage of proliferating wells for each seeding concentration based on assumptions of Poisson distribution with the follow formula: $P_{clonal} = -\lambda(e^{\lambda}/(1-e^{\lambda}))$ where $\lambda = \ln(1 \text{-observed frequency of growth})$. Proliferating T cells were transferred from Terasaki wells to flat-bottomed 96-wells containing 125 µl of the expansion medium containing freshly prepared PBMC feeder cells and cytokine as described above. Fresh culture medium containing IL-2 and IL-15 were added about every two days, and about half of the old medium was removed when necessary. Eight to 10 days after expansion in 96wells, proliferating T cells were screened for reactivity to deamidated gluten antigen. T-cell clone (TCC) that showed proliferative response were further expanded in two 24-wells each, containing 1 ml expansion medium. These TCC were

further tested for gluten specificity and screened with a panel of peptides containing different HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes (**Supplementary Table 1**).

Screening by T-Cell Proliferation Assay

TCC were tested in proliferation assays where gluten or peptide antigens were presented by HLA-DQ2.5-expressing antigenpresenting cells. Gluten was prepared in-house from wheat flour and digested with chymotrypsin according to procedures described in (13). Gluten was subjected to TG2-mediated deamidation where 2 mg/ml gluten was incubated in 100 mM Tris + 2 mM Ca^{2+} with 50-100 µg/ml human recombinant TG2 for 2 h at 37°C. In each U-bottomed 96-well, 50,000 - 70,000 irradiated (75 Gy) HLA-DQ2.5 homozygous EBV-transformed B lymphoblastoid cells (CD114) were pre-incubated overnight at 37°C with native or deamidated wheat gluten (100 µg/ml unless otherwise stated) or synthetic peptides (10 µM unless otherwise stated) that contained HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten T-cell epitopes. On the following day, T cells were added and incubated for another 3 days. One µCi ³H-thymidine (Hartman Analytics) was added 16-20 h before harvest and counting on a scintillation counter. Proliferative response was measured as stimulatory index (SI) defined as counts per minute (CPM) with antigen of interest divided by CPM with PBS only. For the initial screening of proliferating T cells from Terasaki wells, each TCC was tested in single well of either PBS or TG2treated gluten (Gluten-TG2). TCC with SI above 2.5 from this single-well screening were selected for further expansion and testing. In subsequent assays, each antigenic condition was tested in either duplicates or triplicates. Only TCC that showed proliferative response (SI>2.5) to Gluten-TG2 or gluten peptide antigens in the subsequent re-testing was deemed gluten-reactive and included in the analysis.

Tetramer Staining and Flow Cytometry

TABLE 4. Detient characteristics and frequency of duton reactive T colle

Selected gluten-reactive TCCs were stained with FITC-CD8 (clone SK1, BD), PE-CD4 (clone SK3, BD), or corresponding

isotype controls together with propidium iodide (BioLegend). TCC that were reactive to one of the four epitopes: DQ2.5-glia- α 1, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1 or DQ2.5-glia- ω 2, were stained with 10 ng/ml of PE- or APC- conjugated HLA-DQ2.5 tetramer presenting one of these four epitopes (11), for 40 min at room temperature. Samples were analyzed on a FACS Calibur II (BD) and data analyzed with FlowJo (BD).

RESULTS

T-Cell Clones Can Be Successfully Established by Direct Cloning of Lamina Propria Cells

In order to assess the precursor frequency of gluten-reactive CD4+ T cells in the active celiac disease lesion, we generated T-cell clones directly from unsorted lamina propria preparations of duodenal biopsies from nine individuals. These were subjects that were referred to gastroenteroscopy examination for suspicion of celiac disease. Five patients received the diagnosis of celiac disease based on Marsh 3 changes in histological examination; three subjects had none or minimal histological changes and did not receive the diagnosis. The last subject had refractory celiac disease, where gross morphological changes (Marsh 3C) persisted despite glutenfree diet (**Table 1**).

We successfully cultured T cells by directly seeding unsorted single-cell suspensions of lamina propria preparations from descending duodenal biopsies from all nine subjects, using an antigen-free cloning and expansion protocol. After 10 days *in vitro* culture in the presence of PHA, IL-2 and IL-15, we found wells containing growing T cells in frequencies that were directly correlated with the seeding concentration of unfractionated lamina propria cells (**Table 2**). In most cases, seeding 10 or 5 lamina propria cells per well resulted in the growth of T cells in less than 50% of the wells, which implied >70% likelihood that the T-cell populations in each well were clonal. For simplicity, we will refer to these cells as T-cell clones (TCC).

Patient	Gender	Age	HLA	Clinical status	lgA-TG2* (ref <3)	lgG-DGP* (ref <20)	Other clinical information	Histology*	Gluten-re among T-cell clone	
CD1334	F	62	DQ2.5	CONTROL	1.1	26		1	0/269 [¶]	0.0%
CD1346	М	47	DQ2.5	CONTROL	9	10		1	0/370 [¶]	0.0%
CD1350	F	56	DQ2.5	NCGS	0	0	2wks gluten challenge	0	0/345 [¶]	0.0%
Total con	trol subjects	S							0/984	0.0%
CD1329	F	25	DQ2.5	UCD	5.8	9		3B	5/286	1.7%
CD1335	F	54	DQ2.5	UCD	23	57		3B	2/271	0.7%
CD1336	F	49	DQ2.5	UCD	2.5	41	Graves' disease	3B	3/284	1.1%
CD1344	Μ	35	DQ2.5	UCD	41	12	1 st relative with CD	3B	5/263	1.9%
CD1349	F	27	DQ2.5	UCD	<1	100	IgA deficiency	3C	4/275	1.5%
Total UCE)								19/1379	1.4%
CD1348	F	56	DQ2.5	RCD	<1	10	CD diagnosis 2004	3C	5/273	1.8%

*Histology and serological results from the time point of sampling.

[¶]All wells tested are included.

NCGS, non-celiac gluten sensitivity; UCD, untreated celiac disease; RCD, refractory celiac disease.

Serology results above cut-off values are denoted in bold.

TABLE 2 | Detailed cloning frequency.

	Terasaki seeding	Frequency of cloning in T plate	erasaki	P _{clonal} *	Frequency of expansion in	•	Frequenc specific o ce	f tested T	Averag quency 70	P _{clonal} >	Averag quene test	cy all
CD1334 (Marsh 1)	30/well	101/120	84%	35%	76/96	79%	0/45	0%			0/269	0%
	10/well	111/240	46%	72%	78/96	81%	0/78	0%	0/224	0%		
	5/well	211/1200	18%	91%	158/192	82%	0/146	0%				
CD1346 (Marsh 1)	30/well	98/120	82%	38%	92/96	96%	0/92	0%			0/370	0%
	10/well	98/210	47%	72%	92/96	96%	0/92	0%	0/278	0%		
	5/well	205/780	26%	86%	186/192	97%	0/186	0%				
CD1350 (Marsh 0)	30/well	117/180	65%	57%	99/103	96%	0/99	0%			0/345	0%
	10/well	99/300	33%	81%	84/96	88%	0/84	0%	0/246	0%		
	5/well	185/1200	15%	92 %	162/185	88%	0/162	0%				
CD1329 (Marsh 3B)	30/well	202/240	84%	35%	95/96	99%	4/95	4.2%			9/381	2.4%
	10/well	143/300	48%	71%	95/96	99%	1/95	1.1%	5/286	1.7%		
	5/well	216/780	28%	85%	191/192	99%	4/191	2.1%				
CD1335 (Marsh 3B)	30/well	127/180	71%	51%	96/96	100%	2/96	2.1%			4/367	1.1%
	10/well	107/300	36%	80%	111/115	97%	1/111	0.9%	2/271	0.7%		
	5/well	176/1100	16%	92 %	160/173	92%	1/160	0.6%				
CD1336 (Marsh 3B)	30/well	121/170	71%	50%	95/96	99%	4/95	4.2%			7/379	1.8%
	10/well	113/360	31%	82%	94/96	98%	1/94	1.1%	3/284	1.1%		
	5/well	195/1000	20%	90%	190/192	99%	2/190	1.1%				
CD1344 (Marsh 3B)	30/well	104/150	69%	52%	92/96	96%	0/92	0.0%			5/355	1.4%
	10/well	104/300	35%	80%	91/96	95%	0/91	0.0%	5/263	1.9%		
	5/well	198/1075	18%	90%	172/192	90%	5/172	2.9%				
CD1349 (Marsh 3C)	30/well	105/120	88%	30%	95/96	99%	2/95	2.1%			6/370	1.6%
	10/well	118/240	49%	70%	94/96	98%	2/94	2.1%	4/275	1.5%		
	5/well	227/840	27%	85%	181/192	94%	2/181	1.1%				
CD1348 (Marsh 3C)	30/well	107/180	59%	62%	94/96	98%	2/94	2.1%			7/367	1.9%
	10/well	105/360	29%	84%	95/96	99%	1/95	1.1%	5/273	1.8%		
	5/well	193/1192	16%	91%	178/192	93%	4/178	2.2%				

*When P_{clonal}, the probability that the growing wells is clonal, is larger than 70% (in bold), the wells are included in the calculations of frequency of gluten-specific T cells.

Gluten-Reactive T Cells Were Only Found in Duodenal Biopsies From Active Celiac Lesions

From each of the nine subjects, 269-381 TCC were expanded and screened for proliferative response to gluten. In the three subjects with little or no histological changes in the duodenum, we found no gluten-reactive T cells in any of the total 984 TCC screened. In comparison, from the six celiac disease patients with Marsh 3 changes, including one refractory CD patient, 38 TCC, or 1.7%, were gluten-reactive out of total 2,219 clones tested.

Since growth was detected frequently at the top seeding concentration of 30 lamina propria cells per Terasaki well, there is a high likelihood that many of these wells contained cells that originated from two or more seeded cells and thus were not truly clonal. As a consequence, the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells could thus be slightly over-estimated due to oligoclonal growth in some wells. To correct for this, we counted only proliferating T cells that were more than 70% likely to be clonal in the calculation of the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells. Among TCC with $P_{clonal} > 70\%$, we found 19 TCC that were gluten-reactive out of total 1,379 clones tested from the five untreated celiac disease patients with Marsh 3 changes in the duodenum (Table 1). This gave an average of 1.4% (range 0.7% - 1.9%) of T cells in lamina propria of active celiac lesions that were gluten-reactive. In addition, in the refractory celiac disease patient who had Marsh 3C changes in the duodenum, we found five gluten-reactive TCC

of 273 tested. Thus, despite gluten-free diet, the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells in this patient was found to be as high as that found in untreated celiac disease patients that were exposed to dietary gluten antigen. When data from the refractory patient was grouped with the five Marsh 3 samples from untreated celiac patients, 24 gluten-reactive TCC were found in total 1,652 P_{clonal} > 70% TCC tested, giving an average of 1.5% (range 0.7% - 1.9%).

Distribution of Gluten Epitope Specificity

All gluten-reactive T cells, including those generated with 30/well seeding in Terasaki wells, were screened against a panel of peptides that contained all known HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes (Supplementary Table 1), as well as 5 µg/ml recombinant TG2 in order to exclude any reactivity toward the TG2 component of TG2-treated gluten used in the initial screening. We found no TG2-reactivity in any of the T cells tested. Of the total 38 gluten-reactive TCC tested (Table 3), 12 TCC were reactive to deamidated gluten, but not to any of the peptides containing known gluten epitopes (Figures 1A-C). Of the 26 TCC where epitope specificity was ascertained, 17 were reactive to the immunodominant DQ2.5-glia-\alpha1/DQ2.5-glia-\alpha2 and DQ2.5-glia-ω1/DQ2.5-glia-ω2 epitopes (Figure 2) of which 15 were confirmed by specific staining with HLA-DQ2.5 tetramers presenting one of these four epitopes (Supplementary Table 2 and Supplementary Figure 2), eight were reactive to various DQ2.5-glia- γ epitopes (Figures 1D, E)

TABLE 3 | Summary of epitope specificities of gluten-reactive TCC.

	G/TG only	α1 or α2	ω1 or ω2	α1 & ω1	γ3 or γ5	γ4	sec- 3	TOTAL
CD1329	4	2	2		1			9
CD1335		1		2		1		4
CD1336	2	1	2	1			1	7
CD1344	2	2				1		5
CD1349	3	1			2			6
CD1348	1	1	1	1	1	2		7
TOTAL	12	8	5	4	4	4	1	38

G/TG, TG2-deamidated gluten digest; α1: DQ2.5-glia-α1; α2: DQ2.5-glia-α2; ω1: DQ2.5glia-ω1; ω2: DQ2.5-glia-ω2; γ8: DQ2.5-glia-γβ; γ4: DQ2.5-glia-γ4; γ5: DQ2.5-glia-γ5; sec-3: DQ2.5-glia-sec-3.

DISCUSSION

Gluten-reactive T cells are a hallmark of celiac disease. These cells recognize TG2-deamidated gluten presented on disease-associated HLA-DQ molecules and play pivotal roles in the pathogenesis of







celiac disease. In the current study, we have generated T-cell clones directly from lamina propria tissues and found that all six samples taken from tissues in active disease contained gluten-reactive T cells. In average, 1.4% (range 0.7% - 1.9%) of T cells from inflamed celiac tissue were gluten-reactive, compared to zero reactive clones of total 984 TCCs generated from non-celiac tissues. We found that almost half of the gluten-reactive TCC were specific to the four immunodominant DQ2.5-glia- α 1/DQ2.5-glia- α 2 and

DQ2.5-glia- ω 1/DQ2.5-glia- ω 2 epitopes, whereas combined, only a quarter of the TCC were specific to any of the other 23 HLA-DQ2.5 restricted gluten epitopes. More surprisingly, we found that one third of the gluten-reactive TCC were specific to some not yet discovered epitopes in gluten.

To our knowledge, only one previously published study has estimated the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells by direct cloning (10). Of the four Marsh 3 patients investigated in this study from 2013, the average frequency was 1.0% (0.5% - 1.8%) of all TCC tested. Our results are not statistically significantly different from this estimate. However, we could speculate that since the intestinal biopsies used in Bodd et al. (10) were mostly Marsh 3A, including from two subjects that were treated patients on gluten-free diet, less inflammation could be the cause of the somewhat lower frequency estimate found in that study.

Interestingly, a refractory celiac disease patient who had massive inflammation in the duodenum despite gluten-free diet, had gluten-reactive T cells with the same frequency as other untreated celiac disease patients with similar Marsh 3 changes. This finding is in accordance with Bodd et al. (10), where the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells estimated by direct cloning was correlated with the Marsh score, rather than with the gluten consumption status. Overall, our results further corroborate the notion that tissue injuries in celiac disease are driven by gluten-reactive T cells.

An important assumption for our estimate of gluten-reactive T cells based on in vitro cloning, is that all T cells have equal potential to grow under the in vitro culture conditions used. However, it is conceivable that recently in vivo activated glutenreactive T cells could be less prone to proliferate in vitro due to activation-induced refractoriness. If that is the case, the frequency we have calculated would under-estimate the true frequency of gluten-reactive T cells. Similarly, our estimate would not include gluten-reactive cells that do not proliferate well under the in vitro culture and testing conditions used, including regulatory T cells. On the other hand, since 8%-29% of the TCC could in reality be oligoclonal as estimated by the growth in Terasaki wells, the frequency we have shown may slightly over-estimate the true frequency of gluten-reactive T cells. This last notion is supported by flow cytometry data where 7 of 37 gluten-specific TCC showed > 5% contamination with CD8+ T cells. Since the staining was performed after many rounds of expansion, the CD8+ T cells may have originated from unintended out-growth of feeder cells that is known to occur occasionally despite irradiation.

We have previously reported that gluten-reactive memory T cells persist for decades in celiac disease patient on gluten-free diet (11). A definite cure from the disease is therefore dependent on the eradication or 're-education' of existing gluten-reactive memory T cells that were primed and formed during the active disease phase. It is clearly a shortcoming of the current study that we did not assess the frequency of gluten-reactive memory T cells in treated celiac disease patients on gluten-free diet. As a method for assessing the frequency of gluten-reactive T cells, direct cloning is labor-intensive. Other methods such as tetramer staining is much less labor-intensive assuming the availability of the key reagents. The current study and Bodd et al. (10) have both found that around half of all gluten-reactive T cells are specific to one of the four immunodominant DQ2.5-glia- α or DQ2.5-glia- ω epitopes. By using this knowledge, the total frequency of gluten-reactive T cells can thus be extrapolated from tetramer-staining data.

It is a weakness of this study that TG2-deamidated gluten was used as the sole antigen during the initial screening. It is therefore likely that T cells that recognize hordein, secalin and avenin specific sequences did not pass this screening and were thus not included in the downstream analysis. This may explain the low prevalence of hordein, secalin and avenin specific T cells found in this study, where only one single DQ2.5-sec-3-specific TCC was found. T cells that recognize the DQ2.5-hor-3a epitope have been reported to be relatively prevalent in patients that consume barley (8). However, we did not find any DQ2.5-hor-3a TCC in our study possibly due to the limited variety of antigen that was used during the initial screening.

It was a surprise that up to one third of the gluten-reactive TCC apparently have unknown epitope specificity. In comparison, Bodd et al. found two TCC with unknown epitope specificity among 15 gluten-reactive in total (10). Decades of epitope hunting has resulted in an extensive list of total 27 HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten/secalin/hordein/avenin epitopes (1). Nevertheless, it is clear that there are still yet uncharacterized HLA-DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes. In our study, 'gluten-only' TCC was found in five of the six subjects, and was absent only in the subject that had the lowest number of gluten-reactive TCC (n=4). Future studies will show whether these TCC respond to a few commonly recognized novel epitopes, or a multitude of private epitopes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The regional committee for medical research ethics. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S-WQ — Study design, data collection and analysis, and writing of paper. SD-K, LE — Data collection. KL — Procurement of materials, LS — Intellectual contribution to direction of study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work received support from Centre for Immune Regulation (Research Council of Norway, project 179573/V40 through the Centre of Excellence funding scheme and project 233885), and grants from the Stiftelsen Kristian Gerhard Jebsen for Coeliac Disease Research Centre (SKGJ-MED-017).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all celiac disease patients that have donated biological material to this study. The authors would like to thank Marie Kongshaug Johannesen for technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Sollid LM, Tye-Din JA, Qiao SW, Anderson RP, Gianfrani C, Koning F. Update 2020: nomenclature and listing of celiac disease-relevant gluten epitopes recognized by CD4+ T cells. *Immunogenetics* (2020) 72:85–8. doi: 10.1007/s00251-019-01141-w
- Molberg O, Kett K, Scott H, Thorsby E, Sollid LM, Lundin KEA. Gliadin specific, HLA DQ2-restricted T cells are commonly found in small intestinal biopsies from coeliac disease patients, but not from controls. *Scand J Immunol* (1997) 46:103–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.1997.d01-93.x-i2
- Sarna VK, Lundin KEA, Mørkrid L, Qiao SW, Sollid LM, Christophersen A. HLA-DQ–gluten tetramer blood test accurately identifies patients with and without celiac disease in absence of gluten consumption. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 154:886–96. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.11.006
- Wieser H. Chemistry of gluten proteins. Food Microbiol (2007) 24:115–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2006.07.004
- Vader LW, de Ru A, van der WY, Kooy YM, Benckhuijsen W, Mearin ML, et al. Specificity of tissue transglutaminase explains cereal toxicity in celiac disease. J Exp Med (2002) 195:643–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20012028
- 6. Arentz-Hansen H, Korner R, Molberg O, Quarsten H, Vader W, Kooy YMC, et al. The intestinal T cell response to α -gliadin in adult celiac disease is focused on a single deamidated glutamine targeted by tissue transglutaminase. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191:603–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.4.603
- Qiao SW, Bergseng E, Molberg O, Jung G, Fleckenstein B, Sollid LM. Refining the rules of gliadin T cell epitope binding to the disease-associated DQ2 molecule in celiac disease: Importance of proline spacing and glutamine deamidation. J Immunol (2005) 175:254–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.254
- Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Dromey JA, Beissbarth T, van Heel DA, Tatham A, et al. Comprehensive, quantitative mapping of T cell epitopes in gluten in celiac disease. *Sci Trans Med* (2010) 2:41ra51. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. 3001012

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 646163/full#supplementary-material.

- Hardy MY, Girardin A, Pizzey C, Cameron DJ, Watson KA, Picascia S, et al. Consistency in polyclonal T-cell responses to gluten between children and adults with celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 149:1295–7. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2015.07.013
- Bodd M, Raki M, Bergseng E, Jahnsen J, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. Direct cloning and tetramer staining to measure the frequency of intestinal gluten-reactive T cells in celiac disease. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:2605–12. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201343382
- Risnes LF, Christophersen A, Dahal-Koirala S, Neumann RS, Sandve GK, Sarna VK, et al. and Sollid, L.M., Disease-driving CD4+ T cell clonotypes persist for decades in celiac disease. J Clin Invest (2018) 128:2642–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI98819
- Al-Toma A, Volta U, Auricchio R, Castillejo G, Sanders DS, Cellier C, et al. European Society for the Study of Coeliac Disease (ESsCD) guideline for coeliac disease and other gluten-related disorders. United European Gastroenterol J (2019) 7(5):583–613. doi: 10.1177/2050640619844125
- Molberg Ø, McAdam SN, Lundin KEA, Sollid LM. Studies of gliadin-specific T cells in celiac disease. In: MN Marsh, editor. *Celiac Disease - Methods and Protocols*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2000). p. 105–24.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Qiao, Dahal-Koirala, Eggesbø, Lundin and Sollid. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Missing Insight Into T and B Cell Responses in Dermatitis Herpetiformis

Esko Kemppainen^{1*}, Teea Salmi^{1,2} and Katri Lindfors¹

¹ Celiac Disease Research Center, Faculty of Medicine and Health Technology, Tampere University, Tampere, Finland, ² Department of Dermatology, Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland

Dermatitis herpetiformis is a cutaneous form of celiac disease manifesting as an itching rash typically on the elbows, knees and buttocks. It is driven by the ingestion of glutencontaining cereals and characterized by granular deposits of immunoglobulin A in the papillary dermis. These antibodies target transglutaminase (TG) 3 and in the majority of patients they are also found in circulation. The circulating antibodies disappear and skin symptoms resolve as a result of gluten-free diet but the cutaneous anti-TG3 IgA deposits may persist for several years. In dermatitis herpetiformis, plasma cells secreting antibodies against TG3 are located in the intestinal mucosa similarly to those producing TG2 antibodies characteristic for celiac disease. In fact, both TG2- and TG3-specific plasma cells and gluten responsive T cells are found in dermatitis herpetiformis patients but the interplay between these cell populations is unknown. The small bowel mucosal damage in celiac disease is believed to be mediated by co-operation of cytotoxic intraepithelial T cells and the inflammatory milieu contributed by gluten-reactive CD4+T cells, whereas the skin lesions in dermatitis herpetiformis appear to be devoid of gluten reactive T cells. Thus, how celiac disease-type intestinal T and B cell responses develop into an autoimmune condition affecting the skin is still incompletely understood. Finally, the skin and small bowel lesions may reappear upon reintroduction of gluten in patients treated with glutenfree diet but virtually nothing is known about the long-lived B cell and memory T cell populations activating in response to dietary gluten in dermatitis herpetiformis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Melinda Y. Hardy, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Reviewed by:

Alessandra Camarca, National Research Council (CNR), Italy Eric Marietta, Mayo Clinic, United States

> *Correspondence: Esko Kemppainen esko.kemppainen@tuni.fi

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 January 2021 Accepted: 12 March 2021 Published: 29 March 2021

Citation:

Kemppainen E, Salmi T and Lindfors K (2021) Missing Insight Into T and B Cell Responses in Dermatitis Herpetiformis. Front. Immunol. 12:657280. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.657280 Keywords: dermatitis herpetiformis, celiac disease, T cell, B cell, epitope spreading, transglutaminase

INTRODUCTION

Dermatitis herpetiformis (DH) is a cutaneous form of celiac disease (CeD) usually presenting as a blistering, itching rash particularly on the elbows, knees and buttocks. Both manifestations are driven by the ingestion of dietary gluten in wheat, rye and barley, which induces an inflammatory response featured by B and T cell activation. DH is characterized by granular deposits of immunoglobulin A (IgA) in the papillary dermis, which is considered the primary diagnostic criterion for the disease (1). These antibodies target the human transglutaminase (TG) 3 and are also found in the circulation of the majority of DH patients (2, 3). The circulating antibodies disappear, and skin symptoms resolve on a gluten-free diet (GFD), the treatment of choice in DH,

27

while the anti-TG3 IgA deposits in the skin may persist for several years or even decades despite dietary adherence (2, 4, 5).

Regardless of the differing primary manifestations, DH and CeD share genetic susceptibility conferred by HLA-DQ2 or -DQ8 (6) and present often with partially overlapping features (Table 1). The great majority of untreated CeD patients are seropositive for gluten-dependent antibodies against glutenderived gliadin peptides and autoantibodies against TG2 (anti-TG2 and endomysial antibodies), another member of the TG family of enzymes and the main autoantigen in CeD (7). Likewise, most DH patients are seropositive for TG2 autoantibodies (25). Moreover, approximately 30% of the CeD patients are also seropositive for TG3-autoantibodies while the corresponding number among DH patients has been shown to be considerably higher, ranging from 52-95% in reported studies (3, 16, 17). In addition, the vast majority of DH patients exhibit small-bowel mucosal tissue remodeling and damage, *i.e.* villous atrophy, crypt hyperplasia and inflammation, characteristic of CeD (26, 27). In this review, DH in patients either with or without villous atrophy was compared to CeD patients with no DH rash.

B CELL RESPONSES IN DH

Both DH and CeD are characterized by the occurrence of circulating TG2, gliadin and deamidated gliadin peptide antibodies (28). Despite this, the DH specific antibody response is considered to be targeted against the main autoantigen TG3 (2). However, circulating TG3-antibodies are found also in a subset of CeD patients without DH, but their significance in CeD is poorly understood. TG2, the main autoantigen in CeD, can both deamidate gluten peptides and form both iso-peptide linked and thioester-linked complexes with gluten, which are believed to drive TG2 autoantibody production in CeD (29). TG3 only forms enzyme-peptide complexes with lower affinity via thioester linkage (30). In addition, TG3 is also able to incorporate significantly fewer peptides per enzyme than TG2 (30). The differing end products resulting from TG2 or TG3-catalyzed reactions may explain the different dynamics of the autoantibody responses in

CeD and DH. Furthermore, the complement of immunogenic gluten-derived peptides, which can act as TG3 substrates, the complement of T cell receptor subsets, and their impact on the development of B cell mediated immune response in DH have not been studied.

In CeD, TG2-antibody producing plasma cells are found in the small intestinal lamina propria (31, 32), although circulating antibodies may originate outside the intestine despite strong clonal relatedness between circulating and gut-derived autoantibodies (33). Intestinal plasma cells producing autoantibodies against TG2 have also been discovered in DH patients (14). Recently, the first studies on the occurrence of TG3 autoantibody producing cells in DH were published. Ex vivo cultures of duodenal biopsies as well as intestinal plasma cell stainings performed on DH patient tissue strongly suggest that TG3-antibody producing cells are present at least in the small intestine (14, 34). These cells seem to be highly DH-specific: despite the occasional occurrence of circulating TG3 antibodies, TG3 antibody producing plasma cells have only rarely been detected in CeD patients (14, 34). Furthermore, the TG3-specific plasma cells appear to be gluten-responsive as their frequency is increased during gluten challenge (14). However, according to current evidence, the presence of intestinal anti-TG3 plasma cells seems not to consistently correlate with the level of serum TG3 antibodies (14), raising the possibility that two or more subsets of autoantibodies with different plasma cell origins may exist in DH, as suggested for TG2 autoantibody producing plasma cells in CeD (33).

Supporting the hypothesis of a strictly DH-specific TG3 autoantibody plasma cell subpopulation, the number of intestinal TG3 autoantibody producing plasma cells detected in DH patients' gut biopsies using biotinylated TG3 to visualize TG3-specific antibody producing cells was not affected by preincubation with recombinantly produced TG2 (33). This suggests that these cells have a high specificity to TG3 alone. Likewise, CeD patients' recombinant monoclonal TG2 intestinal antibodies have been demonstrated to lack cross-reactivity with TG3 (35). Despite these findings implying very strict epitope specificities, it has been suggested that the multiple co-existing antibody populations would arise through epitope spreading, *i.e.* initial autoimmunity against TG2 would later expand to cover

Feature	Dermatitis herpetiformis	Celiac disease	Reference
Primary autoantigen	Transglutaminase 3	Transglutaminase 2	(2, 7)
Dermal TG3-IgA deposits	100%	Not determined*	(8, 9)
Villous atrophy	Approx. 75%	Nearly 100%	(10)
CD3+/γδ+ IELs	70%/91% of patients	93%/93% of patients	(11, 12)
Intestinal TG2-IgA	79%	100%	(12, 13)
Intestinal plasma cells	Anti-TG2: detected	Anti-TG2: detected	(14, 15)
	Anti-TG3: detected	Anti-TG3: rarely detected	
Serum TG3-IgA	52-95% of patients	33-53% of patients	(3, 16–18)
Serum TG2-IgA	45-95% of patients	Nearly 100% of patients	(3, 17, 18)
Serum DGP-IgA/IgG	78%/78%	74%/65%	(19, 20)
HLA-DQ2/DQ8	86-100%/0-12%	88-95%/4-6%	(6, 21, 22)
T cell response	Not characterized	T _H 1	(23, 24)

*IaA and TG3 deposits detected in some celiac disease patients (8).

other closely related members of the same transglutaminase family (36). This hypothesis was supported by the pivotal work of Sárdy and colleagues (2) suggesting the possible existence of two distinct populations of TG3-antibodies: one highly specific to TG3 and present only in DH patients and the other recognizing both TG2 and TG3 and potentially present in both DH patients and CeD patients without DH. While the epitope spreading hypothesis remains plausible, testing it would first require identifying the specific TG3 epitopes recognized by the DH patient antibodies.

SYSTEMIC T CELL RESPONSES IN DH

The disease pathogenesis of both CeD and DH is considered to involve a major T cell component. In CeD, the gluten reactivity of intestinal T cells is strongly associated with the DQ2.5 molecule and the crosstalk between B cells and T cells reacting to covalently linked peptide-TG2 complexes is key in the generation of the TG2 autoantibody response. However, the actual intestinal epithelial cell destruction in CeD is mediated by intraepithelial cytotoxic CD8 T lymphocytes (23). The cascade of T and B cell driven events induced by the ingestion of gluten, is far less well characterized, however, in the case of DH although the early events occurring in the small intestine are thought to follow the same path in both manifestations (**Figure 1**.).

Only few studies have assessed the immune cell subsets and levels of T cell derived cytokines in DH. The peripheral T cell responses to gluten in GFD-treated DH and CeD patients following a gluten-challenge were assessed in a recent study (37). DH patient-derived peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) responded to two CeD-associated gliadin peptides (DQ2-glia- α 1a/ α 2 and DQ2-glia- ω 1/ ω 2 peptides) in an interferon- γ ELISpot (enzyme-linked immunospot assay) qualitatively similarly to those obtained from CeD patients.



FIGURE 1 | Putative pathogenetic mechanisms of dermatitis herpetiformis. The early gluten-induced autoimmune response results in the production of autoantibodies targeting gluten-derived gliadin peptides and transglutaminase 2 (TG2) in the small bowel mucosa. Antibody specificity to transglutaminase 3 (TG3) may develop later by epitope spreading after initial autoreactivity against TG2. However, the dynamics of this processes are unknown. Immune responses are mediated by subtype 1 or 2 T helper cells. In the skin, IgA and TG3 form punctate structures, typically found in the dermal papillae. TG3 is endogenously produced in the upper layers of epidermis but may spontaneously diffuse towards dermis providing a possible explanation for the recruitment of autoantibodies into tissue bound immunocomplexes. Alternatively, IgA-TG3 immunocomplexes circulating free in dermatitis herpetiformis patient serum may bind to these sites. Tissue bound immunocomplexes attract neutrophil infiltration to dermal-epidermal junctions resulting in the cleavage of the basement membrane and finally in blister formation. The membrane cleavage is likely catalyzed by neutrophil secreted proteolytic enzymes targeting the fibrillar proteins of the basement membrane. α TG2/3, TG2/3 autoantibody, α Gliadin, anti-gliadin antibody, APC, antigen presenting cell.

It is noteworthy, however, that while CeD is considered to be a strictly Th1-mediated disease (38), earlier studies suggest that this may not be the case with DH, *i.e.* the proportion of interferon- γ -secreting T cells among circulating immune cells might thus be low in DH patients. Th2-related cytokines in turn, such as interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-5 have been found to be overexpressed both in the skin and in the serum of patients with DH (24, 39). The exact nature of the gluten-induced T cell response thus remains to be ascertained.

SKIN LESIONS ARE DEVOID OF GLUTEN-REACTIVE T CELLS

The mechanisms underlying the skin lesions in DH are only superficially understood. The pathognomonic granular deposits of IgA co-localize with TG3 in the papillary dermis, and are located particularly in perilesional areas of the skin (2, 40, 41). TG3 is not endogenously produced by the cells lining the dermalepidermal boundary and it is perplexing why TG3 and the autoantibodies precipitate to such persistent punctate structures at these loci. Hypothetically, the TG3-IgA immunocomplexes found in the circulation of DH patients (42) may simply adhere to structural proteins, for instance fibrinogen (40), potentially substrates for TG3, of the dermal papillae. Alternatively, TG3 may diffuse from the epidermis to the dermis, where it would be bound by circulating TG3 antibodies (43). Moreover, it is unclear why dermal TG3-IgA deposits may persist for years despite strict adherence to GFD and faster disappearance of detectable levels of circulating TG3-antibodies (1, 5). Prolonged clearance of the deposits is one possible explanation. However, the existence of small, persistent populations of antibody-producing cells in lymphatic tissue cannot be excluded since virtually nothing is known about the possible development of long-lived plasma cells or memory T cells in DH. For example, such long-lived TG2 antibody producing plasma cells populations discovered in CeD patients (44, 45) have not been investigated in DH.

It is noteworthy that the presence of the tissue bound TG3-IgA immunocomplexes alone appears not to be pathogenic, since these deposits are at times also detectable in skin areas of DH patients far away from the rash and also in the skin of DH patients in clinical remission (5, 46). Also, a few studies have presented granular IgA deposits-findings also in CeD patients without DH (8, 47, 48), but to our knowledge in only one study IgA was shown to co-localize with TG3 (8). Some of the early studies on the disease pathogenesis suggest that the formation of skin lesions in DH involves an influx of lymphocytes and macrophages (49, 50) but, contrary to the duodenum in CeD, the skin lesions appear to be devoid of gluten-reactive T cells (51). In a murine model of DH, the skin lesions develop virtually in complete absence of local CD4+ T cells, driven mainly by neutrophils and monocytes (52).

Indeed, the affected skin areas in DH have been shown to be infiltrated by neutrophils (53, 54), which have the ability to secrete proteolytic enzymes such as collagenases, elastases and granzyme B. These enzymes may be responsible for the disruption of connective tissue between the dermis and epidermis DH, resulting in blister formation (55). It is also noteworthy that dapsone, a drug that shows rapid clearance of DH rash (10) is a potent anti-neutrophilic agent (56, 57). Smith and colleagues showed that these dermal neutrophils have an increased ability to bind IgA via their Fc IgA receptors, indicative of prior priming (54). It is compelling to hypothesize that this neutrophil priming may occur in the inflamed intestine. The dermal immune infiltrate in DH also comprises at least $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ subtypes of T cells (58, 59). Increased numbers of intraepithelial $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the small bowel mucosa is one of the hallmarks of both DH and CeD (11, 60) but whether the populations in skin and small bowel are linked remains an open and interesting question. The evidence at least for $\gamma\delta$ T cells so far would suggest that this is not the case: Holtmeier and colleagues studied the TCR δ repertoires present in the inflamed duodenum, peripheral blood, involved and non-involved skin of DH patients and found that cutaneous TCR δ repertoires were oligoclonal, and that identical dominant $\gamma\delta$ T cell clones were present throughout lesional and perilesional skin (61). Furthermore, the TCR δ repertoires of blood, the small intestine and skin were different and thus the cutaneous $\gamma\delta$ T cells are not likely to originate from the inflamed duodenum.

The loss of tolerance to gluten and self-antigens may also be caused by impaired regulatory T (Treg) cell compartment. Loss of Treg suppressivity has been linked to CeD (62, 63) and the same impaired function could affect the cutaneous Treg population in DH. The potential role of T regulatory cells in DH pathology is supported by reduced levels of Foxp3+ Treg cells in DH patients' skin, as reported by Antiga and colleagues (64). This phenomenon has also been reported in other autoimmune disorders of the skin, such as systemic scleroderma (65) and bullous pemphigoid (66).

DISCUSSION

The understanding of DH pathogenesis has increased significantly in recent decades. The origins of the blistering skin condition are most likely in the inflamed small bowel, but it is unknown, how the autoimmunity progresses from the gut to the skin. Epitope spreading from initial immune response against TG2 to TG3 has been suggested as a possible mechanism (36). This is supported by the fact that DH generally tends to develop later than CeD and that CeD can progress into DH, particularly if dietary adherence is not optimal (67). In addition, CeD and DH patients have also been shown to develop antibodies against another closely related transglutaminase, TG6 (30, 36, 68). It is also noteworthy that such a pathogenic process may be exacerbated by a number of intrinsic and extrinsic factors. For example, ageing is considered detrimental to the functionality of T cell mediated immunity (69), but certain processes such as the impairment of the self/non-self-discrimination and subsequent accumulation of self-reactive memory B cells (70) may also contribute to the development of DH later in life. Furthermore, the impact of accumulating exposure to environmental stressors such as infections or environmental toxins has not been thoroughly studied in the case of DH, although it is known

that, for example iodine, exacerbates the skin lesions, potentially by causing aberrant activity of the skin immuno-complex associated TG3 (71). Finally, many of the potential environmental modulators are linked to the intestinal microbiota, and while gut dysbiosis has been tentatively linked to CeD (72), there have been no studies on how the maintenance of the microbial homeostasis throughout life might impact the development of DH.

The early T cell responses in DH in general are far less well understood than in CeD. The complement of gluten-derived immunogenic peptides, gluten-reactive T cell subsets and their receptor subsets in particular have not been thoroughly investigated. A plethora of cytokines, e.g. IL-8, IL-36 and IL-17 (73, 74) have been linked to DH, primarily by virtue of positive correlation between serum levels and disease status or gluten exposure. No conclusive evidence has so far been presented for their exact role in the disease pathophysiology, however. Neither have comprehensive systemic cytokine profiling studies been conducted on DH patients, such as that conducted by Goel and co-workers on CeD patients (75). Yet it is curious that CeD is considered a Th1-mediated autoimmune disorder, while Th2linked cytokines dominate the molecular findings linked to DH. Whether such a profound difference between these two manifestations of the same disease truly exists, and the dynamics of a possible switch between effector cell subsets, could be an interesting novel avenue in DH research.

One distinguishing characteristic of DH is the pathognomonic granular IgA deposits in the dermal papillae of the skin. These IgA deposits are found particularly in non-lesional skin and thus the possibility of them being merely an epiphenomenon cannot be fully excluded, although their absence from the lesions could also be explained by phagocytic processes. With IgA being the predominant Ig class produced by the intestinal plasma cells, it is plausible that IgA antibodies in the dermal granular deposits originate from the gut. The cutaneous antibodies in DH appear to be dimeric (76) and predominantly of the IgA1 subclass (77, 78), the predominant subclass produced in the small intestine (79). Irrespective of their site of origin, the presence of the secretory component in the dermal immunocomplexes (76) implies that their transcytosis into circulation has been mediated by mucosal epithelial cells expressing the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (80).

Two major questions thus remain unanswered as regards DH etiology: the origin of the cutaneous IgA deposits and their role

REFERENCES

- Reunala T, Salmi TT, Hervonen K. Dermatitis herpetiformis: pathognomonic transglutaminase IgA deposits in the skin and excellent prognosis on a glutenfree diet. Acta Derm Venereol (2015) 95:917–22. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2162
- Sárdy M, Kárpáti S, Merkl B, Paulsson M, Smyth N. Epidermal Transglutaminase (TGase 3) Is the Autoantigen of Dermatitis Herpetiformis. J Exp Med (2002) 195:747–57. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011299
- Hull CM, Liddle M, Hansen N, Meyer LJ, Schmidt L, Taylor T, et al. Elevation of IgA anti-epidermal transglutaminase antibodies in dermatitis herpetiformis. Br J Dermatol (2008) 159:120–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08629.x

in the development of the skin lesions. Very little is also known about the relationship between DH and other autoimmune bullous skin diseases. DH is often perceived primarily as an extraintestinal manifestation of CeD but understanding its immunology could be just as relevant for understanding similar autoimmune skin conditions and vice versa. For example, in a Finnish retrospective case-control study, patients with DH were found to have a 22-fold higher risk of developing bullous pemphigoid, another autoimmune blistering skin disease, compared to the only two-fold higher risk of subsequent bullous pemphigoid development among CeD patients (81).

Much of the work in understanding the cellular and molecular pathophysiology of DH dates back to the 1980s and 1990s and many of the questions could be and should be reassessed with modern methodology. A major hindrance in studying DH is recruitment of patients. Contrary to CeD, the incidence of DH is slowly declining with fewer than 10% of CeD patients developing DH (9). This phenomenon is interesting in its own right and most likely due to the increased awareness and improved diagnostics of CeD, resulting in fewer cases of untreated celiac disease developing into DH. Unfortunately, however, this otherwise positive trend also sets limitations for conducting clinical studies and limits access to patient material. Thus, long-term collaboration and careful coordination of research between clinics and research units is necessary. Furthermore, due to the multifaceted nature of DH, combining the expertise of clinicians from different fields of medicine with that of basic researchers is vital.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EK and KL conceptualized the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, by the Academy of Finland (grants 314880 and 315755) and by the Competitive Research Funding of Tampere University Hospital (grants 9X051 and 9AA070).

- Donaldson MR, Zone JJ, Schmidt LA, Taylor TB, Neuhausen SL, Hull CM, et al. Epidermal transglutaminase deposits in perilesional and uninvolved skin in patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *J Invest Dermatol* (2007) 127:1268– 71. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700682
- Hietikko M, Hervonen K, Salmi T, Ilus T, Zone JJ, Kaukinen K, et al. Disappearance of epidermal transglutaminase and IgA deposits from the papillary dermis of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis after a long-term gluten-free diet. Br J Dermatol (2018) 178:e198–201. doi: 10.1111/bjd.15995
- Spurkland A, Ingvarsson G, Falk ES, Knutsen I, Sollid LM, Thorsby E. Dermatitis herpetiformis and celiac disease are both primarily associated with the HLA-DQ (alpha 1*0501, beta 1*02) or the HLA-DQ (alpha 1*03,

beta 1*0302) heterodimers. *Tissue Antigens* (1997) 49:29-34. doi: 10.1111/ j.1399-0039.1997.tb02706.x

- Dieterich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M, Donner P, Volta U, Riecken EO, et al. Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:797–801. doi: 10.1038/nm0797-797
- Cannistraci C, Lesnoni La Parola I, Cardinali G, Bolasco G, Aspite N, Stigliano V, et al. Co-localization of IgA and TG3 on healthy skin of coeliac patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol JEADV (2007) 21:509–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2006.02017.x
- Reunala T, Salmi TT, Hervonen K, Kaukinen K, Collin P. Dermatitis Herpetiformis: A Common Extraintestinal Manifestation of Coeliac Disease. *Nutrients* (2018) 10. doi: 10.3390/nu10050602
- Reunala T, Hervonen K, Salmi T. Dermatitis Herpetiformis: An Update on Diagnosis and Management. Am J Clin Dermatol (2021). doi: 10.1007/s40257-020-00584-2
- Järvinen TT, Kaukinen K, Laurila K, Kyrönpalo S, Rasmussen M, Mäki M, et al. Intraepithelial lymphocytes in celiac disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2003) 98:1332–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9270(03)00230-2
- Salmi TT, Hervonen K, Laurila K, Collin P, Mäki M, Koskinen O, et al. Small Bowel Transglutaminase 2-specific IgA Deposits in Dermatitis Herpetiformis. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2014) 94(4):393–7. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1764
- Borrelli M, Maglio M, Korponay-Szabó IR, Vass V, Mearin ML, Meijer C, et al. Intestinal anti-transglutaminase 2 immunoglobulin A deposits in children at risk for coeliac disease (CD): data from the PreventCD study. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2018) 191:311–7. doi: 10.1111/cei.13078
- Sankari H, Hietikko M, Kurppa K, Kaukinen K, Mansikka E, Huhtala H, et al. Intestinal TG3- and TG2-Specific Plasma Cell Responses in Dermatitis Herpetiformis Patients Undergoing a Gluten Challenge. *Nutrients* (2020) 12. doi: 10.3390/nu12020467
- Hietikko M, Koskinen O, Kurppa K, Laurila K, Saavalainen P, Salmi T, et al. Small-intestinal TG2-specific plasma cells at different stages of coeliac disease. BMC Immunol (2018) 19:36. doi: 10.1186/s12865-018-0275-7
- Marietta EV, Camilleri MJ, Castro LA, Krause PK, Pittelkow MR, Murray JA. Transglutaminase Autoantibodies in Dermatitis Herpetiformis and Celiac Sprue. J Invest Dermatol (2008) 128:332–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701041
- Rose C, Armbruster FP, Ruppert J, Igl B-W, Zillikens D, Shimanovich I. Autoantibodies against epidermal transglutaminase are a sensitive diagnostic marker in patients with dermatitis herpetiformis on a normal or gluten-free diet. J Am Acad Dermatol (2009) 61:39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2008.12.037
- Dahlbom I, Korponay-Szabó IR, Kovács JB, Szalai Z, Mäki M, Hansson T. Prediction of clinical and mucosal severity of coeliac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis by quantification of IgA/IgG serum antibodies to tissue transglutaminase. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr (2010) 50:140–6. doi: 10.1097/ MPG.0b013e3181a81384
- Sugai E, Smecuol E, Niveloni S, Vázquez H, Label M, Mazure R, et al. Celiac disease serology in dermatitis herpetiformis. Which is the best option for detecting gluten sensitivity? *Acta Gastroenterol Latinoam* (2006) 36:197–201.
- Rashtak S, Ettore MW, Homburger HA, Murray JA. Comparative usefulness of deamidated gliadin antibodies in the diagnosis of celiac disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol Off Clin Pract J Am Gastroenterol Assoc* (2008) 6:426–432; quiz 370. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007.12.030
- Balas A, Vicario JL, Zambrano A, Acuña D, Garcfa-Novo D. Absolute linkage of celiac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis to HLA-DQ. *Tissue Antigens* (1997) 50:52–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1997.tb02834.x
- 22. Karell K, Louka AS, Moodie SJ, Ascher H, Clot F, Greco L, et al. Hla types in celiac disease patients not carrying the DQA1*05-DQB1*02 (DQ2) heterodimer: results from the european genetics cluster on celiac disease. *Hum Immunol* (2003) 64:469–77. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(03)00027-2
- 23. Jabri B. Sollid LM. T Cells in Celiac Disease. J Immunol (2017) 198:3005–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601693
- Makino T, Yoshihisa Y, Mizawa M, Tsutsui K, Nishijima C, Inaoki M, et al. Increased Serum Levels of Th2-type Cytokines and Eotaxin in Fibrillar-type Dermatitis Herpetiformis. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2017) 97:642–3. doi: 10.2340/ 00015555-2604
- 25. Dieterich W, Schuppan D, Laag E, Bruckner-Tuderman L, Reunala T, Kárpáti S, et al. Antibodies to Tissue Transglutaminase as Serologic Markers in Patients with Dermatitis Herpetiformis. *J Invest Dermatol* (1999) 113:133–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1999.00627.x

- Marks J, Shuster S, Watson AJ. Small-Bowel Changes In Dermatits Herpetiformis. *Lancet* (1966) 288:1280–2. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(66)91692-8
- Alakoski A, Salmi TT, Hervonen K, Kautiainen H, Salo M, Kaukinen K, et al. Chronic Gastritis in Dermatitis Herpetiformis: A Controlled Study. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012. doi: 10.1155/2012/640630
- Antiga E, Caproni M. The diagnosis and treatment of dermatitis herpetiformis. *Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol* (2015) 8:257–65. doi: 10.2147/CCID.S69127
- du Pré MF. Sollid LM. T-cell and B-cell immunity in celiac disease. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol (2015) 29:413–23. doi: 10.1016/j.bpg.2015.04.001
- 30. Stamnaes J, Dorum S, Fleckenstein B, Aeschlimann D, Sollid LM. Gluten T cell epitope targeting by TG3 and TG6; implications for dermatitis herpetiformis and gluten ataxia. *Amino Acids* (2010) 39:1183–91. doi: 10.1007/s00726-010-0554-y
- Marzari R, Sblattero D, Florian F, Tongiorgi E, Not T, Tommasini A, et al. Molecular dissection of the tissue transglutaminase autoantibody response in celiac disease. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 (2001) 166:4170–6. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.166.6.4170
- 32. Di Niro R, Mesin L, Zheng N-Y, Stamnaes J, Morrissey M, Lee J-H, et al. High abundance of plasma cells secreting transglutaminase 2-specific IgA autoantibodies with limited somatic hypermutation in celiac disease intestinal lesions. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:441–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.2656
- Iversen R, Snir O, Stensland M, Kroll JE, Steinsbø Ø, Korponay-Szabó IR, et al. Strong Clonal Relatedness between Serum and Gut IgA despite Different Plasma Cell Origins. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20:2357–67. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2017.08.036
- 34. Hietikko M, Hervonen K, Ilus T, Salmi T, Huhtala H, Laurila K, et al. Ex vivo Culture of Duodenal Biopsies from Patients with Dermatitis Herpetiformis Indicates that Transglutaminase 3 Antibody Production Occurs in the Gut. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2018) 98:366–72. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2849
- Iversen R, Di Niro R, Stamnaes J, Lundin KEA, Wilson PC, Sollid LM. Transglutaminase 2-specific autoantibodies in celiac disease target clustered, N-terminal epitopes not displayed on the surface of cells. *J Immunol Baltim Md* 1950 (2013) 190:5981–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300183
- 36. Kárpáti S, Sárdy M, Németh K, Mayer B, Smyth N, Paulsson M, et al. Transglutaminases in autoimmune and inherited skin diseases: The phenomena of epitope spreading and functional compensation. *Exp Dermatol* (2018) 27:807–14. doi: 10.1111/exd.13449
- Kalliokoski S, Mansikka E, de Kauwe A, Huhtala H, Saavalainen P, Kurppa K, et al. Gliadin-Induced Ex Vivo T-Cell Response in Dermatitis Herpetiformis: A Predictor of Clinical Relapse on Gluten Challenge? *J Invest Dermatol* (2020) 140:1867–1869.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.12.038
- Nilsen EM, Lundin KE, Krajci P, Scott H, Sollid LM. Brandtzaeg P. Gluten specific, HLA-DQ restricted T cells from coeliac mucosa produce cytokines with Th1 or Th0 profile dominated by interferon gamma. *Gut* (1995) 37:766– 76. doi: 10.1136/gut.37.6.766
- Caproni M, Feliciani C, Fuligni A, Salvatore E, Atani L, Bianchi B, et al. Th2like cytokine activity in dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* (1998) 138:242–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1998.02068.x
- Taylor TB, Schmidt LA, Meyer LJ, Zone JJ. Transglutaminase 3 present in the IgA aggregates in dermatitis herpetiformis skin is enzymatically active and binds soluble fibrinogen. J Invest Dermatol (2015) 135:623–5. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.368
- Zone JJ, Meyer LJ, Petersen MJ. Deposition of Granular IgA Relative to Clinical Lesions in Dermatitis Herpetiformis. *Arch Dermatol* (1996) 132:912– 8. doi: 10.1001/archderm.1996.03890320060010
- Görög A, Németh K, Kolev K, Zone JJ, Mayer B, Silló P, et al. Circulating Transglutaminase 3-Immunoglobulin A Immune Complexes in Dermatitis Herpetiformis. J Invest Dermatol (2016) 136:1729–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.jid.2016.03.039
- 43. Zone JJ, Schmidt LA, Taylor TB, Hull CM, Sotiriou MC, Jaskowski TD, et al. Dermatitis Herpetiformis Sera or Goat Anti–Transglutaminase-3 Transferred to Human Skin-Grafted Mice Mimics Dermatitis Herpetiformis Immunopathology. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4474–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003273
- Landsverk OJB, Snir O, Casado RB, Richter L, Mold JE, Réu P, et al. Antibodysecreting plasma cells persist for decades in human intestine. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214:309–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20161590
- Lindeman I, Zhou C, Eggesbø LM, Miao Z, Polak J, Lundin KEA, et al. Longevity, clonal relationship and transcriptional program of celiac disease-specific plasma cells. *bioRxiv* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.04.30.058560. 2020.04.30.058560.

- 46. Mansikka E, Hervonen K, Kaukinen K, Ilus T, Oksanen P, Lindfors K, et al. Gluten Challenge Induces Skin and Small Bowel Relapse in Long-Term Gluten-Free Diet-Treated Dermatitis Herpetiformis. J Invest Dermatol (2019) 139:2108–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.03.1150
- 47. Bonciolini V, Antiga E, Bianchi B, Del Bianco E, Ninci A, Maio V, et al. Granular IgA Deposits in the Skin of Patients with Coeliac Disease: Is it Always Dermatitis Herpetiformis? *Acta Derm Venereol* (2019) 99:78–83. doi: 10.2340/00015555-3001
- Antiga E, Maglie R, Lami G, Tozzi A, Bonciolini V, Calella F, et al. Granular Deposits of IgA in the Skin of Coeliac Patients Without Dermatitis Herpetiformis: A Prospective Multicentric Analysis. Acta Derm Venereol (2021) 101. doi: 10.2340/00015555-3742
- Reitamo S, Reunala T, Konttinen YT, Saksela O, Salo OP. Inflammatory cells, IgA, C3, fibrin and fibronectin in skin lesions in dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* (1981) 105:167–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1981.tb01202.x
- Garioch JJ, Baker BS, Leonard JN, Fry L. T lymphocytes in lesional skin of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* (1994) 131:822–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1994.tb08584.x
- Baker BS, Garioch JJ, Bokth S, Leonard J, Fry L. Absence of gluten-specific T lymphocytes in the skin of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *J Autoimmun* (1995) 8:75–82. doi: 10.1006/jaut.1995.0006
- Marietta E, Black K, Camilleri M, Krause P, Rogers RS, David C, et al. A new model for dermatitis herpetiformis that uses HLA-DQ8 transgenic NOD mice. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:1090–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI21055
- Airola K, Vaalamo M, Reunala T, Saarialho-Kere UK. Enhanced expression of interstitial collagenase, stromelysin-1, and urokinase plasminogen activator in lesions of dermatitis herpetiformis. *J Invest Dermatol* (1995) 105:184–9. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12317093
- Smith AD, Streilein RD, Hall RP. Neutrophil CD11b, L-selectin and Fc IgA receptors in patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* (2002) 147:1109–17. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2002.05004.x
- Oikarinen AI, Reunala T, Zone JJ, Kiistala U, Uitto J. Proteolytic enzymes in blister fluids from patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* (1986) 114:295–302. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1986.tb02820.x
- Booth SA, Moody CE, Dahl MV, Herron MJ, Nelson RD. Dapsone suppresses integrin-mediated neutrophil adherence function. J Invest Dermatol (1992) 98:135–40. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12555654
- Thuong-Nguyen V u, Kadunce DP, Hendrix JD, Gammon WR, Zone JJ. Inhibition of Neutrophil Adherence to Antibody by Daspone: A Possible Therapeutic Mechanism of Dapsone in the Treatment of IgA Dermatoses. *J Invest Dermatol* (1993) 100:349–55. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12471811
- Kell DL, Glusac EJ, Smoller BR. T lymphocytes bearing the gamma/delta Tcell receptor in cutaneous lesions of dermatitis herpetiformis. *J Cutan Pathol* (1994) 21:413–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0560.1994.tb00282.x
- Garioch JJ, Baker BS, Leonard JN. Fry L. T-cell receptor V beta expression is restricted in dermatitis herpetiformis skin. *Acta Derm Venereol* (1997) 77:184–6. doi: 10.2340/0001555577184186
- Savilahti E, Reunala T, Mäki M. Increase of lymphocytes bearing the gamma/ delta T cell receptor in the jejunum of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Gut* (1992) 33:206–11. doi: 10.1136/gut.33.2.206
- Holtmeier W, Pfänder M, Zollner TM, Kaufmann R, Caspary WF. Distinct TCR delta repertoires are present in the cutaneous lesions and inflamed duodenum of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Exp Dermatol* (2002) 11:527–31. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0625.2002.110605.x
- Cook L, Munier CML, Seddiki N, van Bockel D, Ontiveros N, Hardy MY, et al. Circulating gluten-specific FOXP3+CD39+ regulatory T cells have impaired suppressive function in patients with celiac disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 140:1592–603.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.02.015
- Hmida NB, Ben Ahmed M, Moussa A, Rejeb MB, Said Y, Kourda N, et al. Impaired control of effector T cells by regulatory T cells: a clue to loss of oral tolerance and autoimmunity in celiac disease? *Am J Gastroenterol* (2012) 107:604–11. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2011.397
- Antiga E, Quaglino P, Pierini I, Volpi W, Lami G, Bianchi B, et al. Regulatory T cells as well as IL-10 are reduced in the skin of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. J Dermatol Sci (2015) 77:54–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2014.11.003

- Klein S, Kretz CC, Ruland V, Stumpf C, Haust M, Hartschuh W, et al. Reduction of regulatory T cells in skin lesions but not in peripheral blood of patients with systemic scleroderma. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) 70:1475–81. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.116525
- 66. Quaglino P, Antiga E, Comessatti A, Caproni M, Nardò T, Ponti R, et al. Circulating CD4+ CD25brightFOXP3+ regulatory T-cells are significantly reduced in bullous pemphigoid patients. Arch Dermatol Res (2012) 304:639– 45. doi: 10.1007/s00403-012-1213-9
- Salmi TT, Hervonen K, Kurppa K, Collin P, Kaukinen K, Reunala T. Celiac disease evolving into dermatitis herpetiformis in patients adhering to normal or gluten-free diet. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (2015) 50:387–92. doi: 10.3109/ 00365521.2014.974204
- Hadjivassiliou M, Reunala T, Hervonen K, Aeschlimann P, Aeschlimann D. TG6 Auto-Antibodies in Dermatitis Herpetiformis. *Nutrients* (2020) 12. doi: 10.3390/nu12092884
- Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. Mechanisms underlying T cell ageing. Nat Rev Immunol (2019) 19:573–83. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0180-1
- Kogut I, Scholz JL, Cancro MP, Cambier JC. B cell maintenance and function in aging. *Semin Immunol* (2012) 24:342–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2012.04.004
- Taylor TB, Zone JJ. Sensitivity of Transglutaminase 3 in the IgA Aggregates in Dermatitis Herpetiformis Skin to Potassium Iodide. J Invest Dermatol (2018) 138:2066–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2018.03.1497
- Pecora F, Persico F, Gismondi P, Fornaroli F, Iuliano S, de'Angelis GL, et al. Gut Microbiota in Celiac Disease: Is There Any Role for Probiotics? Front Immunol (2020) 11:957. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00957
- Graeber M, Baker BS, Garioch JJ, Valdimarsson H, Leonard JN, Fry L. The role of cytokines in the generation of skin lesions in dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* (1993) 129:530–2. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1993.tb00479.x
- 74. Żebrowska A, Woźniacka A, Juczyńska K, Ociepa K, Waszczykowska E, Szymczak I, et al. Correlation between IL36α and IL17 and Activity of the Disease in Selected Autoimmune Blistering Diseases. *Mediators Inflammation* (2017) 2017:8980534. doi: 10.1155/2017/8980534
- Goel G, Tye-Din JA, Qiao S-W, Russell AK, Mayassi T, Ciszewski C, et al. Cytokine release and gastrointestinal symptoms after gluten challenge in celiac disease. Sci Adv (2019) 5:eaaw7756. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaw7756
- Unsworth DJ, Payne AW, Leonard JN, Fry L, Holborow EJ. IgA in dermatitisherpetiformis skin is dimeric. *Lancet Lond Engl* (1982) 1:478–9. doi: 10.1016/ s0140-6736(82)91452-0
- Hall RP, Lawley TJ. Characterization of circulating and cutaneous IgA immune complexes in patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 (1985) 135:1760–5.
- Wojnarowska F, Delacroix D, Gengoux P. Cutaneous IgA subclasses in dermatitis herpetiformis and linear IgA disease. J Cutan Pathol (1988) 15:272–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0560.1988.tb00558.x
- Brandtzaeg P, Johansen F-E. Mucosal B cells: phenotypic characteristics, transcriptional regulation, and homing properties. *Immunol Rev* (2005) 206:32–63. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00283.x
- Kaetzel CS. The polymeric immunoglobulin receptor: bridging innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal surfaces. *Immunol Rev* (2005) 206:83– 99. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00278.x
- Varpuluoma O, Jokelainen J, Försti A-K, Timonen M, Huilaja L, Tasanen K. Dermatitis Herpetiformis and Celiac Disease Increase the Risk of Bullous Pemphigoid. J Invest Dermatol (2019) 139:600-4. doi: 10.1016/ j.jid.2018.10.010

Conflict of Interest : The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kemppainen, Salmi and Lindfors. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Evolving Landscape of Biomarkers in Celiac Disease: Leading the Way to Clinical Development

Glennda Smithson^{1*}, Jenifer Siegelman¹, Toshihiko Oki¹, Joseph R. Maxwell¹ and Daniel A. Leffler^{1,2}

¹ Research and Development, Takeda Pharmaceuticals Inc. Co., Cambridge, MA, United States, ² Celiac Disease Research Program, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Celiac disease is a common immune-mediated disease characterized by abnormal T-cell responses to gluten. For many patients, symptoms and intestinal damage can be controlled by a gluten-free diet, but, for some, this approach is not enough, and celiac disease progresses, with serious medical consequences. Multiple therapies are now under development, increasing the need for biomarkers that allow identification of specific patient populations and monitoring of therapeutic activity and durability. The advantage of identifying biomarkers in celiac disease is that the underlying pathways driving disease are well characterized and the histological, cellular, and serological changes with gluten response have been defined in gluten challenge studies. However, there is room for improvement. Biomarkers that measure histological changes require duodenal biopsies and are invasive. Less invasive peripheral blood cell and cytokine biomarkers are transient and dependent upon gluten challenge. Here, we discuss established biomarkers and new approaches for biomarkers that may overcome current limitations.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Agardh, Lund University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Elena Verdu, McMaster University, Canada Shuo-Wang Qiao, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence:

Glennda Smithson glennda.smithson@takeda.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 February 2021 Accepted: 19 March 2021 Published: 07 April 2021

Citation:

Smithson G, Siegelman J, Oki T, Maxwell JR and Leffler DA (2021) The Evolving Landscape of Biomarkers in Celiac Disease: Leading the Way to Clinical Development. Front. Immunol. 12:665756. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.665756 Keywords: celiac disease, biomarkers, patient populations, diagnosis, disease monitoring, clinical development

INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease (CeD) is a chronic disease mediated by a destructive immune response triggered by gliadin, a protein found in wheat, rye, and barley. The response to gliadin is characterized by activation of gliadin-specific T cells, anti-gliadin and tissue transglutaminase antibody response, and small intestine inflammation and damage to the epithelium resulting in a characteristic villous flattening (1). Biopsy-confirmed CeD currently has a worldwide prevalence of 0.7% and has been increasing in prevalence over the last 3 decades (2).

In most patients, eliminating gluten from the diet (gluten-free diet; GFD) reduces symptoms and recurring intestinal damage. However, for about 30% of patients, gluten restriction is not sufficient

34

Abbreviations: CeD, celiac disease; GFD, gluten-free diet; IEL, intraepithelial lymphocyte; γIFN, gamma interferon; IHC, immunohistochemistry; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; PD, pharmacodynamic; RCD, refractory celiac disease; RCD1, RCD type 1; RCD2, RCD type 2; TCR, T-cell receptor; TTG-IgA, IgA antibodies against tissue transglutaminase; VCE, video capsule endoscopy; Vh:Cd, villous height:crypt depth.

to prevent symptoms or damage (3, 4). This lack of response is most commonly due to repeated inadvertent gluten exposure and/or high sensitivity to gluten at levels below what is considered 'gluten free' [20 ppm; (5)], but, in rare cases, may be related to refractory celiac disease (RCD). A diagnosis of RCD is based on continued intestinal damage and malabsorption after \geq 12 months on a GFD. RCD1 is similar to active CeD with CD3+ polyclonal T cells comprising the majority of intraepithelial lymphocytes. Often, this disease type improves over time with strict adherence to a GFD. RCD2, in contrast, is characterized by the clonal expansion of aberrant intraepithelial lymphocytes that do not express surface CD3 or a T-cell receptor. These patients have a much poorer prognosis, with higher mortality and likelihood of progressing to enteropathyassociated T-cell lymphoma (3, 6–8).

There are currently no approved therapies for CeD; however, there are several therapies in development. Larazotide acetate (INN-202) is the most advanced program and is currently in phase III (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03569007). Phase I/ II programs include TAK-062 (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03701555) and latiglutenase (IMGX003), which degrade ingested gliadin (9); PRV-015 (AMG 714), a monoclonal antibody that blocks IL-15, a cytokine associated with mucosal damage (10); and TAK-101, which elicits gliadin-specific immune tolerance. These therapies may target patients who are on a GFD but have ongoing symptoms and/or intestinal damage due to inadvertent gluten exposure. Currently, a diverse range of mechanisms is being investigated (11), and it is possible that selected therapeutics could be used for a broader segment of the patient population.

As the number of promising therapies for CeD grows, so does the need to measure therapeutic impact on clinically relevant endpoints and distinguish between different patient populations. This could be addressed, at least in part, by thoughtful biomarker selection. The Biomarkers, EndpointS and other Tools resource glossary (12) defines a biomarker as "A defined characteristic that is measured as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or responses to an exposure or intervention, including therapeutic interventions. Molecular, histologic, radiographic, or physiologic characteristics are types of biomarkers. A biomarker is not an assessment of how a patient feels, functions, or survives". In this review, we describe the context of use and limitations of current biomarkers, and how new biomarkers under development may avoid these limitations and play an important part in the clinical development of new therapies.

PROGNOSTIC BIOMARKERS AND PREDICTING THE COURSE OF CeD

Prognostic biomarkers provide information about the likelihood of a clinical event, disease recurrence, or disease progression within a patient population (12). For example, a prognostic biomarker in CeD might predict if a patient had a greater likelihood of a negative response to gluten exposure, or was more likely to progress to a serious disease state such as RCD. Some, but not all, prognostic biomarkers are also predictive biomarkers, allowing the selection of patients who are more likely to have a favorable/unfavorable response to a specific therapy.

Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II has been proposed to be a prognostic genetic biomarker for CeD severity (Table 1) (9, 10, 13-30). Either HLA-DQ2.5 (encoded by the HLA-DQA allele, HLA-DQA1*05 and HLA-DQB allele HLA-DQB1*02), HLA-DQ2.2 (HLA-DQA1*02 and HLA-DQB1*02 alleles), or HLA-DQ8 (HLA-DQA1*03 and HLA-DQB1*03:02 alleles) are present in almost all patients with CeD (31). HLA-DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8, expressed on antigen-presenting cells, bind to immunogenic gliadin peptides and activate gliadin-specific CD4+ effector T cells (1). HLA-DQ2.5 binds and presents immunogenic gliadin peptides more effectively than HLA-DQ8 and HLA-DQ2.2 (32, 33). Homozygosity of the HLA-DQB1*02 allele, which encodes the beta chain of HLA-DQ2, may impact the number of gliadin-specific T cells that are activated after gluten exposure. Patients with HLA-DQ2 who are homozygous for the HLA-DQB1*02 allele appear more likely to respond to a gluten challenge with increased serum IL-2 and to have higher maximum serum concentrations of IL-2 than other genotypes (24, 34). In turn, this subset of patients may have a slower intestinal recovery rate after gluten challenge (14) and may be more likely to progress to RCD2 (35). These findings support HLA DQB1*02 homozygosity as a determinant of gluten response and a potential prognostic biomarker for predicting the course of disease. Similar findings have not been associated with the gene for the alpha chains of HLA-DQ2.5, or HLA-DQ2.2, or the genes for the alpha or beta chains of HLA-DQ8.

The link between *HLA-DQB1*02* homozygosity and disease severity or progression to more complicated disease has not been seen in all populations (36, 37). Whether this discrepancy is a biologically relevant observation showing a lack of prognostic power in the number of *HLA-DQB1*02* alleles in these populations, or is a result of a small patient number, biased patient selection, or differences in study protocol, requires further investigation.

DIAGNOSTIC BIOMARKERS AND PATIENT SELECTION FOR CLINICAL TRIALS

In CeD, diagnostic biomarkers could be used to confirm that an individual has CeD and not another disease, such as irritable bowel syndrome, that clinically mimics symptoms of CeD (38, 39). They could also be used to distinguish between disease subtypes, for example patients with active CeD due to inadvertent gluten exposure versus patients with RCD1, just as current biomarkers allow for differentiation of RCD1 from RCD2 as described later (40). Distinguishing between patient subpopulations is important because some therapies, such as
TABLE 1 | Biomarkers used in celiac studies.

Biomarker	Biomarker type ^a	Context of use in clinical studies	Sample type (collected)	Assay ^b	Representative clinical studies ^c
HLA-DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8	Prognostic Diagnostic	Confirm diagnosis	DNA (blood cells or cheek swab)	Molecular assay (13)	(10, 14)
Villous height:crypt depth ratio	Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Confirm diagnosis Monitor response to therapy	Protein (mucosal biopsy)	IHC (15)	(9, 10)
IEL count	Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Confirm diagnosis Monitor response to therapy	Protein (mucosal biopsy)	IHC (15)	(9, 10)
Celiac serology TTG-IgA level	Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Confirm diagnosis Determine if gluten exposure has occurred	Protein (serum)	ELISA (16)	(9, 10, 17)
Number of HLA-DQ2 restricted gluten peptide binding CD4 T cells	Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Gluten-specific T-cell response	Protein (blood cells)	HLA-tetramer binding measured by flow cytometry (18)	(19, 20)
Production of γIFN in response to <i>ex vivo</i> blood cell culture with gluten peptides (number of spot-forming units)	Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Gluten-specific T-cell response	Protein (blood cells; PBMC)	γIFN ELISpot (21)	(20, 22)
Production of IP-10 in response to <i>ex vivo</i> culture with gluten peptides	Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Gluten-specific T-cell response	Protein (blood cells; PBMC)	IP-10 ELISA (23)	(23)
Change in IL-2 with oral gluten challenge	Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Gluten-induced immune response	Protein (serum or plasma)	Ultrasensitive ligand binding assays (24)	(20, 25)
Change in gut-homing $\gamma\deltaT$ cells and CD8 $\alpha\betaT$ cells	Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Gluten-induced immune response	Protein (blood cells; PBMC)	Mass cytometry or flow cytometry (26)	(20, 26)
RCD2 aberrant lymphocytes per total IELs	Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic	Confirm diagnosis Monitor response to therapy	Flow cytometry or IHC	Flow cytometry (27)	(28)
NKp46 positive IELs/100 epithelial cells Celiac minutes of enteropathy	Diagnostic Diagnostic Pharmacodynamic Monitoring	Confirm diagnosis Extent of villous damage	IHC Optical images	(29) VCE (30)	None (20)

IEL, intraepithelial lymphocyte; γ IFN, gamma interferon; IHC, immunohistochemistry; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; RCD, refractory celiac disease; TTG-IgA, IgA antibodies against tissue transglutaminase; VCE, video capsule endoscopy.

^aFDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group. BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) Resource [Internet]. Silver Spring (MD): Food and Drug Administration (US); 2016-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK326791/ Copublished by National Institutes of Health (US), Bethesda (MD).

^bThe listed assays are the most commonly used technologies, and the indicated references provide information on the technical development and/or an example of clinical validation.

^cRepresentative clinical studies are studies where the indicated biomarker was included as part of the protocol and prospectively collected.

Smithson et al.

enzymes that degrade gluten, may be effective at blocking intestinal damage in a patient with disease driven by gluten exposure. However, a patient with RCD2, in whom intestinal damage occurs in the absence of gluten exposure, would have continuing pathological changes despite this type of therapy.

Currently, diagnosis of patients with CeD is based on serology, histology, and genetic biomarkers (e.g. HLA-DQ). In patients on a gluten-containing diet, detection of high titers of IgA antibodies against tissue transglutaminase (TTG-IgA) alone may be sufficient for a diagnosis of CeD (16, 41, 42). However, up to 5% of the Western population follow a GFD as a lifestyle choice (43), and, once a patient is on a GFD, antibodies to TTG and deamidated gliadin peptide subside and serology cannot be used for diagnosis. Confirmation of diagnosis in seropositive and seronegative patients is based on histology of duodenal biopsies and HLA typing (42). HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 expression alone is not sufficient for disease diagnosis because these are common HLA haplotypes, particularly in Western populations. Therefore, as diagnostic biomarkers, HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 alone have a negative predictive value of near 100%, but have a negligible positive predictive value (44, 45).

For clinical trial design, these biomarkers have been used in combination to help verify CeD diagnosis, for patient stratification and as part of assessment of disease activity (e.g. active disease, well-controlled disease). In the phase II studies for latiglutenase and larazotide, celiac serology was used to estimate gluten exposure and to identify patients likely to have active disease (9, 17). In addition to celiac serology, the latiglutenase and the AMG 714 phase IIa studies used duodenal histology to characterize epithelial damage, based on villous height:crypt depth ratio (Vh:Cd) and intestinal inflammation as assessed by intraepithelial lymphocyte (IEL) counts (10). In the latiglutenase study, patients were selected based on Vh:Cd of ≤ 2 and were stratified based on serology (9). The success or failure of these biomarkers to reduce variability and segregate patients into clinically meaningful and therapeutically important populations is difficult to assess because neither study met its primary endpoint. However, it is notable that in the latiglutenase study, a post hoc analysis found that seropositive patients preferentially showed symptomatic relief compared with seronegative patients (46).

The clinical manifestations of CeD vary widely between patients, as does the pathophysiologic response to gluten exposure. This variability presents a challenge to detecting therapeutic response in clinical studies. To directly reduce variability in patient response, gluten challenge has been incorporated into clinical trials (10, 47). By challenging patients with a specific gluten dose regimen, the temporal changes induced by gluten and the impact of therapy can be measured with a variety of disease-relevant biomarkers as described later. For this type of study, it is critical to know that a patient with CeD has the potential for a robust response to gluten. However, patients recruited into these studies are on a GFD for $\geq 6-12$ months and are often intentionally selected based on negative celiac serology. Thus, only intestinal damage and HLA are currently widely available for use as indicators of disease status in these patients, and neither of these tests for a functional gliadin immune response.

One recent innovation, the HLA-DQ-gluten tetramer-based diagnostic assay, has been shown to differentiate patients with CeD from healthy controls, and to differentiate patients on a GFD from those who have recently ingested gluten. Overall, this assay is both sensitive and specific for identifying patients with CeD, regardless of diet. The HLA tetramers, major histocompatibility complex class II molecules loaded with immunogenic peptides, used in the assay have to be from the same HLA-DQ haplotype as those in the patient being tested. HLA-DQ2.5, HLA-DQ8, and HLA-DQ2.2 tetramers have been produced by academic groups, suggesting that the majority of patients with CeD could be tested (32, 48, 49). However, the assay takes a substantial amount of blood to perform, HLA-DQ tetramers are not commercially available and it is laborintensive, suggesting it may not be feasible as a clinical diagnostic tool (50). A second approach exploits the fact that CD4 T-cell clonotypes are long-lived and persist for decades in patients with CeD (51). This assay sequences the rearranged Tcell receptor (TCR) β chain T cells and was shown to imply a diagnosis of CeD, based on TCR sequences common to patients with CeD (e.g. public sequences). The proof of principle was done using lamina propria T cells enriched with gluten-specific CD4 T cells; however, the ultimate goal of this approach will be to do the same assay in blood (52). The utility of these assays to confirm disease status as part of a clinical trial has yet to be tested.

Diagnosis of CeD subtype (uncontrolled CeD, RCD1, RCD2) is also key for the development of therapies, because the mechanisms driving each disease subtype may differ and, particularly for RCD2, which has a high mortality, the benefitrisk profile is quite different. RCD1 cannot be distinguished from gluten-induced active CeD via biomarkers. However, RCD2 can be identified based on biomarkers. The RCD2 IEL population is distinct from the polyclonal CD3+, CD8+ IELs associated with inflammation and damage after gluten challenge. RCD2 IELs are clonal TCR rearrangements and are positive for NKp46, tend to be CD8- and do not express surface CD3 or TCRs (29, 40). In a single phase IIa study, the safety and efficacy of anti-IL-15 (AMG 714) were tested in patients with RCD2. Patients were selected based on the percentage of aberrant IELs/100 total CD45+ IELs by flow cytometric analysis or > 50% aberrant IELs as measured by immunohistochemistry. This study did not meet the primary endpoint, reduction of aberrant intraepithelial lymphocytes from baseline measured at 12 weeks (28).

PHARMACODYNAMIC BIOMARKERS AND MEASURING THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTION IN CeD

Pharmacodynamic (PD) biomarkers measure the impact of therapeutic intervention on a biological process. In the development of therapies for CeD, PD biomarkers could be used to evaluate therapeutic target engagement, gluten exposure or measure clinically meaningful endpoints, such as change in gluten-specific T cells and resolution of intestinal damage. Some PD markers can be tested serially to monitor drug-mediated changes over time and durability of therapeutic-induced responses to help build a rationale for a dosing regimen. A caveat for these PD biomarkers is that serial collection should have minimal impact on patient comfort or safety, thus, less invasive blood-based or imaging biomarkers are favored over duodenal biopsies.

PD biomarkers used in previous CeD clinical trials quantitatively measured changes in small intestine epithelial damage and inflammation by histology and evaluated immune response to gluten exposure by serology (9, 10). As a PD marker, histology has the advantage of measuring changes that are directly related to CeD processes, the influx of T cells into the epithelium, and the subsequent destruction of mucosal epithelium. Moving from the use of a subjective scoring system (such as Marsh-Oberhuber grade) to a quantitative evaluation of intestinal changes (e.g. measuring Vh:Cd ratio and IEL numbers), provides the sensitivity to detect relatively small, but clinically significant damage (15, 53). Vh:Cd is currently the standard for mucosal assessment in CeD clinical trials and is more reliable and responsive than traditional subjective histological measures. However, reliance on Vh:Cd has several limitations, including: mucosal biopsies are invasive and unsuited for serial testing, duodenal biopsy provides only a small representation of the entire disease area, expertise and significant time is needed to properly orient tissue sections, and Vh:Cd does not include a measure of lymphocytosis (34). Video capsule endoscopy (VCE) avoids these issues. It is less invasive than a duodenal biopsy and can be used as a method to monitor therapeutic impact while evaluating a much larger portion of the small intestine. VCE is unable to directly measure cellular changes, but rather records macroscopic changes in tissue (20, 30).

Anti-TTG antibodies have been used as a PD biomarker to understand immune response to gluten challenge (19, 20, 54) and have been incorporated into clinical trials for this purpose (9, 10). These antibodies are not considered by most to be pathogenic in the intestinal damage seen in CeD, but may be a contributor to extraintestinal manifestations, such as dermatitis herpetiformis or central nervous system lesions (55-57). Antibody response requires repeated gluten exposure, takes at least 2 weeks to appear after initial gluten challenge, and is still high 3-4 weeks after the last gluten exposure (20, 54). Although anti-TTG antibody measurement is useful for CeD diagnosis, it is certainly not a dynamic biomarker. In comparison, newer cytokine and cellular PD biomarkers are more responsive to gluten, with changes seen in days or hours after gluten challenge, quickly dropping to pre-gluten challenge levels. After a single gluten dose in patients on a GFD, levels of several inflammatory cytokines increase (58). IL-2 is one of the most consistently upregulated cytokines in patients and peaks 4 hours after gluten challenge, becoming undetectable in most patients by 6 days after initial gluten exposure (20). The

presence of IL-2 in patients correlated with CeD symptoms, and no changes in IL-2 were seen in healthy participants with gluten challenge (58, 59).

Gluten-specific CD4 T cells are released into the blood 6 days after the start of a gluten challenge (20, 22). Gluten-specific T cells can be induced by *ex vivo* antigen challenge with gluten peptides and quantified by γ IFN ELISpot, IP-10 ELISA or visualized by flow cytometry using HLA-DQ2 tetramers in combination with CD38 expression (60). The results of these assays correlate well with each other (22, 23, 50). As biomarkers for use in clinical trials, they have some pragmatic challenges: they require viable blood cells, reagents that are not commercially available, and large volumes of blood and CD4+ T-cell enrichment (tetramer assay only). However, the role of these gluten-specific CD4 T cells in CeD is clear, and a reduction in these cells would be highly suggestive of a diseasemodifying effect.

Along with gluten-specific T cells that arise after gluten challenge, gut-homing CD8 $\alpha\beta$ T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells that coexpress CD103 and the activation antigen, CD38, also increase 6 days after the start of a gluten challenge. Although the role of these cells in CeD is less well understood, the gut-homing CD8 T cells are phenotypically similar to IELs found in patients with active CeD (26). The advantage of tracking these cells as a PD biomarker of active disease is that they are more plentiful in the blood and do not require pre-enrichment or cell culture prior to staining.

DISCUSSION

Translational medicine and biomarkers are becoming integral components of clinical development, contributing to trials by: 1) supporting dose and dose regimen selections for new therapeutic modalities that preclude traditional pharmacokinetic measures; 2) confirming unique therapeutic mechanisms of action; 3) providing proof of concept earlier in development; and 4) showing therapeutic efficacy in trials that require fewer patients. Because the etiology of CeD is better understood than that of most chronic inflammatory diseases, it has been possible to design biomarker assays that allow quantification of the earliest changes induced by gluten ingestion, tracking of the adaptive immune response, and evaluation of tissue inflammation and damage. However, biomarkers have some limitations in a real-world setting, and are only one approach to understanding disease progression and therapeutic efficacy (61). With advances in technology and the discovery of new biomarkers, it is possible that, in future studies, patient selection can be based on specific disease subtypes, or on prognosis, identifying the patient subpopulation most appropriate for the benefit-risk profile of a given therapy. From early clinical studies, pharmacokinetic data and data from PD markers can be combined to model the therapeutic dose response and gain a deeper understanding of the therapeutic mechanism of action.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GS, JM, and DL were responsible for the conceptualization of the manuscript. GS wrote the original draft. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Jabri B, Sollid LM. T cells in celiac disease. J Immunol (2017) 198:3005–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601693
- Singh P, Arora A, Strand TA, Leffler DA, Catassi C, Green PH, et al. Global prevalence of celiac disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2018) 16:823–36.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.06.037
- Leffler DA, Dennis M, Hyett B, Kelly E, Schuppan D, Kelly CP. Etiologies and predictors of diagnosis in nonresponsive celiac disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2007) 5:445–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.12.006
- Leonard MM, Cureton P, Fasano A. Indications and use of the gluten contamination elimination diet for patients with non-responsive celiac disease. Nutrients (2017) 9:1129. doi: 10.3390/nu9101129
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. World Health Organization. Standard for foods for special dietary use for persons intolerant to gluten. Codex Stan 118-1979. Adopted in 1979. Amendment: 1983 and 2015. Revision. (2008). Available at: http://www.fao.org/fao-whocodexalimentarius/sh-proxy/en/?lnk=1&url=https%253A%252F% 252Fworkspace.fao.org%252Fsites%252Fcodex%252FStandards%252FCXS% 2B118-1979%252FCXS_118e_2015.pdf
- El Khoury D, Balfour-Ducharme S, Joye IJ. A review on the gluten-free diet: technological and nutritional challenges. *Nutrients* (2018) 10:1410. doi: 10.3390/nu10101410
- Green PH, Cellier C. Celiac disease. N Engl J Med (2007) 357:1731–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra071600
- Rubio–Tapia A, Kelly DG, Lahr BD, Dogan A, Wu TT, Murray JA. Clinical staging and survival in refractory celiac disease: a single center experience. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136:99–107. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.10.013
- Murray JA, Kelly CP, Green PHR, Marcantonio A, Wu TT, Maki M, et al. No difference between latiglutenase and placebo in reducing villous atrophy or improving symptoms in patients with symptomatic celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152:787–98.e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.11.004
- Lahdeaho ML, Scheinin M, Vuotikka P, Taavela J, Popp A, Laukkarinen J, et al. Safety and efficacy of AMG 714 in adults with coeliac disease exposed to gluten challenge: a phase 2a, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 4:948–59. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30264-X
- Kivela L, Caminero A, Leffler DA, Pinto-Sanchez MI, Tye-Din JA, Lindfors K. Current and emerging therapies for coeliac disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2021) 18(3):181–95. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-00378-1
- Fda-Nih Biomarker Working Group. BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) Resource. Silver Spring, MD: Food and Drug Administration (US) (2016). Co-published by National Institutes of Health (US), Bethesda (MD). Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK326791/.
- Choung RS, Mills JR, Snyder MR, Murray JA, Gandhi MJ. Celiac disease risk stratification based on HLA-DQ heterodimer (HLA-DQA1 ~ DQB1) typing in a large cohort of adults with suspected celiac disease. *Hum Immunol* (2020) 81:59–64. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2020.01.006
- Karinen H, Karkkainen P, Pihlajamaki J, Janatuinen E, Heikkinen M, Julkunen R, et al. Gene dose effect of the DQB1*0201 allele contributes to severity of coeliac disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (2006) 41:191–9. doi: 10.1080/00365520500206277
- Taavela J, Koskinen O, Huhtala H, Lahdeaho ML, Popp A, Laurila K, et al. Validation of morphometric analyses of small-intestinal biopsy readouts in celiac disease. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e76163. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076163
- Penny HA, Raju SA, Lau MS, Marks LJ, Baggus EM, Bai JC, et al. Accuracy of a no-biopsy approach for the diagnosis of coeliac disease across different adult cohorts. *Gut* (2020) 2;gutjnl-2020-320913. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320913
- 17. Kelly CP, Green PH, Murray JA, Dimarino A, Colatrella A, Leffler DA, et al. Larazotide acetate in patients with coeliac disease undergoing a gluten

FUNDING

This study was sponsored by Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Ltd. Editorial support was provided by Oxford PharmaGenesis, Oxford, UK and was funded by Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Ltd.

challenge: a randomised placebo-controlled study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2013) 37:252-62. doi: 10.1111/apt.12147

- Quarsten H, Mcadam SN, Jensen T, Arentz-Hansen H, Molberg O, Lundin KE, et al. Staining of celiac disease-relevant T cells by peptide-DQ2 multimers. J Immunol (2001) 167:4861-8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 167.9.4861
- Sarna VK, Skodje GI, Reims HM, Risnes LF, Dahal-Koirala S, Sollid LM, et al. HLA-DQ:gluten tetramer test in blood gives better detection of coeliac patients than biopsy after 14-day gluten challenge. *Gut* (2018) 67:1606–13. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314461
- Leonard MM, Silvester JA, Leffler D, Fasano A, Kelly CP, Lewis SK, et al. Evaluating responses to gluten challenge: a randomized, double-blind, 2-dose gluten challenge trial. *Gastroenterology* (2021) 160:720–33. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2020.10.040
- Anderson RP, Degano P, Godkin AJ, Jewell DP, Hill AV. In vivo antigen challenge in celiac disease identifies a single transglutaminase-modified peptide as the dominant A-gliadin T-cell epitope. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:337– 42. doi: 10.1038/73200
- Anderson RP, Van Heel DA, Tye-Din JA, Barnardo M, Salio M, Jewell DP, et al. T cells in peripheral blood after gluten challenge in coeliac disease. *Gut* (2005) 54:1217–23. doi: 10.1136/gut.2004.059998
- 23. Ontiveros N, Tye-Din JA, Hardy MY, Anderson RP. Ex-vivo whole blood secretion of interferon (IFN)-gamma and IFN-gamma-inducible protein-10 measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay are as sensitive as IFNgamma enzyme-linked immunospot for the detection of gluten-reactive T cells in human leucocyte antigen (HLA)-DQ2.5(+) -associated coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) 175:305–15. doi: 10.1111/cei.12232
- Tye-Din JA, Daveson AJM, Goldstein KE, Hand HL, Neff KM, Goel G, et al. Patient factors influencing acute gluten reactions and cytokine release in treated coeliac disease. *BMC Med* (2020) 18:362. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01828-y
- Goel G, King T, Daveson AJ, Andrews JM, Krishnarajah J, Krause R, et al. Epitope-specific immunotherapy targeting CD4-positive T cells in coeliac disease: two randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 1 studies. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 2:479–93. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(17) 30110-3
- 26. Han A, Newell EW, Glanville J, Fernandez-Becker N, Khosla C, Chien YH, et al. Dietary gluten triggers concomitant activation of CD4+ and CD8+ alphabeta T cells and gammadelta T cells in celiac disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) 110:13073–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1311861110
- Van Wanrooij RL, Muller DM, Neefjes-Borst EA, Meijer J, Koudstaal LG, Heideman DA, et al. Optimal strategies to identify aberrant intra-epithelial lymphocytes in refractory coeliac disease. J Clin Immunol (2014) 34:828–35. doi: 10.1007/s10875-014-0075-7
- Cellier C, Bouma G, Van Gils T, Khater S, Malamut G, Crespo L, et al. Safety and efficacy of AMG 714 in patients with type 2 refractory coeliac disease: a phase 2a, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 4:960–70. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19) 30265-1
- Cheminant M, Bruneau J, Malamut G, Sibon D, Guegan N, Van Gils T, et al. NKp46 is a diagnostic biomarker and may be a therapeutic target in gastrointestinal T-cell lymphoproliferative diseases: a CELAC study. *Gut* (2019) 68:1396–405. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317371
- Atlas DS, Rubio-Tapia A, Van Dyke CT, Lahr BD, Murray JA. Capsule endoscopy in nonresponsive celiac disease. *Gastrointest Endosc* (2011) 74:1315-22. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.05.049
- Caio G, Volta U, Sapone A, Leffler DA, De Giorgio R, Catassi C, et al. Celiac disease: a comprehensive current review. *BMC Med* (2019) 17:142. doi: 10.1186/ s12916-019-1380-z

- Ting YT, Dahal-Koirala S, Kim HSK, Qiao S-W, Neumann RS, Lundin KE, et al. A molecular basis for the T cell response in HLA-DQ2. 2 mediated celiac disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2020) 117:3063–73. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1914308117
- Bodd M, Kim CY, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. T-cell response to gluten in patients with HLA-DQ2.2 reveals requirement of peptide-MHC stability in celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 142:552–61. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.11.021
- 34. Daveson AJM, Popp A, Taavela J, Goldstein KE, Isola J, Truitt KE, et al. Baseline quantitative histology in therapeutics trials reveals villus atrophy in most patients with coeliac disease who appear well controlled on gluten-free diet. *GastroHep* (2020) 2:22–30. doi: 10.1002/ygh2.380
- 35. Al-Toma A, Goerres MS, Meijer JW, Pena AS, Crusius JB, Mulder CJ. Human leukocyte antigen-DQ2 homozygosity and the development of refractory celiac disease and enteropathy-associated T-cell lymphoma. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2006) 4:315–19. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2005.12.011
- Biagi F, Schiepatti A, Malamut G, Marchese A, Cellier C, Bakker SF, et al. PROgnosticating COeliac patieNts SUrvivaL: the PROCONSUL score. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e84163. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084163
- Murray JA, Moore SB, Van Dyke CT, Lahr BD, Dierkhising RA, Zinsmeister AR, et al. HLA DQ gene dosage and risk and severity of celiac disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2007) 5:1406–12. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007.08.013
- Catassi C, Alaedini A, Bojarski C, Bonaz B, Bouma G, Carroccio A, et al. The overlapping area of non-celiac gluten sensitivity (NCGS) and wheat-sensitive irritable bowel syndrome (IBS): an update. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:1268. doi: 10.3390/nu9111268
- El-Salhy M, Hatlebakk JG, Gilja OH, Hausken T. The relation between celiac disease, nonceliac gluten sensitivity and irritable bowel syndrome. *Nutr J* (2015) 14:92. doi: 10.1186/s12937-015-0080-6
- Malamut G, Cellier C. Refractory celiac disease. Gastroenterol Clin North Am (2019) 48:137–44. doi: 10.1016/j.gtc.2018.09.010
- Husby S, Murray JA, Katzka DA. AGA clinical practice update on diagnosis and monitoring of celiac disease-changing utility of serology and histologic measures: expert review. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 156:885–9. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2018.12.010
- Rubio-Tapia A, Hill ID, Kelly CP, Calderwood AH, Murray JA, American College of Gastroenterology. ACG clinical guidelines: diagnosis and management of celiac disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2013) 108:656–76; quiz 677. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2013.79
- Diez-Sampedro A, Olenick M, Maltseva T, Flowers M. A gluten-free diet, not an appropriate choice without a medical diagnosis. J Nutr Metab (2019) 2019:2438934. doi: 10.1155/2019/2438934
- Brown NK, Guandalini S, Semrad C, Kupfer SS. A clinician's guide to celiac disease HLA genetics. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2019) 114:1587–92. doi: 10.14309/ ajg.000000000000310
- Hadithi M, Von Blomberg BM, Crusius JB, Bloemena E, Kostense PJ, Meijer JW, et al. Accuracy of serologic tests and HLA-DQ typing for diagnosing celiac disease. Ann Intern Med (2007) 147:294–302. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-147-5-200709040-00003
- 46. Syage JA, Green PHR, Khosla C, Adelman DC, Sealey-Voyksner JA, Murray JA. Latiglutenase treatment for celiac disease: symptom and quality of life improvement for seropositive patients on a gluten-free diet. *GastroHep* (2019) 1:293–301. doi: 10.1002/ygh2.371
- Leffler DA, Kelly CP, Abdallah HZ, Colatrella AM, Harris LA, Leon F, et al. A randomized, double-blind study of larazotide acetate to prevent the activation of celiac disease during gluten challenge. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2012) 107:1554– 62. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2012.211
- Petersen J, Van Bergen J, Loh KL, Kooy-Winkelaar Y, Beringer DX, Thompson A, et al. Determinants of gliadin-specific T cell selection in celiac disease. *J Immunol* (2015) 194:6112–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500161

- Christophersen A, Ráki M, Bergseng E, Lundin KE, Jahnsen J, Sollid LM, et al. Tetramer-visualized gluten-specific CD4+ T cells in blood as a potential diagnostic marker for coeliac disease without oral gluten challenge. U Eur Gastroenterol J (2014) 2:268–78. doi: 10.1177/2050640614540154
- Raki M, Fallang LE, Brottveit M, Bergseng E, Quarsten H, Lundin KE, et al. Tetramer visualization of gut-homing gluten-specific T cells in the peripheral blood of celiac disease patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2007) 104:2831–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0608610104
- Risnes LF, Christophersen A, Dahal-Koirala S, Neumann RS, Sandve GK, Sarna VK, et al. Disease-driving CD4+ T cell clonotypes persist for decades in celiac disease. J Clin Invest (2018) 128:2642–50. doi: 10.1172/ JCI98819
- Yao Y, Zia A, Neumann RS, Pavlovic M, Balaban G, Lundin KEA, et al. T cell receptor repertoire as a potential diagnostic marker for celiac disease. *Clin Immunol* (2020) 222:108621. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.108621
- Adelman DC, Murray J, Wu TT, Maki M, Green PH, Kelly CP. Measuring change in small intestinal histology in patients with celiac disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2018) 113:339–47. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2017.480
- Leffler D, Schuppan D, Pallav K, Najarian R, Goldsmith JD, Hansen J, et al. Kinetics of the histological, serological and symptomatic responses to gluten challenge in adults with coeliac disease. *Gut* (2013) 62:996–1004. doi: 10.1136/ gutjnl-2012-302196
- Di Sabatino A, Vanoli A, Giuffrida P, Luinetti O, Solcia E, Corazza GR. The function of tissue transglutaminase in celiac disease. *Autoimmun Rev* (2012) 11:746–53. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2012.01.007
- Reunala T, Salmi TT, Hervonen K, Kaukinen K, Collin P. Dermatitis herpetiformis: a common extraintestinal manifestation of coeliac disease. *Nutrients* (2018) 10:602. doi: 10.3390/nu10050602
- Therrien A, Kelly CP, Silvester JA. Celiac disease: extraintestinal manifestations and associated conditions. J Clin Gastroenterol (2020) 54:8– 21. doi: 10.1097/MCG.00000000001267
- Goel G, Daveson AJM, Hooi CE, Tye-Din JA, Wang S, Szymczak E, et al. Serum cytokines elevated during gluten-mediated cytokine release in coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2020) 199:68–78. doi: 10.1111/cei.13369
- Tye-Din JA, Skodje GI, Sarna VK, Dzuris JL, Russell AK, Goel G, et al. Cytokine release after gluten ingestion differentiates coeliac disease from selfreported gluten sensitivity. U Eur Gastroenterol J (2020) 8:108–18. doi: 10.1177/2050640619874173
- Zühlke S, Risnes LF, Dahal-Koirala S, Christophersen A, Sollid LM, Lundin KE. CD38 expression on gluten-specific T cells is a robust marker of gluten reexposure in coeliac disease. U Eur Gastroenterol J (2019) 7:1337–44. doi: 10.1177/2050640619874183
- Ludvigsson JF, Ciacci C, Green PH, Kaukinen K, Korponay-Szabo IR, Kurppa K, et al. Outcome measures in coeliac disease trials: the Tampere recommendations. *Gut* (2018) 67:1410–24. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314853

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that this study was funded by Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Ltd. All authors were employees of Takeda Pharmaceuticals Inc. Co., and were responsible for the content, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, preparation of this article and the decision to submit it for publication.

Copyright © 2021 Smithson, Siegelman, Oki, Maxwell and Leffler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comprehensive Analysis of CDR3 Sequences in Gluten-Specific T-Cell Receptors Reveals a Dominant R-Motif and Several New Minor Motifs

Shiva Dahal-Koirala^{1,2†}, Louise Fremgaard Risnes^{1,2†}, Ralf Stefan Neumann^{1†}, Asbjørn Christophersen^{1,2}, Knut E. A. Lundin^{1,2,3}, Geir Kjetil Sandve⁴, Shuo-Wang Qiao^{1,2} and Ludvig M. Sollid^{1,2*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Melinda Y. Hardy, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Reviewed by:

Anne Eugster, Technische Universität Dresden, Germany Angela Mitchell, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, United States

*Correspondence:

Ludvig M. Sollid I.m.sollid@medisin.uio.no

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 09 December 2020 Accepted: 17 March 2021 Published: 13 April 2021

Citation:

Dahal-Koirala S, Risnes LF, Neumann RS, Christophersen A, Lundin KEA, Sandve GK, Qiao S-W and Sollid LM (2021) Comprehensive Analysis of CDR3 Sequences in Gluten-Specific T-Cell Receptors Reveals a Dominant R-Motif and Several New Minor Motifs. Front. Immunol. 12:639672. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.639672 ¹ K.G. Jebsen Coeliac Disease Research Centre, Department of Immunology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway, ² Department of Immunology, University of Oslo and Oslo University Hospital-Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway, ³ Department of Gastroenterology, Oslo University Hospital-Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway, ⁴ Biomedical Informatics, Department of Informatics, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Gluten-specific CD4+ T cells are drivers of celiac disease (CeD). Previous studies of gluten-specific T-cell receptor (TCR) repertoires have found public TCRs shared across multiple individuals, biased usage of particular V-genes and conserved CDR3 motifs. The CDR3 motifs within the gluten-specific TCR repertoire, however, have not been systematically investigated. In the current study, we analyzed the largest TCR database of gluten-specific CD4+ T cells studied so far consisting of TCRs of 3122 clonotypes from 63 CeD patients. We established a TCR database from CD4+ T cells isolated with a mix of HLA-DQ2.5: gluten tetramers representing four immunodominant gluten epitopes. In an unbiased fashion we searched by hierarchical clustering for common CDR3 motifs among 2764 clonotypes. We identified multiple CDR3 α , CDR3 β , and paired CDR3 α :CDR3 β motif candidates. Among these, a previously known conserved CDR3 β R-motif used by TRAV26-1/TRBV7-2 TCRs specific for the DQ2.5-glia- α 2 epitope was the most prominent motif. Furthermore, we identified the epitope specificity of altogether 16 new CDR3a:CDR3B motifs by comparing with TCR sequences of 231 T-cell clones with known specificity and TCR sequences of cells sorted with single HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers. We identified 325 public TCR α and TCR β sequences of which 145, 102 and 78 belonged to TCR α , TCR β and paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences, respectively. While the number of public sequences was depended on the number of clonotypes in each patient, we found that the proportion of public clonotypes from the gluten-specific TCR repertoire of given CeD patients appeared to be stable (median 37%). Taken together, we here demonstrate that the TCR repertoire of CD4+ T cells specific to immunodominant gluten epitopes in CeD is diverse, yet there is clearly biased V-gene usage, presence of public TCRs and existence of conserved motifs of which R-motif is the most prominent.

Keywords: celiac disease, T-cell receptors, gluten-specific T-cell receptors, CDR3 motifs, public T-cell receptors, R-motif

INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease (CeD) is a prevalent and autoimmune like disorder caused by a maladapted immune response to dietary cereal gluten in genetically predisposed individuals (1, 2). The majority of the patients (~90%) express the HLA-DQ allotype HLA-DQ2.5 (HLA-DQA1*05/HLA-DQB1*02), while the remaining express HLA-DQ2.2 (HLA-DQA1*02/HLA-DQB1*02) or HLA-DQ8 (3). These HLA-DQ molecules present deamidated gluten peptides to CD4+ T cells. On recognition of defined epitopes by their T-cell receptors (TCRs), the T cells become activated, and they then drive a pathogenic immune response by providing help to B cells to differentiate into antibody-producing plasma cells and by communicating with intraepithelial lymphocytes that kill enterocytes (4). Analysis of the TCR repertoires of T cells specific to given immunodominant gluten epitope has revealed V-gene bias and some examples of preferred usage of CDR3 motifs (5-15). The most striking feature has been observed in DQ2.5-glia- α 2-specific T cells where dominant usage of TRAV26-1/TRBV7-2 and where many of these TCRs use a CDR3^β motif with a conserved non-germline encoded arginine residue (ASSxRxTDTQY, so-called R-motif) and a CDR3α motif (NDYKLS) (5, 7, 11). So far, no comprehensive and comparative analysis of TCR repertoires and CDR3 motif usage by T cells specific for different immunodominant gluten epitopes have not been undertaken.

Here we have performed a systematic search for TCR CDR3 motifs which are prevalent and/or public (i.e. motifs shared by two or more individuals) by analyzing gluten-specific T cells that were isolated using a pool of HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers representing the epitopes (DQ2.5-glia- α 1a, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1 and DQ2.5-glia- ω 2) from peripheral blood or gut of a collection of HLA-DQ2.5+ CeD patients (11, 12, 16). From sequence analysis of more than 3000 gluten-specific T-cell clonotypes, we are able to describe TRAV and TRBV usage and the global picture of CDR3 motifs carried by T cells specific for these four immunodominant epitopes. The work is important as it lays the foundation for the potential use of gluten-specific TCRs as diagnostic markers of celiac disease.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Generation and Analysis of Single-Cell TCR Sequences From Gluten-Specific CD4+ T Cells

We obtained T cells from a total of 50 HLA-DQ2.5+ patients comprising of patients in active disease state, in remission and patients undergoing gluten challenge recruited to several published/unpublished studies (**Supplementary Table 1**). The studies were approved by Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics South-East Norway (REK no. 6544).

The gluten-specific T cells were selected using HLA-DQ2.5: gluten tetramers from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), from lamina propria T cells of gut biopsies, or from

in vitro cultured T-cell lines (TCLs) as described in previous study (16). Most T cells included in the analysis (82%) were isolated with a cocktail of four immunodominant gluten epitopes DQ2.5-glia-\alpha1a, DQ2.5-glia-\alpha2, DQ2.5-glia-\omega1 and DQ2.5-gliaω2 (Supplementary Table 2). Single cell suspension generated from lamina propria of gut biopsies were stained with PEconjugated HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramer/s (10 µg/mL) for 30-45 min at room temperature before adding antibody mixtures reactive with cell surface markers. Live, single, CD3+, CD11c-, CD14-, CD15-, CD19-, CD56-, CD8-, CD4+, CD8- and HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramer+ cells were then isolated by FACS. PBMCs were stained with PE-conjugated HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramer/s (10 µg/mL) for 30-45 min at room temperature prior to magnetic bead enrichment of tetramer binding cells followed by antibody staining. Live, single, CD3+, CD11c-, CD14-, CD15-, CD19-, CD56-, CD4+, CD45RA-, CD62L-, integrin β 7+, and HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramer+ were sorted for TCR sequencing. TCLs were stained with PE conjugated HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramer (10 µg/mL) for 2 h at 37°C prior to adding antibody cocktail. We sorted live, single, CD3+, CD8-, CD4+ and HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramer+ cells. The following antibodies were used in the study: CD14-Pacific Blue (Biolegend), CD15-Pacific Blue (Biolegend), CD19-Pacific Blue (Biolegend), CD56-Pacific Blue (Biolegend), CD3-FITC (Biolegend) or CD3-Superbright 600 (eBioscience) or CD3-Brilliant Violet 510 (Biolegend), CD11c-Horizon V450 (BD Biosciences), CD4-APC-H7 (BD Biosciences), CD62L-PerCP/ Cv5.5 (BD Biosciences), CD45RA-PECv7 (eBioscience), integrin-\u00c67-APC (Biolegend), and CD8-PerCP (eBioscience). To exclude dead cells we used LIVE/DEAD marker fixable violet stain (Thermo Fischer Invitrogen). The FACS plot showing gating strategy for the isolation of T cells from blood, gut and TCLs is shown in Supplementary Figure 1.

Single T cells were sorted on 96-well plates and rearranged TCR α genes and TCR β genes were amplified by multiplex PCR with V-gene specific primers described in detail elsewhere (16). Sequencing was performed on the Illumina MiSeq platform (250 bp PE) at the Norwegian Sequencing Center (Oslo University Hospital). The single-cell TCR- $\alpha\beta$ sequencing raw data generated are available in European Genome-phenome Archive (EGAS00001003245) and NCBI's Sequence Read Archive database (SRP102399 and SRP102402) (12, 16), or as new deposits (EGAS00001005047) (**Supplementary Table 1**). A compilation of TCR nucleotide and amino acid sequences of 2918 clonotypes are available from the authors on reasonable request.

Raw Illumina sequencing reads were assembled into rearranged TCR sequences using the MiXCR (17) "analyze amplicon" macro (default settings). Subsequently, for each cell the three highest scorings in terms of read support, TCR α and TCR β MiXCR sequences were submitted to the IMGT HighV-QUEST web portal (18), resulting in TCR annotation output that is compatible with our in-house Immune Receptor Information System (IRIS). IRIS is a data repository as well as a data analysis software. We upload the IMGT output files into the IRIS database followed by connecting the data with the metadata by assigning different dimensions (age, patient ID, status, tissue, well ID, plate ID, library ID, etc.) to each of the sequences. This allows the user to choose any specific dataset based on these dimensions. Further filtering steps were carried out in the IRIS program in order to remove low quality or ambiguous sequences. Sequences with a read support of <50 were discarded. Valid cells were defined as comprising of one or two TCRa and TCRB sequences, maximum three sequences. Dual TCR α or TCR β were accepted based on read support proportions. The number and frequency of dual productive TCR α (median:6.9%) or TCR β (median:0.2%) and unproductive TCR α (median:16.1%) or TCR β (median:3.5%) in each patient is shown in Supplementary Table 1 and Supplementary Figure 2. After the initial filter has been set up, IRIS will perform downstream analysis on the data set requested by the user on only the sequences that pass through the filter. So, using IRIS, users can choose specific data based on the dimensions, filter the sequences and the sequences can then be browsed directly, or used as the input when creating a report on V-gene usage, pairing and other relevant TCR analysis. Previously, we used pRESTO to process the raw sequencing reads (16), but here we have used MiXCR as it improved the processing pipeline and also increased the number of valid cells by roughly 10%. Clonotypes were defined based on identical TCR β sequences (identical V (gene level) - and J genes and identical CDR3 nucleotide sequences); subsequent inspection confirmed that more than 99% of clonotypes were characterized by unique TCRa:TCRB combinations. In total, 6627 valid cells from 50 patients gave rise to a total of 2918 clonotypes, ranging from 201 to 1 clonotypes per patient (Supplementary Table 1). Only the 34 patients with at least 20 clonotypes (2764 clonotypes in total) were included in the clustering and motif discovery analyses (Supplementary Table 1). The remaining 16 patients with less than 20 clonotypes per patient were included in assessing sharing of TCR sequences across patients.

V-gene usage for the single-cell sequencing libraries was exported from IRIS; here, sequences with ambiguous V gene calls were removed and the distinct V gene were counted. For paired TCR V-gene usage, the combinations of TRAV and TRBV genes were counted. In case of dual TCR α or TCR β , both TRAV and TRBV gene combinations were included and each was counted 50%.

Hierarchical Clustering

For the hierarchical clustering we removed from the CDR3 sequences two amino acids from the N terminal (IMGT positions 105 and 106) and one amino acid from the C terminal (IMGT position 117) following the recommendation of Glanville et al. These authors demonstrated based on assessment of 52 ternary TCR-peptide-MHC structures that these TCR residues do not contact peptide antigen thereby leading to the recommendation that clustering analysis for shared specificity should be performed without these residues (19). Additionally, we removed all TCR sequences where the length of the remaining CDR3 was less than 8 amino acids. For paired TCR sequences with dual TCR α or TCR β , one of the dual sequences was selected at random to represent the TCR. These operations reduced the size of the dataset from 2764 clonotypes to 2750 clonotypes.

Hierarchical clustering was done using the python "scipy.cluster.hierarchy" package, selecting average (UPGMA)

linkage. Pairwise distances between amino acid TCR α or TCR β CDR3s were calculated using the Levenshtein editing distance, using a value of 0 for matching positions and 1 for mismatches and indels. Pairwise distances between paired TCR α :TCR β receptors were calculated as the sum of the TCR α and TCR β Levenshtein distances.

Motif Discovery

New motif candidates were retrieved by examining all nodes of the hierarchical clustering dendrogram in a recursive, root-to-leaves ordering. Nodes below a given Levenshtein cut-off distance were assessed in terms of the V genes utilized by their leaf clonotype sequences. If all leaf clonotypes of a given node were utilizing similar V genes, and at least five leaf clonotypes were present, a new motif candidate was assigned to this node. In this case, the recursive search would stop. The required similarity of V genes was either defined as identical V genes (disregarding the allele numbers), or alternatively identical V-gene subgroups (as used by IMGT). Resulting motifs matching any of the established CeD motifs (Table 1) were removed from the list. For each remaining motif, a multiple sequence alignment was created using ClustalW (20); corresponding sequence logos were created using the WebLogo tool (21). In case of identical characters for a given column, the column character was added to the regex. If several distinct characters belonging to the same amino acid group; charged (K, R, E, D), polar (Q, N, H, S, T, Y, C), amphipathic (W, Y, M), hydrophobic (A, I, L, M, F, V, P, G) were present, a character group containing all amino acid residues for that group were added to the regex. If more than one amino acid group was represented, the position was added as an unrestricted wild-type character. If a column contains one or more gap characters, the amino acid character(s) for that position were marked as optional. Finally, all regex search terms were associated with the V gene used by the motif. Sequences constituting matches to a certain motif were required to match both the motif regex and express identical V gene. For paired TCR sequences, matches for both TCR α and TCR β had to be found.

Linking Motifs to Epitope Specificity

In order to evaluate the epitope specificity of the new motifs obtained by hierarchical clustering, we looked into the TCRs of in vitro cultured gluten-specific T-cell clones (TCCs) with known epitope specificity. Over the years, we have generated TCCs reactive to different gluten epitopes from blood and gut samples obtained from 15 CeD patients of whom 13 are not included in the clustering analysis. The TCR sequences and relevant patient information for the TCCs used in this study is shown in Supplementary Table 3. The majority of the TCCs were generated from CD4 T cells sorted with HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers by limited dilution cloning and antigen-free expansion. However, some of the TCCs were generated by cloning of T-cell lines generated from biopsies of CeD patients and the epitope specificity was confirmed by T-cell proliferation assays. Of the 328 gluten-specific TCCs, 231 TCCs expressed unique TCRs (the remaining 97 TCCs were sister clones) (Supplementary Table 3). We had 39, 111, 13 and 54 unique TCCs specific for DQ2.5-glia-α1a, DQ2.5-glia-α2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1, and DQ2.5-glia- ω 2, respectively. Further, we also had 10 and

Gluten-Specific TCRs in Celiac Disease

TABLE 1 | CeD-relevant sequence motifs.

Motif name	Chain	Sequence	V gene	J gene	Pairs with	Frequency
R-motif	TCRβ	ASS.R.TDTQY	TRBV7-2 or TRBV7-3	TRBJ2-3	TRAV26-1 (87.6%) TRAV13-1 (1.3%) TRAV23/DV6 (1.3%) Others (9.8%)	291/2764 (10.5%)
Extended R-motif	ΤCRβ	ASS.R.*	TRBV7-2 or TRBV7-3	TRBJ2-3	TRAV26-1 (81.1%) TRAV14/DV4 (2.0%) TRAV13-1 (1.8%) TRAV23/DV6 (1.5%) TRAV2 (1.3%) Others (12.3%)	369/2764 (13.3%)
NDYKLS	TCRα	I.NDYKLS	TRAV26-1	TRAJ20	TRBV7-2 (88.6%) ^{\$} TRBV20-1 (4.6%) TRBV11-2 (2.3%) TRBV5-1 (2.3%) TRBV7-3 (2.3%)	43/2764 (1.6%)
Paired R-motif	ΤCRαβ	ASS.R.TDTQY	TRBV7-2 or TRBV7-3/TRAV26-1	TRBJ2-3	N/A	

^{\$}All of these TCR β sequences contain the R-motif.

The sequence patterns are displayed using regular expression syntax where "." Indicates any character and ".*" indicates any characters including no character.

6 unique TCCs that were cross-reactive for DQ2.5-glia- α 1a and DQ2.5-glia- ω 1 epitopes, or DQ2.5-glia- α 2 and DQ2.5-glia- ω 2 epitopes, respectively.

Search of CDR3 Motifs in Public TCR Databases

We searched for all the CDR3 motifs in two different TCR databases, VDJdb repository (https://github.com/antigenomics/ vdjdb-db/releases/tag/2020-01-20) and McPAS-TCR (22). These databases contain TCRs with specificity for known epitopes. TCR specific for CeD related epitopes were excluded prior to the search. Sequences matching a certain motif were required to match both the motif regex and possess identical V gene.

Immune-Receptor Generation Probability (IRGP) Calculations

The IGoR (23) and OLGA (24) programs were used for calculating IRGPs. For sequences with ambiguous V gene calls, one of the V gene possibilities were chosen at random to represent the sequence in question. Since sequencing reads were not long enough to allow confident allele identifications, the "*01" allele was assumed used for all V genes. IRGPs were calculated using a default IGOR installation, together with the default TCR α and TCR β models included in (23). IRGPs for paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences (amino acid and nucleotide level) were calculated as the products of the TCR α and TCR β IRGPs (25).

RESULTS

TRAV, TRBV and TRAV : TRBV Usage by Gluten-Specific TCRs in CeD

We analyzed the V genes used by gluten-specific T cells of 31 CeD patients. The T cells embodying altogether 2396 clonotypes were isolated using a cocktail of HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers representing four immunodominant gluten epitopes (DQ2.5-glia- α 1a, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1 and DQ2.5-glia- ω 2).

For this analysis we excluded 20 patients where we isolated T cells using HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers representing only one or two epitopes to avoid potential epitope-specific V-gene bias.

TRAV26-1, TRBV7-2 and TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2 were found to be the most prominently used V genes and V gene pair used by the gluten-specific T cells (Figure 1). The analysis revealed the biased expression of V genes that previously were described to be used by TCRs specific to one of these immunodominant epitopes such as TRAV26-1, TRAV4, TRAV35, TRAV12-2/3 for TRAV (Figure 1A), and TRBV7-2, TRBV29-1, TRBV20-1, TRBV5-1 and TRBV19 for TRBV (Figure 1B). Except for TRAV26-1: TRBV7-2 which was expressed in 12% of the clonotypes, the majority of the V gene pairs were expressed at low frequency (< 1%) indicating that the gluten-specific TCRs against these four immunodominant gluten epitopes express diverse TCRs with the exception of TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2 TCRs (Figure 1C). This suggested that the biased expression of TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2 is the most prominent feature of TCRs specific to HLA-DQ2.5restricted immunodominant gluten epitopes in CeD.

Hierarchical Clustering on CDR3 Sequences Places the R Motif as the Most Prominent CeD Relevant Motif

In order to reveal TCR motifs associated with CeD, we performed hierarchical clustering on CDR3 amino acid sequences derived from 34 patients that had more than 20 clonotypes (2750 clonotypes in total). All clonotypes recognized one or more of the DQ2.5-glia- α 1a, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1 and DQ2.5-glia- ω 2 epitopes presented on HLA-DQ2.5 (**Supplementary Table 2**). Clustering was done based both on the individual CDR3 α and CDR3 β sequences, and of paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ receptors represented by their CDR3 sequences. Further, the pairwise distances between sequences were calculated using the Levenshtein editing distance.

The clustering dendrograms for CDR3 β sequences revealed that the largest cluster (Figure 2A) observed at a level of average Levenshtein distance of ~1.85 contained R-motif (Table 1)



clonotypes in the dataset, and only 1.7% of the cluster clonotypes did not match this motif. Comparable clusters obtained by cutting the dendrogram tree at the same Levenshtein distance were considerably smaller, where the largest of which contained 27 clonotypes compared with 290 clonotype for the Rmotif cluster.

Similarly, the largest cluster observed in clustering dendrograms for paired CDR3 α :CDR3 β sequences at a Levenshtein cut-off distance of 8.7 comprised mostly (85.3%) of paired R-motif (**Table 1**) and R-motif for TCR β s (91.1%) (**Figure 2B**). The relatively high Levenshtein editing distance of 8.7 compared to the TCR β motif (**Figure 2A**) reflects the heterogeneity of the CDR3 α sequences. However, if the dendrogram tree was cut at a distance of 2.4, the R-motif paired to the NDYKLS-motif was found to be the largest cluster (39 clonotypes) at that distance (**Supplementary Figure 3**).

Clustering the CDR3 α sequences in the same manner as for CDR3 β sequences above produced a dendrogram that did not contain any distinct clusters. However, at the cut-off distance of 1.85 (**Figure 2C**), we identified a cluster containing the NDYKLS-motif, with 56 sequences. This cluster was the largest CDR3 α cluster at this cut-off distance as the other clusters contained 21 to 42 sequences.

Taken together, hierarchical clustering on CDR3 sequences revealed that the well-known R motif is by far the most prominent CeD relevant motif.

Hierarchical Clustering on CDR3 Sequences Reveals New Smaller Motifs

In order to identify potential new motifs, we looked for clusters of CDR3 sequences within a given Levenshtein distance with the additional requirement that all clonotypes within such a cluster should use the same V gene.

Performing a motif search using the CDR3 α based clustering, 38 and 37 new CDR3 α motif candidates for Levenshtein distance 1.0 (**Supplementary Figure 4A**) and 2.0 (**Supplementary Figure 4B**, **C**, **Supplementary Table 4**), were identified. For both distances, the largest new motif was about equal in size to the NDYKLS-motif.

Based on the CDR3 β clustering, 25 and 32 new motif candidates were identified for Levenshtein distances of 1.0 (**Supplementary Figure 5**) and 2.0 (**Supplementary Figure 5B, C, Supplementary Table 5**). For both Levenshtein distances, the resulting new motif clusters were all substantially smaller than the R-motif cluster, which was represented with 290 sequences in the dataset.

Finally, we identified new motif candidates based on clustering of the CDR3 α :CDR β sequences, requiring identical V genes for both TCR α and TCR β sequences. As we included both sequences, we doubled the allowed Levenshtein distances to 2.0 (**Supplementary Figure 6A**) and 4.0 (**Supplementary Figure 6B**, C, Supplementary Table 6). This yielded 18 and 27 new motif candidates, respectively. For a cut-off distance of 4.0, the largest new motif contained 16 sequences, substantially smaller than the number of receptors utilizing the paired R-motif (275). We also retrieved paired motifs based on identical V gene subgroups and increased the Levenshtein distance cut-off to 8.0 which resulted in 37 new motif candidates. Despite the increased

Levenshtein distance, the largest new motif candidate still contained far less clonotypes than the paired R-motif cluster.

Taken together, we identified new CDR3 motif candidates used by the gluten-specific TCRs other that the R-motif. However, the occurrence of these novel motifs were much lower than the R-motif.

CDR3 Motifs Used by the Gluten-Specific TCRs in Public TCR Databases

As it would be of interest to learn whether the CDR3 motifs of the gluten-specific TCRs are unique to celiac disease, we searched the VDJdb and McPAS-TCR sequence repositories for presence of the motifs. Very few matches were found (Table 2). As expected, CDR3 motifs based on alignments with larger editing distances gave more matches. In addition, CDR3 α motifs gave more matches than CDR3B motifs. No matches were obtained when searching with paired CDR3α:CDR3β motifs. Likewise, the R-motif and the NDYKLS-motif did not match any sequences. Of the gluten-specific TCRs, only 2.2%, 0.2% and 0% of the CDR3 α , CDR3 β and paired CDR3 α :CDR3 β motifs respectively matched sequences in the VDJdb repository. Similarly, the motifs that matched sequences in McPAS-TCR were 0.9%, 0.1% and 0%. These results may indicate that the novel CDR3 motifs, specially the CDR3 β and the paired CDR3 α :CDR3 β motifs are fairly specific to CeD.

Linking Epitope Specificity to the Motifs Identified by Hierarchical Clustering

We wanted to pinpoint the epitope specificity of obtained novel motifs by comparing with the TCRs of the TCCs with known gluten epitope specificities (Supplementary Table 3) as well as single HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers. We also looked for these motifs in the entire dataset comprising of single cell TCR sequencing data from 50 patients and TCR sequences from TCCs from 15 patients (Supplementary Table 3) and reported the prevalence in Supplementary Tables S4-S6. We found that 84% (31 of 37) CDR3α motifs (Supplementary Table S4) and 63% (20 of 32) CDR3β motifs (Supplementary Table S5) identified at Levenshtein distance of 4.0, could be linked to TCRs with known specificity. We found that out of 27 paired CDR3 α :CDR3 β motifs identified at a Levenshtein distance of 4.0, nine motifs were used by at least one gluten-specific TCC (Supplementary Table 6). Additional six motifs were linked to TCRs sequenced from T cells that had been isolated with single HLA-DQ2.5:gluten epitope tetramers. Further, three motifs were identified in TCRs of TCCs as well as T cells isolated with single HLA-DQ2.5:gluten epitope tetramers. As a result, we were able to identify 16 new paired CDR3α:CDR3β motifs for DQ2.5-gliaα1a (7), DQ2.5-glia-α2 (1), DQ2.5-glia-ω1 (1), DQ2.5-glia-ω2 (3) and DQ2.5-glia- α 1a/DQ2.5-glia- ω 1 (4).

Higher Number of Shared TCR Sequences Observed in Patients With Higher Number of Clonotypes

In order to identify TCR sequences that are shared across individuals (i.e. public sequences) among the gluten-specific T



cells, we analyzed TCR sequences derived from T cells of blood, gut biopsies, as well as *in vitro* cultured T-cell lines and T-cell clones obtained from 63 CeD patients. Collecting all sequences from these 63 CeD patients, we obtained 2996 unique paired

TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences at amino acid level from a total of 3122 clonotypes (3109 were unique at the nucleotide level). The 2996 sequences were used to analyze for public TCRs. Shared TCR α and TCR β sequences were found in 59 out of 63 patients.

TABLE 2 | The numbers of sequences from the VDJdb and McPAS-TCR that match the CDR3 motifs of gluten-specific TCRs.

		VDJdb (n=6768	39)	McPAS-TCR (n=34795)			
	CDR3α (n=28268)	CDR3β (n=39405)	CDR3α:CDR3β (n=22284)	CDR3α (n=11675)	CDR3β (n=13332)	CDR3α:CDR3β (n=7501)	
R-motif	_	0	_	_	0	_	
Paired R-motif	-	-	0	-	-	0	
NDYKLS-motif	0	-	_	0	-	_	
Motifs at distance=1	4 ^a	1 ^c	_	21 ^a	3 ^h	-	
Motifs at distance=2	10 ^b	4 ^d	0 ^e	21 ^g	3 ⁱ	0 ^e	
Motifs at distance=4	-	-	O ^f	-	_	O ^f	

^aSequence match with 2 out of 38 CDR3 α motifs.

^bSequence match with 5 out of 37 CDR3 α motifs.

°Sequence match with 1 out of 25 CDR3 β motifs.

^dSequence match with 4 out of 32 CDR3 β motifs.

eSequence match with 0 out of 18 CDR3 α :CDR3 β motifs.

^fSequence match with 0 out of 27 CDR3 α :CDR3 β motifs.

 g Sequence match with 2 out of 37 CDR3 α motifs.

^hSequence match with 0 out of 25 CDR3 β motifs.

ⁱSequence match with 0 out of 32 CDR3 β motifs.

The four remaining patients contained less than three TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes each making it less likely to detect public TCR sequences in these patients. We identified 325 TCR α or TCR β sequences that were shared between 2 to 23 CeD patients (**Figure 3A**). Of the 325 public TCR sequences, 145, 102 and 78 were TCR α , TCR β and paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences, respectively. Of the paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences, 42% were identical and 65% were highly similar to the TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes with known epitope specificity (**Figure 3B**, **Supplementary Table 7**).

We then assessed the contribution of the public TCR α and TCR β sequences in the gluten-specific TCR repertoire of the individual patients. We found a higher number of shared TCRa or TCR α sequences in patients with higher number of TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes (Figure 3C). In order to investigate if the patients with higher number of TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes mostly contribute the public TCR sequences, we divided the patients into two groups where the first group contained patients with less than 100 clonotypes (1-100) and the second group contained those with more than 100 clonotypes (101-200). These two groups constituted almost equal number of clonotypes, but differed in number of patients which gave rise to two sets representing many patients-few clonotypes (47 patients, 1529 clonotypes) and few patients-many clonotypes (11 patients, 1585 clonotypes) (Figure 3D). Notably, we found that both groups contributed almost equally to the public TCR sequence pool. Further, we observed that the number of shared TCR α or TCR β sequences per TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes in a given CeD patient appeared to be stable around 30-40% (median 37%) regardless of the number of glutenspecific clonotypes in the patient (Figure 3E).

R-Motif Dominates the Public T-Cell Response to Gluten

Upon analysis of the public paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences (n = 78), TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2 was the most dominant TRAV : TRBV pair (**Figure 4**). Further, the TCR β sequences expressing the TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2/3 with R-motif were also the most prominent amongst the paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences (23%). When looking only into the collection of gluten-specific TCCs, 50% of

the DQ2.5-glia- α 2 specific TCCs (56/111) used TRBV7-2 and 30% also expressed the TRAV26-1 gene with the R-motif (33/111). Strikingly, we found T-cell clonotypes carrying the TRAV26-1:TRBV7-2 TCR with R-motif in all 41 patients where DQ2.5-glia- α 2 tetramer was used. To sum up, the public T-cell response against wheat gluten in CeD is characterized by preferential expression of the TRAV26-1: TRBV7-2 and dominated by the use of the R-motif sequences.

Public T-Cell Receptor Sequences Exhibit Higher Generation Probabilities

In order to investigate what makes a TCR sequence public, we compared the TCR sequences shared in more than two individuals (public) with the TCR sequences observed only in one individual (private) in our dataset.

Assuming that the sharing of TCR sequences across patients is most likely influenced by a higher immune receptor generation probability (IRGP), we compared the mean IRGP values for private and public sequences. We observed that public TCR sequences indeed had significantly higher IRGPs than private ones (**Table 3**). This applied both to individual chains and paired receptors. Given the below-average CDR3 length of R-motif sequences (11 versus ~12.5 amino acids) and its prominent representation amongst public TCR β sequences, we additionally created TCR β datasets without R-motif sequences. As expected, the mean IRGPs of public TCR β s still remained significantly higher than private TCR β sequences in the R-motiffree TCR β dataset.

DISCUSSION

Unlike several other autoimmune disorders, the antigen (dietary gluten) driving the T-cell response is well established in CeD. Hence, lessons learned from CeD on features of the disease driving gluten-specific TCRs are likely applicable to other autoimmune disorders.



FIGURE 3 | Public TCR sequences among gluten-specific T cells. (A) The number of public TCRs defined as identical TCR α , TCR β or paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ amino acid sequences observed at least in two individuals in a dataset of total 2996 gluten-specific TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences from 63 patients. (B) Doughnut chart showing the epitope specificity of the 78 public paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences. The inner circle displays the paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences that are identical to the TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences of TCRs with known epitope specificity while the outer circle displays the paired TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences that have similar (1 amino acid difference) TCR β or TCR $\alpha\beta$ sequences. (C) Plot showing the number of shared TCR α /TCR β sequences and the number of TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes in each patient. (D) Intra-comparison of the shared TCR α /TCR β sequences between patients with 1 to 100 TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes (n=47) and 101-200 TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes in each patient. The stippled line indicates the median value.

The features of the TCR repertoire against the individual immunodominant HLA-DQ2.5 restricted gluten epitopes have been studied previously (5, 7, 9, 11, 12). However, no reports on public TCR motifs used by T cells specific for other immunodominant HLA-DQ2.5 restricted gluten epitopes exist apart from the CDR3 β (R-motif) and CDR3 α (NDYKLS-motif) used by DQ2.5-glia- α 2-specific TCRs (5, 7, 9, 11). In order to comprehensively search for potential new motifs, we performed hierarchical clustering of a large dataset of CDR3 α and CDR3 β sequences obtained from 2750 gluten-specific TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes from 34 CeD patients. While the R-motif cluster stands out as the most dominant motif, several new CDR3 α , CDR3 β and CDR3 α : CDR3 β motifs were identified. Strikingly, more than half of the

new paired CDR3 α :CDR3 β motifs could be linked to one or two of the four epitope specificities by searching among TCR $\alpha\beta$ clonotypes of epitope-specific *in vitro* cultured TCCs and T cells isolated with single HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers, resulting in novel TCR motifs specific to DQ2.5-glia- α 1a, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1, DQ2.5-glia- ω 2 and DQ2.5-glia- α 1a/DQ2.5-glia- ω 1. Although we cannot rule out that each such motif may encompass TCRs reactive to further epitopes among these four, the strictness of the motifs makes us believe that the motifs mostly capture specificities to a single of these four epitopes. Analysis of whether these motifs are unique to CeD patients and can serve as proxies for the disease will have to be tested in series of samples from CeD patients and non-affected subjects.



TABLE 3 | The mean IRGP values for public and private sequences, with the number of sequences given in parentheses.

Sample private: mea		Amino acid sequences	S	Nucleotide sequences				
	private: mean (n)	public: mean (n)	p-value (U)	private: mean (n)	public: mean (n)	p-value (U)		
TCRα	3.18e-08 (2230)	5.96e-08 (182)	9.77E-04 (174966)	3.99e-09 (2475)	3.61e-08 (123)	5.82E-06 (116660.5)		
TCRβ	3.01e-08 (2182)	8.35e-08 (149)	3.15E-34 (66042.5)	1.04e-09 (2615)	6.94e-09 (73)	4.42E-27 (25379.5)		
w/o R-motif	3.01e-08 (2182)	4.73e-08 (115)	1.38E-20 (61494.5)	1.04e-09 (2615)	2.44e-09 (29)	6.59E-06 (20103)		
TCRα:TCRβ	1.10e-15 (2600)	8.35e-15 (72)	5.68E-08 (59372)	1.01e-17 (2758)	3.12e-16 (11)	1.73E-03 (7441)		

For each sample, the p-value and the U statistic for the one-sided Mann Whitney U test comparing the samples is given.

Given the low frequency of gluten-specific T cells in blood and gut, we mostly used a pool of tetramers to maximize the yield of isolated gluten-specific T cells. While this approach had the limitation that it did not allow us to directly assign TCR usage with specificity, it was advantageous for the comparison of frequencies of TCR-motifs across epitopes.

The biased expression of TRAV26-1 and TRBV7-2 genes as well as the paired receptor resulting from these V genes emerged as the most prominent feature when analyzing the gene usage frequency of the gluten-specific T cells isolated using a cocktail of four immunodominant epitopes. V-gene bias has been proposed to be a consequence of several factors such as biases in somatic recombination, thymic selection, antigen-driven selection and structural features in TCR and peptide:MHC interaction (26–28). In line with this hypothesis, we speculate that the biased usage of TRAV26-1/TRBV7-2 TCR in T-cell response against gluten in CeD is the consequence of V-gene bias acting on numerous levels. The theory of antigen-driven selection bias

suggests that the TCRs with a best fit for a peptide:MHC complex has an advantage over less-fit TCRs in the naive T-cell repertoire resulting in a biased repertoire (27). In this context, it is notable that the TCRs expressing TRAV26-1/TRBV7-2 with R-motif have shown higher affinity to the HLA-DQ2.5:DQ2.5-glia- α 2 complex compared to the TRAV26-1/TRBV7-2 TCR with the extended R motif (8). Furthermore, the arginine that gives rise to the R-motif was shown to exert a key role in the interaction with HLA-DQ2.5:DQ2.5-glia- α 2 complex (8). This indicates that the TRAV26-1/TRBV7-2 with R-motif due to its higher affinity to the peptide:MHC complex and crucial interactions might have an increased chances of selection during immune response resulting in increased prevalence in the subsequent effector pool.

The proportion of gluten-specific T-cell clonotypes that were public seemed to be around 30-40%, regardless of the number of gluten-specific TCRs we have acquired from each CeD patient. This indicates that these public T-cell receptors are central in the T-cell response against gluten. It has been proposed that the TCR sequences that are closer to the germline sequences and that could be easily generated are potential candidates for such public TCRs (26, 28). In agreement with this hypothesis, we observed that the public gluten-specific TCRs in our dataset had fewer N insertions in the CDR3 and higher generation probabilities. On scrutiny of the CDR3 β sequence with the R-motif, the CDR3 β sequence is relatively short and closely matches the V, D and J gene germline sequences. This motif also contains a conserved non-germline arginine at the fifth position, which has crucial role in the interaction between TCR and the DQ2.5-glia- α 2 presented by HLA-DQ2.5 (8). However, the arginine in the R-motifs observed between individuals and within the same individual has shown to be encoded by different recombination events (nucleotides) (5, 16). As arginine is encoded by six codons, this increased variety of ways in which the R-motif amino-acid sequence can be made, thus creating a higher chance for TCR sharing across individuals. Instances of this phenomenon known as convergent recombination contributing to public T-cell response are also found outside CeD (28). Therefore, conceivably TCRs with the R-motif become dominating public TCRs due to the cumulative effect of utilizing the preferentially expressed V gene pair with near-germline CDR3 regions and the convergent recombination giving conserved non-germline arginine residues.

There are several examples in the literature on universal public motifs in human disorders (29–32), but it is unclear how often one may find strong public TCR motifs for any given specificity. The fact that we did not observe any other prominent motifs apart from the R-motifs despite employing HLA-DQ2.5:gluten tetramers covering four immunodominant gluten epitopes, suggests that the formation of dominant public TCR motifs does not take place for all peptide-MHC specificities. It is notable that no dominant public TCR motifs was observed for the DQ2.5-glia- ω 2 epitope, an epitope that is highly homologous to the DQ2.5-glia- α 2 epitope. Future studies should address to which extent public TCRs constitute the response to various antigens.

Looking for the presence of the CDR3 motifs identified in our study in the VDJdb and McPAS-TCR repositories, we found no matches for paired CDR3\alpha:CDR3\beta motifs and very few matches for the CDR3 α and CDR3 β motifs indicating disease specificity of these TCR motifs. Potentially such information can be utilized in a celiac disease diagnostic test. Our result suggests that combined TCR α and TCR β information will provide a better prediction. This notion of importance of both TCR chains is supported by the functional data demonstrating that T-cell reactivity in DQ2.5-glia-a2 specific TCRs using TRBV7-2 is lost upon substitution of TRAV26-1 with TRAV26-2 (33). In a recent study, Yao et al. analyzed for presence of TCR sequences of gluten-specific T cells in gut biopsies of 7 CeD patients and 8 disease controls, and concluded that correct disease status could be assigned based on presence of TCRs sequences in 13 out of 15 donors (34). While these results are encouraging for the prospect of a diagnostic test, further analysis is required to conclude how frequent the identified TCR CDR3 motifs are in healthy subjects. As there is a non-negligible number (about 1%) of undiagnosed

celiacs in the general population (35), in future studies it will be important to accurately ascertain disease status of the disease controls.

Taken together, in this study we have demonstrated that the gluten-specific T-cell response is composed of one very dominant CDR3 motif used by DQ2.5-glia- α 2-specific TCRs and several less dominant motifs used by TCRs specific for other dominant gluten-derived T-cell epitopes. Together, these CDR3 motifs are part of a diverse TCR repertoire employed by gluten-specific CD4+ T cells in CeD. Therefore, these public TCR sequences and conserved CDR3 motifs can potentially be exploited as diagnostic markers of CeD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/ **Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Norway. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants or the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SD-K and LR isolated T cells and sequenced their receptors, performed data analysis and wrote the manuscript. RN performed data analysis and wrote the manuscript. AC isolated T cells. KL organized collection of CeD patient material. GS supervised the project and critically revised the manuscript. S-WQ isolated T cells, supervised the project and critically revised the manuscript. LS supervised the project, arranged the necessary funding and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work has been supported by grants from Stiffelsen Kristian Gerhard Jebsen (project SKGJ-MED-017), from the Research Council of Norway (project 179573/V40 through the Centre of Excellence funding scheme and project 233885) and from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority (projects 2011050, 2013046, 2015009 and 2018068).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the CeD patients who contributed in this study. We express our gratitude to the clinicians and staffs at the Department of Gastroenterology at Oslo University Hospital-Rikshospitalet and Akershus University Hospital for organizing the collection of the blood and gut biopsies from CeD patients. We thank Bjørg Simonsen and Stine R. Lund for producing the biotinylated HLA-DQ:gluten molecules and Marie K. Johannesen for technical assistance. We thank Flow Cytometry Core Facility (Oslo University Hospital-Rikshospitalet and

REFERENCES

- Abadie V, Sollid LM, Barreiro LB, Jabri B. Integration of genetic and immunological insights into a model of celiac disease pathogenesis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:493–525. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-040210-092915
- Singh P, Arora A, Strand TA, Leffler DA, Catassi C, Green PH, et al. Global Prevalence of Celiac Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2018) 16(6):823–36.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.06.037
- Sollid LM. The roles of MHC class II genes and post-translational modification in celiac disease. *Immunogenetics* (2017) 69(8-9):605–16. doi: 10.1007/s00251-017-0985-7
- Sollid LM, Jabri B. Triggers and drivers of autoimmunity: lessons from coeliac disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(4):294–302. doi: 10.1038/nri3407[doi
- Qiao SW, Raki M, Gunnarsen KS, Loset GA, Lundin KE, Sandlie I, et al. Posttranslational modification of gluten shapes TCR usage in celiac disease. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(6):3064–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101526
- Broughton SE, Petersen J, Theodossis A, Scally SW, Loh KL, Thompson A, et al. Biased T cell receptor usage directed against human leukocyte antigen DQ8-restricted gliadin peptides is associated with celiac disease. *Immunity* (2012) 37(4):611–21. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.07.013
- Qiao SW, Christophersen A, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. Biased usage and preferred pairing of a- and b-chains of TCRs specific for an immunodominant gluten epitope in coeliac disease. *Int Immunol* (2014) 26 (1):13–9. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxt037
- Petersen J, Montserrat V, Mujico JR, Loh KL, Beringer DX, van LM, et al. T-cell receptor recognition of HLA-DQ2-gliadin complexes associated with celiac disease. Nat Struct Mol Biol (2014) 21(5):480–8. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2817
- Petersen J, van Bergen J, Loh KL, Kooy-Winkelaar Y, Beringer DX, Thompson A, et al. Determinants of gliadin-specific T cell selection in celiac disease. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(12):6112–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500161
- Petersen J, Kooy-Winkelaar Y, Loh KL, Tran M, van Bergen J, Koning F, et al. Diverse T cell receptor gene usage in HLA-DQ8-associated celiac disease converges into a consensus binding solution. *Structure (London Engl 1993)* (2016) 24(10):1643–57. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2016.07.010
- Dahal-Koirala S, Risnes LF, Christophersen A, Sarna VK, Lundin KE, Sollid LM, et al. TCR sequencing of single cells reactive to DQ2.5-glia-a2 and DQ2.5glia-w2 reveals clonal expansion and epitope-specific V-gene usage. *Mucosal Immunol* (2016) 9(3):587–96. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.147
- Dahal-Koirala S, Ciacchi L, Petersen J, Risnes LF, Neumann RS, Christophersen A, et al. Discriminative T-cell receptor recognition of highly homologous HLA-DQ2-bound gluten epitopes. J Biol Chem (2019) 294(3):941–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.005736
- Hardy MY, Russell AK, Pizzey C, Jones CM, Watson KA, La Gruta NL, et al. Characterisation of clinical and immune reactivity to barley and rye ingestion in children with coeliac disease. *Gut* (2020) 69:830–40. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319093
- Petersen J, Ciacchi L, Tran MT, Loh KL, Kooy-Winkelaar Y, Croft NP, et al. T cell receptor cross-reactivity between gliadin and bacterial peptides in celiac disease. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2020) 27(1):49–61. doi: 10.1038/s41594-019-0353-4
- 15. Dahal-Koirala S, Neumann RS, Jahnsen J, Lundin KEA, Sollid LM. On the immune response to barley in celiac disease: Biased and public T-cell receptor

Radiumhospitalet) for providing access to instruments and for technical assistance. We express our gratitude to Lonneke Scheffer for providing relevant input to the data analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.639672/full#supplementary-material

usage to a barley unique and immunodominant gluten epitope. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50(2):256–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948253

- Risnes LF, Christophersen A, Dahal-Koirala S, Neumann RS, Sandve GK, Sarna VK, et al. Disease-driving CD4+ T cell clonotypes persist for decades in celiac disease. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(6):2642–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI98819
- Bolotin DA, Poslavsky S, Mitrophanov I, Shugay M, Mamedov IZ, Putintseva EV, et al. MiXCR: software for comprehensive adaptive immunity profiling. *Nat Methods* (2015) 12(5):380–1. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3364
- Alamyar E, Duroux P, Lefranc MP, Giudicelli V. IMGT([®]) tools for the nucleotide analysis of immunoglobulin (IG) and T cell receptor (TR) V-(D)-J repertoires, polymorphisms, and IG mutations: IMGT/V-QUEST and IMGT/ HighV-QUEST for NGS. *Methods Mol Biol* (2012) 882:569–604. doi: 10.1007/ 978-1-61779-842-9_32
- Glanville J, Huang H, Nau A, Hatton O, Wagar LE, Rubelt F, et al. Identifying specificity groups in the T cell receptor repertoire. *Nature* (2017) 547 (7661):94–8. doi: 10.1038/nature22976
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, et al. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* (2007) 23(21):2947–8. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btm404
- Crooks GE, Hon G, Chandonia JM, Brenner SE. WebLogo: a sequence logo generator. *Genome Res* (2004) 14(6):1188–90. doi: 10.1101/gr.849004
- Tickotsky N, Sagiv T, Prilusky J, Shifrut E, Friedman N. McPAS-TCR: a manually curated catalogue of pathology-associated T cell receptor sequences. *Bioinformatics* (2017) 33(18):2924–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btx286
- Marcou Q, Mora T, Walczak AM. High-throughput immune repertoire analysis with IGoR. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):561. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-02832-w
- Sethna Z, Elhanati Y, Callan CG, Walczak AM, Mora T. OLGA: fast computation of generation probabilities of B- and T-cell receptor amino acid sequences and motifs. *Bioinformatics* (2019) 35(17):2974–81. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btz035
- Dupic T, Marcou Q, Walczak AM, Mora T. Genesis of the αβ T-cell receptor. *PloS Comput Biol* (2019) 15(3):e1006874. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006874
- Miles JJ, Douek DC, Price DA. Bias in the αβ T-cell repertoire: implications for disease pathogenesis and vaccination. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89(3):375– 87. doi: 10.1038/icb.2010.139
- Turner SJ, Doherty PC, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J. Structural determinants of T-cell receptor bias in immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6(12):883–94. doi: 10.1038/ nri1977
- Venturi V, Price DA, Douek DC, Davenport MP. The molecular basis for public T-cell responses? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(3):231–8. doi: 10.1038/nri2260
- Argaet VP, Schmidt CW, Burrows SR, Silins SL, Kurilla MG, Doolan DL, et al. Dominant selection of an invariant T cell antigen receptor in response to persistent infection by Epstein-Barr virus. *J Exp Med* (1994) 180(6):2335–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.180.6.2335
- Hong J, Zang YC, Tejada-Simon MV, Kozovska M, Li S, Singh RA, et al. A common TCR V-D-J sequence in Vb13.1 T cells recognizing an immunodominant peptide of myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (1999) 163(6):3530–8.
- Kasprowicz V, Isa A, Jeffery K, Broliden K, Tolfvenstam T, Klenerman P, et al. A highly restricted T-cell receptor dominates the CD8+ T-cell response to parvovirus B19 infection in HLA-A*2402-positive individuals. J Virol (2006) 80(13):6697–701. doi: 10.1128/jvi.02388-05

- Dong L, Li P, Oenema T, McClurkan CL, Koelle DM. Public TCR use by herpes simplex virus-2-specific human CD8 CTLs. J Immunol (2010) 184 (6):3063–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903622
- 33. Gunnarsen KS, Høydahl LS, Risnes LF, Dahal-Koirala S, Neumann RS, Bergseng E, et al. A TCR α framework-centered codon shapes a biased T cell repertoire through direct MHC and CDR3 β interactions. *JCI Insight* (2017) 2(17). doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.95193
- 34. Yao Y, Zia A, Neumann RS, Pavlovic M, Balaban G, Lundin KEA, et al. T cell receptor repertoire as a potential diagnostic marker for celiac disease. *Clin Immunol* (2021) 222:108621. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.108621
- Lebwohl B, Rubio-Tapia A. Epidemiology, Presentation, and Diagnosis of Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2021) 160(1):63–75. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.06.098

Conflict of Interest: SD-K, LR, RN, AC, KL, S-WQ, GS and LS are holders of a patent application entitled "Method of diagnosing celiac disease" (US20210010077A1) on the use of the gluten-specific T cell receptor sequences described in the current work for diagnosis of celiac disease.

Copyright © 2021 Dahal-Koirala, Risnes, Neumann, Christophersen, Lundin, Sandve, Qiao and Sollid. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Can Celiac Disease Be Prevented?

Renata Auricchio^{*} and Riccardo Troncone

Department of Medical Translational Sciences & European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University Federico II, Naples, Italy

Celiac disease (CD) is an autoimmune disorder triggered by gluten in genetically susceptible individuals characterized by a variable combination of gluten-dependent symptoms, presence of specific autoantibodies and enteropathy. The health burden of CD is considerable, as it reduces quality of life and, at a societal level, has extensive negative economic consequences. Prevention strategies are based on the identification of at-risk subjects and identification and elimination of risk factors. A number of prospective observational and interventional studies conducted on the general population, and more often in subjects at-risk, have given important information on the natural history of the disease. Both genetic and environmental factors have been identified with the former, in particular histocompatibility genes, playing a major role. Environmental factors, some operating already before birth, have been identified, with feeding pattern in the first year of life (breast feeding, amount and time of introduction of gluten) and infections being the most relevant. Prospective studies have also allowed the identification of biomarkers predictive of the disease which in perspective could better define the population on which to intervene. Interventions have been so far limited to modifications of feeding patterns. However, as also learnt from diseases that share with CD genetic risk factors and mechanisms of damage, such as type 1 diabetes (T1D), future strategies may be envisaged based on protection from infections, manipulation of microbiota, intervention on T cells.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Harry Wichers, Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Luud Gilissen, Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands Katri Lindfors, Tampere University, Finland

> *Correspondence: Renata Auricchio r.auricchio@unina.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 February 2021 Accepted: 20 April 2021 Published: 14 May 2021

Citation:

Auricchio R and Troncone R (2021) Can Celiac Disease Be Prevented? Front. Immunol. 12:672148. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.672148

Keywords: risk factors, biomarkers, celiac disease, children, gluten

INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease (CD) is an immune mediated systemic disorder elicited by gluten and related prolamines in genetically susceptible individuals and characterized by a variable combination of gluten-dependent clinical manifestations, anti-tissue transglutaminase antibodies positivity and enteropathy (1). The disease results from a complex interplay between genetic, environmental and immune factors leading to an inappropriate mucosal T cell response to gluten and eventually to a remodeling of the small intestinal mucosa (villous atrophy) and its clinical consequences (2).

CD is a frequent disorder. A recent meta-analysis has indicated the pooled global prevalence of CD being 1.4%, based on positive results from tests for anti-tissue transglutaminase and/or anti-endomysial antibodies (called seroprevalence) and 0.7% that of biopsy-confirmed CD (3). The prevalence goes up to 10% in at risk groups, such as children and adolescents with first-degree relatives with CD, patients with autoimmune diseases (e.g. type 1 diabetes, T1D), IgA deficiency and

54

chromosomopathies. It is also worthy to note that the incidence has increased over the past several decades emphasizing the relevance of environmental factors (4).

The health burden of CD is considerable, as it reduces quality of life (5, 6) and in social life has extensive negative consequences. The costs of a particular disease in different Countries depends on the structure of a particular healthcare system. However, from all Countries there are reports of significant additional primary care costs associated with CD. When compared with other chronic illnesses, the costs of patients with CD were similar to those of patients with diabetes and hypertension (7). For these reasons primary prevention has become a priority in the research agenda of CD.

A strategy for primary prevention is based on the identification of at risk subjects primary target of the intervention and on the identification of environmental factors that favor disease development whose manipulation may decrease the risk. Recently a number of prospective studies have shed light on these aspects, in a first place helping to understand the natural history of the disease. Different phases have been identified, from the genetic predisposition with HLA alleles contributing to 30-50% of the genetic risk, to the preweaning phase where environmental factors may play a role even before birth, to the introduction of gluten in the diet, to the development of CD-specific autoantibodies, to the eventual development of small intestinal mucosal damage and the consequent clinical manifestations (Figure 1). At each of this stage it is possible to intervene to prevent the gluten-induced harm. Early diagnosis through screening policies based on the detection of CD-associated autoantibodies and efforts to assure compliance with the gluten free diet represent the basis for secondary and tertiary prevention of CD. However, this minireview will mainly focus on primary prevention and on the possible strategies to halt the disease process before mucosal damage occurs.

The Target: Biomarkers to Identify at Risk Subjects

Those subjects who are at the highest risk to develop CD are the first target of intervention strategies. Much effort has been made in recent years trying to identify possible biomarkers that would allow clinicians to classify individuals based on their risk of developing CD before any clinical and serological signs of the disease.

More than ninety percent of CD patients have the HLA-DQ2.5 haplotypes (encoded by the DQA1*0501 and DQB1*0201 alleles) either in cis or trans position, the remaining showing the HLA-DQ8, DQ2.2 or DQ7 haplotypes (8). Furthermore, it is known that the risk among genetically predisposed first degree relatives increases up to 20% (9). However, not all DQ2 or DQ8 positive patients have the same probability to develop the disease, a gene dose effect due to the number of copies of DQB1*0201 having been reported (10). Studies in cohorts of children at risk for CD have prospectively confirmed these observations. In the European multicentre prospective study PREVENT-CD it was in fact shown that subjects homozygous for HLA DQ2 were those with the highest incidence of CD (11). Similar data were also produced by the Italian multicentre study, known as CELIPREV (12), and in the TEDDY study (13). Girls seem to be at higher risk to develop the disease. The contribution of non-HLA genes to the risk is less defined, but scores that take into account the contribution of single nucleotide polymorphisms related to CD have been developed (14) and could help in a more precise assessment of the genetic risk.



Prospective studies have helped to identify biomarkers predicting the development of the disease and then helping to identify subjects candidate to prevention strategies. Lipidomic modifications were considered as an early predictive marker for CD. In fact, it has been shown that since a very early age, even before the introduction of gluten, genetically predisposed children who will develop the disease during their life show a specific profile of phospholipids. A limited number of alkylacylphosphatidylcholine and lyso-phosphatidylcholine, together with the duration of breastfeeding, allows the discrimination of infants who will develop CD from those at a similar genetic risk who will not develop the disease (15). Interestingly similar observations have been made in T1D (16). These changes seem to be present already at 4 months of age, suggesting they are the result of very early phenomena, even in the gestational period, which may predispose to development of the disease in at risk subjects. In another study conducted in the DIPP cohort increased amounts of triglycerides of low carbon number and double bond count and decreased levels of phosphatydilcholine were noted before gluten introduction in subjects who later developed CD; in this case the changes were attributed to impaired lipid absorption (17).

Before seroconversion other features are reported in infants who will later develop the disease. In fact, Galatola et al. have shown that a small set of non-HLA genes is differently expressed in subjects at risk who then develop the disease already in the first year of life, long before the appearance of other clinical and serological signs of the disease (18).

Also microRNAs have been considered as possible biomarkers capable of predicting disease. In fact, some studies have shown that both at the tissue and blood level there are microRNA profiles able to distinguish celiac patients from controls (19).

The seroconversion i.e. the appearance in serum of anti-tissue transglutaminase antibodies and other autoantibodies related to CD is a major step of the natural history of the disease. However, they are not invariably associated to the mucosal damage; moreover, they do not automatically lead to evolution towards villous atrophy. On the contrary in percentages ranging from 30 to 90% antibodies can disappear from the serum (20, 21) indicating this condition of potential CD (normal mucosa but presence of autoantibodies) still represent a situation amenable to prevention, being possible to halt the progression to the full blown disease.

Identification of Risk Factors and Intervention on at Risk Infants: Feeding in the First Years of Life

Breastfeeding has for long time been considered the main protective factor for the development of CD (22). More recently, the evidence coming from most studies (23) including the two large interventional studies on children at risk for CD (11, 12), have concluded that exclusive or any breastfeeding, as well as breastfeeding at the time of gluten introduction, did not reduce the risk of developing celiac disease during childhood.

In recent past, studies had identified a "window of tolerance": gluten introduction between 4 and 6 months of life, was hypothesized to reduce the risk of developing CD (24). More

recent studies on prospective cohorts at risk for CD such as PREVENT CD (11), CELIPREV (12) have instead shown that there is no substantial difference in the incidence of the disease whether gluten is introduced early (4 months) or later (after the 12th month of life). Other observational studies both in general population and in at risk groups for T1D also reached the same conclusions. Therefore, the current guidelines of the European Society for Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) recommend introducing gradually gluten between 4-12 months of life (25). Recently, several studies have been published describing the effect of challenging young babies with allergen containing foods at a very early age to induce lifelong tolerance. In this context data coming from the EAT study, an open labelled randomized clinical trial aimed to assess if early introduction of six allergenic foods can prevent food allergy (26), showed that introduction of gluten at 4 months was associated with reduction of CD prevalence. The small size and the criteria used for diagnosis suggest caution in the interpretation of these results.

Whether the amount of gluten at the time of weaning and in the first year of life can in any way influence the risk of CD has been the focus of different studies. In the PREVENT CD study it was shown that gluten consumption pattern, as well as the amount of gluten consumed in the first three years of life, do not influence the development of CD (27), although a trend to a positive effect was noted in the subgroup at lower genetic risk, suggesting that effect related to the gluten amount may become more visible in those with lower genetic risk. In fact, more recent data have been published on two cohorts at risk for T1D [TEDDY (28), DAISY (29)] and one on the Norwegian mother-child cohort (30), suggesting that gluten ingested (around 3-10 g/day) is associated with the development of autoimmunity to T1D and CD. Taken together all these studies, it could be concluded that one extra slice of bread (2 g/day of gluten) could cause 20-50% increase in the risk of CD. Interestingly, it is likely that the amount of gluten may concur with other risk factors (in particular infections in the first years of life) to the development of CD. This is suggested by a recent observation in the context of the TEDDY study of an additive effect of more than 10 g/day of gluten ingested and virus infection (31).

The idea that gluten is not the only nutritional factor for the development of the disease is gaining ground in the recent years, but rather it could be that specific dietary pattern could cause a basal inflammatory state increasing the susceptibility to chronic diseases, such as CD. Roager et al. have shown that a diet rich in whole grain is able to reduce the inflammatory state of adult obese patients (32). Likewise, the work of Barroso et al. showed that a "prudent" diet at one year of life, with more fruit, vegetables, vegetable oil and cereals and less snacks, confectionary and sugars, in other words more like the Mediterranean diet, is able to reduce celiac autoimmunity at 6 years (33).

Identification of Risk Factors and Intervention on at Risk Infants: Infections, Vaccines, Manipulation of Microbiota

Another important hypothesis is that the process of autoimmunity leading to CD is stimulated or switched on by the occurrence of common infections during the period preceding its onset. The authors of several studies have suggested that early infections might contribute to the risk of developing CD. First of all, repeated infections by Rotavirus (34) and Parechovirus (35) were associated to the risk of CD. More recently, Reovirus infection was also indicated in association to CD (36). In the TEDDY study, gastrointestinal infections increased the risk of celiac autoimmunity by 33% in genetically predisposed children in the following 3 months of life (37). In the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study, children with more than 10 infections before 18 months of age had a significantly higher risk of developing CD later in life than children with less than four infections (38). Subsequently, in the same cohort it was shown that the increased risk for CD was associated with gastrointestinal infection mainly caused by Enteroviruses, especially if infection was contracted before seroconversion (39). The increased risk associated with Enterovirus was recently confirmed in TEDDY study by Lindorfs et al. (31). Moreover, they hypothesized that there is a cumulative effect of enteroviral exposure and higher amount of gluten consumed in the first 2 years of life (31). Interestingly, also non-gastrointestinal infections were associated to the risk of CD in an Italian prospective cohort study: a higher frequency of respiratory tract infections among CD patients during the first 24 months of life significantly contributed to discrimination of case versus controls (40).

Given the important role of infections, vaccination has been indicated as a strategy for prevention. In fact, several studies have shown a reduced incidence of disease in subjects vaccinated for *Rotavirus* (37, 41). Furthermore, a trial is being conducted with the use of an anti-*Coxsackie* vaccination for the prevention of T1D and CD (Clinical Trial n° NCT04690426).

A number of studies have addressed the potential role of microbial composition in the evolution of CD. High risk children have been shown to possess a different microbiota in comparison to children with no or low genetic risk for CD (42). Contrasting data have been produced on the existence of an early microbial signature in infants from at risk groups who later progress to CD (43, 44). Manipulation of the microbiota has then become another possible strategy. Probiotics are candidate for their proven anti-inflammatory effects; but controversial results have been published about their ability to prevent CD (45). One ongoing clinical trial (NCT3562221) in this context addresses the effects of GFD and probiotics during the first 3 years of life on the development of celiac disease. It is clear that, also because the low risk of side effects, that will be one of the area of major development.

Finally, the identification of other risk factors could also be important in the design of prevention strategies based on multiple interventions. However, given also the relatively little impact of each of them, conflicting results have been so far obtained for example in relation to the use of antibiotics and the modalities of delivery (46).

Halting the Progression of CD: Analogies With Type 1 Diabetes

CD is now considered by most an autoimmune disease. It is often associated with other autoimmune diseases, first among all T1D.

With T1D, CD shares genes conferring risk (both HLA and non HLA) (47) and immunological mechanisms inducing damage at the target tissue (intestinal mucosa or pancreatic islets). Lessons from what implemented for T1D prevention may be particularly useful for CD. Also for T1D the target population for primary prevention trials is individuals who carry high risk genotypes before the first appearance of islet autoantibodies and also for T1D these trials include mostly low risk dietary interventions such as the avoidance of cow's milk or gluten and the supplementation of n-3 fatty acids or vitamin D (47). The results of these trials have been so far quite disappointing. None of these specific dietary factors has been proved to be a definite risk factor inducing beta cell autoimmunity. More recently primary prevention has started focusing on the modulation of the immune system by antigen specific immunotherapy, such as oral insulin (48). Furthermore, the observation that as in CD certain viral infections e.g., Coxsackie B may promote autoimmune attack to pancreatic islets has prompted efforts to develop vaccines that are going to be tested in clinical trials.

Most of the efforts in T1D have been so far directed to slow or to halt the progressive beta cell destruction. Nicotinamide, antigen-specific immune therapy (oral and nasal insulin, GAD alum), monoclonal antibodies, immunosuppressive drugs, hydroycloroquine and anti-inflammatory agents have been tested (47). Particularly promising is the use of monoclonal antibody to CD3 (Tepluzimab) targeting CD8+ cells responsible of beta cell destruction in T1D (49). Here the analogies with potential CD (anti tissue transglutaminase antibodies, anti-TG2) present in the absence of mucosal damage) are very strong. Moreover, we know from clinical studies that the appearance of anti-TG2 antibodies in CD is still reversible, as shown by observations in infants born in celiac families and subjects with T1D (see above). That suggests that also in the presence of anti-TG2 antibodies the evolution to villous atrophy is not obligatory; in theory it may still be prevented as the experience with anti-CD3 in pre-diabetes seems to indicate (49). Other possibilities are based on the induction of specific tolerance to gliadin through "vaccination" with gliadin peptides (50) or use of nanoparticles containing gliadin peptides (51). Another attempt has been based on the use of probiotics. A randomized double blind placebo-controlled trial of Lactobacillus plantarum and Lactobacillus paracasei to suppress celiac autoimmunity in infants at risk has led to a decrease of anti-TG2 antibodies titres and to changes of the phenotype of PBMC (52). In general, one of the challenges of such trials is to balance the potential benefits against the risks, and this is particularly true when it comes to strategies which alter the immune response.

Another important indication that seems to come from studies on T1D is that further attempts should not concentrate on single hypothesis or intervention. It is very likely that a combination of different factors may be decisive, as suggested by the additive risk given by the amount of gluten and viral infections (31), and therefore a combination of different approaches could be the next strategy.

CONCLUSIONS

The pathogenesis of CD need to be clarified: environmental factors and genetic factors need to be better understood. Prospective studies have much improved our knowledge of the natural history and have provided biomarkers that help to define the different level to which intervene. Primary prevention remains the main goal to achieve, with interventions planned as early as possible even before birth. On the other hand, even if CD associated autoantibodies develop there is still potential therapeutic benefit from intervention to halt and possibly reverse the disease. We acknowledge that in the case of CD prevention is moving its first steps. Attempts based on the timing of gluten introduction in

REFERENCES

- Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabo I, Kurppa K, Mearin ML, Ribes-Koninckx C, et al. European Society Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Guidelines for Diagnosing Coeliac Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr (2012) 54:136–60. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31821a23d0
- Lebwohl B, Sanders DS, Green PHR. Coeliac Disease. Lancet (2018) 391:70– 81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31796-8
- Singh P, Arora A, Strand TA, Leffler DA, Catassi C, Green PH, et al. Global Prevalence of Celiac Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2018) 16:36e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.06.037
- 4. Rubio-Tapia A, Kyle RA, Kaplan EL, Johnson DR, Page W, Erdtmann F, et al. Increased Prevalence and Mortality in Undiagnosed Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 137:88–9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.03.059
- Koskinen I, Virta LJ, Huhtala H, Ilus T, Kaukinen K, Collin P. Overall and Cause-Specific Mortality in Adult Celiac Disease and Dermatitis Herpetiformis Diagnosed in the 21st Century. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2020) 115(7):1117–24. doi: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000665
- Marsilio I, Canova C, D'Odorico A, Ghisa M, Zingone L, Lorenzon G, et al. Quality-of-Life Evaluation In Coeliac Patients on a Gluten-Free Diet. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(10):2981. doi: 10.3390/nu12102981
- Heymann AD, Leshno M, Endevelt R, Shamir R. The High Cost of Celiac Disease in an Israeli Health Maintenance Organization. *Health Econ Rev* (2013) 3(1):23. doi: 10.1186/2191-1991-3-23
- Withoff S, Li Y, Wijmenga C. Understanding Celiac Disease by Genomics. *Trends Genet* (2016) 32(5):295–308. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2016.02.003
- Sigh P, Arora S, Lal S, Strand TA, Makharia GK. Risk of Celiac Disease in the First and Second-Degree Relatives of Patients With Celiac Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Gastroenterol (2015) 110:1539–48. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.296
- Vader W, Stepniak D, Kooy Y, Mearin ML, Thompson A, van Rood JJ, et al. The HLA DQ2 Gene Dose-Effect in Celiac Disease is Directly Related to the Magnitude and Breadth of Gluten-Specific T Cell Responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2003) 100:12390–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2135229100
- Vriezinga SL, Auricchio R, Bravi E, Castillejo G, Chmielewska A, Crespo Escobar P, et al. Randomized Feeding Intervention in Infants At High Risk for Celiac Disease. N Engl J Med (2014) 371:1304–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1404172
- Lionetti E, Castellaneta S, Francavilla R, Pulvirenti A, Tonutti E, Amarri S, et al. Introduction of Gluten, HLA Status and the Risk of Celiac Disease in Children. N Engl J Med (2014) 371:1295–303. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400697
- Liu E, Hye-Seung L, Aronsson CA, Hagopian WA, Koletzko S, Rewers MJ, et al. Risk of Pediatric Celiac Disease According to HLA Haplotype and Country. N Engl J Med (2014) 371:42–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1313977
- Sharp SA, Jones SE, Kimmitt RA. A Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Genetic Risk Score to Aid Diagnosis of Coeliac Disease: A Pilot Study in Clinical Care. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2020) 52(7):1165–73. doi: 10.1111/apt.15826
- Auricchio R, Galatola M, Cielo D, Amoresano A, Caterino M, De Vita E, et al. A Phospholipid Profile At 4 Months Predicts the Onset of Celiac Disease in at-Risk Infants. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9:14303. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50735-7

infants' diet are inconclusive. We are now waiting for the results of trials based on antiviral vaccinations. However, there is no doubt that studies aimed to find a prevention strategy for CD will represent in the next years one of the frontiers of the research in CD with important consequences also in the management of other autoimmune diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA and RT both contribute to select papers and write the review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Lamichhane S, Ahonen L, Dyrlund TS, Siljander H, Hyoty H, Ilonen J, et al. A Longitudinal Plasma Lipidomics Dataset From Children Who Developed Islet Autoimmunity and Type 1 Diabetes. *Sci Data* (2018) 5:180250. doi: 10.1038/ sdata.2018.250
- Lamichhane S, Ahonen L, Dyrlund TS, Kemppainen E, Siljander H, Hyöty H, et al. Dynamics of Plasma Lipidome in Progression to Islet Autoimmunity and Type 1 Diabetes - Type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention Study (DIPP). *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):10635. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28907-8
- Galatola M, Cielo D, Panico C, Stellato P, Malamisura B, Carbone L, et al. Pre-Symptomatic Diagnosis of Celiac Disease in Predisposed Children: The Role of Gene Expression Profile. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* (2017) 65(3):314–20. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001519
- Amr KS, Bayoumi FS, Eissa E, Abu-Zekry M. Circulating microRNAs as Potential non-Invasive Biomarkers in Pediatric Patients With Celiac Disease. *Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019) 51:159–64. doi: 10.23822/ EurAnnACI.1764-1489.90
- Auricchio R, Mandile R, Del Vecchio MR, Scapaticci S, Galatola M, Maglio M, et al. Progression of Celiac Disease in Children With Antibodies Against Tissue Transglutaminase and Normal Duodenal Architecture. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 157(2):413–420.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.04.004
- Castellaneta S, Piccinno E, Oliva M, Cristofori F, Vendemiale M, Ortolani F, et al. High Rate of Spontaneous Normalization of Celiac Serology in a Cohort of 446 Children With Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective Study. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(5):760–6. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2890
- Akobeng AK, Ramanan AV, Buchan I, Heller RF. Effect of Breast Feeding on the Risk of Celiac Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Arch Dis Child (2006) 91:39–43. doi: 10.1136/ adc.2005.082016
- Szajewska H, Shamir R, Chmielwska A, Pieścik-Lech M, Auricchio R, Ivarsson A, et al. Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis: Early Infant Feeding and Celiac Disease-Update 2015. *Aliment Pharmcol Ther* (2015) 41:1038–54. doi: 10.1111/apt.13163
- Norris JM, Barriga K, Hoffenberg EJ, Taki I, Miao D, Haas JE, et al. Risk of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity and Timing of Gluten Introduction in the Diet of Infants At Increased Risk of Disease. *JAMA* (2005) 293(19):2343–51. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.19.2343
- Szajewska H, Shamir R, Mearin L, Ribes-Koninckx C, Catassi C, Domellöf M, et al. Gluten Introduction and the Risk of Coeliac Disease: A Position Paper by the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr (2016) 62(3):507–13. doi: 10.1097/ MPG.000000000001105
- Logan K, Perkin MR, Marrs T, Radulovic S, Craven J, Flohr C, et al. Early Gluten Introduction and Celiac Disease in EAT Study. A Prespecified Analysis of the EAT Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Pediatr* (2020) 174(11):1041– 47. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.2893
- 27. Crespo Escobar P, Mearin ML, Hervas D, Auricchio R, Castillejo G, Gyimesi J, et al. The Role of Gluten Intake At an Early Age in Celiac Disease Development: A Further Analysis of the Prospective Prevent CD Cohort Study. Am J Clin Nutr (2017) 105:890–6. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.144352

- Andrén Aronsson C, Lee HS, Hard af Segerstad EM, Uusitalo U, Yang J, Koletzko S, et al. Association of Gluten Intake During the First 5 Years of Life With Incidence of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity and Celiac Disease Among Children At Increased Risk. *JAMA* (2019) 322(6):514–23. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2019.10329
- Mårild K, Dong F, Lund-Blix NA, Seifert J, Barón AE, Waugh KC, et al. Gluten Intake and Risk of Celiac Disease: Long-Term Follow-Up of an At-Risk Birth Cohort. Am J Gastroenterol (2019) 114(8):1307–14. doi: 10.14309/ ajg.00000000000255
- Lund-Blix NA, Mårild K, Tapia G, Norris JM, Stene LC, Størdal K. Gluten Intake in Early Childhood and Risk of Celiac Disease in Childhood: A Nationwide Cohort Study. Am J Gastroenterol (2019) 114(8):1299–306. doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000331
- 31. Lindorfs K, Lin J, Lee HS, Hyöty H, Nykter M, Kurppa K, et al. Metagenomics of the Fecal Virome Indicate a Cumulative Effect of Enterovirus and Gluten Amount on the Risk of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity in Genetically At Risk Children: The TEDDy Study. *Gut* (2020) 69:1416–22. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319809
- 32. Roager HM, Vogt JK, Kristensen M, Hansen LBS, Ibrügger S, Mærkedahl RB, et al. Whole Grain Rich Diet Reduces Body Weight and Systemic Low Grade Inflammation Without Inducing Major Changes of the Gut Microbiome: A Randomized Cross-Over Trial. *Gut* (2019) 68:83–93. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314786
- Barroso M, Beth SA, Voortman T, Jaddoe VW, van Zelm MC, Moll HA, et al. Dietary Pattern After the Weaning and Lactation Period are Associated With Celiac Disease Autoimmunity in Children. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 154 (8):2087–96. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.02.024
- 34. Stene LC, Honeyman MC, Hoffenberg EJ, Haas JE, Sokol RJ, Emery L, et al. Rotavirus Infection Frequency and Risk of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity in Early Childhood: A Longitudinal Study. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2006) 1001:2333–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00741.x
- 35. Tapia G, Chudá K, Kahrs CR, Stene LC, Kramna L, Marild K, et al. Parechovirus Infection in Early Childhood and Association With Subsequent Celiac Disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2020) 116(4):788–95. doi: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000000
- Bouziat R, Hinterleitner R, Brown JJ, Stencel-Baerenwald J, ikizler M, Mayassi T, et al. Reovirus Infection Triggers Inflammatory Responses to Dietary Antigens and Development of Celiac Disease. *Science* (2017) 356(6333):44–50. doi: 10.1126/science.aah5298
- 37. Kemppainen KM, Lynch KF, Liu E, Lonnrot M, Simmell V, Briese T, et al. Factors That Increase the Risk of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity After a Gastrointestinal Infection in Early Life. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 15:694–702. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.10.033
- Marild K, Kahrs CR, Tapia G, Stene L, Stordal K. Infections and Risk of Celiac Disease in Childhood: A Prospective Nationwide Cohort Study. Am J Gastroenterol (2015) 110:1475–84. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.287
- Kahrs CR, Chuda K, Tapia G, Stene LC, Marild K, Rasmussen T, et al. Enterovirus as Trigger of Coeliac Disease: Nested Case-Control Study Within Prospective Birth Cohort. *BMJ* (2019) 364:l231. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l231
- Auricchio R, Cielo D, de Falco R, Galatola M, Bruno V, Malamisura B, et al. Respiratory Infections and the Risk of Celiac Disease. *Pediatrics* (2017) 140(4): e20164102. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-4102
- 41. Hemming-Harlo M, Lähdeaho ML, Markku Mäki M, Vesikari T. Rotavirus Vaccination Does Not Increase Type 1 Diabetes and May Decrease Celiac

Disease in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* (2019) 38(5):539–41. doi: 10.1097/INF.00000000002281

- 42. Olivares M, Neef A, Castillejo G, De Palma G, Varea V, Capilla A, et al. The HLA-DQ2 Genotype Selects for Early Intestinal Microbiota Composition in Infants At High Risk of Developing Celiac Disease. *Gut* (2015) 64:406–17. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-306931
- Olivares M, Walker AW, Capilla A, Benitez-Paez A, Palau F, Parkhill J, et al. Gut Microbiota Trajectory in Early Life may Predict Development of Celiac Disease. *Microbiome* (2018) 6:36. doi: 10.1186/s40168-018-0415-6
- Rintala A, Riikonen I, Toivonen A, Pietila S, Munukka E, Pursiheimo JP, et al. Early Fecal Microbiota Composition in Children Who Later Develop Celiac Disease and Associated Autoimmunity. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (2018) 53:403– 9. doi: 10.1080/00365521.2018.1444788
- 45. Uusitalo U, Andren Aronsson C, Liu X, Kurppa K, Yang J, Liu E, et al. Early Probiotic Supplementation and the Risk of Celiac Disease in Children At Genetic Risk. Nutrients (2019) 11(8):1790. doi: 10.3390/nu11081790
- Meijer C, Shamir R, Szajewska H, Mearin ML. Celiac Disease Prevention. Front Pediatr (2018) 6:368. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00368
- Beik P, Ciesielska M, Kucza M, Kurczewska A, Kuźmińska J, Maćkowiak B, et al. Prevention of Type 1 Diabetes: Past Experience and Future Opportunities. J Clin Med (2020) 9:2805. doi: 10.3390/jcm9092805
- 48. Ziegler AG, Achenbach P, Berner R, Casteels K, Danne T, Gündert M, et al. Oral Insulin Therapy for Primary Prevention of Type 1 Diabetes in Infants With High Genetic Risk. The GPPAD-POInt (Global Platform for the Prevention of Autoimmune Diabetes Primary Oral Insulin Trial) Study Protocol. *BMJ Open* (2019) 9:e028578. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028578
- Herold KC, Bundy BN, Long SA, Bluestone JA, DiMeglio LA, Dufort MJ, et al. An Anti-CD3 Antibody, Teplizumab, in Relatives At Risk for Type 1 Diabetes. N Engl J Med (2019) 381:603–13. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1902226
- Truitt KE, Daveson AJM, Ee HC, Goel G, MacDougall J, Neff K, et al. Randomised Clinical Trial: A Placebo-Controlled Study of Subcutaneous or Intradermal NEXVAX2, an Investigational Immunomodulatory Peptide Therapy for Coeliac Disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2019) 50(5):547–55. doi: 10.1111/apt.15435
- Kelly CP, Murray JA, Leffler DA, Getts DR, Bledsoe AC, Smithson G, et al. TAK-101 Nanoparticles Induce Gluten-Specific Tolerance in Celiac Disease: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *Gastroenterology* (2021), S0016–5085(21)00521-7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.03.014
- 52. Hakansson A, Aronsson CA, Brundin C, Oscarsson E, Molin G, Agardh D. Effects of Lactobacillus Plantarum and Lactobacillus Paracasei on the Peripheral Immune Response in Children With Celiac Disease Autoimmunity: A Randomized Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial. *Nutrients* (2019) 11(8):1925. doi: 10.3390/nu11081925

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Auricchio and Troncone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Sensitive Whole Blood Assay Detects Antigen-Stimulated Cytokine Release From CD4+ T Cells and Facilitates Immunomonitoring in a Phase 2 Clinical Trial of Nexvax2 in Coeliac Disease

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul W. Bland, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Daniel Leffier, Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited, United States Yogesh Singh, Tübingen University Hospital, Germany

*Correspondence:

Robert P. Anderson banderson99133@gmail.com

[†]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 January 2021 Accepted: 04 May 2021 Published: 19 May 2021

Citation:

Hardy MY, Goel G, Russell AK, Chen Yi Mei SLG, Brown GJE, Wang S, Szymczak E, Zhang R, Goldstein KE, Neff KM, Williams LJ, Truitt KE, Dzuris JL, Tye-Din JA and Anderson RP (2021) A Sensitive Whole Blood Assay Detects Antigen-Stimulated Cytokine Release From CD4+ T Cells and Facilitates Immunomonitoring in a Phase 2 Clinical Trial of Nexvax2 in Coeliac Disease. Front. Immunol. 12:661622. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.661622 Melinda Y. Hardy^{1,2}, Gautam Goel³, Amy K. Russell^{1,2}, Swee Lin G. Chen Yi Mei⁴, Gregor J. E. Brown⁵, Suyue Wang³, Evan Szymczak³, Ruan Zhang³, Kaela E. Goldstein³, Kristin M. Neff³, Leslie J. Williams³, Kenneth E. Truitt³, John L. Dzuris³, Jason A. Tye-Din^{1,2,6†} and Robert P. Anderson^{3†*}

¹ Immunology Division, The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ² Department of Medical Biology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³ ImmusanT, Inc., Cambridge, MA, United States, ⁴ Department of Gastroenterology, Box Hill Hospital, Box Hill, VIC, Australia, ⁵ Department of Gastroenterology, Alfred Hospital, Prahran, VIC, Australia, ⁶ Department of Gastroenterology, The Royal Melbourne Hospital, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Improved blood tests assessing the functional status of rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells are needed to effectively monitor experimental therapies for coeliac disease (CD). Our aim was to develop a simple, but highly sensitive cytokine release assay (CRA) for glutenspecific CD4+ T cells that did not require patients to undergo a prior gluten challenge, and would be practical in large, multi-centre clinical trials. We developed an enhanced CRA and used it in a phase 2 clinical trial ("RESET CeD") of Nexvax2, a peptide-based immunotherapy for CD. Two participants with treated CD were assessed in a pilot study prior to and six days after a 3-day gluten challenge. Dye-dilution proliferation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) was assessed, and IL-2, IFN-y and IL-10 were measured by multiplex electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECL) after 24-hour gluten-peptide stimulation of whole blood or matched PBMC. Subsequently, glutenspecific CD4+ T cells in blood were assessed in a subgroup of the RESET CeD Study participants who received Nexvax2 (maintenance dose 900 μ g, n = 12) or placebo (n = 9). The pilot study showed that gluten peptides induced IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 release from PBMCs attributable to CD4+ T cells, but the PBMC CRA was substantially less sensitive than whole blood CRA. Only modest gluten peptide-stimulated IL-2 release could be detected without prior gluten challenge using PBMC. In contrast, whole blood CRA enabled detection of IL-2 and IFN- γ before and after gluten challenge. IL-2 and IFN- γ release in whole blood required more than 6 hours incubation. Delay in whole blood incubation of more than three hours from collection substantially reduced antigenstimulated IL-2 and IFN-γ secretion. Nexvax2, but not placebo treatment in the RESET CeD Study was associated with significant reductions in gluten peptide-stimulated whole

blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release, and CD4+ T cell proliferation. We conclude that using fresh whole blood instead of PBMC substantially enhances cytokine secretion stimulated by gluten peptides, and enables assessment of rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells without requiring CD patients to undertake a gluten challenge. Whole blood assessment coupled with ultra-sensitive cytokine detection shows promise in the monitoring of rare antigen-specific T cells in clinical studies.

Keywords: coeliac disease, T cells, cytokines, cytokine release assay, IL-2, diagnosis

INTRODUCTION

Antigen-specific CD4+ T cells are drivers of both inflammatory and tolerogenic immune responses. Functional blood-based biomarkers for antigen-specific CD4+ T cells play a central role in characterizing immune responses, and in monitoring vaccines and therapies intended to induce or suppress antigenspecific immunity, or restore immune tolerance (1). Autoimmune diseases including coeliac disease (CD) can often be associated with significant target organ injury, but in contrast to acute infectious diseases, conventional functional assays are often not sufficiently sensitive to detect relevant peripheral blood antigen-specific CD4+ T cells (2, 3).

Cytokine release assays (CRAs) employing fresh or cryopreserved peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) have been the mainstay for studying and monitoring T-cell immunity in patients (4). A practical challenge for immune monitoring in clinical trials is to preserve the functional properties of CD4+ T cells, which requires that PBMC should be separated from whole blood within 24 hours before cryopreservation or commencing an assay (5). CRAs using fresh, unseparated blood added directly to antigen soon after blood collection have previously been evaluated as research tools (6), and are now used for diagnosis of infectious diseases such as tuberculosis (7). Whole blood is typically "stimulated" by addition of an activator of innate or adaptive immunity, and maintained at 37°C in a sealed tube or dispensed into 96-well microplates and placed in an incubator. Plasma is separated after completing usually six to 48-hours incubation, frozen, and transported to a central laboratory for specialized biomarker assay. Newer versions of whole blood CRAs have been promoted for profiling cytokine release to various stimuli (8, 9), but in our past experience whole blood CRA has been lacking the sensitivity to detect cytokine release by rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells in CD patients (10).

CD has many features in common with autoimmune disease (11). CD is strongly associated with HLA-DQ2.5, and CD4+ T

cells specific for a well-documented hierarchy of gluten epitopes play a central role in intestinal injury, and are drivers of acute gluten-induced cytokine release and symptoms (12, 13). Glutenspecific CD4+ T cells isolated from intestinal tissue or in PBMC share many of the same surface markers suggesting blood is a valid source of gluten-specific CD4+ T cells to monitor gluten immunity (14).

Only two methods have consistently identified rare peripheral blood gluten-specific CD4+ T cells in CD patients. Blood is either collected 6 to 8 days after subjecting patients to a short glutenfood challenge to increase their frequencies allowing detection by conventional CRAs (10, 15-17), or PBMC are stained with customized MHC class II-gluten peptide tetramers, concentrated by immunomagnetic beads, and then enumerated by flow cytometry (18). These experimental approaches have shown that the frequency of peripheral blood gluten-specific CD4+ T cells is below ten per million CD4+ T cells in treated CD, but increases about ten-fold by six days after commencing gluten challenge (17, 19). Recently, in parallel to the current study, we first reported a simple whole blood CRA utilizing an electrochemiluminescence (ECL) immunoassay for interleukin-2 (IL-2) that appears to be as effective as MHC class II-gluten peptide tetramers for detection of these rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells in CD, and can be combined with multiplex assessments of interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) (3). Based on Poisson distribution analysis, we detected approximately 0.5 - 11 IL-2 secreting gluten-specific T cells per one mL of fresh whole blood collected from treated CD patients without gluten challenge.

In the present study, we utilize this novel CRA for rare glutenspecific CD4+ T cells with the aim of optimizing blood collection and processing to monitor the effects of an experimental peptide immunotherapy (Nexvax2) for CD during a phase 2 clinical trial.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

Immune monitoring sub-studies supplementing the RESET CeD Study are outlined in **Figure 1**. Nexvax2 is an experimental antigen-specific immunotherapy intended to restore clinical and immunological tolerance to gluten in HLA-DQ2.5+ patients with CD. The "RESET CeD Study" was a double-blind, placebocontrolled phase 2 efficacy study of Nexvax2 conducted at 39 trial sites and randomized a total of 178 HLA-DQ2.5+ adults

Abbreviations: CRA, cytokine release assay; CD, coeliac disease; CTV, CellTraceTM Violet dye; DGP, deamidated gliadin peptide; DMSO, dimethyl sulphoxide; ECL, electrochemiluminescence; GC, gluten food challenge; ELISpot, enzyme-linked immune absorbent spot; GFD, gluten-free diet; HLA-DQ, Human Leukocyte Antigen-DQ; HLA-DR, Human Leukocyte Antigen-DR; Ig, immunoglobulin; IL-2, interleukin-2; IFN- γ , interferon- γ ; LLOD, lower limit of detection; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; PBS, phosphate buffered saline; SFU, Spot-forming unit; TG2, transglutaminase 2; ULOD, upper limit of detection.



with treated, medically confirmed CD (ClinicalTrials.gov was identifier: NCT03644069) (20). The primary endpoint in the RESET CeD Study was self-reported gastrointestinal symptoms leve

the day of a masked single bolus gluten challenge after 14-weeks

treatment compared to a baseline period pre-treatment. Nexvax2

was administered in aqueous 0.9% sodium chloride twice weekly as a subcutaneous injection, which results in detectable plasma levels of each constituent peptide over about six hours (21). The bioactive component of Nexvax2 is limited to the three glutenrelated peptides shown in **Table 1** (Nex-01, Nex-02, and Nex-03)

TABLE 1 | Peptides and their final concentrations in PBMC and whole blood incubations[†].

Peptide	Source	Length [‡]	Amino acid sequence (Z pyroglutamate)	Solvent	Control	NX	xNX	NXxNX	CEFT
				Pool Pool Pool		Pool	Pool		
Nex-01	α-gliadin/Nexvax2	16	ZLQPFPQPELPYPQPQ-NH2	PBS		5 µM		5 µM	
Nex-02	ω-gliadin/Nexvax2	15	ZQPFPQPEQPFPWQP-NH ₂	PBS		5 µM		5 µM	
Nex-03	B-hordein/Nexvax2	16	ZPEQPIPEQPQPYPQQ-NH2	PBS		5 µM		5 µM	
W04	ω-gliadin	16	ZPFPQPEQPIPVQPEQ-NH ₂	PBS			5 µM	5 µM	
R03	ω-gliadin	16	ZPFPQPEQPTPIQPEQ-NH ₂	PBS			5 µM	5 µM	
W14	ω-secalin	16	ZIQPEQPFPEQPEQIR-NH ₂	PBS			5 µM	5 µM	
SCP1	Scramble	8	ZPFPLPQP-NH ₂	PBS	15 μM	7.5 μM	7.5 μM		15 μM
SCP2	Scramble	8	ZPQYQPEQ-NH ₂	PBS	15 μM	7.5 μM	7.5 μM		15 μM
SCP3	Scramble	8	ZPFEPQPL-NH ₂	PBS	15 μM	7.5 μM	7.5 μM		15 μM
SCP4	Scramble	8	ZPQSYPEQ-NH ₂	PBS	15 μM	7.5 μM	7.5 μM		15 μM
CEFT	CMV, influenza,	9 - 21	27 peptides with HLA class I	DMSO					0.1 µg/ml
	EBV, & C. tetani		or II restricted T-cell epitopes						

[†]225 μl unseparated, heparinized blood was dispensed into wells containing 25 μl PBS with 10x final concentration of peptides;

[‡]Number of amino acids

that each includes immuno-dominant HLA-DQ2.5-restricted epitopes for gluten-specific CD4+ T cells (22).

A convenient blood test that did not require patients to be rechallenged with gluten was needed for serial assessments of rare CD4+ T cells specific for epitopes represented in Nex-01, Nex-02, or Nex-03, and for other gluten-specific CD4+ T cells that may be indirectly suppressed by Nexvax2 immunotherapy through induction of regulatory T cells (23, 24). Initially, in a pilot study separate from the RESET CeD Study, PBMC and whole blood were compared as sources of gluten-specific CD4+ T cells for the CRA. Subsequently, the CRA using whole blood was deployed to monitor Nexvax2 immunotherapy during the RESET CeD Study in a subgroup of CD patients enrolled at three sites in Melbourne, Australia, Additional blood was collected before treatment (Visit 5), during maintenance treatment (Visit 28), and at the end of treatment (Visit 42). However, after an interim analysis indicated the primary efficacy endpoint in the RESET CeD study would not be achieved, dosing was discontinued on 25 June 2019 and the supplementary substudy was also halted. Consequently, sample analysis for the supplementary sub-study was limited to Visit 5 and 28.

Participants and Ethics Approvals

The pilot study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committees at the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute and Melbourne Health (identifiers 03/4 and 2003.009 respectively), and the RESET CeD study was approved by Melbourne Health Human Research Ethics Committee (Study Number HREC/ 43048/MH-2018) and Bellberry Limited (Application Number 2018-07-562-A-13). Patients for the pilot study were recruited at The Royal Melbourne Hospital and the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research (Parkville, VIC). The two volunteers in the pilot study did not participate in the RESET CeD Study. Patients for the sub-study in the RESET CeD study were recruited from The Royal Melbourne Hospital/Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research (n = 19), Box Hill Hospital (n = 2), and Alfred Hospital (n = 2). All patients enrolled at these sites were invited to volunteer and did enroll in the sub-study. All patients gave written, informed consent prior to undergoing any study procedures. Full eligibility criteria for the RESET CeD are published elsewhere (20). All participants in the RESET CeD Study were aged between 18 and 70 years, had a diagnosis of CD made on the basis of duodenal histology showing villous atrophy and supportive serology, had been on a gluten free diet (GFD) for at least one year, were HLA-DQ2.5 positive, and had worsening of gastrointestinal symptoms within six hours after consuming 10-grams vital wheat gluten as described elsewhere (20).

Clinical Procedures

Interventions for the pilot study included a 3-day gluten challenge and blood collections at baseline (60 ml) and one week later on Day-6 after commencing gluten challenge (300 ml). Blood was collected as previously described *via* 21G ¾" Surflo winged infusion set (Terumo, Shibuya City, Japan) into 10 ml lithium-heparin vacutainers (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA) (25). Gluten challenge for the pilot study comprised four 50-gram slices of gluten-containing wheat bread consumed daily for three consecutive days as previously described (15). For the supplementary sub-study of the RESET CeD Study, heparinised blood (80 ml) was collected at Visit 5 just before patients received their first dose of Nexvax2 or placebo, and again at Visit 28 (110 ml) after patients had received 12weeks treatment with two-times weekly subcutaneous injections of study drug. The dosing schedule for Nexvax2 included eleven escalating doses from 1 μ g to 750 μ g described elsewhere (21), which was followed by maintenance dosing at 900 µg. Visit 28 marked the first of three masked single bolus food challenges that are described elsewhere and were gluten-free or contained 10grams vital wheat gluten (20). Most patients in the supplementary sub-study had been discontinued from the RESET CeD Study before completing masked single bolus gluten challenge at Visit 34 or Visit 42 at the end-of-treatment. Consequently, immune monitoring was limited to blood collected at Visit 5 and Visit 28.

Peptides and Antigens

Table 1 shows the individual peptides and peptide pools used in the study. CS Bio (Menlo Park, CA, USA) synthesized each of the peptides except for CEFT (JPT Peptide Technologies, Berlin, Germany). Immunogenic gluten peptides sequences were selected from the hierarchy of gluten peptides determined by IFN-γ ELISpot using PBMC from blood collected from treated HLA-DQ2.5+ CD patients six days after they commenced gluten challenge (26). Peptide purity was > 95% by HPLC, and LC-MS confirmed each peptide's identity. As described elsewhere (3), peptide pool stock solutions were prepared as 10x final incubation concentration and were dispensed in 25 µl to individual wells in sterile 96-well U-bottom microwell plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific) that would later be used for blood incubations. Plates were sealed with sterile adhesive covers (Thermo Fisher Scientific), stored at -80°C, and shipped on dry ice to the study site. Immediately before use, to avoid condensation and seepage of peptide solutions between wells, microplates containing test solutions were thawed while being centrifuged at room temperature.

PBMC Separation

Heparinized blood was diluted with an equal volume of PBS/2% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (StemCell Technologies) before transfer to 50 ml SepMateTM tubes (StemCell Technologies) pre-filled with 15 ml Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare). Blood was separated by centrifugation at 1200g for 10 min at room temperature. The majority of the plasma supernatant was removed and discarded. The remainder of the layer above the SepMate barrier was poured into a fresh tube and washed twice in PBS/2% FBS, centrifuge settings: 300g for 10 min at room temperature. PBMC were counted using the Scepter cytometer (Merck) with 40 μ m sensors. PBMC were resuspended to 0.9-1.8 million per ml in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% Human male AB serum (Sigma-Aldrich), 1x Glutamax (Gibco), 1x MEM non-essential amino acids (Gibco) and 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich).

Cytokine Release Assay

The CRA was performed as described elsewhere (3). Briefly, 225 µl aliquots of blood or PBMC in media were dispensed into wells pre-filled with 25 µl PBS containing "NX", "xNX", "NXxNX", "Control", or "CEFT" peptides (Table 1). Six replicate wells were assessed for each test condition. Incubation plates were immediately placed in a humidified incubator at 37°C in 5% CO_2 . After the incubation period, plates were centrifuged at 500g for 10 min at room temperature. Plasma, 90 - 120 µl per well, was carefully collected to avoid blood cell contamination and transferred to a corresponding well in a "mirror image" sterile 96-well plate that was sealed with an adhesive cover, immediately frozen at -80°C, and later shipped to the ImmusanT laboratory for cytokine assessment. An ECL 3-plex IL-2, IFN-γ, and IL-10 immunoassay kit from Meso Scale Diagnostics LLC (Rockville, MD, USA) was used according to manufacturer's instructions. In the pilot study, one 25 µL plasma sample was assessed from each of six replicate incubations. In the RESET CeD Study, plasmas from two adjacent replicate wells were pooled making three measurements for each test condition. Cytokine concentration was determined using the MSD MESOTM Sector S600 plate reader and Discovery Workbench 4.0. The lower limit of detection (LLOD) was calculated for each cytokine on each assay plate.

HLA-DQ and HLA-DR Blocking

After resuspending PBMC to 0.9 - 1.8 million per ml in RPMI/ 10% Human AB serum, two 2 ml fractions were transferred to fresh tubes and incubated with anti-HLA-DQ antibody at 10 µg/ ml (clone SPVL3; Beckman Coulter) or anti-HLA-DR antibody at 10 µg/ml (clone L243; BioLegend) for one hour at 37°C. Test conditions were assessed in duplicate wells.

Cell Depletions

Whole blood was depleted of either CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells or CD19+ B cells using RosetteSep Human Depletion cocktails and SepMate tubes (Stemcell Technologies), according to manufacturer's recommendations. Briefly, heparinized blood was divided between 3 tubes and incubated for 10 mins at room temperature with either CD4 Depletion Cocktail, CD8 Depletion Cocktail or a custom CD19 Depletion Cocktail (all at 1:20 dilution). The whole blood was then diluted and loaded into SepMate tubes and PBMC were isolated according to the procedure described above. The unwanted cells pellet with the red blood cells and therefore are depleted from the resulting PBMC. The depleted PBMC were resuspended at 0.9 - 1.8 million per ml in complete RPMI/10% Human AB serum, and then incubated with peptides in the cytokine release assay as described above. Test conditions were assessed with duplicate wells.

Peptide-Stimulated Proliferation of CD4+ T Cells

As described previously (3), proliferation assays consisted of three replicate wells per condition containing ~0.3 million in 225 μ l per well of CTV-labelled PBMC and 25 μ l test solution. After 8 days cells were stained with CD3-FITC (UCHT1), CD4-

APC (SK3), and 7-Amino-Actinomycin D to discriminate dead cells (7-AAD; all from BD Biosciences). Cells were analysed on a BD FACSVerse cytometer and flow cytometry data was analysed by FlowJo software (version 10; FlowJo, LLC).

Lymphocyte Subset and Monocyte Frequencies in Fresh Blood and PBMC

Whole blood or PBMC were stained with antibody mix comprising anti-human CD3-Bv421, CD4-PE, CD8-APC, CD14-APCH7, CD19-Bv480, CD20-PECy7, and CD45-FITC (clones UCHT1, SK3, SK1, MphiP9, SJ25C1, L27, 2D1, respectively) and 7-AAD (all from BD Biosciences). For whole blood, BD TrucountTM tubes were used according to the manufacturer's instructions (**Figure S1**). Briefly, antibody mix was added followed by 50 µl whole blood by reverse pipetting. Tubes were vortexed and incubated for 15 min at room temperature in the dark. Erythrocytes were lysed by incubating with 450 µl 1xPharm LyseTM (BD Biosciences), for 15min before analysing samples on a BD FACS Verse.

Statistics

The sample size was empirical for both the pilot and exploratory mechanistic study. All participants in the RESET CeD Study who had samples collected at Visit 5 and 28 were included in the analysis. Cytokine release (pg/ml) was normalized by dividing by the number of CD4+CD3+ T cells per well, or, to account for HLA class I restricted epitopes in CEFT and CD8+ T cell depletion studies, by the sum of CD4+CD3+ and CD8+CD3+ T cells per well. Non-parametric statistical tests were used to compare unpaired (Mann-Whitney U test) or paired data (Wilcoxon signed-rank test) without correction for multiple comparisons. ANOVA test was used to compare changes in biomarkers associated with treatment in the RESET CeD Study. For statistical tests, cytokine concentrations for signal values below the LLOD were treated as equal to the LLOD.

RESULTS

Exploratory Functional Assessments of Peripheral Blood Gluten-Specific CD4+ T Cells

The two CD patients (S0568 and S0211) in the pilot study each provided blood samples before and six days after commencing 3day gluten challenge to assess CRAs and CD4+ T cell proliferation stimulated by gluten peptides (**Figure 1**). They were studied from 3 December to 11 December 2018. Both participants were HLA-DQ2.5+ and heterozygous for *HLA-DQA1*05* and *HLA-DQB1*02*. S0211 was a male aged 67 years on GFD for 20 years, and S0568 was a 62-year-old female on GFD for 17 years.

Gluten Peptide-Stimulated CD4+ T Cell Proliferation in PBMC

Dye-dilution proliferation assays are well described for detection of rare antigen-specific CD4+ T cells (27, 28). PBMC from blood

collected before and six days after gluten challenge were used in 8-day CTV dye-dilution proliferation assays. For PBMC assessed after patients had had a 3-day gluten challenge, CD4+ T-cells proliferated in response to each gluten peptide pool (NX, xNX and NXxNX), and the CEFT peptide pool (**Figures 2A–D**). For S0211, the fold-difference for NX compared to the control scrambled 8mer peptide pool was 5.7 before versus 77 after gluten challenge. In contrast, S0568's responses to NX and other gluten peptide pools were no different from control before gluten challenge, but after gluten challenge the NX-stimulated response was 57-times higher than control. Altogether, these findings indicated that the CTV dye-dilution proliferation assay was suitable for detection of gluten-specific CD4+ T cell responses, but may not be sufficiently sensitive in some CD patients without prior gluten challenge.

Gluten Peptide-Stimulated CRA in PBMC

With the aim of developing a simple but sensitive assay of glutenspecific CD4+ T cells, a 24-hour PBMC-based CRA using ECL to assess IL-2, IFN- γ , and IL-10 release was tested using six replicates for each condition with PBMC from blood collected after gluten challenge. Both patients showed significantly increased IL-2, IFN- γ , and IL-10 release stimulated by NX, xNX and NXxNX, and CEFT peptide pools compared to the negative control pool (**Figures 3A, B**). Overall, IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 release stimulated by NXxNX was always significantly higher than xNX (p < 0.05), but was significantly higher than NX only for IL-2 and IL-10 release by S0211 (p < 0.05) and not for any cytokine tested in S0568. Expressed as a ratio to the negative control, IL-2 release for gluten peptide pools (NX, xNX and NXxNX) were on average 2.8- or 7.5-times higher than for IFN- γ , and 15- or 10-times higher than for IL-10 in S0568 and S0211, respectively (**Figures 3C, D**). CRAs with PBMC separated from blood that had CD4+ or CD8+ T cells, or B cells depleted indicated that CD4+ T cells but not CD8+ T cells or B cells were necessary for NX and xNX-stimulated IL-2 release (**Figures 3E, F**). NX and xNX-stimulated IL-2 secretion was also reduced by incubating PBMC with anti-HLA-DQ antibody, but not by anti-HLA-DR antibody (**Figures 3E, F**). However, when the PBMC-based CRA was applied to cells isolated from blood collected before gluten challenge, only IL-2 release was significantly increased in PBMC stimulated with gluten peptide pools (**Figures 4C-F**).

Collectively, these observations indicated this ECL-based CRA was capable of detecting IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 release in PBMC stimulated by gluten peptides. But without prior gluten challenge this CRA using PBMC could only detect relatively weak gluten peptide-stimulated IL-2-release. This fell short of the suggested minimal measure of T-cell function for clinical monitoring that should include both IL-2 and IFN- γ secretion (4).

Cytokine Release Stimulated by Gluten-Peptides in Whole Blood Compared to PBMC

We speculated that cytokine release in whole blood may be more efficient than using PBMC because of reduced delays and less manipulation of immune cells prior to stimulation with antigen. A portion of the heparinized blood collected from the two CD patients before and after gluten challenge was allowed to stand undisturbed at room temperature in the collection tube while the remainder was used to prepare PBMC. After PBMC were







2, IFN- γ , and IL-10 in media after 24-hour incubation of PBMC with gluten peptides or CEFT. Data are normalized for the number of live CD3+CD4+ and CD3+CD8+ T lymphocytes in PBMC and represent the mean + SEM of six replicate wells; Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare cytokine release for peptide mixes versus Control (statistical significance is indicated by *p < 0.05, or **p < 0.01). IL-2 release in PBMC is shown following depletion of B cells, CD4+ T cells or CD8+ T cells, or pre- and co-incubation with antibody that blocks epitope presentation by HLA-DQ or HLA-DR, data represent mean of duplicates (**E, F**).

separated, the frequencies of CD4+CD3+ T cells, CD8+CD3+ T cells, CD19+CD20+ B cells, and CD14+ monocytes were assessed in PBMC and whole blood. After 3-hours, PBMC had been separated, resuspended in media, and cell density had been adjusted so that the number of CD4+ T cells per 225 μ l (median: 0.19 million, range: 0.17 - 0.21 in a total of 0.5 million PBMC) was similar to the expected number of CD4+ T cells in 225 μ l of matched, unseparated blood (median: 0.16 million, range: 0.13 - 0.21) (**Table 2**). This ensured that the immune cell population in each well incubated with gluten peptides was matched for the frequencies of responding CD4+ T cells and antigen presenting cells, and for delay since blood collection.

Before the 24-hour incubation with peptide mixtures, IL-2 concentrations were consistently below the lower level of detection, LLOD (0.04 pg/ml) in plasma from whole blood, whereas median IFN- γ and IL-10 concentrations were 2.4 and 0.27 pg/ml, respectively (**Table 2**). As expected, none of the three cytokines were detectable in media used to resuspend PBMC. After 24-hour incubation with control peptides, median IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 concentrations measured in plasma from the

two whole blood samples collected from both CD donors (total of four blood samples studied) had modestly increased to 0.28, 4.2, 0.34 pg/ml, respectively, which were similar to their concentrations in media after 24-hour incubations of matched PBMC (0.59, 2.0, and 0.46 pg/ml, respectively) (Table 2). After normalizing for the frequency of live CD4+ T cells present in each well when incubation commenced, IL-2 release stimulated by NX relative to control was consistently higher in whole blood than matched PBMC incubations (p < 0.05) with median IL-2 release 10-times (range: 1.5 - 39) higher for whole blood than PBMC (**Figures 4A, B**). IFN- γ release stimulated by NX relative to control was also consistently higher in whole blood than matched PBMC incubations (p < 0.01) with median IFN- γ release 3.1-times (range: 2.1 - 23) higher for whole blood (Figures 4C, D). In contrast, IL-10 release was not consistently changed, and in two of the four blood samples, IL-10 release was significantly lower in whole blood than PBMC (Figures 4E, F). Other gluten peptide pools and CEFT also showed substantially greater IL-2 and IFN- γ release relative to control in whole blood than in matched PBMC (Table 2).



In addition to cytokine secretion in whole blood being more robust than with PBMC after gluten challenge, whole blood at baseline before gluten challenge also showed significantly increased IFN- γ as well as IL-2 release stimulated by NX, NXxNX and CEFT compared to control for both CD patients (**Figure 5**). At baseline, whole blood IL-2 release stimulated by NX was 37- and 351-times higher than control for S0568 and S0211, respectively, whereas whole blood IFN- γ release stimulated by NX was 16- and 3.1-times higher than control, respectively. However, none of the peptide pools except CEFT stimulated IL-10 release in whole blood at baseline. Whole blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release stimulated by NX at baseline were consistently significantly higher than for xNX (p < 0.05), but usually not significantly different from NXxNX.

cytokine release in PBMC versus fresh whole blood; statistical significance is indicated by p < 0.05, or p < 0.01.

Collectively, these findings indicated that using whole blood instead of PBMC substantially enhanced cytokine secretion stimulated by antigenic peptides, and allowed the ECL-based CRA to measure gluten peptide-stimulated IL-2 and IFN- γ

release without requiring CD patients to undertake a gluten challenge.

Effects of Duration of Whole Blood Incubation on Cytokine Release

The kinetics of tetanus toxoid-stimulated whole blood cytokine release indicates that IL-2, IFN- γ , and IL-10 release begin only after six hours, and peak concentrations of IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 are reached at or after 24 hours, but assessments with longer incubations may be compromised by hemolysis (6). CRAs with whole blood plated into 96-well microplates without delay were used to test whether CRAs would be informative with incubations reduced to six hours. Blood incubated with NX for 24 hours compared to six-hours had 141- or 40-times higher plasma concentrations of IL-2, and 66- or 20-times higher plasma concentrations of IFN- γ for S0569 and S0211, respectively (**Figures 6A–C**). There were no significant differences between six- and 24-hour IL-2 or IFN- γ release for **TABLE 2** | Cytokine concentrations in plasma or media[†], assay dynamic range, and cell subset frequencies in matched 24-hour whole blood and PBMC cytokine release assays.

Patient			S0	568		S0211				
Sample Matrix		Baseline		Day 6 after gluten		Baseline		Day 6 after gluten		
		Whole blood	PBMC	Whole blood	PBMC	Whole blood	PBMC	Whole blood	PBMC	
Pre-incubation										
Cell frequencies per well	CD3+CD4+	128500	169000	205000	205500	182000	181000	130000	214500	
	CD3+CD8+	56500	78500	76500	75000	100000	119500	69500	112000	
	CD19+CD20+	48500	33000	62500	41500	60000	21500	34000	28500	
	CD14+	32500	87000	52500	55000	35500	73000	37000	53000	
IL-2	Plasma/media	ND	<llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	<llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	<llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	<llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	<llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	<llod< td=""><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<>	<llod< td=""></llod<>	
pg/ml	LLOD	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	
IFN-γ	Plasma/media	<llod< td=""><td>ND</td><td>1.11</td><td><llod< td=""><td>3.64</td><td><llod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	ND	1.11	<llod< td=""><td>3.64</td><td><llod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	3.64	<llod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<>	5.7	<llod< td=""></llod<>	
pg/ml	LLOD	0.88	0.88	0.88	0.88	0.88	0.88	0.88	0.88	
IL-10	Plasma/media	0.12	ND	0.231	<llod< td=""><td>0.308</td><td><llod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<></td></llod<>	0.308	<llod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td><llod< td=""></llod<></td></llod<>	0.41	<llod< td=""></llod<>	
pg/ml	LLOD	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	
Post-incubation with pe	ptides mixes									
IL-2	Control	0.39	2.9	0.37	0.13	0.05	0.94	0.19	0.23	
pg/ml	NX	14	11	543	130	16	8.5	57	6.2	
	хNX	3.0	4.1	154	44	7.7	3.8	30	2.5	
	NXxNX	12	13	574	113	13	9.3	48	7.6	
	CEFT	185	37	136	19	89	35	84	9.9	
	LLOD	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.06	
	ULOD	2940	2940	2940	2940	2940	2940	2940	2940	
IFN-γ	Control	4.3	1.2	2.23	0.96	5.0	3.9	4.0	2.8	
pg/ml	NX	30	3.8	2378	374	16	3.5	318	9.8	
	хNX	11	2.9	591	103	7.7	3.4	129	7.2	
	NXxNX	14	4.2	2307	328	13	3.0	178	13	
	CEFT	362	37	245	14	366	181	264	59	
	LLOD	0.49	0.49	0.49	0.49	0.49	0.49	0.47	0.47	
	ULOD	2860	2860	2860	2860	2860	2860	2860	2860	
IL-10	Control	0.09	0.34	0.17	0.37	0.51	2.5	0.71	0.55	
pg/ml	NX	0.15	0.21	6.9	36	0.16	1.0	2.9	1.3	
F.G	xNX	0.16	0.22	2.2	5.4	0.44	1.3	2.3	0.84	
	NXxNX	0.03	0.22	7.4	26	0.10	0.51	1.3	1.8	
	CEFT	0.79	5.0	2.0	28	2.8	9.3	0.95	17	
	LLOD	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	
	ULOD	680	680	680	680	680	680	680	680	

[†]Mean of six replicate wells except for pre-incubation plasma/media that were assessed in triplicate.

LLOD, lower limit of detection; ULOD, upper limit of detection.

control. These findings indicated gluten peptide-stimulated whole blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release largely occurred after six hours, which is notably slower than IL-2 release *in vivo* after CD patients consume gluten (13).

Effects of Delaying Incubation of Whole Blood on Cytokine Release

Delays of up to 24-hours before processing blood for functional T-cell assays are considered acceptable in multi-centre immunotherapy clinical trials, but validation studies have often utilized PBMC that may have been cryopreserved (5). To assess the effects of delaying incubation of whole blood with antigen, blood from both CD patients on day 6 after commencing gluten challenge was collected into 10 ml lithium-heparin vacutainers that remained capped at room temperature for three, eight or 27 hours before addition to 96 well microplates and commencing 24-hour incubation. Blood that was processed without delay was dispensed directly into microplates and commenced incubation

with antigen within 25 minutes of collection. Frequencies of live cells for each immune cell subset were assessed in blood samples immediately before incubations commenced. Compared to blood processed without delay, the average NX-stimulated IL-2 release normalized for the frequency of living CD4+ T cells declined significantly to 74% after three hours delay, to 41% at eight hours, and to 37% by 27 hours (**Figure 6D**). Normalized NX-stimulated IFN- γ release also dropped significantly to 69% after three hours delay, to 34% at eight hours, and to 18% by 27 hours (**Figure 6E**). A similar reduction in NX-stimulated IL-10 release was also observed (**Figure 6F**). **Table S1** shows that the decline in IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 release with increasing delay in commencing incubation was similar for NX, xNX, NXxNX and CEFT.

These findings indicated that delays of more than three hours between collection and incubation of fresh blood with antigen were likely to alter the functional phenotype of immune cells and substantially reduce antigen-stimulated cytokine secretion.



Monitoring Gluten Peptide-Stimulated T-Cells During Nexvax2 Immunotherapy

There were 23 participants in the RESET CeD study who enrolled in the supplementary sub-study from 20 December 2018 to 24 July 2019, but two were excluded as they did not have blood collected at both Visit 5 and 28. Demographics of the 12 participants who received Nexvax2 and 9 who received placebo treatment was similar, except that five among those receiving Nexvax2 were *HLA-DQB1*02* homozygotes compared to one receiving placebo (**Table 3**).

The ECL-based 24-hour whole blood IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 release assay normalized for the frequency of CD4+ T cells, and the 8-day CTV-dye dilution assay for CD4+ T-cell proliferation assay were used to monitor the effects of Nexvax2 immunotherapy. Overall, the median delay between blood collection and commencing incubation for CRA was 40 min



FIGURE 6 | Shortening the incubation period (A–C), and varying the period blood was kept in collection tubes at room temperature (D–F) were assessed for their effects on gluten peptide-stimulated fresh whole blood IL-2, IFN- γ , and IL-10 release. Blood samples from two HLA-DQ2.5+ CD patients collected after gluten challenge were studied. Bars represent the mean and SEM of six replicate wells. Statistical significance by Mann-Whitney U test *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

Treatment	Nexvax2 (n=12)	Placebo (n=9	
Mean (SD) age in years	45 (11)	49 (16)	
Number (%) females	8 (67)	4 (44)	
Mean (SD) height in centimeters	171 (12)	176 (9)	
Mean (SD) body mass in kilograms	81 (16)	80 (14)	
Mean (SD) body mass index	28 (5)	26 (4)	
Number (%) Caucasian	12 (100)	9 (100)	
Number (%) positive for anti-TG2 IgA or DGP IgG	2 (17)	O (O)	
Number (%) positive for HLA-DQ2.5	12 (100)	9 (100)	
Number (%) homozygous for HLA-DQB1*02	5 (42)	1 (11)	
Secretory IgA deficiency	1 (8)	0 (0)	
Median (range) years age at diagnosis CD	39 (18 - 54)	36 (22 - 61)	
Median (range) years following GFD	8 (1 - 20)	10 (6 - 18)	
Median (range) peak GloSS [†] after screening gluten challenge	8 (4 - 9)	8 (3 - 10)	
Median (range) serum IL-2 4 h after screening gluten challenge (pg/ml)	6.3 (<0.5 - 36)	3.2 (<0.5 - 81)	

[†]GloSS is self-rated "global gastrointestinal symptom score" rated from no symptoms (0) to very severe (10) during the 6 hours after bolus food challenge with 10 g vital wheat gluten at screening.

(range: 10 to 270 min), and the median difference between the delay at Visit 5 and Visit 28 for individual patients was 0 min (range: -50 to +95 min). At Visit 5 (n = 21), compared to the negative control, there were statistically significant increases in IL-2 and IFN- γ release, and CD4+ T cell proliferation stimulated by NX, NXxNX, and CEFT, and for IL-2 release and CD4+ T cell proliferation stimulated by xNX (**Figure 7**). Comparing Visit 5 and Visit 28 showed statistically significant reductions in NX-stimulated whole blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release, and CD4+ T cell proliferation in Nexvax2-treated patients, but not in placebo-treated patients (**Figure 8**, **Table S2**). In addition, xNX- and NXxNX-stimulated whole blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release fell

significantly between Visit 5 and Visit 28 in Nexvax2-treated patients, albeit there was also a significant but isolated fall in xNX-stimulated IFN- γ release in the placebo group. Comparing the differences in biomarker measurements between Visit 5 and Visit 28 for Nexvax2 treatment compared to placebo, there were trends for reduction in NX- and NXxNX-stimulated IL-2 (p = 0.056, and p = 0.056, respectively by ANOVA test) and for NX-stimulated IFN- γ release (p = 0.0802, ANOVA test). Overall, Nexvax2 therapy appeared to have reduced gluten peptide-stimulated peripheral blood IFN- γ release so that it was no different from control, attenuated gluten peptide-stimulated peripheral blood IL-2 release and CD4+ T cell proliferation,





but did not enhance gluten peptide-stimulated peripheral blood IL-10 release.

DISCUSSION

In the present study and in a companion report (3), we used the MSD VPLEX multiplex ECL immunoassay for IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-10 to develop a highly sensitive whole blood CRA for rare peripheral blood gluten-specific CD4+ T cells. Here we demonstrate that standard practices for handling and processing blood can profoundly suppress antigen-stimulated IL-2 and IFN- γ release, which compromises detection of rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells. The new whole blood CRA along with a dye-dilution proliferation assay were effective tools for monitoring gluten immunity in CD patients without needing a gluten food challenge to expand the pool of gluten-specific CD4+ T cells. These innovations allowed us to show that gluten peptide-stimulated whole blood IL-2 and IFN-y release, and CD4+ T cell proliferation were significantly reduced in CD patients during treatment with Nexvax2 peptide immunotherapy, but not in placebo-treated CD patients. Interestingly, Nexvax2 therapy was associated with reduced ex vivo responses to gluten peptides present in Nexvax2 as well as an expanded pool of gluten peptides, which could support a mechanism of action involving direct suppression of Nexvax2specific CD4+ T cells as well as indirect suppression of glutenreactive CD4+ T cells not specific for epitopes in Nexvax2.

Previously, we and others have relied on 3-day gluten challenge to mobilize gluten-reactive CD4+ T cells in blood to monitor gluten-reactive CD4+ T cells by functional assays (22). Avoiding the need for gluten challenges in the immune monitoring sub-study associated with the RESET CeD Study was critical because patients had to comply with the RESET CeD Study protocol requiring no additional gluten exposures apart from the per-protocol masked gluten challenges required for the primary and secondary endpoints. PBMC had initially been preferred for CRAs because they could also be cryopreserved for later testing of CD4+ T cell function, staining with MHC class II-gluten peptide tetramers for flow cytometry assessments of surface phenotype, gene expression and DNA-based assays including T cell receptor gene analysis. However, finding that gluten peptides stimulated no detectable IFN-y or IL-10 release, and only modest IL-2 release in PBMC without prior gluten challenge of donors prompted a detailed assessment of gluten peptide-stimulated cytokine release in whole blood.

IL-2 and IFN- γ release stimulated by gluten peptide pools and CEFT were normalized for the total numbers of CD4+ T cells or CD4+ and CD8+ T cells per well, respectively, which allowed direct comparisons between matched incubations of PBMC and whole blood. IL-2 and IFN- γ release stimulated by gluten peptide pools and CEFT in PBMC were typically one-tenth and one-third, respectively, the amounts measured using whole blood. The cause for reduced cytokine secretion by antigen-activated T cells in PBMC is unclear, but could relate to injury of reactive T cells due to physical manipulation, effects of Ficoll, or media
replacing plasma. Further investigations are required in larger numbers of blood samples to confirm these unexpected findings. Our observations could explain why CRAs using PBMC have been unable to detect rare antigen-specific CD4+ T cells, and position whole blood CRAs using high sensitivity immunoassays as an attractive new tool to study and monitor rare antigenspecific CD4+ T cells. In addition to the detrimental effects of separating PBMC from whole blood, this study also showed IL-2 and IFN- γ release stimulated by gluten peptide pools and CEFT were substantially reduced by delaying incubation of whole blood with antigen. Gluten peptide-stimulated IL-2 and IFN-y release in blood allowed to stand for 24 hours at room temperature were reduced to one-third and one-fifth, respectively, the amount in blood that was incubated within 30 minutes of collection. This observation also challenges current practice in multicenter clinical trials that allows blood for functional T-cell assays to be processed at a central laboratory within 24 hours after collection.

Our finding that gluten peptide-stimulated whole blood IL-2 release is more pronounced than IFN-y, and also IL-10 release, and is a sensitive marker for rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells is in keeping with our parallel study that profiled cytokine release in CD patients when blood was incubated with a single immunodominant α -gliadin peptide identical to NEX-01 (3). In that study, we showed that the hierarchy of cytokines and chemokines released in whole blood stimulated by the α -gliadin peptide was IL-2 followed by IFN-y, CXCL10/IP-10, CXCL9/ MIG, IL-10, CCL3/MIP-1 α , and TNF- α , in that order. We also showed that the whole blood assay was superior to other functional readouts of the antigen-specific T cell response such as the IFN- γ ELISpot, which is unable to detect gluten-specific T cell responses in treated CD patients without gluten challenge. The sensitivity of the whole blood IL-2 release assay appeared to be similar to MHC class II-gluten peptide tetramers, which have indicated the frequency of CD4+ T cells specific for epitopes in Nexvax2 is usually less than 10 per million peripheral blood CD4+ T cells in CD patients without prior gluten challenge (17, 19). A volume of 40 to 50 ml of blood is required for a single assessment by MHC class II-gluten peptide tetramers specific for epitopes in Nexax2 gluten peptides (17, 18), which contrasts with the whole blood CRA that detected Nexvax2 gluten peptidestimulated IL-2 and IFN-y release in 1.35 ml blood divided across six replicate wells each containing about 0.2 million CD4+ T cells. Therefore, in this study we estimate that an average total of about 12 gluten-specific CD4+ T cells distributed across six replicate wells was sufficient to monitor IL-2 and IFN-y release stimulated by the pool of gluten peptides included in Nexvax2.

Finally, application of the whole blood CRA to monitor gluten-specific CD4+ T cells in the RESET CeD Study revealed that Nexvax2 treatment was associated with attenuation of gluten peptide-stimulated IL-2 and IFN- γ release, and CD4+ T cell proliferation. Statistical comparisons between the twelve Nexvax2 and nine placebo-treated patients in this sub-study almost reached significance for the reduction of IL-2 and IFN- γ release stimulated by gluten peptides in Nexvax2, and IL-2 release stimulated by the expanded pool of gluten peptides.

This outcome was also unexpected, and may indicate that relatively small cohorts are needed to achieve statistical significance using whole blood CRAs to monitor antigenspecific immunotherapies in early clinical development. An explanation remains to be found for the discrepancy between significant reductions in ex vivo gluten peptide-stimulated IL-2 and IFN- γ release in whole blood, and the primary efficacy endpoint of the RESET CeD Study not being met. Selfreported digestive symptoms within one day after masked single-bolus gluten challenge compared to the pretreatment period was the primary endpoint. Patients ingested 10 grams of vital wheat gluten for the masked gluten challenge. This gluten challenge resulted in almost half of the placebo-treated patients in the RESET CeD Study experiencing vomiting between one to two hours, and was associated with median 20-fold increase of serum IL-2 at four hours (20). Serum IL-2 elevations correlated with nausea severity and vomiting (20), but the relationships between gluten exposure, symptoms, intestinal T cell activation, mucosal cytokine release, and systemic measures of gluten immunity including serum cytokines and responsiveness of peripheral blood gluten-specific CD4+ T cells remain to be determined. Nonetheless, the dose and/or duration of Nexvax2 administration was inadequate to suppress symptoms triggered by a food challenge administering almost half the usual daily gluten intake in an unrestricted diet as a single bolus.

A limitation of this work is that only two volunteers were assessed in the pilot study. However, findings from these two patients were consistent and demonstrated the capacity of the whole blood assay approach to detect gluten-specific T cells prior to a gluten challenge. Subsequent validation in the cohort of subjects assessed from the RESET CeD study strongly supported the sensitivity of the whole blood assay approach without gluten challenge. As gluten peptide-stimulated whole blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release was shown to be strongly affected by experimental conditions such as delayed incubation and overall incubation time, further work is required to understand the conditions supporting optimal assay performance. Future work should correlate whole blood IL-2 and IFN- γ release with assessment of PBMC by HLA-DQ2.5-gluten-peptide tetramers and flow cytometry in CD patients who have not been gluten challenged.

The whole blood CRA coupled with ultra-sensitive IL-2 and IFN- γ detection has promise as an immunomonitoring tool for clinical trials. In order to scale the protocol for multi-centre clinical trials, further refinements to address the challenges of blood transport delay from clinical sites distant from the laboratory will be important. For example, antigen-coated vacutainers could be employed for direct in-tube incubation of blood rather than multi-well plates, similar to that used in QuantiFERON-TB Gold *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* diagnostic kits, or the antigen could be added straight to blood in the collection tubes (22). This would expedite sample incubation at each trial site. Optimization of the antigens may also be useful.

In conclusion, rare gluten-specific CD4+ T cells can be detected and monitored using a simple whole blood CRA that utilizes a sensitive ECL immunoassay to measure IL-2 and IFN- γ release. Sensitivity of CRAs to detect peripheral blood gluten-

specific CD4+ T cells is markedly compromised by utilizing PBMC instead of whole blood, and by delays in incubating blood with antigen. Deploying this whole blood CRA to monitor effects of Nexvax2 immunotherapy was highly informative. This simple protocol in an optimized form may allow widespread utilization of this test to monitor the function of rare antigen-specific CD4+ T cells in clinical trials assessing vaccines and immunotherapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Human Research Ethics Committees at the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Melbourne Health, and Bellberry Limited. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA, GG, LW, JD, and JT-D designed the studies. JT-D, SC, GB, KG, KN, and KT conducted clinical studies. MH, AR, SW, RZ, ES, and JD performed and analyzed immune assays. RA and GG provided data integration and analysis. RA wrote the manuscript and prepared the Tables and Figures. RA had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to

REFERENCES

- Renand A, Shamji MH, Harris KM, Qin T, Wambre E, Scadding GW, et al. Synchronous Immune Alterations Mirror Clinical Response During Allergen Immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141(5):1750–1760 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.09.041
- Speake C, Bahnson HT, Wesley JD, Perdue N, Friedrich D, Pham MN, et al. Systematic Assessment of Immune Marker Variation in Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective Longitudinal Study. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2023. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.02023
- Anderson RP, Goel G, Hardy MY, Russell AK, Wang S, Szymczak E, et al. Whole Blood Interleukin-2 Release Test to Detect and Characterise Rare Circulating Gluten-Specific T Cell Responses in Coeliac Disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2021). doi: 10.1111/cei.13578
- Pantaleo G, Harari A. Functional Signatures in Antiviral T-cell Immunity for Monitoring Virus-Associated Diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6(5):417–23. doi: 10.1038/nri1840
- Posevitz-Fejfar A, Posevitz V, Gross CC, Bhatia U, Kurth F, Schutte V, et al. Effects of Blood Transportation on Human Peripheral Mononuclear Cell Yield, Phenotype and Function: Implications for Immune Cell Biobanking. *PloS One* (2014) 9(12):e115920. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115920

submit for publication. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Funding for this work was provided by ImmusanT, Inc., Cambridge, Massachusetts USA. JT-D and his team (AR, MH) were supported by the NHMRC (APP1176553), the University of Melbourne (Mathison Centenary Fellowship), the Beck Family Foundation and Coeliac Australia.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the research nursing team of Cathy Pizzey, Lee Henneken, Brooke Flanders, Emma Dimitri, Helen Chen and Paula Lewis, trial site staff Dr Andrew Buckle and Dr Charlotte Slade, and to the volunteers who participated in this research.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.661622/ full#supplementary-material

- Petrovsky N, Harrison LC. Cytokine-Based Human Whole Blood Assay for the Detection of Antigen-Reactive T Cells. J Immunol Methods (1995) 186 (1):37–46. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(95)00127-v
- Pai M, Zwerling A, Menzies D. Systematic Review: T-cell-based Assays for the Diagnosis of Latent Tuberculosis Infection: An Update. Ann Intern Med (2008) 149(3):177–84. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-149-3-200808050-00241
- Duffy D, Rouilly V, Braudeau C, Corbiere V, Djebali R, Ungeheuer MN, et al. Standardized Whole Blood Stimulation Improves Immunomonitoring of Induced Immune Responses in Multi-Center Study. *Clin Immunol* (2017) 183:325–35. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2017.09.019
- Ben-Othman R, Cai B, Liu AC, Varankovich N, He D, Blimkie TM, et al. Systems Biology Methods Applied to Blood and Tissue for a Comprehensive Analysis of Immune Response to Hepatitis B Vaccine in Adults. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:580373. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.580373
- Ontiveros N, Tye-Din JA, Hardy MY, Anderson RP. Ex-Vivo Whole Blood Secretion of Interferon (IFN)-Gamma and IFN-gamma-inducible protein-10 Measured by Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay are as Sensitive as IFN-gamma Enzyme-Linked Immunospot for the Detection of Gluten-Reactive T Cells in Human Leucocyte Antigen (HLA)-DQ2.5(+) -associated coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) 175(2):305–15. doi: 10.1111/cei.12232

- Sollid LM, Jabri B. Triggers and Drivers of Autoimmunity: Lessons From Coeliac Disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(4):294–302. doi: 10.1038/ nri3407
- Sollid LM, Tye-Din JA, Qiao SW, Anderson RP, Gianfrani C, Koning F. Update 2020: Nomenclature and Listing of Celiac Disease-Relevant Gluten Epitopes Recognized by CD4(+) T Cells. *Immunogenetics* (2020) 72(1-2):85– 8. doi: 10.1007/s00251-019-01141-w
- Goel G, Tye-Din JA, Qiao SW, Russell AK, Mayassi T, Ciszewski C, et al. Cytokine Release and Gastrointestinal Symptoms After Gluten Challenge in Celiac Disease. Sci Adv (2019) 5(8):eaaw7756. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaw7756
- Christophersen A, Lund EG, Snir O, Sola E, Kanduri C, Dahal-Koirala S, et al. Distinct Phenotype of CD4(+) T Cells Driving Celiac Disease Identified in Multiple Autoimmune Conditions. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(5):734–7. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-019-0403-9
- Anderson RP, Degano P, Godkin AJ, Jewell DP, Hill AVS. In Vivo Antigen Challenge in Celiac Disease Identifies a Single Transglutaminase-Modified Peptide as the Dominant A-gliadin T-Cell Epitope. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(3):337– 42. doi: 10.1038/73200
- Anderson RP, van Heel DA, Tye-Din JA, Barnardo M, Salio M, Jewell DP, et al. T Cells in Peripheral Blood After Gluten Challenge in Coeliac Disease. *Gut* (2005) 54(9):1217–23. doi: 10.1136/gut.2004.059998
- Zuhlke S, Risnes LF, Dahal-Koirala S, Christophersen A, Sollid LM, Lundin KE. CD38 Expression on Gluten-Specific T Cells is a Robust Marker of Gluten Re-Exposure in Coeliac Disease. United Eur Gastroenterol J (2019) 7 (10):1337–44. doi: 10.1177/2050640619874183
- Sarna VK, Lundin KEA, Morkrid L, Qiao SW, Sollid LM, Christophersen A. Hla-Dq-Gluten Tetramer Blood Test Accurately Identifies Patients With and Without Celiac Disease in Absence of Gluten Consumption. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 154(4):886–896 e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017. 11.006
- Sarna VK, Skodje GI, Reims HM, Risnes LF, Dahal-Koirala S, Sollid LM, et al. Hla-DQ:gluten Tetramer Test in Blood Gives Better Detection of Coeliac Patients Than Biopsy After 14-Day Gluten Challenge. *Gut* (2018) 67(9):1606– 13. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314461
- Daveson AJM, Tye-Din JA, Goel G, Goldstein KE, Hand HL, Neff KM, et al. Masked Bolus Gluten Challenge Low in FODMAPs Implicates Nausea and Vomiting as Key Symptoms Associated With Immune Activation in Treated Coeliac Disease. *Alimentary Pharmacol Ther* (2020) 51(2):244–52. doi: 10.1111/apt.15551
- Truitt KE, Daveson AJM, Ee HC, Goel G, MacDougall J, Neff K, et al. Randomised Clinical Trial: A Placebo-Controlled Study of Subcutaneous or Intradermal NEXVAX2, an Investigational Immunomodulatory Peptide Therapy for Coeliac Disease. *Alimentary Pharmacol Ther* (2019) 50(5):547– 55. doi: 10.1111/apt.15435

- Goel G, King T, Daveson AJ, Andrews JM, Krishnarajah J, Krause R, et al. Epitope-Specific Immunotherapy Targeting CD4-Positive T Cells in Coeliac Disease: Two Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Phase 1 Studies. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 2(7):479–93. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30110-3
- Clemente-Casares X, Blanco J, Ambalavanan P, Yamanouchi J, Singha S, Fandos C, et al. Expanding Antigen-Specific Regulatory Networks to Treat Autoimmunity. *Nature* (2016) 530(7591):434–40. doi: 10.1038/nature16962
- Wraith D. Autoimmunity: Antigen-specific Immunotherapy. Nature (2016) 530(7591):422–3. doi: 10.1038/nature17300
- Goel G, Daveson AJM, Hooi CE, Tye-Din JA, Wang S, Szymczak E, et al. Serum Cytokines Elevated During Gluten-Mediated Cytokine Release in Coeliac Disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2020) 199(1):68–78. doi: 10.1111/cei.13369
- Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Dromey JA, Beissbarth T, van Heel DA, Tatham A, et al. Comprehensive, Quantitative Mapping of T Cell Epitopes in Gluten in Celiac Disease. *Sci Trans Med* (2010) 2:1–14. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001012
- Ten Brinke A, Marek-Trzonkowska N, Mansilla MJ, Turksma AW, Piekarska K, Iwaszkiewicz-Grzes D, et al. Monitoring T-Cell Responses in Translational Studies: Optimization of Dye-Based Proliferation Assay for Evaluation of Antigen-Specific Responses. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1870. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01870
- Mannering SI, Morris JS, Jensen KP, Purcell AW, Honeyman MC, van Endert PM, et al. A Sensitive Method for Detecting Proliferation of Rare Autoantigen-Specific Human T Cells. J Immunol Methods (2003) 283(1-2):173–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2003.09.004

Conflict of Interest: ImmusanT, Inc., Cambridge, Massachusetts USA provided funding for the study. ImmusanT was involved in the study design, collection of data, and the decision to submit it for publication. RA, GG, SW, ES, RZ, KG, KN, KT, LW, and JD were employees of ImmusanT, Inc. JT-D has served as an advisor to ImmusanT, Inc. RA and JT-D are inventors of Patents owned or licensed by ImmusanT, Inc. that relate to gluten peptide immunotherapy and diagnostics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hardy, Goel, Russell, Chen Yi Mei, Brown, Wang, Szymczak, Zhang, Goldstein, Neff, Williams, Truitt, Dzuris, Tye-Din and Anderson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interplay Between Gluten, HLA, Innate and Adaptive Immunity Orchestrates the Development of Coeliac Disease

Jordan Voisine^{1,2} and Valérie Abadie^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Medicine, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Committee on Immunology, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ Section of Gastroenterology, Nutrition and Hepatology, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Several environmental, genetic, and immune factors create a "perfect storm" for the development of coeliac disease: the antigen gluten, the strong association of coeliac disease with HLA, the deamidation of gluten peptides by the enzyme transglutaminase 2 (TG2) generating peptides that bind strongly to the predisposing HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 molecules, and the ensuing unrestrained T cell response. T cell immunity is at the center of the disease contributing to the inflammatory process through the loss of tolerance to gluten and the differentiation of HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8-restricted anti-gluten inflammatory CD4⁺ T cells secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines and to the killing of intestinal epithelial cells by cytotoxic intraepithelial CD8⁺ lymphocytes. However, recent studies emphasize that the individual contribution of each of these cell subsets is not sufficient and that interactions between these different populations of T cells and the simultaneous activation of innate and adaptive immune pathways in distinct gut compartments are required to promote disease immunopathology. In this review, we will discuss how tissue destruction in the context of coeliac disease results from the complex interactions between gluten, HLA molecules, TG2, and multiple innate and adaptive immune components.

Keywords: coeliac disease, villous atrophy, gluten, transglutaminase 2, HLA-DQ2/8, T lymphocytes

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

OPEN ACCESS

Robert Paul Anderson,

Institute, Australia

Jason Allan Tye-Din,

Reviewed by:

Irene Marafini.

*Correspondence: Valérie Abadie

The Wesley-St Andrew's Research

Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Policlinico Tor Vergata, Italy

vabadie@medicine.bsd.uchicago.edu

Edited by:

Received: 01 March 2021 Accepted: 18 May 2021 Published: 02 June 2021

Citation:

Voisine J and Abadie V (2021) Interplay Between Gluten, HLA, Innate and Adaptive Immunity Orchestrates the Development of Coeliac Disease. Front. Immunol. 12:674313. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.674313 INTRODUCTION

Coeliac disease (CeD) is a multifactorial intestinal immune-mediated disorder with autoimmune features that leads to inflammatory and destructive lesions in the proximal small intestine. CeD, similar to other organ-specific autoimmune disorders, is marked by its complexity both at the epidemiological and immunological levels, which translates into a spectrum of clinical manifestations (1). CeD is characterized by an infiltration of intraepithelial lymphocytes in the proximal part of the small intestine, crypt hyperplasia and the development of villous atrophy in the latest stages of the disease. In addition, CeD patients produce highly disease-specific antibodies against deamidated gluten peptides and the enzyme tissue transglutaminase 2 (TG2) (2–4). CeD is triggered by gluten consumption in genetically susceptible individuals carrying certain major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II human leukocyte antigen (HLA) variants (5, 6). 90-95% of CeD patients carry the HLA-DQ2.5 variant (DQA1*05:01, DQB1*02:01) that confers the highest

risk of developing CeD while the remaining patients carry HLA-DQ2.2 (DQA1*02:01, DQB1*02:02) or HLA-DQ8 (DQA1*03, DQB1*03:02) (5, 7). However, while up to 40% of the general population in Western countries express one of the predisposing HLA molecules, the global prevalence of CeD is just 1% (8). This finding suggests that these HLA variants contribute to, but are not sufficient for, the development of the disease and that additional genetic and environmental factors are needed to mount a pathogenic immune response against gluten (9). In fact, the HLA locus which is the main inherited genetic susceptibility factor for CeD, only accounts for ~ 40% of the genetic variance of the disease. Hence, non-MHC susceptibility loci explaining ~ 15% of the disease risk (10-13), as well as additional environmental factors other than gluten, are thought to contribute to disease development. Among them are early life gastrointestinal infections, which have been associated with an increased risk of developing CeD in several cohorts of genetically susceptible children (14-16). Of particular interest are enteric viruses such as reovirus, norovirus and rotavirus, which are the most common causes of diarrheal disease in early childhood. Recurrent infections in young individuals with a permissive genetic background could interfere with the maturation of the mucosal immune system and the composition of the microbiome (17), and thus favor the subsequent induction of an inflammatory T cell responses and the loss of oral tolerance to dietary gluten (18, 19). Although much less documented, intestinal infections caused by bacteria such as Campylobacter *jejuni* or parasites such as *Giardia lamblia*, could also contribute to the onset or maintenance of the disease (20, 21). In strong support of a role of the microbial environment in promoting the development of CeD is the identification of microbially derived mimics of gliadin epitopes that can activate HLA-DQ2.5restricted gliadin-specific T cells isolated from CeD patients (22).

The complexity of CeD is also reflected by the contribution of multiple immune pathways for the induction of the disease and intestinal tissue remodeling and destruction (23-25). It has been known for decades that HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 present TG2deamidated gluten peptides to CD4⁺ T cells in the intestinal lamia propria compartment, driving $T_{H}1$ differentiation (26–31). These gluten-specific T_H1 cells contribute to the inflammatory process through the production of the inflammatory cytokines Interferon (IFN)- γ (32) and Interleukin (IL)-21 (33). Yet, this gluten-specific adaptive immunity is not sufficient to promote the licensing of intraepithelial cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (IE-CTLs) that are responsible for the destruction of distressed intestinal epithelial cells. This lack of sufficiency can be seen in potential CeD patients, who carry HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 and display adaptive immune responses against gluten (proxied by anti-TG2 and anti-endomysium antibodies) but lack villous atrophy (6, 34). In particular, potential CeD patients do not display an accumulation of IE-CTLs with an active killer phenotype (upregulated granzyme B expression, upregulated activating NK receptor expression, downregulated inhibitory NK receptor expression) and also lack upregulation of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-15 and the non-classical MHC class I stress molecules MICA/B and HLA-E in intestinal epithelial cells (25, 35, 36),

immune features that are both required for the development of villous atrophy. Additionally no tissue destruction was observed in HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 humanized mice that develop antigluten immunity (37–39). Only in recent years has it become clear that the interplay between gluten-specific CD4⁺ T cells and intraepithelial cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, as well as the simultaneous activation of innate immune pathways in distinct gut compartments, are required to cause villous atrophy observed in the active form of the disease (**Figure 1**).

KEY ROLES OF TRANSGLUTAMINASE 2 AND HLA IN THE INITIATION OF THE GLUTEN-SPECIFIC ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE

The identification of HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 restricted $CD4^+T$ cells in the lamina propria of CeD patients (26, 40) that preferentially recognize deamidated gluten peptides over native gluten peptides (41) stressed the connection between gluten, disease-associated HLA molecules and TG2 for the initiation of the pathogenic immune response. The generation of such a gluten-specific T cell response arises from the high affinity binding of gluten peptides post-translationally modified by TG2 to HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8.

Two properties of gluten explain its ability to elicit a mucosal immune response. First, the high content of proline in gluten proteins makes the proteins resistant to degradation by intestinal proteases in the gut lumen (42). Second, the long undigested gluten-derived proteins are good substrates for the enzyme TG2, an ubiquitous and multifunctional enzyme expressed in many organs including the gut (43). It has been acknowledged for a long time that TG2 plays a key role in CeD pathogenesis as the enzyme is the target of autoantibodies that are highly-disease specific and used for the diagnostic work-up (2, 4). In addition, TG2 catalyzes the conversion of glutamine residues present in gluten peptides into glutamate (28-30). This deamidation process is key to initiate a pathogenic response in CeD as it promotes the generation of immunogenic peptides with negatively charged carboxylate residues that anchor with high affinity in the positively charged pockets of HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 binding grooves (5, 44).

In support of the role of TG2 in orchestrating mucosal immune responses to dietary gluten, TG2 is mostly found catalytically inactive in the intestine under physiological conditions but its expression and activity are increased in inflamed tissues and in cells with inflammatory stress (45). Interestingly, the administration of poly(I:C) (Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid), which results in the rapid induction of villous atrophy that is the typical intestinal tissue injury observed in CeD patients, promotes TG2 activation (46). TG2 can be released into the gut lumen by small intestine enterocyte shedding, allowing TG2 to become catalytically active in the extracellular environment (47). This feature that allows the TG2 to be in close vicinity of gluten peptides could explain the formation of enzyme-substrate complexes between the two proteins



that can bind to the B cell receptor of TG2-specific B cells, hence contributing to the generation of TG2-specific autoantibodies (24, 48, 49). In addition, using T84 enterocytic cell line as a model, it was shown that extracellular TG2 can be activated in a phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase-dependent mechanism by IFN- γ (50), the pro-inflammatory cytokine abundantly produced by gluten-specific T cells and released in the inflamed intestinal mucosa of CeD patients (31, 32). In accordance with a role for IFN- γ in TG2 activation, TG2 enzymatic activity can be triggered by the protein cofactor thioredoxin-1 (TRX) whose release from monocytic cells is also elicited by IFN- γ (51).

The requirement of gluten, predisposing HLA variant, TG2, and CD4 T cells to elicit the disease was formally demonstrated using a newly engineered DQ8-D^d-villin-IL-15tg mouse model of CeD that develops villous atrophy upon gluten exposure (23). Using this model, we showed that villous atrophy, antideamidated gluten peptide antibodies and T_H1 immunity recede on a gluten free diet and reoccur after gluten introduction. In addition, intestinal tissue destruction only occurred in mice carrying HLA-DQ8 and depletion of CD4⁺ T cells or administration of TG2 inhibitors in gluten-fed animals prevented the development of villous atrophy (23). Hence, the priming of a gluten-specific immune response depends on the coordinated interaction between gluten, the coeliac predisposing HLA-DQ8 molecule, activated TG2, and CD4⁺ T cells.

Interestingly, there is a gene dosage effect of the HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 allotypes in CeD whereby disease susceptibility depends on the HLA-DQ genotype and HLA homozygous individuals are at higher risk of developing the disease (52, 53). The haplotype HLA-DQ2.5 that binds and presents the full repertoire of gluten peptides, with many proline-rich α - and ω -gliadin-derived peptides that are protected from the degradation by gastrointestinal enzymes, confers

a higher risk of developing CeD as compared to HLA-DQ8 that presents a smaller repertoire of immunogenic peptides more prone to proteolytic degradation and HLA-DQ2.2 that can only bind and present a few peptides (42, 54, 55). In addition, DQ2.5 has an increased ability to retain its peptide cargo as compared to DQ2.2. thanks to the presence of a polymorphism in the DQ α chains allowing DQ2.5 to establish a hydrogen bond to the peptide main chain that stabilizes peptide-MHC complexes at the surface of antigen-presenting cells leading to sustained gluten peptides presentation to T cells (56). Interestingly, differences in the nature of HLA-DQ2.2 or HLA-DQ2.5-bound epitopes translates into a more diverse TCR repertoire generated in the context of HLA-DQ2.2, as compared to HLA-DQ2.5-mediated CeD and with a lower disease penetrance (57). Homozygosity for HLA-DQ2.5 that is linked to a heightened expression of HLA-DQ2.5 on the surface of antigen-presenting cells and increased antigen presentation is also more strongly associated with CeD as compared to heterozygosity (52, 55). Hence, the amounts of HLA-DQ-gluten peptides complexes correlates with the magnitude and breadth of the gluten-specific T cell response (52, 55). This suggests that CeD development and the ensuing intestinal tissue destruction will only occur when the T cell response has reached a certain magnitude to become pathogenic (35).

CD4 T CELLS AND THE PRO-INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

Under homeostatic conditions, ingested dietary antigens induce oral tolerance, a state of local and systemic immune ignorance against orally ingested innocuous antigens (58, 59). However, in patients harboring the CeD-predisposing HLA-DQ2 or HLA- DQ8 molecules, orally ingested gluten can initiate a glutenspecific pro-inflammatory $T_{\rm H}1$ response rather than a tolerogenic response (35). In both adults and children, these gluten-specific CD4 T cells produce high levels of the proinflammatory cytokines IFN- γ and IL-21, hallmarks of $T_{\rm H}1$ cells (32, 33, 60). As loss of oral tolerance to gluten is a preceding event for the development of villous atrophy in CeD patients (25, 32), much work has been done to uncover the mechanisms behind this loss of tolerance against gluten and how this pro-inflammatory $T_{\rm H}1$ CD4 T cell response leads to villous atrophy.

One of the early culprits implicated in promoting an inflammatory vs tolerogenic T cell response to gluten is the cytokine interferon- α (IFN- α). IFN- α is a Type-1 interferon that is produced by almost all cells as an innate response to viral infection (61). Among its many immune effector-promoting roles, it has been shown to drive pro-inflammatory dendritic cells activation as well as to promote the differentiation of CD4 T cells to the $T_{\rm H}$ 1 lineage (61, 62). The connection between IFN- α and CeD was made by Monteleone and colleagues, who identified a CeD-like enteropathy with villous atrophy and high intraepithelial lymphocytes infiltration in a chronic myeloid leukemia patient receiving an IFN- α treatment (63). The association between high expression of IFN- α and high levels of IFN- γ in CeD patients compared to controls suggested that IFN- α in CeD patients may be one factor leading to induction of a T_H1 response against gluten. It remains unclear what directly is driving the increase in IFN- α production, but recent studies have also implicated viral infection as a driver for loss of oral tolerance.

While viral infections, such as with adenovirus or hepatitis C, have long been known to be associated with a higher risk of developing CeD (64), only recently have viral infections been mechanistically shown to induce loss of oral tolerance to gluten and dietary antigens. Using the Type-I Lang (T1L) reovirus strain, and murine norovirus (MNV) that both infect the gut, Bouziat and colleagues demonstrated that both viruses were capable of mediating T_H1 responses to dietary antigens (18, 19). Type-1 IFN signaling was required for the blockade of peripheral regulatory T cells conversion while Interferon Regulatory Factor (IRF)1 expression was required for the induction of a T_H1 immunity characterized by the differentiation of IL-12p40-producing dendritic cells, the production of gluten-specific IgG2c antibodies in the serum, TG2 activation in the proximal small intestine and a delayed type hypersensitivity reaction to gluten, all hallmarks of loss of oral tolerance to gluten in virus-infected HLA-DQ8 transgenic mice (18, 19). Taken together, these studies demonstrated that viral infections can be triggers for loss of oral tolerance towards dietary antigens and T_H1-skewed responses to gluten.

Another major player implicated in the loss of oral tolerance to gluten is IL-15. The first signs that IL-15 may have been involved in the proinflammatory $T_{\rm H}1$ response to gluten came with the finding that IL-15 is heavily upregulated in the lamina propria of active CeD patients, the effector site where dendritic cells will encounter gluten peptides (65, 66). Using HLA-DQ8 transgenic mice that overexpressed IL-15 in the lamina propria and mesenteric lymph nodes (DQ8-D^d-IL15tg mice) but not in the intestinal epithelium (38), we demonstrated that IL-15 overexpression in combination with retinoic acid altered the tolerogenic phenotype of intestinal dendritic cells and endowed them with a pro-inflammatory phenotype, hindering the development of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells and instead promoting the differentiation of IFN γ -producing T_H1 cells. Additionally, these gluten-fed DQ8-D^d-IL15tg mice displayed elevated levels of anti-gliadin and anti-TG2 antibodies, mimicking potential CeD patients who display a loss of oral tolerance and the development of a T_H1 response to gluten in the absence of villous atrophy (38). In addition, IL-15 can block the immunosuppressive effects of TGF- β on CD4 and CD8 T cells by inhibiting Smad3-signalling and additionally render effector CD4 and CD8 T cells resistant to regulatory T cells-mediated suppression by activating PI3K-signaling (67, 68). Whether Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells play an active role in dampening harmful immune responses to gluten in the small intestine remains poorly understood. Although it was shown that Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells expand in the celiac lesion (69–71), it remains controversial whether regulatory T cells retain or loss their suppressive function (71-73). Moreover, regulatory CD4⁺ T cells specific for immunodominant gluten peptides haven't been identified so far in the small intestine of genetically predisposed healthy individuals (74). Therefore, additional investigations are warranted to determine whether a regulatory response to gluten exists and whether an altered mucosal suppressive CD4⁺ T cell response to gluten contributes to CeD pathogenesis.

In the context of CeD, T_H1 immunity is accompanied by the production of IFN-γ and IL-21 by mucosal gluten-specific CD4⁺ T cells (32, 33, 60). The idea of crosstalk between lamina propria and epithelium mediated by cytokines was put forward several years ago based on in vitro observations (75). Indeed, it had been shown that IFN- γ released by stimulated mucosal T cells was required for the optimal killing of human colonic epithelial cell lines in ex-vivo cytotoxic assays (76). In addition, the incubation of intestinal tissue specimens with the supernatants from glutenstimulated T cell clones or with IFN- γ lead to epithelial cell damage, and the cytotoxic effect of the supernatants could be counteracted by the addition of neutralizing IFN- γ (77). We recently confirmed the requirement of IFN- γ for the activation of cytotoxic intraepithelial lymphocytes and the ensuing development of villous atrophy in vivo using a relevant mouse model of CeD (23). Although the exact mechanism underlying this effect remains to be uncovered, it has been shown that local production of IFN- γ can promote the upregulation of the nonclassical MHC class Ib molecule HLA-E on epithelial cells (78, 79) hence potentializing the expression of the ligand for the activating NK receptor CD94/NKG2C present on cytotoxic intraepithelial lymphocytes during disease development. Although it has been shown that IL-21 can increase the cytotoxicity of human intraepithelial lymphocytes (80), the administration of an IL-21R blocking antibody in our mouse

model didn't reveal any significant direct role of IL-21 in promoting cytotoxic properties on intraepithelial lymphocytes but instead demonstrated that IL-21 and IFN- γ both play a role in the development of anti-deamidated gluten peptides antibodies (23). Interestingly, IL-15 can promote IL-21 production in lamina propria cells (81) reinforcing the idea of the involvement of a cytokine network in CeD.

While IFN- α , viral infections and IL-15 overexpression in the lamina propria can induce a loss of oral tolerance and a proinflammatory T_H1 response to gluten, several studies in mice have demonstrated that the CD4 T cell response to gluten alone is nevertheless not sufficient to license intraepithelial lymphocytes and induce villous atrophy (23, 37, 38, 82). This is in accordance with observations in potential CeD patients who not only lack IL-15 and stress molecules expression on intestinal tissue cells, but also do not display an accumulation of intraepithelial cytotoxic T lymphocytes with an active killer phenotype, as seen in active CeD patients, despite the development of an inflammatory CD4 T cell response (25).

Interestingly, a distinct cytokine signature has been identified in the peripheral blood of treated CeD patients after oral gluten challenge (83, 84) or subcutaneous administration of T-cell stimulatory gluten peptides (85). Indeed, secretion of IL-2, IL-17A, TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-10 was detected as soon as 2h after gluten-re-exposure reflecting the rapid mobilization of glutenspecific memory CD4 T cells. Serum cytokine elevations, particularly IL-2 levels, correlated with the severity of acute digestive symptoms (83) and were specific to CeD (84, 86, 87), demonstrating a direct impact of gluten on the adaptive immune system in genetically susceptible individuals. Not only could serum cytokine release contribute to some extra-intestinal manifestations of CeD driven by inflammation, but it could be used as immune marker to diagnose and monitor the development of CeD.

INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO GLUTEN AND EPITHELIAL STRESS

The contribution of innate immunity to CeD pathogenesis was suggested by the observation that non-HLA genomic regions associated with CeD harbor genes involved in stress pathways and innate immunity (5). The activation of innate immune pathways in different gut compartments, in particular at the level of the lamina propria or in the intestinal epithelium, has a substantial impact on the adaptive immune responses taking place in those same compartments. These responses include the loss of oral tolerance to gluten and the associated induction of $T_{\rm H1}$ immunity, as well as the acquisition of lymphokine killer activity by intraepithelial lymphocytes, all of which contribute to disease development.

In vitro studies where gluten was used to stimulate duodenal biopsy samples, intestinal epithelial cells, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells have shown that gluten may have innate immune stimulatory properties (88–94). Additionally, other molecules contained in wheat and related proteins could also drive immune cells activation, such as wheat amylase trypsin inhibitors (95, 96).

The gluten-derived α -gliadin peptide P31-43, which unlike the 33-mer (P55-87) and the 25-mer (P31-55) does not induce specific T cell responses in the celiac lesion, has been shown to activate innate immune pathways (90, 92, 97-99). However, the observed innate properties have been different across studies and we still need cross-validation. P31-43 peptide could induce enterocyte proliferation and actin rearrangements in an IL-15 and epithelial growth factor (EGF)-dependent manner, leading in particular to crypt hyperplasia, one of the characteristics of tissue remodeling seen in the celiac lesion (100-104). Other reported effects of gliadin on the innate immune system encompass cell structural changes, alterations in epithelial cells signaling, and induction of inflammatory and stress signals [reviewed in (100, 105)]. The finding that enterocytes from CeD patients have a stressed/inflamed phenotype and present a constitutive alteration in the intracellular vesicular trafficking provides an explanation as to why those cells are more sensitive to the effects of the P31-43 peptide (106-108). Indeed, due to sequence similarity between the P31-43 peptide and a region of hepatocyte growth factor regulated substrate (HRS) kinase - an essential protein involved in endocytic maturation-, P31-43 localizes in early endosomes and alters HRS-mediated maturation of early endosomes and the recycling pathway. The ensuing delayed vesicular trafficking leads to a reduction in the degradation of receptor tyrosine kinases including the receptor for EGF and promotes a sustained trans-presentation of IL-15 at the epithelial cell level [reviewed in (100, 105)].

Interestingly, a peptic-tryptic digest of gliadin or the P31-49derived peptide can induce the upregulation of the expression of the stress-inducible MHC class I polypeptide-related molecules (MIC) via a pathway involving IL-15 (90). This is in accordance with the observation that intestinal epithelial cells in CeD patients express high levels of the MIC molecules (90, 109) and the non-classical MHC class I molecule HLA-E (79, 94). The expression of the inflammatory cytokine IL-15 can also be upregulated in whole biopsies, intestinal epithelial cells, or antigen-presenting cells from CeD patients upon gluten challenge or P31-49 derived peptide stimulation (65, 66, 78, 92, 110). The physiological consequences of the activation of immune pathways by gluten remain unclear given the fact that family members of CeD patients that lack an adaptive response to gluten, yet harbor the pre-disposing HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 and also show IL-15 upregulation in their intestinal compartment (25), retain normal intestinal morphology. However, the observation that, unlike active CeD patients, potential CeD patients -who display a gluten-specific adaptive immune response in the absence of tissue destruction- lack the innate epithelial stress response suggests that the alteration of the epithelial compartment is required for the development of villous atrophy (25). This observation is in accordance with the mechanism of epithelial cell destruction whereby activated intraepithelial TCR $\alpha\beta$ lymphocytes mediate the killing of intestinal epithelial cells based on the recognition of stress signals such as non-classical MHC molecules and IL-15.

As discussed in more detail below, the acquisition of innate-like properties by intraepithelial lymphocytes is also driven by IL-15 (111).

In addition to the epithelial upregulation of IL-15, most CeD patients display a chronic upregulation of IL-15 in the lamina propria (66). IL-15 plays a critical role in the lamina propria as it can impart dendritic cells to initiate the polarization of inflammatory T_H1 responses and the loss of oral tolerance to gluten (38). This loss of oral tolerance to dietary gluten could also be triggered by type 1 interferons in individuals over-expressing IFN- α in lieu of IL-15 (63). Interestingly, the P31-43 peptide can trigger the expression of inflammatory mediators and increase cell death in a MyD88- and type 1 IFNs-dependent manner and this innate immune activation is enhanced by the TLR3 agonist poly(I:C) (112). This synergistic action of gluten peptides with poly(I:C) and the finding that poly(I:C) (46) or reovirus infection (19) promote the activation of TG2 suggests that multiple environmental hits can trigger and drive disease development. Because high levels of IL-15 can persist in a subset of patients on a gluten-free diet, it remains unclear what drives the excessive chronic upregulation of this innate cytokine. Similarly, both viral and bacterial infections could be the main source of type 1 interferons, yet how this expression is sustained remains to be determined (113).

The association between CeD susceptibility and single nucleotides polymorphisms in genes involved in microbial sensing has also pointed towards a role for bacterial microbes in triggering immune activation (5, 114). Many studies have noted differences in the microbiota composition between CeD patients, treated CeD patients on a gluten-free diet and healthy individuals [reviewed in (17)]. Gluten-degrading proteases produced by some opportunistic pathogens found in the duodenum of CeD patients such as Pseudomonas aeruginosa, can activate PAR-2 initiated inflammatory signaling pathways resulting in the expansion of intraepithelial lymphocytes (115). In addition, thanks to its elastase activity, Pseudomonas aeruginosa could contribute to the initiation of the disease by favoring the generation of immunogenic gluten peptides that can efficiently translocate through the intestinal barrier (116). Neisseria flavescens, abundantly present in the duodenal microbiome of CeD patients, could also contribute to the inflammatory response through its ability to endow a proinflammatory phenotype in dendritic cells (117). Dysbiosis is usually associated with a decrease in bacterial diversity and in the production of short-chain fatty acids such as butyrate, propionate and acetate that result from carbohydrate fermentation (118-121) and contribute to the maintenance of the gut homeostasis (122). Interestingly, a decrease in butyrateproducing bacteria such as Bifidobacterium or Faecalibacterium prausnitzii (123, 124) as well as alteration of the fecal metabolites patterns has been observed in children with CeD (125-127), yet these changes have not been observed in adult cohorts (128-130). These observations, together with the findings that genetically predisposed children carrying the HLA-DQ2 molecule present an altered gut microbiota composition, suggest that commensal bacteria could contribute early on to

determining disease risk (131). In addition, because alterations in gut microbiota and fecal short-chain fatty acid composition can persist even when gluten is withdrawn, it is unclear whether dysbiosis could contribute to the initiation and enhancement of the disease or if changes in the microbiota reflect the ongoing local inflammation (15).

Overall, innate factors induced by gluten exposure and additional unknown triggers, perhaps of microbial origin, play a critical role in promoting the loss of oral tolerance to gluten and in altering intestinal epithelial cells that become the target of activated intraepithelial lymphocytes. However, studies comparing potential and active CeD patients as well as comparing mice expressing IL-15 in different gut compartments have shown that IL-15 and stress molecules overexpression in the epithelium need to be associated with adaptive immunity for villous atrophy to develop (23, 25).

DESTRUCTION OF EPITHELIAL CELLS BY CYTOTOXIC INTRAEPITHELIAL LYMPHOCYTES

In addition to the T_H1-skewed CD4 T cell response, another hallmark of CeD is the large accumulation of oligoclonal cytotoxic intraepithelial TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ CD8⁺ lymphocytes (IE-CTLs) and TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes (78, 109, 132). These cells, and not the gluten-specific CD4⁺ T cells, are the particular immune cell type thought to mediate the destruction of intestinal epithelial cells and directly lead to villous atrophy (23, 36). Their critical role in tissue destruction was not appreciated until the discovery that these cells are reprogrammed to express high levels of activating NK receptors and associated adaptor molecules. In healthy individuals, intraepithelial lymphocytes predominantly express the dimeric inhibitory CD94/NKG2A receptor with only low levels of the activating CD94/NKG2C and NKG2D receptors (78, 79, 133, 134). However, intraepithelial lymphocytes from CeD patients were found to undergo extensive NK cell-like reprograming, downregulating expression of the inhibitory CD94/NKG2A receptor and upregulating expression of the activating CD94/NKG2C and NKG2D receptors (78, 79, 133, 134). Furthermore, the CD94/ NKG2C receptors in CeD patients are associated with the ITAM-bearing adaptor molecule DAP12, enabling cytokine secretion, proliferation and cytolytic activity in response to NK receptor ligands, even independently of TCR activation (79). The stress-inducible, non-classical MHC-like molecule HLA-E is the ligand for CD94/NKG2C and it is selectively upregulated on intestinal epithelial cells in CeD patients, allowing enterocytes to be targeted for killing by IE-CTLs (79). Upregulation of NKG2D on IE-CTLs in CeD patients, as well as upregulation of its adaptor molecule DAP10, was found to be directly caused by high levels of IL-15 on intestinal epithelial cells (109). This IL-15 mediated signaling not only upregulated NKG2D, but also acted in a co-stimulatory manner, synergizing with NKG2D signaling to enable TCR-independent cytolysis of targets expressing both

IL-15 and the stress-induced NKG2D ligands MICA/B (109, 134, 135). MICA/B, which are highly expressed in the intestinal mucosa of CeD, enable enterocytes to be excellent targets for IE-CTLs-mediated destruction (90). Taken together, the reprograming of CD8⁺ intraepithelial lymphocytes into NK-like IE-CTLs with the ability to lyse target cells independently of TCR activation positions this cell type to be the direct mediator of tissue destruction in CeD.

It is important to note however that while no gluten-specific IE-CTLs have been identified in the intestinal epithelium of CeD patients, and IE-CTLs can kill intestinal epithelial cells in a TCRindependent manner, TCR specificity may still be playing a role in tissue destruction. Support for this idea comes from studies showing that inhibitory and activating NK receptor expression was associated with particular TCR specificities (133, 136). Additionally, signaling through CD94/NKG2C, NKG2D, and IL-15 receptors lowers the threshold for TCR activation (79, 109, 134). This co-stimulatory signaling could allow for low-affinity TCR-ligand interactions to activate TCR signaling, while under normal conditions the interaction would be too low affinity for activation. Evidence for this was shown in a study in which IL-15 expressing tumors were selectively controlled and killed by SIYspecific CTLs cells in a non-cognate but TCR-dependent fashion (137). Therefore, there still may be a potential role for TCR specificity among IE-CTLs as low affinity TCR interactions may be playing a part in tissue destruction along with TCRindependent cytolysis. Overall, although TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ IE-CTLs are not gluten specific, they destroy specifically intestinal epithelial cells expressing IL-15 and ligands for activating NK receptors.

While the frequencies of TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ CD 8^+ IE-CTLs decrease when gluten is excluded from the diet (35), the expansion of TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes persists (132). Intriguingly, the composition of the tissue-resident TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ compartment is irreversibly altered by inflammation with the depletion of innatelike V $\gamma4^+/V\delta1^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes and the expansion of gluten-sensitive IFN- γ -producing V $\delta1^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes (138). Although the exact role of the naturally occurring tissue resident TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes that have both cytotoxic and tissue repair potential remains to be determined, their loss may lead to a defect in tissue healing and the protection against infections and tumors. Furthermore, the role of gluten-dependent production of IFN- γ by active CeD V $\delta1^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes remains elusive.

A subset of adults with CeD go on to develop refractory coeliac disease (RCD), a rare CeD complication in which patients have persistent severe villous atrophy despite being on a strict gluten-free diet (139, 140). One of the hallmarks of RCD is the expansion of aberrant intraepithelial cytotoxic lymphocytes that lack surface CD3 expression (sCD3⁻), express intracellular CD3 (iCD3⁺), and display a highly activated NK cell-like phenotype (140). These aberrant IE-CTLs develop from hematopoietic stem cell-derived CD103⁺sCD3⁻ IELs that encounter high levels of IL-15 and Notch signals in the gut epithelium and develop gain-of-function JAK1 or STAT3 mutations (141). Since both JAK1 and STAT3 are involved in IL-15 signaling, these gain of function mutations lead to heightened IL-15 signaling in aberrant iCD3⁺

IE-CTLs resulting in their expansion and survival through activation of anti-apoptotic signaling pathways (e.g. upregulation of anti-apoptotic factors Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl) (66, 142, 143). With IL-15 playing such a major role in the development of CeD and RCD, recent phase 2a clinical trials tested the impact of blocking IL-15 in CeD and RCD patients (144, 145). The trials did not show a significant difference in the primary clinical endpoints (improvement of the mucosal architecture in CeD and reduction in the proportion of aberrant intraepithelial lymphocytes in RCD). However, there were differences in some secondary endpoints, with treated RCD patients having fewer gastrointestinal symptoms and displaying less T cell receptor clonality than the placebo group (144), suggesting that blocking IL-15 may still be an option for treating RCD. There is a need to perform long-term follow-up studies in which the treatment duration will be significantly increased (duration of the anti-IL5 treatment in the published study was only ten weeks).

CONCLUSION

As discussed throughout this review, both innate and adaptive immune responses possibly connected by a cytokine network contribute to the immunopathogenesis of CeD. Each of the described cell types and their known mechanism of action are required to promote CeD but none of them individually is sufficient to culminate in the full-blown disease characterized by intestinal tissue destruction and remodeling. Observations in mice and humans have suggested or demonstrated the requirement for the simultaneous activation of distinct pathways in different gut locations, some cell-cell interactions, and the existence of a crosstalk between the lamina propria and the epithelial compartments (**Figure 2**).

First, the simultaneous analysis of IE-CTLs and intestinal epithelial cells features in patients encompassing the spectrum of the disease - i.e. family members, potential CeD patients and active CeD patients- has led to the hypothesis that the combination of epithelial stress associated with high IL-15 expression in enterocytes and an anti-gluten adaptive immune response induced in the lamina propria in the presence of inflammatory mediators such as IL-15 is needed for the development of villous atrophy (25). The cooperation between epithelial IL-15 and CD4⁺ T cells to promote tissue destruction was also suggested by a study performed in mice overexpressing IL-15 in the gut epithelium and fed with the dietary antigen ovalbumin (146). The analysis of our DQ8-D^d-villin-IL-15g mice modeling CeD patients upon gluten oral challenge unequivocally confirmed that the development of villous atrophy requires the concomitant presence of epithelial stress and anti-gluten adaptive immunity (23).

Next, in agreement with the findings that CD4⁺ T cells are required for the development of CeD, the prevention of villous atrophy in DQ8-D^d-villin-IL-15tg mice treated with an anti-CD4 depleting antibody, anti-IFN γ depleting antibody or TG2 inhibitors concomitantly to gluten administration also



presence of high IL-15 expression in the epithelium, intraepithelial lymphocytes acquire cytotoxic properties (activating NK receptors, release of the cytotoxic molecules granzyme B and perforin) and the ability to kill stressed epithelial cells expressing the ligands (HLA-E, MICA/B) for the NK receptors. Each of these immune events are required to promote coeliac disease but none of them individually is sufficient to promote intestinal tissue destruction. Hence the immunopathogenesis of coeliac disease is often presented as a jigsaw where each piece associated with one immune event needs to be connected to promote the disease.

underlined the existence of a cross-talk between $T_{H}1$ immunity in the lamina propria and the activation of IE-CTLs (23).

In addition, a recent study using a mouse model of CeD lacking B cells has demonstrated that B lymphocytes are required for the development of villous atrophy and the induction of a killer phenotype in IE-CTLs (147). The mechanisms underlying the exact contribution of B-cell mediated immune responses to the immunopathogenesis of CeD remains to be determined. Most of our current understanding of the role of antibodies is based upon in vitro experiments. Although anti-TG2 antibodies can exert several effects, no consensus has been reached regarding their potential pathogenic role [reviewed in (148)]. While cytokines produced by B cells, that need yet to be identified, could contribute to the inflammatory process in the CeD lesion, B lymphocytes and/or plasma cells themselves could contribute to disease pathogenesis through their role as antigenpresenting cells. Indeed, plasma cells were found to be the most abundant gluten peptide MHC-expressing cells in the lamina propria of CD patients (149). Human studies have also suggested that gluten CD4⁺ T cells and B cells having internalized TG2gluten complexes interact to promote the generation of anti-TG2 antibodies, whose formation rely on the presence of gluten

(24, 48, 150, 151). This T cell-B cell crosstalk is supported by *in vitro* assays showing that transduced lymphoma B cells expressing HLA-DQ2.5 and binding catalytically active TG2 can activate gluten-specific hybridoma T cells in the presence of non-deamidated gluten peptides (151). However, whether this interaction also benefits $CD4^+$ T cells by promoting their activation and expansion helping to reach the threshold needed to reach a pathogenic T cell response remains to be determined.

T cell clones have proven to be an invaluable research tool to gain insights into the immune mechanisms underlying CeD pathogenesis. Early analysis of CD4 T cell clones in celiac patients uncovered $T_{\rm H}$ 1-skewed gluten-specific CD4 T cells restricted to the disease-associated HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 molecules (26, 31, 40). Further interrogation of gut derived gluten-specific T cell clones helped to demonstrate that these clones respond to TG2-modified gluten peptides and that deamidation of these peptides leads to the strongest T cell response (29, 30). The usage of animal models of the disease combined with our ability to track gluten-specific T cells should help identify the intestinal location of the pathogenic cellular interactions described in this review, such as the B cell-T cell

crosstalk (37, 152). Leveraging single-cell approaches technologies to study human samples could also help identify additional understudied cell subsets such as innate lymphoid cells [reviewed in (138, 153)] that could participate in the establishment and maintenance of the disease.

Altogether, CeD represents a perfect example of a multifactorial complex autoimmune disorder. The priming of a gluten-specific inflammatory immune response depends on the coordinated interaction between gluten, the celiac predisposing HLA-DQ molecule, activated TG2, and CD4⁺ T cells, while the alteration of epithelial cells expressing stress molecules, and the subsequent activation of IE-CTLs are all required to promote intestinal tissue destruction. How T lymphocytes in the lamina propria and cells present in the epithelial compartment communicate and where the cross-talk between distinct cell

REFERENCES

- Tack GJ, Verbeek WH, Schreurs MW, Mulder CJ. The Spectrum of Celiac Disease: Epidemiology, Clinical Aspects and Treatment. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol (2010) 7:204–13. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2010.23
- Dieterich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M, Donner P, Volta U, Riecken EO, et al. Identification of Tissue Transglutaminase as the Autoantigen of Celiac Disease. Nat Med (1997) 3:797–801. doi: 10.1038/nm0797-797
- Dieterich W, Laag E, Schopper H, Volta U, Ferguson A, Gillett H, et al. Autoantibodies to Tissue Transglutaminase as Predictors of Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (1998) 115:1317–21. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70007-1
- Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabo I, Kurppa K, Mearin ML, Ribes-Koninckx C, et al. European Society Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Guidelines for Diagnosing Coeliac Disease 2020. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr (2020) 70:141–56. doi: 10.1097/ MPG.000000000002497
- Abadie V, Sollid LM, Barreiro LB, Jabri B. Integration of Genetic and Immunological Insights Into a Model of Celiac Disease Pathogenesis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:493–525. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-040210-092915
- Ludvigsson JF, Leffler DA, Bai JC, Biagi F, Fasano A, Green PH, et al. The Oslo Definitions for Coeliac Disease and Related Terms. *Gut* (2013) 62:43–52. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301346
- Sollid LM, Markussen G, Ek J, Gjerde H, Vartdal F, Thorsby E. Evidence for a Primary Association of Celiac Disease to a Particular HLA-DQ Alpha/Beta Heterodimer. J Exp Med (1989) 169:345–50.
- Singh P, Arora A, Strand TA, Leffler DA, Catassi C, Green PH, et al. Global Prevalence of Celiac Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2018) 16:823–36.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.06.037
- Dubois PC, Trynka G, Franke L, Hunt KA, Romanos J, Curtotti A, et al. Multiple Common Variants for Celiac Disease Influencing Immune Gene Expression. *Nat Genet* (2010) 42:295–302. doi: 10.1038/ng.543
- Gutierrez-Achury J, Zhernakova A, Pulit SL, Trynka G, Hunt KA, Romanos J, et al. Fine Mapping in the MHC Region Accounts for 18% Additional Genetic Risk for Celiac Disease. *Nat Genet* (2015) 47:577–8. doi: 10.1038/ ng.3268
- Kumar V, Gutierrez-Achury J, Kanduri K, Almeida R, Hrdlickova B, Zhernakova DV, et al. Systematic Annotation of Celiac Disease Loci Refines Pathological Pathways and Suggests a Genetic Explanation for Increased Interferon-Gamma Levels. *Hum Mol Genet* (2015) 24:397–409. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu453
- Trynka G, Hunt KA, Bockett NA, Romanos J, Mistry V, Szperl A, et al. Dense Genotyping Identifies and Localizes Multiple Common and Rare Variant Association Signals in Celiac Disease. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43:1193– 201. doi: 10.1038/ng.998
- 13. van Heel DA, Franke L, Hunt KA, Gwilliam R, Zhernakova A, Inouye M, et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study for Celiac Disease Identifies Risk

types occur is not yet understood and will certainly lead to the identification of signaling pathways that could potentially represent novel therapeutic targets.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Young Investigator Award from the Celiac Disease Foundation to VA.

Variants in the Region Harboring IL2 and IL21. *Nat Genet* (2007) 39:827–9. doi: 10.1038/ng2058

- Kemppainen KM, Lynch KF, Liu E, Lonnrot M, Simell V, Briese T, et al. Factors That Increase Risk of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity After a Gastrointestinal Infection in Early Life. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 15:694–702.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.10.033
- Marild K, Kahrs CR, Tapia G, Stene LC, Stordal K. Infections and Risk of Celiac Disease in Childhood: A Prospective Nationwide Cohort Study. Am J Gastroenterol (2015) 110:1475–84. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.287
- Stene LC, Honeyman MC, Hoffenberg EJ, Haas JE, Sokol RJ, Emery L, et al. Rotavirus Infection Frequency and Risk of Celiac Disease Autoimmunity in Early Childhood: A Longitudinal Study. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2006) 101:2333–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00741.x
- Caminero A, Verdu EF. Celiac Disease: Should We Care About Microbes? *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2019) 317:G161–70. doi: 10.1152/ ajpgi.00099.2019
- Bouziat R, Biering SB, Kouame E, Sangani KA, Kang S, Ernest JD, et al. Murine Norovirus Infection Induces Th1 Inflammatory Responses to Dietary Antigens. *Cell Host Microbe* (2018) 24:677–88.e5. doi: 10.1016/ j.chom.2018.10.004
- Bouziat R, Hinterleitner R, Brown JJ, Stencel-Baerenwald JE, Ikizler M, Mayassi T, et al. Reovirus Infection Triggers Inflammatory Responses to Dietary Antigens and Development of Celiac Disease. *Science* (2017) 356:44– 50. doi: 10.1126/science.aah5298
- Carroccio A, Cavataio F, Montalto G, Paparo F, Troncone R, Iacono G. Treatment of Giardiasis Reverses "Active" Coeliac Disease to "Latent" Coeliac Disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2001) 13:1101–5. doi: 10.1097/00042737-200109000-00018
- Verdu EF, Mauro M, Bourgeois J, Armstrong D. Clinical Onset of Celiac Disease After an Episode of Campylobacter Jejuni Enteritis. Can J Gastroenterol (2007) 21:453–5. doi: 10.1155/2007/169591
- Petersen J, Ciacchi L, Tran MT, Loh KL, Kooy-Winkelaar Y, Croft NP, et al. T Cell Receptor Cross-Reactivity Between Gliadin and Bacterial Peptides in Celiac Disease. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2020) 27:49–61. doi: 10.1038/s41594-019-0353-4
- Abadie V, Kim SM, Lejeune T, Palanski BA, Ernest JD, Tastet O, et al. Il-15, Gluten and HLA-DQ8 Drive Tissue Destruction in Coeliac Disease. *Nature* (2020) 578:600–4. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2003-8
- Iversen R, Sollid LM. Autoimmunity Provoked by Foreign Antigens. Science (2020) 368:132–3. doi: 10.1126/science.aay3037
- 25. Setty M, Discepolo V, Abadie V, Kamhawi S, Mayassi T, Kent A, et al. Distinct and Synergistic Contributions of Epithelial Stress and Adaptive Immunity to Functions of Intraepithelial Killer Cells and Active Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 149:681–91.e10. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2015.05.013
- Lundin KE, Scott H, Hansen T, Paulsen G, Halstensen TS, Fausa O, et al. Gliadin-Specific, HLA-DQ(alpha 1*0501,Beta 1*0201) Restricted T Cells

Isolated From the Small Intestinal Mucosa of Celiac Disease Patients. J Exp Med (1993) 178:187–96. doi: 10.1084/jem.178.1.187

- Molberg O, Kett K, Scott H, Thorsby E, Sollid LM, Lundin KE, et al. DQ2-Restricted T Cells are Commonly Found in Small Intestinal Biopsies From Coeliac Disease Patients, But Not From Controls. *Scand J Immunol* (1997) 46:103–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-17.x
- Arentz-Hansen H, Korner R, Molberg O, Quarsten H, Vader W, Kooy YM, et al. The Intestinal T Cell Response to Alpha-Gliadin in Adult Celiac Disease is Focused on a Single Deamidated Glutamine Targeted by Tissue Transglutaminase. J Exp Med (2000) 191:603–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.4.603
- Molberg O, McAdam SN, Korner R, Quarsten H, Kristiansen C, Madsen L, et al. Tissue Transglutaminase Selectively Modifies Gliadin Peptides That are Recognized by Gut-Derived T Cells in Celiac Disease. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:713–7. doi: 10.1038/nm0698-713
- 30. van de Wal Y, Kooy Y, van Veelen P, Pena S, Mearin L, Papadopoulos G, et al. Selective Deamidation by Tissue Transglutaminase Strongly Enhances Gliadin-Specific T Cell Reactivity. *J Immunol* (1998) 161:1585–8.
- Nilsen EM, Lundin KE, Krajci P, Scott H, Sollid LM, Brandtzaeg P, et al. Restricted T Cells From Coeliac Mucosa Produce Cytokines With Th1 or Th0 Profile Dominated by Interferon Gamma. *Gut* (1995) 37:766–76. doi: 10.1136/gut.37.6.766
- 32. Nilsen EM, Jahnsen FL, Lundin KE, Johansen FE, Fausa O, Sollid LM, et al. Gluten Induces an Intestinal Cytokine Response Strongly Dominated by Interferon Gamma in Patients With Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (1998) 115:551–63. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70134-9
- Bodd M, Raki M, Tollefsen S, Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Lundin KE, et al. Hla-DQ2-restricted Gluten-Reactive T Cells Produce IL-21 But Not IL-17 or IL-22. *Mucosal Immunol* (2012) 3:594–601. doi: 10.1038/mi.2010.36
- Tosco A, Salvati VM, Auricchio R, Maglio M, Borrelli M, Coruzzo A, et al. Natural History of Potential Celiac Disease in Children. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2011) 9:320–5. quiz e36. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.09.006
- Jabri B, Sollid LM. Tissue-Mediated Control of Immunopathology in Coeliac Disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:858–70. doi: 10.1038/nri2670
- Jabri B, Sollid LM. T Cells in Celiac Disease. J Immunol (2017) 198:3005–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601693
- de Kauwe AL, Chen Z, Anderson RP, Keech CL, Price JD, Wijburg O, et al. Resistance to Celiac Disease in Humanized HLA-DR3-DQ2-transgenic Mice Expressing Specific Anti-Gliadin CD4+ T Cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:7440– 50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900233
- DePaolo RW, Abadie V, Tang F, Fehlner-Peach H, Hall JA, Wang W, et al. Co-Adjuvant Effects of Retinoic Acid and IL-15 Induce Inflammatory Immunity to Dietary Antigens. *Nature* (2011) 471:220–4. doi: 10.1038/ nature09849
- Marietta E, Black K, Camilleri M, Krause P, Rogers RS3rd, David C, et al. A New Model for Dermatitis Herpetiformis That Uses HLA-DQ8 Transgenic NOD Mice. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:1090–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI200421055
- Lundin KE, Scott H, Fausa O, Thorsby E, Sollid LM. T Cells From the Small Intestinal Mucosa of a DR4, Dq7/Dr4, DQ8 Celiac Disease Patient Preferentially Recognize Gliadin When Presented by DQ8. *Hum Immunol* (1994) 41:285–91. doi: 10.1016/0198-8859(94)90047-7
- Sollid LM, Qiao SW, Anderson RP, Gianfrani C, Koning F. Nomenclature and Listing of Celiac Disease Relevant Gluten T-cell Epitopes Restricted by HLA-DQ Molecules. *Immunogenetics* (2012) 64:455–60. doi: 10.1007/ s00251-012-0599-z
- 42. Shan L, Molberg O, Parrot I, Hausch F, Filiz F, Gray GM, et al. Structural Basis for Gluten Intolerance in Celiac Sprue. *Science* (2002) 297:2275–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1074129
- Fesus L, Piacentini M. Transglutaminase 2: An Enigmatic Enzyme With Diverse Functions. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2002) 27:534–9. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(02)02182-5
- 44. Tollefsen S, Arentz-Hansen H, Fleckenstein B, Molberg O, Raki M, Kwok WW, et al. Hla-DQ2 and -DQ8 Signatures of Gluten T Cell Epitopes in Celiac Disease. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2226-36. doi: 10.1172/JCI27620
- Ientile R, Caccamo D, Griffin M. Tissue Transglutaminase and the Stress Response. Amino Acids (2007) 33:385–94. doi: 10.1007/s00726-007-0517-0
- 46. Siegel M, Strnad P, Watts RE, Choi K, Jabri B, Omary MB, et al. Extracellular Transglutaminase 2 is Catalytically Inactive, But is Transiently Activated

Upon Tissue Injury. PLoS One (2008) 3:e1861. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0001861

- Iversen R, Amundsen SF, Kleppa L, du Pre MF, Stamnaes J, Sollid LM. Evidence That Pathogenic Transglutaminase 2 in Celiac Disease Derives From Enterocytes. *Gastroenterology* (2020) 159:788–90. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2020.04.018
- Sollid LM, Molberg O, McAdam S, Lundin KE. Autoantibodies in Coeliac Disease: Tissue Transglutaminase–Guilt by Association? *Gut* (1997) 41:851– 2. doi: 10.1136/gut.41.6.851
- 49. Maki M. "C.O.F.". In: C Feighery, editor. Seventh INternational Symposium on Coeliac Disease. Oak Tree Press (1992). p. 246–52.
- Diraimondo TR, Klock C, Khosla C. Interferon-Gamma Activates Transglutaminase 2 Via a phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase-dependent Pathway: Implications for Celiac Sprue Therapy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2012) 341:104–14. doi: 10.1124/jpet.111.187385
- Jin X, Stamnaes J, Klock C, DiRaimondo TR, Sollid LM, Khosla C. Activation of Extracellular Transglutaminase 2 by Thioredoxin. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:37866–73. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.287490
- Karell K, Louka AS, Moodie SJ, Ascher H, Clot F, Greco L, et al. HLA Types in Celiac Disease Patients Not Carrying the DQA1*05-DQB1*02 (DQ2) Heterodimer: Results From the European Genetics Cluster on Celiac Disease. *Hum Immunol* (2003) 64:469–77. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(03) 00027-2
- PLoSki R, Ek J, Thorsby E, Sollid LM. On the HLA-DQ(alpha 1*0501, Beta 1*0201)-Associated Susceptibility in Celiac Disease: A Possible Gene Dosage Effect of DQB1*0201. *Tissue Antigens* (1993) 41:173–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1993.tb01998.x
- 54. Koning F. Celiac Disease: Quantity Matters. Semin Immunopathol (2012) 34:541–9. doi: 10.1007/s00281-012-0321-0
- 55. Vader W, Stepniak D, Kooy Y, Mearin L, Thompson A, van Rood JJ, et al. The HLA-DQ2 Gene Dose Effect in Celiac Disease is Directly Related to the Magnitude and Breadth of Gluten-Specific T Cell Responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100:12390–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2135229100
- 56. Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Hotta K, Berg-Larsen A, Kim CY, Sollid LM. Differences in the Risk of Celiac Disease Associated With HLA-DQ2.5 or HLA-DQ2.2 are Related to Sustained Gluten Antigen Presentation. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:1096–101. doi: 10.1038/ni.1780
- 57. Ting YT, Dahal-Koirala S, Kim HSK, Qiao SW, Neumann RS, Lundin KEA, et al. A Molecular Basis for the T Cell Response in HLA-DQ2.2 Mediated Celiac Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2020) 117:3063–73. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1914308117
- Faria AM, Weiner HL. Oral Tolerance. Immunol Rev (2005) 206:232–59. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00280.x
- Pabst O, Mowat AM. Oral Tolerance to Food Protein. *Mucosal Immunol* (2012) 5:232–9. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.4
- 60. van Leeuwen MA, Lindenbergh-Kortleve DJ, Raatgeep HC, de Ruiter LF, de Krijger RR, Groeneweg M, et al. Increased Production of interleukin-21, But Not interleukin-17A, in the Small Intestine Characterizes Pediatric Celiac Disease. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:1202–13. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.19
- McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'Garra A. Type I Interferons in Infectious Disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15:87–103. doi: 10.1038/ nri3787
- Brinkmann V, Geiger T, Alkan S, Heusser CH. Interferon Alpha Increases the Frequency of Interferon Gamma-Producing Human CD4+ T Cells. *J Exp Med* (1993) 178:1655–63. doi: 10.1084/jem.178.5.1655
- Monteleone G, Pender SL, Alstead E, Hauer AC, Lionetti P, McKenzie C, et al. Role of Interferon Alpha in Promoting T Helper Cell Type 1 Responses in the Small Intestine in Coeliac Disease. *Gut* (2001) 48:425–9. doi: 10.1136/ gut.48.3.425
- Plot L, Amital H. Infectious Associations of Celiac Disease. Autoimmun Rev (2009) 8:316–9. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2008.10.001
- Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Auricchio S, Brown V, Quaratino S, Londei M. Interleukin 15 Mediates Epithelial Changes in Celiac Disease. Gastroenterology (2000) 119:996–1006. doi: 10.1053/gast.2000.18149
- Mention JJ, Ben Ahmed M, Begue B, Barbe U, Verkarre V, Asnafi V, et al. Interleukin 15: A Key to Disrupted Intraepithelial Lymphocyte Homeostasis and Lymphomagenesis in Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2003) 125:730– 45. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(03)01047-3

- 67. Ben Ahmed M, Belhadj Hmida N, Moes N, Buyse S, Abdeladhim M, Louzir H, et al. Il-15 Renders Conventional Lymphocytes Resistant to Suppressive Functions of Regulatory T Cells Through Activation of the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Pathway. J Immunol (2009) 182:6763–70. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801792
- Benahmed M, Meresse B, Arnulf B, Barbe U, Mention JJ, Verkarre V, et al. Inhibition of TGF-beta Signaling by IL-15: A New Role for IL-15 in the Loss of Immune Homeostasis in Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2007) 132:994– 1008. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.12.025
- 69. Sudhir Kumar Chauhan RBC, Landsverk OJB, Jahnsen J, Horneland R, Yaqub S, Aandahl EM, et al. The Human Small Intestine Comprises Two Subsets of Regulatory Foxp3+ Cd4 T Cells With Very Different Life Span and Functional Properties. *bioRxiv* [Preprint] (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.02.12.941369
- Vorobjova T, Uibo O, Heilman K, Rago T, Honkanen J, Vaarala O, et al. Increased FOXP3 Expression in Small-Bowel Mucosa of Children With Coeliac Disease and Type I Diabetes Mellitus. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (2009) 44:422–30. doi: 10.1080/00365520802624177
- Zanzi D, Stefanile R, Santagata S, Iaffaldano L, Iaquinto G, Giardullo N, et al. Il-15 Interferes With Suppressive Activity of Intestinal Regulatory T Cells Expanded in Celiac Disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2011) 106:1308–17. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2011.80
- 72. Gianfrani C, Levings MK, Sartirana C, Mazzarella G, Barba G, Zanzi D, et al. Gliadin-Specific Type 1 Regulatory T Cells From the Intestinal Mucosa of Treated Celiac Patients Inhibit Pathogenic T Cells. J Immunol (2006) 177:4178–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.6.4178
- 73. Hmida NB, Ben Ahmed M, Moussa A, Rejeb MB, Said Y, Kourda N, et al. Impaired Control of Effector T Cells by Regulatory T Cells: A Clue to Loss of Oral Tolerance and Autoimmunity in Celiac Disease? *Am J Gastroenterol* (2012) 107:604–11. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2011.397
- 74. Christophersen A, Risnes LF, Bergseng E, Lundin KE, Sollid LM, Qiao SW. Healthy HLA-DQ2.5+ Subjects Lack Regulatory and Memory T Cells Specific for Immunodominant Gluten Epitopes of Celiac Disease. *J Immunol* (2016) 196:2819–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501152
- van Bergen J, Mulder CJ, Mearin ML, Koning F. Local Communication Among Mucosal Immune Cells in Patients With Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 148:1187–94. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.01.030
- Deem RL, Shanahan F, Targan SR. Triggered Human Mucosal T Cells Release Tumour Necrosis Factor-Alpha and Interferon-Gamma Which Kill Human Colonic Epithelial Cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1991) 83:79–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.1991.tb05592.x
- 77. Przemioslo RT, Lundin KE, Sollid LM, Nelufer J, Ciclitira PJ. Histological Changes in Small Bowel Mucosa Induced by Gliadin Sensitive T Lymphocytes can be Blocked by Anti-Interferon Gamma Antibody. *Gut* (1995) 36:874–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.36.6.874
- Jabri B, de Serre NP, Cellier C, Evans K, Gache C, Carvalho C, et al. Selective Expansion of Intraepithelial Lymphocytes Expressing the HLA-E-specific Natural Killer Receptor CD94 in Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2000) 118:867–79. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(00)70173-9
- Meresse B, Curran SA, Ciszewski C, Orbelyan G, Setty M, Bhagat G, et al. Reprogramming of CTLs Into Natural Killer-Like Cells in Celiac Disease. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:1343–55. doi: 10.1084/jem.20060028
- Ebert EC. Interleukin 21 Up-Regulates Perforin-Mediated Cytotoxic Activity of Human Intra-Epithelial Lymphocytes. *Immunology* (2009) 127:206–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02941.x
- Sarra M, Cupi ML, Monteleone I, Franze E, Ronchetti G, Di Sabatino A, et al. Il-15 Positively Regulates IL-21 Production in Celiac Disease Mucosa. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:244–55. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.65
- Black KE, Murray JA, David CS. Hla-DQ Determines the Response to Exogenous Wheat Proteins: A Model of Gluten Sensitivity in Transgenic Knockout Mice. J Immunol (2002) 169:5595–600. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.169.10.5595
- Goel G, Daveson AJM, Hooi CE, Tye-Din JA, Wang S, Szymczak E, et al. Serum Cytokines Elevated During Gluten-Mediated Cytokine Release in Coeliac Disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2020) 199:68–78. doi: 10.1111/ cei.13369
- Goel G, Tye-Din JA, Qiao SW, Russell AK, Mayassi T, Ciszewski C, et al. Cytokine Release and Gastrointestinal Symptoms After Gluten Challenge in Celiac Disease. *Sci Adv* (2019) 5:eaaw7756. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaw7756

- Goel G, King T, Daveson AJ, Andrews JM, Krishnarajah J, Krause R, et al. Epitope-Specific Immunotherapy Targeting CD4-Positive T Cells in Coeliac Disease: Two Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Phase 1 Studies. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 2:479–93. doi: 10.1016/ S2468-1253(17)30110-3
- Tye-Din JA, Daveson AJM, Ee HC, Goel G, MacDougall J, Acaster S, et al. Elevated Serum Interleukin-2 After Gluten Correlates With Symptoms and is a Potential Diagnostic Biomarker for Coeliac Disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2019) 50:901–10. doi: 10.1111/apt.15477
- Tye-Din JA, Skodje GI, Sarna VK, Dzuris JL, Russell AK, Goel G, et al. Cytokine Release After Gluten Ingestion Differentiates Coeliac Disease From Self-Reported Gluten Sensitivity. *United Eur Gastroenterol J* (2020) 8:108– 18. doi: 10.1177/2050640619874173
- Barone MV, Gimigliano A, Castoria G, Paolella G, Maurano F, Paparo F, et al. Growth Factor-Like Activity of Gliadin, an Alimentary Protein: Implications for Coeliac Disease. *Gut* (2007) 56:480–8. doi: 10.1136/ gut.2005.086637
- Cinova J, Palova-Jelinkova L, Smythies LE, Cerna M, Pecharova B, Dvorak M, et al. Gliadin Peptides Activate Blood Monocytes From Patients With Celiac Disease. J Clin Immunol (2007) 27:201–9. doi: 10.1007/s10875-006-9061-z
- Hue S, Mention JJ, Monteiro RC, Zhang S, Cellier C, Schmitz J, et al. A Direct Role for NKG2D/MICA Interaction in Villous Atrophy During Celiac Disease. *Immunity* (2004) 21:367–77. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2004. 06.018
- Lammers KM, Lu R, Brownley J, Lu B, Gerard C, Thomas K, et al. Gliadin Induces an Increase in Intestinal Permeability and Zonulin Release by Binding to the Chemokine Receptor CXCR3. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 135:194–204.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.023
- Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Ricciardelli I, Vacca L, Raia V, Auricchio S, et al. Association Between Innate Response to Gliadin and Activation of Pathogenic T Cells in Coeliac Disease. *Lancet* (2003) 362:30-7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13803-2
- Nikulina M, Habich C, Flohe SB, Scott FW, Kolb H. Wheat Gluten Causes Dendritic Cell Maturation and Chemokine Secretion. J Immunol (2004) 173:1925–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.3.1925
- 94. Terrazzano G, Sica M, Gianfrani C, Mazzarella G, Maurano F, De Giulio B, et al. Gliadin Regulates the NK-dendritic Cell Cross-Talk by HLA-E Surface Stabilization. J Immunol (2007) 179:372–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 179.1.372
- Caminero A, McCarville JL, Zevallos VF, Pigrau M, Yu XB, Jury J, et al. Lactobacilli Degrade Wheat Amylase Trypsin Inhibitors to Reduce Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Immunogenic Wheat Proteins. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 156:2266–80. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.02.028
- Junker Y, Zeissig S, Kim SJ, Barisani D, Wieser H, Leffler DA, et al. Wheat Amylase Trypsin Inhibitors Drive Intestinal Inflammation *Via* Activation of Toll-Like Receptor 4. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:2395–408. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20102660
- de Ritis G, Auricchio S, Jones HW, Lew EJ, Bernardin JE, Kasarda DD. In Vitro (Organ Culture) Studies of the Toxicity of Specific A-gliadin Peptides in Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (1988) 94:41–9. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085 (88)90607-5
- 98. Maiuri L, Troncone R, Mayer M, Coletta S, Picarelli A, De Vincenzi M, et al. In Vitro Activities of A-gliadin-related Synthetic Peptides: Damaging Effect on the Atrophic Coeliac Mucosa and Activation of Mucosal Immune Response in the Treated Coeliac Mucosa. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (1996) 31:247–53. doi: 10.3109/00365529609004874
- Sturgess R, Day P, Ellis HJ, Lundin KE, Gjertsen HA, Kontakou M, et al. Wheat Peptide Challenge in Coeliac Disease. *Lancet* (1994) 343:758–61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)91837-6
- 100. Barone MV, Troncone R, Auricchio S. Gliadin Peptides as Triggers of the Proliferative and Stress/Innate Immune Response of the Celiac Small Intestinal Mucosa. Int J Mol Sci (2014) 15:20518–37. doi: 10.3390/ ijms151120518
- 101. Barone MV, Zanzi D, Maglio M, Nanayakkara M, Santagata S, Lania G, et al. Gliadin-Mediated Proliferation and Innate Immune Activation in Celiac Disease are Due to Alterations in Vesicular Trafficking. *PLoS One* (2011) 6: e17039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017039

- 102. Clemente MG, De Virgiliis S, Kang JS, Macatagney R, Musu MP, Di Pierro MR, et al. Early Effects of Gliadin on Enterocyte Intracellular Signalling Involved in Intestinal Barrier Function. *Gut* (2003) 52:218–23. doi: 10.1136/ gut.52.2.218
- 103. Juuti-Uusitalo K, Maki M, Kainulainen H, Isola J, Kaukinen K. Gluten Affects Epithelial Differentiation-Associated Genes in Small Intestinal Mucosa of Coeliac Patients. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2007) 150:294–305. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03500.x
- 104. Nanayakkara M, Lania G, Maglio M, Discepolo V, Sarno M, Gaito A, et al. An Undigested Gliadin Peptide Activates Innate Immunity and Proliferative Signaling in Enterocytes: The Role in Celiac Disease. Am J Clin Nutr (2013) 98:1123–35. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.054544
- 105. Chirdo FG, Auricchio S, Troncone R, Barone MV. The Gliadin p31-43 Peptide: Inducer of Multiple Proinflammatory Effects. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* (2021) 358:165–205. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2020.10.003
- 106. Dieterich W, Neurath MF, Zopf Y. Intestinal Ex Vivo Organoid Culture Reveals Altered Programmed Crypt Stem Cells in Patients With Celiac Disease. Sci Rep (2020) 10:3535. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-60521-5
- 107. Fernandez-Jimenez N, Castellanos-Rubio A, Plaza-Izurieta L, Irastorza I, Elcoroaristizabal X, Jauregi-Miguel A, et al. Coregulation and Modulation of NFkappaB-related Genes in Celiac Disease: Uncovered Aspects of Gut Mucosal Inflammation. *Hum Mol Genet* (2014) 23:1298–310. doi: 10.1093/ hmg/ddt520
- 108. Lania G, Nanayakkara M, Maglio M, Auricchio R, Porpora M, Conte M, et al. Constitutive Alterations in Vesicular Trafficking Increase the Sensitivity of Cells From Celiac Disease Patients to Gliadin. *Commun Biol* (2019) 2:190. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0443-1
- 109. Meresse B, Chen Z, Ciszewski C, Tretiakova M, Bhagat G, Krausz TN, et al. Coordinated Induction by IL15 of a TCR-independent NKG2D Signaling Pathway Converts CTL Into Lymphokine-Activated Killer Cells in Celiac Disease. *Immunity* (2004) 21:357–66. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2004.06.020
- 110. Bernardo D, Garrote JA, Fernandez-Salazar L, Riestra S, Arranz E. Is Gliadin Really Safe for non-Coeliac Individuals? Production of Interleukin 15 in Biopsy Culture From non-Coeliac Individuals Challenged With Gliadin Peptides. *Gut* (2007) 56:889–90. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.118265
- 111. Abadie V, Jabri B. Il-15: A Central Regulator of Celiac Disease Immunopathology. Immunol Rev (2014) 260:221–34. doi: 10.1111/imr.12191
- 112. Araya RE, Gomez Castro MF, Carasi P, McCarville JL, Jury J, Mowat AM, et al. Mechanisms of Innate Immune Activation by Gluten Peptide p31-43 in Mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol (2016) 311:G40–9. doi: 10.1152/ ajpgi.00435.2015
- Sollid LM, Jabri B. Triggers and Drivers of Autoimmunity: Lessons From Coeliac Disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13:294–302. doi: 10.1038/nri3407
- 114. Zhernakova A, Elbers CC, Ferwerda B, Romanos J, Trynka G, Dubois PC, et al. Evolutionary and Functional Analysis of Celiac Risk Loci Reveals SH2B3 as a Protective Factor Against Bacterial Infection. *Am J Hum Genet* (2010) 86:970–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.05.004
- 115. Caminero A, McCarville JL, Galipeau HJ, Deraison C, Bernier SP, Constante M, et al. Duodenal Bacterial Proteolytic Activity Determines Sensitivity to Dietary Antigen Through Protease-Activated Receptor-2. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1198. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09037-9
- 116. Caminero A, Galipeau HJ, McCarville JL, Johnston CW, Bernier SP, Russell AK, et al. Duodenal Bacteria From Patients With Celiac Disease and Healthy Subjects Distinctly Affect Gluten Breakdown and Immunogenicity. *Gastroenterology* (2016) 151:670–83. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.06.041
- 117. D'Argenio V, Casaburi G, Precone V, Pagliuca C, Colicchio R, Sarnataro D, et al. Metagenomics Reveals Dysbiosis and a Potentially Pathogenic N. Flavescens Strain in Duodenum of Adult Celiac Patients. Am J Gastroenterol (2016) 111:879–90. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.95
- 118. Lloyd-Price J, Arze C, Ananthakrishnan AN, Schirmer M, Avila-Pacheco J, Poon TW, et al. Multi-Omics of the Gut Microbial Ecosystem in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Nature* (2019) 569:655–62. doi: 10.1038/ s41586-019-1237-9
- 119. Machiels K, Joossens M, Sabino J, De Preter V, Arijs I, Eeckhaut V, et al. A Decrease of the Butyrate-Producing Species Roseburia Hominis and Faecalibacterium Prausnitzii Defines Dysbiosis in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut* (2014) 63:1275–83. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-304833

- 120. Scher JU, Ubeda C, Artacho A, Attur M, Isaac S, Reddy SM, et al. Decreased Bacterial Diversity Characterizes the Altered Gut Microbiota in Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis, Resembling Dysbiosis in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Arthritis Rheumatol (2015) 67:128–39. doi: 10.1002/art.38892
- 121. Wang W, Chen L, Zhou R, Wang X, Song L, Huang S, et al. Increased Proportions of Bifidobacterium and the Lactobacillus Group and Loss of Butyrate-Producing Bacteria in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Clin Microbiol (2014) 52:398–406. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01500-13
- 122. Rooks MG, Garrett WS. Gut Microbiota, Metabolites and Host Immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16:341–52. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.42
- 123. Collado MC, Donat E, Ribes-Koninckx C, Calabuig M, Sanz Y. Specific Duodenal and Faecal Bacterial Groups Associated With Paediatric Coeliac Disease. J Clin Pathol (2009) 62:264–9. doi: 10.1136/jcp.2008.061366
- 124. De Palma G, Nadal I, Medina M, Donat E, Ribes-Koninckx C, Calabuig M, et al. Intestinal Dysbiosis and Reduced Immunoglobulin-Coated Bacteria Associated With Coeliac Disease in Children. *BMC Microbiol* (2010) 10:63. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-10-63
- 125. Di Cagno R, Rizzello CG, Gagliardi F, Ricciuti P, Ndagijimana M, Francavilla R, et al. Different Fecal Microbiotas and Volatile Organic Compounds in Treated and Untreated Children With Celiac Disease. *Appl Environ Microbiol* (2009) 75:3963–71. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02793-08
- 126. Tjellstrom B, Hogberg L, Stenhammar L, Falth-Magnusson K, Magnusson KE, Norin E, et al. Faecal Short-Chain Fatty Acid Pattern in Childhood Coeliac Disease is Normalised After More Than One Year's Gluten-Free Diet. *Microb Ecol Health Dis* (2013) 24. doi: 10.3402/mehd.v24i0.20905
- 127. Tjellstrom B, Stenhammar L, Hogberg L, Falth-Magnusson K, Magnusson KE, Midtvedt T, et al. Gut Microflora Associated Characteristics in Children With Celiac Disease. Am J Gastroenterol (2005) 100:2784–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.00313.x
- 128. Caminero A, Nistal E, Herran AR, Perez-Andres J, Ferrero MA, Vaquero Ayala L, et al. Differences in Gluten Metabolism Among Healthy Volunteers, Coeliac Disease Patients and First-Degree Relatives. *Br J Nutr* (2015) 114:1157–67. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515002767
- 129. Niccolai E, Baldi S, Ricci F, Russo E, Nannini G, Menicatti M, et al. Evaluation and Comparison of Short Chain Fatty Acids Composition in Gut Diseases. World J Gastroenterol (2019) 25:5543–58. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v25.i36.5543
- 130. Nistal E, Caminero A, Herran AR, Arias L, Vivas S, de Morales JM, et al. Differences of Small Intestinal Bacteria Populations in Adults and Children With/Without Celiac Disease: Effect of Age, Gluten Diet, and Disease. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2012) 18:649–56. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21830
- 131. Olivares M, Neef A, Castillejo G, Palma GD, Varea V, Capilla A, et al. The HLA-DQ2 Genotype Selects for Early Intestinal Microbiota Composition in Infants at High Risk of Developing Coeliac Disease. *Gut* (2015) 64:406–17. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-306931
- 132. Kutlu T, Brousse N, Rambaud C, Le Deist F, Schmitz J, Cerf-Bensussan N. Numbers of T Cell Receptor (TCR) Alpha Beta+ But Not of TcR Gamma Delta+ Intraepithelial Lymphocytes Correlate With the Grade of Villous Atrophy in Coeliac Patients on a Long Term Normal Diet. *Gut* (1993) 34:208–14. doi: 10.1136/gut.34.2.208
- 133. Jabri B, Selby JM, Negulescu H, Lee L, Roberts AI, Beavis A, et al. TCR Specificity Dictates CD94/NKG2A Expression by Human CTL. *Immunity* (2002) 17:487–99. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00427-2
- 134. Roberts AI, Lee L, Schwarz E, Groh V, Spies T, Ebert EC, et al. NKG2D Receptors Induced by IL-15 Costimulate CD28-negative Effector CTL in the Tissue Microenvironment. J Immunol (2001) 167:5527–30. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.167.10.5527
- Jabri B, Abadie V. Il-15 Functions as a Danger Signal to Regulate Tissue-Resident T Cells and Tissue Destruction. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15:771– 83. doi: 10.1038/nri3919
- 136. Uhrberg M, Valiante NM, Young NT, Lanier LL, Phillips JH, Parham P. The Repertoire of Killer Cell Ig-like Receptor and CD94:NKG2A Receptors in T Cells: Clones Sharing Identical Alpha Beta TCR Rearrangement Express Highly Diverse Killer Cell Ig-like Receptor Patterns. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:3923–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.6.3923
- 137. Liu RB, Engels B, Schreiber K, Ciszewski C, Schietinger A, Schreiber H, et al. Il-15 in Tumor Microenvironment Causes Rejection of Large Established Tumors by T Cells in a Noncognate T Cell Receptor-Dependent

Manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2013) 110:8158-63. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1301022110

- Mayassi T, Ladell K, Gudjonson H, McLaren JE, Shaw DG, Tran MT, et al. Chronic Inflammation Permanently Reshapes Tissue-Resident Immunity in Celiac Disease. *Cell* (2019) 176:967–81.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.12.039
- 139. Cellier C, Delabesse E, Helmer C, Patey N, Matuchansky C, Jabri B, et al. Refractory Sprue, Coeliac Disease, and Enteropathy-Associated T-cell Lymphoma. French Coeliac Disease Study Group. *Lancet* (2000) 356:203– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02481-8
- 140. Cellier C, Patey N, Mauvieux L, Jabri B, Delabesse E, Cervoni JP, et al. Abnormal Intestinal Intraepithelial Lymphocytes in Refractory Sprue. *Gastroenterology* (1998) 114:471–81. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70530-X
- 141. Ettersperger J, Montcuquet N, Malamut G, Guegan N, Lopez-Lastra S, Gayraud S, et al. Interleukin-15-Dependent T-Cell-like Innate Intraepithelial Lymphocytes Develop in the Intestine and Transform Into Lymphomas in Celiac Disease. *Immunity* (2016) 45:610–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.07.018
- 142. Malamut G, El Machhour R, Montcuquet N, Martin-Lanneree S, Dusanter-Fourt I, Verkarre V, et al. Il-15 Triggers an Antiapoptotic Pathway in Human Intraepithelial Lymphocytes That is a Potential New Target in Celiac Disease-Associated Inflammation and Lymphomagenesis. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:2131–43. doi: 10.1172/JCI41344
- 143. Yokoyama S, Watanabe N, Sato N, Perera PY, Filkoski L, Tanaka T, et al. Antibody-Mediated Blockade of IL-15 Reverses the Autoimmune Intestinal Damage in Transgenic Mice That Overexpress IL-15 in Enterocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2009) 106:15849–54. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908834106
- 144. Cellier C, Bouma G, van Gils T, Khater S, Malamut G, Crespo L, et al. Safety and Efficacy of AMG 714 in Patients With Type 2 Refractory Coeliac Disease: A Phase 2a, Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 4:960–70. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30265-1
- 145. Lahdeaho ML, Scheinin M, Vuotikka P, Taavela J, Popp A, Laukkarinen J, et al. Safety and Efficacy of AMG 714 in Adults With Coeliac Disease Exposed to Gluten Challenge: A Phase 2a, Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 4:948–59. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30264-X
- 146. Korneychuk N, Ramiro-Puig E, Ettersperger J, Schulthess J, Montcuquet N, Kiyono H, et al. Interleukin 15 and CD4(+) T Cells Cooperate to Promote

Small Intestinal Enteropathy in Response to Dietary Antigen. Gastroenterology (2014) 146:1017–27. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.12.023

- Lejeune T, Meyer C, Abadie V. B Lymphocytes Contribute to Celiac Disease Pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology* (2021) 160(7):2608–10.e4. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2021.02.063
- 148. Maglio M, Troncone R. Intestinal Anti-tissue Transglutaminase2 Autoantibodies: Pathogenic and Clinical Implications for Celiac Disease. Front Nutr (2020) 7:73. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00073
- 149. Hoydahl LS, Richter L, Frick R, Snir O, Gunnarsen KS, Landsverk OJB, et al. Plasma Cells are the Most Abundant Gluten Peptide MHC-expressing Cells in Inflamed Intestinal Tissues From Patients With Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 156:1428–39.e10. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.12.013
- 150. Di Niro R, Mesin L, Zheng NY, Stamnaes J, Morrissey M, Lee JH, et al. High Abundance of Plasma Cells Secreting Transglutaminase 2-Specific IgA Autoantibodies With Limited Somatic Hypermutation in Celiac Disease Intestinal Lesions. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:441–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.2656
- 151. Iversen R, Roy B, Stamnaes J, Hoydahl LS, Hnida K, Neumann RS, et al. Efficient T Cell-B Cell Collaboration Guides Autoantibody Epitope Bias and Onset of Celiac Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2019) 116:15134–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1901561116
- 152. Du Pre MF, Kozijn AE, van Berkel LA, ter Borg MN, Lindenbergh-Kortleve D, Jensen LT, et al. Tolerance to Ingested Deamidated Gliadin in Mice is Maintained by Splenic, Type 1 Regulatory T Cells. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141:610–20. 620 e1-2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.04.048
- 153. Yu X, Vargas J, Green PHR, Bhagat G. Innate Lymphoid Cells and Celiac Disease: Current Perspective. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol (2021) 11:803– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.12.002

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Voisine and Abadie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Apolipoprotein A4 Defines the Villus-Crypt Border in Duodenal Specimens for Celiac Disease Morphometry

Juha Taavela^{1,2*}, Keijo Viiri², Anna Välimäki^{3,4}, Jani Sarin⁴, Kristiina Salonoja⁴, Markku Mäki^{2,5} and Jorma Isola^{4,6}

¹ Central Finland Central Hospital, Jyväskylä, Finland, ² Celiac Disease Research Center, Faculty of Medicine and Health Technology, Tampere University, Tampere, Finland, ³ Fimlab Laboratories Inc, Tampere, Finland, ⁴ Jilab Inc, Tampere, Finland, ⁵ Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland, ⁶ Faculty of Medicine and Health Technology, Tampere University, Tampere, Finland

Histological evaluation of the small intestinal mucosa is the cornerstone of celiac disease diagnostics and an important outcome in scientific studies. Gluten-dependent injury can be evaluated either with quantitative morphometry or grouped classifications. A drawback of mucosal readings is the subjective assessment of the border where the crypt epithelium changes to the differentiated villus epithelium. We studied potential immunohistochemical markers for the detection of the villus-crypt border: apolipoprotein A4 (APOA4), Ki-67, glucose transporter 2, keratin 20, cytochrome P450 3A4 and intestinal fatty-acid binding protein. Among these, villus-specific APOA4 was chosen as the best candidate for further studies. Hematoxylin-eosin (H&E)- and APOA4 stained duodenal biopsy specimens from 74 adult patients were evaluated by five observers to determine the villus-to-crypt ratio (VH : CrD). APOA4 delineated the villus to crypt epithelium transition clearly, and the correlation coefficient of VH : CrD values between APOA4 and H&E was excellent (r=0.962). The VH : CrD values were lower in APOA4 staining (p<0.001) and a conversion factor of 0.2 in VH : CrD measurements was observed to make the two methods comparable to each other. In the intraobserver analysis, the doubled standard deviations, representing the error ranges, were 0.528 for H&E and 0.388 for APOA4 staining, and the ICCs were 0.980 and 0.971, respectively. In the interobserver analysis, the average error ranges were 1.017 for H&E and 0.847 for APOA4 staining, and the ICCs were better for APOA4 than for H&E staining in all analyses. In conclusion, the reliability and reproducibility of morphometrical VH : CrD readings are improved with the use of APOA4 staining.

Keywords: celiac disease, morphometry, duodenal biopsy, histology, gluten challenge, apolipoprotein A4, digital pathology, clinical trial

INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease is an autoimmune disorder in which dietary gluten causes an immunological reaction manifesting as gradual development of small bowel mucosal damage (1). Small bowel damage consists of sequential and slow development of lymphocytosis, crypt hyperplasia and villus atrophy (2). Currently, the only treatment for celiac disease is a life-long gluten-free diet. However, dietary management is not sufficient for many patients with celiac disease, and up to 40% of patients suffer

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Melinda Y. Hardy, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Reviewed by:

Govind K. Makharia, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India Jorunn Stamnaes, University of Oslo, Norway

> *Correspondence: Juha Taavela juha.taavela@tuni.fi

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 May 2021 **Accepted:** 19 July 2021 **Published:** 29 July 2021

Citation:

Taavela J, Viiri K, Välimäki A, Sarin J, Salonoja K, Mäki M and Isola J (2021) Apolipoprotein A4 Defines the Villus-Crypt Border in Duodenal Specimens for Celiac Disease Morphometry. Front. Immunol. 12:713854. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.713854

88

from symptoms even on this diet (3). Additionally, the duodenal mucosa may not heal sufficiently on this diet, causing risks of complications and micronutrient deficiencies (4, 5). Interestingly, there are several ongoing gluten challenge studies assessing the efficacy of candidate drugs and vaccines for celiac disease (6). In these studies, it is of utmost importance to ensure that the drug, device, or vaccine protects against mucosal damage, as it is the only marker that is linked to the long-term health of the patient, risk of complications, and mortality (7–9).

Mucosal damage can be evaluated histologically with either categorical classifications or quantitative measurements. Categorical classifications such as the Marsh-Oberhuber and Corazza-Villanacci classifications are the most commonly used in routine clinical practice because of their ease of use (1, 10). These classifications combine the parameters of duodenal damage, intraepithelial lymphocyte (IEL) density, crypt depth (CrD) and villus height (VH) into a single class describing the level of mucosal damage. A more detailed analysis can be performed with the use of quantitative measurements such as the villus height-to-crypt depth ratio (VH : CrD) and density of CD3-positive IELs, which allow the detection of small but significant changes that are not detectable with categorical variables (11-13). Hence, it is preferred to use these continuous mucosal readouts separately for morphology and inflammation in rigorous scientific studies, such as in celiac disease drug/device/vaccine trials (12, 14).

Recent studies have shown poor reliability and reproducibility when using the results of grouped classifications in assessing duodenal specimens (15-19). There are several pitfalls in the assessment of duodenal biopsy specimens that explain these difficulties (11, 16, 17). An incorrect (tangential) cutting plane of the biopsy is currently a well-established source of error (11), but another fundamental problem is the definition of the border between differentiated villus enterocytes and the proliferating crypt epithelium (20). The distinction between small bowel villi and crypt epithelium can be made by the presence of fully differentiated microvilli revealed only by electron microscopy (Figure 1) (21). To date, specific markers for the villus-crypt border to be used in light microscopy have not been identified. Currently, the use of standard hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) staining makes it difficult to define exactly the epithelial transition zone determining the villus-crypt border. Understandably, as readers use their own experience in the assessment of the villus-crypt border, the results between readers have shown high interobserver variability (11, 16, 17, 19). The histopathological diagnosis (celiac disease vs normal) has even changed in up to 11% of cases when the samples have been reread (15). Even a small variation in the point where villus ends and crypt begins is multiplied when calculating the VH : CrD ratio, as it consists of two mutually dependent measurements (VH and CrD). Therefore, it would be of significant benefit to develop an objective marker of the villus-crypt border that would harmonize celiac disease diagnostics and increase measurement reliability and reproducibility. Hence, we studied several potential proteins to find an immunohistochemical marker that would define the exact border between villi and crypts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Biopsies

The material comprised 74 small intestinal mucosal specimens from 74 patients, which were obtained from a prospectively collected database and biobank maintained by our study group. Altogether, 6 specimens were obtained from newly diagnosed untreated celiac patients, 6 from patients on a gluten-free diet, 32 from patients who underwent gluten challenge (22) and 30 specimens from nonceliac controls. The mean age of the celiac patients was 57 years (range 15-63), and 63% were women. The mean age of the nonceliac controls was 57 years (range 17-86), and 52% of them were women. Small bowel biopsies were selected to represent variable stages of mucosal injury ranging from completely normal histology to overt mucosal atrophy and crypt hyperplasia. According to Marsh-Oberhuber grading (23), duodenal injury in the specimens was Marsh 0 (n=15), Marsh 1 (n=10), Marsh 2 (n=10), Marsh 3a (n=13), Marsh 3b (n=12) and Marsh 3c (n=9).

The forceps biopsy specimens were formalin-fixed and embedded in paraffin wax according to standard pathology practice. Standard 3- to 4- μ m-thick sections were cut under a microscope to achieve the correct orientation and were then stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Slides were scanned as highresolution whole slide images at a resolution of 0.17 μ m per pixel (SlideStrider scanner, Jilab Inc., Tampere, Finland). Additional sections were cut and used for immunohistochemical (IHC) experiments. Figure panels and art work were created with Adobe Photoshop CS5 (Adobe Inc., CA, USA).

APOA4, Ki-67, GLUT2, KRT20, CYP3A4 and I-FABP Immunohistochemistry

We surveyed the existing genome-wide studies (4, 24) and the Human Protein Atlas (25) to identify candidate IHC markers that would preferentially label villi or crypt epithelium to define the villus-crypt border exactly. The most promising candidate proteins-apolipoprotein A4 (APOA4), antigen KI-67 (Ki-67), glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2), keratin-20 (KRT20), cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) and intestinal fatty-acid binding protein (I-FABP)-were selected for preliminary staining experiments. The antibodies and their working dilutions are described in Supplementary Table 1. For all antibodies, a standard IHC staining protocol using high pH, heat-induced antigen retrieval (incubation at 121°C for 2 min in 0.01 Tris-EDTA buffer, pH 9.0), blocking of endogenous peroxidase activity (3% H₂O₂ for 5 min at RT), and a 60-min incubation with primary antibodies (60 min at RT) were used. Bound antibodies were visualized with antimouse/anti-rabbit peroxidase polymer and DAB chromogen (HistoFine kit, Nichirei Biosciences, Nichirei, Japan). Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin and mounted with DPX (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). Immunohistochemical staining was carried out with an automated IHC-staining device (LabVision Autostainer; Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA). Slides were scanned as whole slide images.

After the selection of APOA4 for further analysis, the previously H&E stained and analyzed slides were soaked in



xylene for up to 3-4 days to dissolve the mounting medium and to detach the coverslips. Slides were then rehydrated and stained with APOA4 IHC as described above. The polyclonal APOA4 antibody was used for the stainings because its use is well documented and found to be rather specific for duodenum (25). The staining was also tested with monoclonal APOA4 antibody and its staining pattern appeared to be similar to that of the polyclonal antibody (not shown). Eosin was added to the counterstain to visualize the Paneth cells at the crypt bottom.

Digital Measurement of VH and CrD

All IHC-stained slides were scanned as whole-slide images as described above. The sections were viewed and analyzed with web-based client software (Celiac Slide Analyzer) according to our standard operating procedure (11, 24). The small intestinal mucosal VH : CrD was evaluated in all measurable (at least

three) separate villus-crypt units, and the result was given as the average of the ratios. VH and CrD were measured digitally by drawing segmented lines whose lengths were calibrated to micrometers (24). Only well-oriented villus-crypt units in the samples, ie. perpendicular to the luminal surface, were allowed to be assessed.

Five academic observers 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 (JT, JS, KS, AV, JI) analyzed all slides in a blinded fashion independently and were unaware of the clinical data or laboratory findings of the patients. Additionally, one evaluator evaluated the specimens twice with 1 month between the measurements (JT). The villus crypt units identified and measured on the H&E image were relocalized on the APOA4-IHC whole slide image. In the APOA4-stained specimens (digital images), VH : CrD measurements were performed using APOA4 labeling to define the border of the villus and crypt.

Statistics

Intraobserver and interobserver variations were analyzed by the Bland-Altman method, linear regression analyses, and intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) (26, 27). In the Bland-Altman method, the differences between two quantitative measurements are plotted against the averages of the two measurements, and the results are reported as the mean difference between the two measurements and limits of agreement, which are defined as the mean difference plus and minus twice the standard deviation of the differences. In the Bland-Altman plot, the x-axis shows the mean of the results of the two measurements, and the y-axis represents the absolute difference between the two measurements. The intraobserver, interobserver and intermethod agreement was assessed with ICC, and intermethod correlations were assessed by Pearson correlation analysis. Correlation coefficients were considered excellent (above 0.9), strong (0.7-0.9), moderate (0.4-0.6), weak (0.1-0.4) or negligible (0.0-0.1) (28). Quantitative data are expressed as the number of subjects (n), mean and ranges. A paired samples t-test was used to compare the means between groups.

RESULTS

In the comparison between APOA4, Ki-67, GLUT2, KRT20, CYP3A4 and I-FABP, APOA4 was chosen as the best candidate for further study (Figure 2). APOA4 labeling was specific for villus enterocytes and did not stain the crypt epithelium. The experiments with Ki-67, GLUT2, KRT20, CYP3A4 and I-FABP stainings yielded unsatisfactory results in demonstrating the villus-crypt border accurately (Figure 2). The Ki67-labeled proliferating crypt epithelium cells did not extend to the cryptvillus junction, rendering Ki67 staining unsuitable for our approach. In addition, proliferating IELs are also Ki-67 positive, interfering with the analysis. GLUT2 and KRT20 were stained in the villi, but the staining continued to some extent to the crypt. The CYP3A4 and I-FABP stainings were promising in healthy mucosa, however, in the damaged mucosa the stainings did not represent the villus-crypt junction. In the APOA4 staining (Figure 2), the villus-crypt border aligned properly, and the positively stained villus epithelium stopped abruptly, making the placement of the borderline easy. In damaged mucosa, long crypt basins can be misread as villi in H&E staining (Figures 3D, G), but with the aid of APOA4 staining (Figures 3E, H), it can be seen that the crypt extends up close to the lumen, resulting in a histological diagnosis of total villous atrophy in both cases.

There were 69 readable samples with at least 3 villus-crypt units for the intraobserver analysis among the 74 evaluated samples. Observers 2, 3, 4 and 5 identified 65, 64, 57, and 61 readable samples, respectively. Five samples were unreadable to all; in all others, at least two observers measured at least 3 villuscrypt units on the sample. The mean villus heights, crypt depths and VH : CrD values in H&E-stained and APOA4-stained specimens are presented in **Table 1**. APOA4 staining made the assessment of the villus-crypt border easier in difficult cases by marking an objective villus-crypt junction site (**Figure 3**, **Supplementary Figure 1**). There was constant excellent agreement among all observers between H&E and APOA4 staining (**Table 1**). When comparing VH : CrD measurements by all observers between the methods, the mean difference was 0.227 with limits of agreement from -0.302 to 0.756 (**Figure 4A**); the standard deviation (SD) was 0.529. There was a significant mean difference between the methods in villus height, crypt depth and VH : CrD measurements (**Table 1**). Logistic regression analysis (**Figure 4B**) indicated the following conversion equation between the two staining methods: VH : CrD in H&E = 0.2 + 1.01 * VH : CrD in APOA4.

Our main purpose was to study the reliability and reproducibility of VH : CrD measurements when using APOA4 IHC when compared with traditional H&E. For this comparison, we analyzed the same biopsy sections after destaining and restaining with APOA4. In the intraobserver VH : CrD analyses, the mean differences in the two measurement series were less than 0.1, ensuring that there was no systematic measuring error between the measurement series. In the intraobserver Bland-Altman plots (Figures 4C, E), the 95% limits of agreement ranged from -0.476 to 0.528 for H&E and -0.356 to 0.420 for APOA4. The 2xSD error range of the measurements was 0.528 for H&E and 0.388 for APOA4 staining of the same tissue sections. The intraobserver logistic regression analyses are shown in Figures 4D, F, and the ICCs are shown in Table 2. In the interobserver analyses, all VH : CrDs by all observers showed smaller SDs and better ICCs in APOA4 than in H&E staining (Table 2). The average error ranges in interobserver analyses were 0.519 in H&E and 0.432 in APOA4. The mean differences in the interobserver analyses, indicating the observer dependency of the measurements, ranged from 0.074 to 0.219 for H&E staining and from 0.067 to 0.251 for APOA4 staining (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

The present study shows that immunohistochemical staining of APOA4 defines the villus-crypt border by separating the differentiated villus epithelium and proliferating crypt epithelium. The villus-to-crypt ratios were analyzed with quantitative morphometry according to our standard operating procedure used in previous publications and gluten challenge trials (4, 5, 11, 12, 14, 24, 29). The correlation coefficients and Bland-Altman analyses showed excellent agreement between the results from APOA4 staining and the standard and validated H&E staining. Hence, APOA4 staining can be used as an objective marker of the villus-crypt border in analysis of the duodenal mucosal architecture in celiac disease. The addition of APOA4 staining to the immunohistochemistry workout is relatively easy because CD3 IHC staining of IELs is included routinely in translational celiac disease studies and clinical trials (2, 11, 12, 14, 29).

We adopted APOA4 as an immunohistochemical marker of the villus epithelium. Its function has not been linked to celiac



labeling does not extend up to the villus-crypt border. Keratin 20 (KRT20) stains the villi but also extends to the crypt epithelium; thus, this marker cannot be used to define the villus-crypt border. The staining of glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) resembles that of KRT-20, as it also extends to the crypt epithelium. In apolipoprotein A4 (APOA4) staining, the villus epithelium was strongly stained, while the crypt epithelium remained negative. Both cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) and intestinal fatty-acid binding protein (I-FABP) looked promising in healthy control specimens but in damaged samples CYP3A4 also stained crypt cells and I-FABP then again disappeared almost completely from the sample. Magnification 200x, hematoxylin counterstain.

disease so far. It is a lipid-binding 46 kD glycoprotein that is almost exclusively synthesized in the absorptive enterocytes of the small intestine, packaged into chylomicrons, and secreted into intestinal lymph during fat absorption (30). APOA4 is involved in several physiological processes, such as lipid absorption and metabolism (31), antiatherosclerosis (32), antiinflammatory agents (33), glucose homeostasis, and food intake (34). Previously, we showed that the mRNA expression levels of APOA4 are decreased in untreated celiac disease and after gluten challenge (4, 24). The decrease in APOA4 in the gluten-induced duodenal lesion in celiac disease showing villous atrophy and crypt hyperplasia is the logical result of the loss of mature absorptive villus epithelium, as shown in **Figures 2** and **3**.

The distinction of the border between villi and crypts is of utmost importance in assessing celiac disease biopsy specimens (2, 11, 20). Currently, the placement of this border is debatable and lacks scientific rationale in traditional analyses based on H&E staining. Ground truth differentiation between villi and crypt epithelium can be done only by transmission electron microscopy (20), but because microvilli are not visible in H&E



FIGURE 3 | Side-by-side comparison of duodenal specimens by traditional hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) and apolipoprotein A4 (APOA4) after restaining. (A, D, G) depict standard H&E-stained specimens, and panels (B, E, H) depict APOA4-stained specimens. The border between villi and crypts is clearly visible in APOA4-stained specimens, as also seen in closeups (C, F, I). (D–F) and (G–I) present the common pitfall of a long crypt basin. This long crypt basin can be misread as villi in H&E staining (D, G), but with the aid of APOA4 staining (E, H), it is clear that the crypt extends up close to the lumen, rendering the histological diagnosis of total villous atrophy in both cases. The VH : CrD ratios in the samples are 1.5 in (A–C), 0.1 in (D–F), and 0.1 in (G–I). Magnification 200x, hematoxylin and eosin counterstaining in (B, E, H).

Total[#]

0.962**

Mean (range) in H&E, µm Mean (range) in APOA4, µm Mean difference Correlation co-efficient Villous height 399 (23-790) 12 7** 0 988** Observer 1* 386 (19-793) Observer 2[†] 381 (38-755) 366 (23-741) 14.6** 0.987** Observer 3[‡] 377 (38-643) 350 (29-649) 27.2** 0.981** 17.5** Observer 4[§] 401 (43-668) 0 978** 384 (22-655) Observer 5[¶] 399 (35-685) 371 (23-675) 27.5** 0.972** Total[#] 391 (23-790) 372 (19-793) 19.7** 0.981** Crypth dept Observer 1* 238 (121-458) 255 (130-525) -16.7** 0 941** Observer 2[†] 237 (130-447) 257 (137-558) -20.2** 0.937** Observer 3 258 (129-529) -27 2** 0 947** 231 (122-476) Observer 4[§] 237 (121-466) 255 (142-520) -18.0** 0.925** Observer 5[¶] 235 (131-534) 257 (143-522) -22.5** 0.906** Total[#] 236 (121-534) 257 (129-558) -21 0** 0 928** VH : CrD Observer 1' 2.02 (0.10-4.11) 1.80 (0.10-3.84) 0.221** 0 979** Observer 2[†] 0.977** 1.90 (0.09-5.83) 1.73 (0.05-5.42) 0.167** 0.968** Observer 3[‡] 1.93 (0.09-4.67) 1.63 (0.08-4.27) 0.300** 0.914** Observer 4§ 2.00 (0.09-4.41) 1.76 (0.06-3.91) 0.237** Observer 5[¶] 0.273** 0.962** 2.00 (0.07-5.21) 1.73 (0.05-4.72)

1.73 (0.05-5.42)

TABLE 1 | Comparison of villous height, crypt depth and villous height crypt depth ratio (VH : CrD) between hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) and apolipoprotein A4 (APOA4) stained specimens.

*n=69, [†]n=65, [‡]n=64, [§]n=57, [¶]n=61, [#]n=316, **p < 0.001.

Bolded values represent the average value from the measurements of all observers together.

1.97 (0.07-5.83)

staining, researchers and pathologists use subjective pattern recognition to define the villus-crypt border according to the notch or a plateau usually seen at the border (**Figures 2A–C**). However, problems arise in celiac disease biopsies showing crypt hyperplasia in addition to villous atrophy. The long crypt collars or large open "basins" in a totally flat mucosal lesion (Marsh III) can be misinterpreted as villi (20, 35). In these samples, the notch or plateau was missing, and it was difficult to place the villuscrypt border (**Figure 2D**). In such instances, APOA4 staining provides a new possibility to define the villus-crypt border objectively and accurately (**Figures 2E, I**). The VH : CrD values were lower for APOA4 staining by a factor of approximately 0.2, indicating that the villus-crypt border appears somewhat lower with APOA4 staining than with H&E staining (**Table 1**, **Figure 4A**). For example, a VH : CrD value of 2.0, which is considered a borderline value for healed mucosa in celiac patients on a gluten-free diet (2, 5, 36), would equal 1.8 in APOA4 staining. We believe that with APOA4 staining, the reader has more confidence to place the border correctly and somewhat higher than in H&E staining, which might reflect the epithelial border better than in traditional H&E staining (see **Figure 2D-I**). Hence, APOA4 staining can be particularly helpful in borderline cases in which incorrect diagnoses may occur (15). The addition of eosin to the APOA4 staining

0.233**





	Mean difference (95% CI)	Standard deviation	ICC
VH : CrD in H&E			
Intraobserver*	0.026 (-0.036 to 0.087)	0.256	0.971
Interobserver, Observer 2 [†]	0.099 (-0.026 to 0.223)	0.491	0.897
Interobserver, Observer 3 [‡]	0.074 (-0.040 to 0.188)	0.442	0.914
Interobserver, Observer 4 [§]	0.219 (0.078 to 0.362)	0.534	0.862
Interobserver, Observer 5 [¶]	0.127 (-0.032 to 0.286)	0.608	0.827
VH : CrD in APOA4			
Intraobserver*	0.032 (-0.015 to 0.080)	0.198	0.980
Interobserver, Observer 2 [†]	0.067 (-0.049 to 0.182)	0.445	0.905
Interobserver, Observer 3 [‡]	0.172 (0.080 to 0.264)	0.357	0.937
Interobserver, Observer 4 [§]	0.251 (0.139 to 0.364)	0.424	0.900
Interobserver, Observer 5 [¶]	0.205 (0.074 to 0.336)	0.503	0.869

TABLE 2 | Bland-Altman statistics with absolute values and intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) for analysing agreement and repeatability in small-bowel mucosal villus height crypt depth ratio (VH : CrD).

CI, confidence interval. *n=69; ⁺n=65; [±]n=64; [§]n=57; [¶]n=61.

procedure helps to identify the base of the crypt by staining the Paneth cells and thus ensuring that the entire crypt is considered.

In our study, APOA4 staining improved the reliability and reproducibility of VH : CrD measurements in celiac disease biopsy specimens in comparison to traditional H&E-stained sections. The standard deviations were smaller, and the ICCs were better both in intraobserver and in all interobserver analyses in APOA4-stained sections. Low interobserver agreement has been a concern in celiac disease histology (11, 15-17, 19). In the work by Werkstetter et al., two pathologists reviewed the same duodenal samples in a blinded manner, and in 11% of cases, the histological diagnosis changed from normal to celiac disease or vice versa (see Supplementary Table S21 in the article by Werkstetter et al.) (15). To remove such drastic problems in reading the samples, objective reading tools are needed for analysis of the duodenal mucosa to obtain reliable and reproducible results (2). Additionally, the use of the same reader or readers is essential to minimize variation in measurements, as interobserver analyses have significantly higher error ranges than intraobserver analyses, as also shown in this study. Hence, in our standard operating procedure, the sample is read by two or three blinded main readers, and then, in controversial results, a senior pathologist can counter this pitfall in second-opinion slide reading (11). The advantages of APOA4 in reliability and reproducibility is especially useful in pharmacological intervention studies in which small but significant changes in VH : CrD need to be observed (14, 29). In gluten challenge studies or when assessing the effect of a gluten-free diet with APOA4 staining, a conservative cutoff of a clinically relevant difference of 0.4 between the paired measurements was derived from the intraobserver Bland-Altman analysis.

When searching for a suitable immunohistochemical marker, we evaluated several candidate markers shown to be specific for either villus or crypt epithelium. Of these, the proliferating Ki-67-positive cells are increased due to the compensatory proliferation of epithelial cells in the duodenal crypts. The mRNA levels of Ki-67 predict mucosal damage well, as shown in a previous study (24, 37). The gene expression of GLUT2 and KRT20 showed significant reactions to gluten challenge in our previous study and was thus interesting prospects for the staining of the villus-crypt border (4).

However, Ki-67, GLUT2 and KRT20 IHC staining was not optimal for defining the villus-crypt border by IHC, as shown in **Figure 2**. CYP3A4 and I-FABP have previously shown promise as blood biomarkers in predicting duodenal damage in celiac disease (38, 39). Both also looked promising as markers of villus-crypt border in healthy control samples, however, in damaged duodenal mucosa CYP3A4 also stained the crypt cells and I-FABP was almost completely absent from epithelium making these stainings unsuitable for this study. Based on epithelial differentiation, a direct microvillus marker, such as villin or CD10 (40), could be useful in our approach. However, villin and CD10 also stain the immature (forming) microvilli present in the crypt cells, making these cells unsuitable for VH : CrD assessments (20).

Previous studies have shown that the secretion of APOA4 into lymph is stimulated by lipid absorption (41) and that the plasma APOA4 correlates positively with plasma triglycerides (42). In addition, mRNA levels of APOA4 have been found to respond in a tissue specific-manner to a number of factors such as estrogen, thyroid hormone, corticosteroid and insulin (43, 44). These factors could also potentially affect APOA4 staining in duodenum, however, the effect of these on APOA4 staining in the small bowel has not been studied. A common pitfall in any IHC staining is also too weak staining intensity. In this study, the APOA4 staining was strong and had a clear cut-off for villuscrypt junction in wide variety of duodenal injuries (Figure 3, Supplementary Figure 1). Also, previously a decrease in mRNA expression of APOA4 has been shown to follow duodenal injury (4, 45). These findings provide support that the staining is not significantly affected by confounding factors. We titrated the antibody reagent carefully and obtained a nearly identical staining pattern with another APOA4 antibody (clone G-8). Despite potential pitfalls, APOA4 staining seemed to work in this controlled environment quite well.

APOA4 staining defines the villus crypt border accurately and objectively. The reliability and reproducibility of APOA4 is better than that of traditional H&E-stained specimens. APOA4 staining is easy to perform and allows coordinated analysis of the duodenal mucosa in celiac disease that has not been possible before. These findings are important for analyzing subtle differences in celiac disease biopsies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Regional Ethics Committee of the Expert Responsibility area of Tampere University Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT, KV, MM, and JI: study concept and design. JT, AV, JS, KS, and JI: acquisition of data. JT, MM, and JI: analysis and interpretation of data. JT, MM, and JI: drafting of the

REFERENCES

- Marsh MN. Gluten, Major Histocompatibility Complex, and the Small Intestine. A Molecular and Immunobiologic Approach to the Spectrum of Gluten Sensitivity ('Celiac Sprue'). *Gastroenterology* (1992) 102:330–54. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(92)91819-P
- Adelman DC, Murray J, Wu T-T, Mäki M, Green PH, Kelly CP. Measuring Change in Small Intestinal Histology in Patients With Celiac Disease. Am J Gastroenterol (2018) 113:339–47. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2017.480
- Roos S, Liedberg GM, Hellström I, Wilhelmsson S. Persistent Symptoms in People With Celiac Disease Despite Gluten-Free Diet: A Concern? Gastroenterol Nurs (2019) 42:496–503. doi: 10.1097/SGA.000000000000377
- Dotsenko V, Oittinen M, Taavela J, Popp A, Peräaho M, Staff S, et al. Genome-Wide Transcriptomic Analysis of Intestinal Mucosa in Celiac Disease Patients on a Gluten-Free Diet and Postgluten Challenge. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2021) 11:13–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.07.010
- Daveson AJM, Popp A, Taavela J, Goldstein KE, Isola J, Truitt KE, et al. Baseline Quantitative Histology in Therapeutics Trials Reveals Villus Atrophy in Most Patients With Coeliac Disease Who Appear Well Controlled on Gluten-Free Diet. *GastroHep* (2020) 2:22–30. doi: 10.1002/ygh2.380
- Kivelä L, Caminero A, Leffler DA, Pinto-Sanchez MI, Tye-Din JA, Lindfors K. Current and Emerging Therapies for Coeliac Disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2021) 18:181–95. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-00378-1
- West J, Logan RFA, Smith CJ, Hubbard RB, Card TR. Malignancy and Mortality in People With Coeliac Disease: Population Based Cohort Study. *BMJ* (2004) 329:716–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38169.486701.7C
- Larussa T, Suraci E, Imeneo M, Marasco R, Luzza F. Normal Bone Mineral Density Associates With Duodenal Mucosa Healing in Adult Patients With Celiac Disease on a Gluten-Free Diet. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:98. doi: 10.3390/ nu9020098
- Taavela J, Kurppa K, Collin P, Lähdeaho M-L, Salmi T, Saavalainen P, et al. Degree of Damage to the Small Bowel and Serum Antibody Titers Correlate With Clinical Presentation of Patients With Celiac Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2013) 11:166–71.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.09.030
- Corazza GR, Villanacci V. Coeliac Disease. J Clin Pathol (2005) 58:573–4. doi: 10.1136/jcp.2004.023978
- Taavela J, Koskinen O, Huhtala H, Lähdeaho M-L, Popp A, Laurila K, et al. Validation of Morphometric Analyses of Small-Intestinal Biopsy Readouts in Celiac Disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e76163. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076163
- Ludvigsson JF, Ciacci C, Green PH, Kaukinen K, Korponay-Szabo IR, Kurppa K, et al. Outcome Measures in Coeliac Disease Trials: The Tampere Recommendations. *Gut* (2018) 67:1410–24. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314853

manuscript. All authors were involved in the critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Competitive State Research Financing of the Expert Responsibility Area of Kuopio University Hospital (B2009), Competitive State Research Financing of the Expert Responsibility Area of Tampere University Hospital (9X035 and 9AB048), Emil Aaltonen Foundation and the Finnish Medical Foundation.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 713854/full#supplementary-material

- Kuitunen P, Kosnai I, Savilahti E. Morphometric Study of the Jejunal Mucosa in Various Childhood Enteropathies With Special Reference to Intraepithelial Lymphocytes. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr (1982) 1:525–31. doi: 10.1097/ 00005176-198212000-00012
- Lähdeaho M-L, Scheinin M, Vuotikka P, Taavela J, Popp A, Laukkarinen J, et al. Safety and Efficacy of AMG 714 in Adults With Coeliac Disease Exposed to Gluten Challenge: A Phase 2a, Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 4:948–59. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30264-X
- Werkstetter KJ, Korponay-Szabó IR, Popp A, Villanacci V, Salemme M, Heilig G, et al. Accuracy in Diagnosis of Celiac Disease Without Biopsies in Clinical Practice. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 153:924–35. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.06.002
- Arguelles-Grande C, Tennyson CA, Lewis SK, Green PHR, Bhagat G. Variability in Small Bowel Histopathology Reporting Between Different Pathology Practice Settings: Impact on the Diagnosis of Coeliac Disease. *J Clin Pathol* (2012) 65:242–7. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2011-200372
- Picarelli A, Borghini R, Donato G, Di Tola M, Boccabella C, Isonne C, et al. Weaknesses of Histological Analysis in Celiac Disease Diagnosis: New Possible Scenarios. Scand J Gastroenterol (2014) 49:1318–24. doi: 10.3109/ 00365521.2014.948052
- Corazza GR, Villanacci V, Zambelli C, Milione M, Luinetti O, Vindigni C, et al. Comparison of the Interobserver Reproducibility With Different Histologic Criteria Used in Celiac Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2007) 5:838–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007.03.019
- Mubarak A, Nikkels P, Houwen R, Ten Kate F. Reproducibility of the Histological Diagnosis of Celiac Disease. Scand J Gastroenterol (2011) 46:1065–73. doi: 10.3109/00365521.2011.589471
- Marsh M, Johnson M, Rostami K. Mucosal Histopathology in Celiac Disease: A Rebuttal of Oberhuber's Sub-Division of Marsh III. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench* (2015) 8:99–109.
- Gehart H, Clevers H. Tales From the Crypt: New Insights Into Intestinal Stem Cells. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol (2019) 16:19–34. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0081-y
- Popp A, Taavela J, Graziano P, Parente P, Covelli C, Lamacchia C, et al. A New Intraepithelial γδ T-Lymphocyte Marker for Celiac Disease Classification in Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded (Ffpe) Duodenal Biopsies. *Dig Dis Sci* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s10620-020-06680-x
- Oberhuber G, Granditsch G, Vogelsang H. The Histopathology of Coeliac Disease: Time for a Standardized Report Scheme for Pathologists. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* (1999) 11:1185–94. doi: 10.1097/00042737-199910000-00019
- 24. Taavela J, Viiri K, Popp A, Oittinen M, Dotsenko V, Peräaho M, et al. Histological, Immunohistochemical and mRNA Gene Expression Responses in Coeliac Disease Patients Challenged With Gluten Using PAXgene Fixed

Paraffin-Embedded Duodenal Biopsies. BMC Gastroenterol (2019) 19:189. doi: 10.1186/s12876-019-1089-7

- The Human Protein Atlas (2020). Available at: https://www.proteinatlas.org/ (Accessed May 15, 2018).
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical Methods for Assessing Agreement Between Two Methods of Clinical Measurement. *Lancet* (1986) 1:307–10. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(86)90837-8
- Bartko JJ. The Intraclass Correlation Coefficient as a Measure of Reliability. Psychol Rep (1966) 19:3–11. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1966.19.1.3
- Schober P, Boer C, Schwarte LA. Correlation Coefficients: Appropriate Use and Interpretation. Anesth Analg (2018) 126:1763-8. doi: 10.1213/ ANE.00000000002864
- Murray JA, Kelly CP, Green PHR, Marcantonio A, Wu T-T, Mäki M, et al. No Difference Between Latiglutenase and Placebo in Reducing Villous Atrophy or Improving Symptoms in Patients With Symptomatic Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152:787–98.e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.11.004
- 30. Weinberg RB, Gallagher JW, Fabritius MA, Shelness GS. ApoA-IV Modulates the Secretory Trafficking of Apob and the Size of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins. J Lipid Res (2012) 53:736–43. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M019992
- Weinstock PH, Bisgaier CL, Hayek T, Aalto-Setala K, Sehayek E, Wu L, et al. Decreased HDL Cholesterol Levels But Normal Lipid Absorption, Growth, and Feeding Behavior in Apolipoprotein A-IV Knockout Mice. J Lipid Res (1997) 38:1782–94. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)37153-4
- Kronenberg F, Stühlinger M, Trenkwalder E, Geethanjali FS, Pachinger O, von Eckardstein A, et al. Low Apolipoprotein A-IV Plasma Concentrations in Men With Coronary Artery Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol (2000) 36:751–7. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(00)00775-0
- Vowinkel T, Mori M, Krieglstein CF, Russell J, Saijo F, Bharwani S, et al. Apolipoprotein A-IV Inhibits Experimental Colitis. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:260–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI200421233
- 34. Wang F, Kohan AB, Kindel TL, Corbin KL, Nunemaker CS, Obici S, et al. Apolipoprotein A-IV Improves Glucose Homeostasis by Enhancing Insulin Secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2012) 109:9641–6. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1201433109
- 35. Virta J, Hannula M, Tamminen I, Lindfors K, Kaukinen K, Popp A, et al. X-Ray Microtomography Is a Novel Method for Accurate Evaluation of Small-Bowel Mucosal Morphology and Surface Area. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10:13164. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-69487-w
- 36. Kaukinen K, Peräaho M, Lindfors K, Partanen J, Woolley N, Pikkarainen P, et al. Persistent Small Bowel Mucosal Villous Atrophy Without Symptoms in Coeliac Disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2007) 25:1237–45. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2007.03311.x
- 37. Shalimar DM, Das P, Sreenivas V, Gupta SD, Panda SK, Makharia GK. Mechanism of Villous Atrophy in Celiac Disease: Role of Apoptosis and Epithelial Regeneration. Arch Pathol Lab Med (2013) 137:1262–9. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2012-0354-OA
- Morón B, Verma AK, Das P, Taavela J, Dafik L, Diraimondo TR, et al. CYP3A4-Catalyzed Simvastatin Metabolism as a Non-Invasive Marker of Small Intestinal Health in Celiac Disease. Am J Gastroenterol (2013) 108:1344–51. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2013.151

- Kalogeris TJ, Fukagawa K, Tso P. Synthesis and Lymphatic Transport of Intestinal Apolipoprotein A-IV in Response to Graded Doses of Triglyceride. *J Lipid Res* (1994) 35:1141–51. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)39959-4
- Vergès B, Guerci B, Durlach V, Galland-Jos C, Paul JL, Lagrost L, et al. Increased Plasma apoA-IV Level Is a Marker of Abnormal Postprandial Lipemia: A Study in Normoponderal and Obese Subjects. J Lipid Res (2001) 42:2021–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)31531-5
- Hanniman EA, Lambert G, Inoue Y, Gonzalez FJ, Sinal CJ. Apolipoprotein A-IV Is Regulated by Nutritional and Metabolic Stress: Involvement of Glucocorticoids, HNF-4 Alpha, and PGC-1 Alpha. J Lipid Res (2006) 47:2503–14. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M600303-JLR200
- Staels B, van Tol A, Verhoeven G, Auwerx J. Apolipoprotein A-IV Messenger Ribonucleic Acid Abundance Is Regulated in a Tissue-Specific Manner. *Endocrinology* (1990) 126:2153–63. doi: 10.1210/endo-126-4-2153
- 43. Loberman-Nachum N, Sosnovski K, Di Segni A, Efroni G, Braun T, BenShoshan M, et al. Defining the Celiac Disease Transcriptome Using Clinical Pathology Specimens Reveals Biologic Pathways and Supports Diagnosis. Sci Rep (2019) 9:16163. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-52733-1
- 44. Adriaanse MPM, Leffler DA, Kelly CP, Schuppan D, Najarian RM, Goldsmith JD, et al. Serum I-FABP Detects Gluten Responsiveness in Adult Celiac Disease Patients on a Short-Term Gluten Challenge. Am J Gastroenterol (2016) 111:1014–22. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.162
- 45. Schneider MR, Dahlhoff M, Horst D, Hirschi B, Trülzsch K, Müller-Höcker J, et al. A Key Role for E-cadherin in Intestinal Homeostasis and Paneth Cell Maturation. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e14325. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014325

Conflict of Interest: JI is the chief execute officer of Jilab Inc. that produces diagnostic laboratory services for small-bowel diseases and a wide variety of cancers. JS and KS are employees of Jilab Inc. AV is employed by Fimlab Laboratories Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with the authors JT, MM, and JI.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Taavela, Viiri, Välimäki, Sarin, Salonoja, Mäki and Isola. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

